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PART I

Forward-Looking Statements and Market Data

This annual report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended, or the Exchange Act. All statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this annual report, including statements regarding our 
future results of operations and financial position, business strategy, prospective products, product approvals, research and development costs, timing and 
likelihood of success, plans and objectives of management for future operations and future results of anticipated products, are forward-looking statements. 
These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors that may cause our actual results, performance or 
achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. This 
annual report on Form 10-K also contains estimates and other statistical data made by independent parties and by us relating to market size and growth and 
other data about our industry. This data involves a number of assumptions and limitations, and you are cautioned not to give undue weight to such 
estimates. In addition, projections, assumptions and estimates of our future performance and the future performance of the markets in which we operate are 
necessarily subject to a high degree of uncertainty and risk. 

In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “could,” “intend,” 
“target,” “project,” “contemplates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential” or “continue” or the negative of these terms or other similar 
expressions. The forward-looking statements in this annual report are only predictions. We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our 
current expectations and projections about future events and financial trends that we believe may affect our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this annual report and are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and 
assumptions, including those described in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors.” The events and circumstances reflected in our forward-looking statements may 
not be achieved or occur and actual results could differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements. Moreover, we operate in an 
evolving environment. New risk factors and uncertainties may emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for management to predict all risk factors 
and uncertainties. Except as required by applicable law, we do not plan to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements contained herein, 
whether as a result of any new information, future events, changed circumstances or otherwise.

We use our pending trademark Crinetics in this annual report. This annual report also includes trademarks, tradenames and service marks that are the 
property of other organizations. Solely for convenience, trademarks and tradenames referred to in this annual report appear without the ® and ™ symbols, 
but those references are not intended to indicate, in any way, that we will not assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, our rights or that the 
applicable owner will not assert its rights, to these trademarks and tradenames. 

Summary of Risk Factors
An investment in our securities involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks summarized in Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” included in 
this report. These risks include, but are not limited to, the following:

• We have a limited operating history, have incurred significant operating losses since our inception and expect to incur significant losses for the 
foreseeable future. We may never generate any revenue or become profitable or, if we achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain it. 

• We will require substantial additional financing to achieve our goals, and a failure to obtain this necessary capital when needed on acceptable 
terms, or at all, could force us to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development programs, commercialization efforts or other 
operations. 

• We are early in our development efforts and have only three product candidates in clinical development. All of our other research programs are 
still in the preclinical or discovery stage. If we are unable to successfully develop product candidates or experience significant delays in doing so, 
our business will be materially harmed. 

• We cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully develop any product candidates. 
• Preclinical and clinical drug development involves a lengthy and expensive process with an uncertain outcome, and the results of preclinical 

studies and early clinical trials are not necessarily predictive of future results. Our product candidates may not have favorable results in later 
clinical trials, if any, or receive regulatory approval. 

• Any delays in the commencement or completion, or termination or suspension, of our clinical trials could result in increased costs to us, delay or 
limit our ability to generate revenue and adversely affect our commercial prospects. 

• The COVID-19 pandemic, related variants and other epidemic diseases could adversely impact our business, including our drug manufacturing, 
nonclinical activities and clinical trials. 

• We may find it difficult to enroll patients in our clinical trials given the limited number of patients who have the diseases for which our product 
candidates are being developed. 
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• If we encounter difficulties enrolling subjects in our clinical trials, our clinical development activities could be delayed or otherwise adversely 
affected. 

• Our product candidates are subject to extensive regulation and compliance, which is costly and time consuming and which may cause 
unanticipated delays or prevent the receipt of the required approvals to commercialize our product candidates.

• We face competition from entities that have developed or may develop somatostatin agonist products or other product candidates. If these 
companies develop technologies or product candidates more rapidly than we do or their technologies are more effective, our ability to develop 
and successfully commercialize products may be adversely affected. 

• We rely on third parties for the manufacture of our product candidates for preclinical and clinical development and expect to continue to do so 
for the foreseeable future. This reliance on third parties increases the risk that we will not have sufficient quantities of our product candidates or 
products or such quantities at an acceptable cost, which could delay, prevent or impair our development or commercialization efforts. 

• Our operating results may fluctuate significantly, which makes our future operating results difficult to predict and could cause our operating 
results to fall below expectations or any guidance we may provide. 

• We are dependent on the services of our management and other clinical and scientific personnel, and if we are not able to retain these individuals 
or recruit additional management or clinical and scientific personnel, our business will suffer. 

• Our success depends on our ability to protect our intellectual property and our proprietary technologies. 

• The trading price of the shares of our common stock could be highly volatile, and purchasers of our common stock could incur substantial losses.

Item 1. Business
Business Overview

We are a clinical-stage pharmaceutical company focused on the discovery, development and commercialization of novel therapeutics for rare endocrine 
diseases and endocrine-related tumors. Endocrine pathways function to maintain homeostasis and commonly use peptide hormones acting through G 
protein coupled receptors, or GPCRs, to regulate many aspects of physiology including growth, energy, metabolism, gastrointestinal function and stress 
responses. We have assembled a seasoned team with extensive expertise in drug discovery and development in endocrine GPCRs and have built a highly 
productive drug discovery organization. We have discovered a pipeline of oral nonpeptide (small molecule) new chemical entities that target peptide 
GPCRs to treat a variety of rare endocrine diseases where treatment options have significant efficacy, safety and/or tolerability limitations. Our product 
candidates include paltusotine (formerly CRN00808) which is in clinical development for the treatment of acromegaly and neuroendocrine tumors, or 
NETs, CRN04777, which is in clinical development for congenital hyperinsulinism, or HI, and CRN04894, which is in clinical development for diseases of 
excess adrenocorticotrophic hormone, or ACTH, including Cushing’s Disease, congenital adrenal hyperplasia, or CAH, and Ectopic ACTH Syndrome, or 
EAS. We are advancing additional product candidates through preclinical discovery and development studies in parallel. Our vision is to build the leading 
endocrine company which consistently pioneers new therapeutics to help patients better control their disease and improve their daily lives. 

We focus on the discovery and development of oral nonpeptide therapeutics that target peptide GPCRs with well understood biological functions, validated 
biomarkers and the potential to substantially improve the treatment of endocrine diseases and/or endocrine-related tumors. Our pipeline consists of the 
following product candidates: 

Paltusotine (SST2 Agonist Program)

Paltusotine, our lead product candidate, establishes a new class of oral selective nonpeptide somatostatin receptor type 2, or SST2, agonists designed for the 
treatment of acromegaly and NETs. Somatostatin is a neuropeptide hormone that broadly inhibits the secretion of other hormones, including growth 
hormone, or GH, from the pituitary gland. Acromegaly arises from a benign pituitary tumor that secretes excess GH that, in turn, causes excess secretion of 
insulin-like growth factor-1, or IGF-1, by the liver. This loss of homeostasis in the GH axis results in excess tissue growth and other adverse metabolic 
effects throughout the body. Approximately 26,000 people in the United States suffer from acromegaly, and depending on surgical success, many are 
candidates for chronic pharmacological intervention, of which somatostatin peptide analogs are the primary pharmacotherapy. NETs originate from 
neuroendocrine cells commonly found in the gut, lung or pancreas. Typically, NETs are only diagnosed at a time of extensive metastatic disease and will 
often progress to liver failure. NETs are present in approximately 171,000 adults in the United States. Most NETs overexpress SST2 receptors and injected 
depots of peptide somatostatin analogs have become the first-line standard of care for many NETs patients as detailed in National Comprehensive Cancer 
Network guidelines. In 2021, somatostatin peptide drugs accounted for approximately $3.1 billion in 
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global sales for the treatment of acromegaly, NETs and other uses. These drugs require painful monthly or daily injections and, in the case of somatostatin 
peptide drugs, often fail to fully control the disease in many acromegaly patients. In July 2020, we announced that the FDA granted orphan drug 
designation for paltusotine for the treatment of acromegaly.

We are currently conducting a Phase 3 development program for paltusotine in acromegaly which consists of two placebo-controlled clinical trials. The 
first of these, the PATHFNDR-1 trial, is designed as a double-blind, placebo-controlled, nine-month clinical trial of paltusotine in acromegaly patients with 
average IGF-1 levels less than or equal to 1.0 times the upper limit of normal, or ULN, and who are on stable doses of SRL monotherapy (octreotide LAR 
or lanreotide depot). If successful, we believe the PATHFNDR-1 study could support registration of paltusotine for acromegaly patients switching from 
other therapies. We are also conducting a second study, the PATHFNDR-2 trial, which is designed as a double-blind, placebo-controlled, six-month clinical 
trial of acromegaly patients with elevated IGF-1 levels. We believe that, if successful, the results from the PATHFNDR-2 trial could support a more 
expansive registration of paltusotine for untreated acromegaly patients who require pharmacotherapy. The primary endpoint of both PATHFNDR studies 
will be the proportion of patients with IGF-1 ≤ 1.0 × ULN at the end of the treatment period on paltusotine as compared to placebo. We expect top line data 
from both studies in 2023. We believe that, if successful, the two trials could support registration of paltusotine for all acromegaly patients who require 
pharmacotherapy, including untreated patients and those switching from other therapies. 

The FDA has granted orphan drug designation for paltusotine for the treatment of acromegaly.

We are also conducting a Phase 2 trial with paltusotine in patients with NETs complicated by carcinoid syndrome.

In February 2022, we entered into a license agreement with Sanwa Kagaku Kenkyusho Co., Ltd., or Sanwa, pursuant to which Sanwa has the exclusive 
right to develop and commercialize paltusotine in Japan, or the Sanwa License.

CRN04777 (SST5 Agonist)

CRN04777 is our investigational, oral, nonpeptide somatostatin receptor type 5, or SST5, agonist designed for the treatment of congenital hyperinsulinism, 
or HI. Congenital HI is a devastating rare genetic disease associated with dysregulated insulin production, in which excess insulin produces life-threatening 
hypoglycemia (low blood glucose) beginning at birth. This loss of homeostatic control of blood glucose levels can lead to seizures, developmental 
disorders, learning disabilities, coma and even death. Congenital HI occurs in approximately 1 in 25,000 to 50,000 new births in the United States. We have 
completed a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled Phase 1 study of CRN04777 in healthy volunteers to assess the safety and tolerability of single 
and multiple doses of CRN04777. In addition, the study was designed to evaluate the potential mechanism of action of CRN04777 by measuring the 
suppression of insulin secretion in healthy volunteers following stimulation with either glucose or a sulfonylurea, agents that increase the secretion of 
insulin. We announced positive top-line data from the single ascending dose, or SAD, cohorts in September 2021 and announced positive topline data from 
the multiple ascending dose, or MAD, cohorts in March 2022. We believe CRN04777 demonstrated pharmacologic proof-of-concept, based on potent 
suppression of stimulated insulin observed in these subjects. The plasma exposure of CRN04777 suggested the drug was well absorbed with a half-life of 
approximately 40 hours, which we believe supports the potential for once daily administration in patients. All adverse events were considered mild or 
moderate and there were no serious adverse events. CRN04777 was well tolerated at single and multiple doses from 0.5 mg up to 120 mg and exhibited 
dose-proportional pharmacokinetics for the same dose range. A dose-dependent reduction in glucose-induced insulin secretion was demonstrated with an 
intravenous glucose tolerance test in the SAD cohorts and a dose-dependent reversal of sulfonylurea-induced insulin secretion was seen in both the SAD 
and MAD cohorts. The sulfonylurea-induced insulin secretion model represents a pharmacologic analog of the hyperinsulinism that the patients experience. 
We are preparing for regulatory interactions to discuss the design of the Phase 2 clinical study we plan to initiate in the second half of 2022. 

The FDA has granted rare pediatric disease designation for CRN04777 for the treatment of congenital HI. In addition, the European Medicines Agency, or 
EMA, has granted orphan drug designation for CRN04777 for the treatment of congenital HI. We also expect CRN04777 can be broadly developed for the 
treatment of other diseases characterized by excess insulin secretion, including forms of syndromic hyperinsulinism. Rather than being caused by a single 
gene mutation confined to the pancreatic beta-cell, syndromic HI may occur as part of a constellation of clinical findings in diseases where genetic 
mutations have pleiotropic effects outside of the beta-cell. Sotos syndrome, Beckwith Wiedemann syndrome, Kabuki syndrome and Turner’s syndrome are 
examples of disorders from which many patients suffer from HI. Because of SST5’s role as a critical downstream regulator of insulin secretion, we believe 
patients with these syndromes have the potential to respond to the SST5 agonism.

CRN04894 (ACTH Antagonist)

CRN04894 is our investigational, oral, nonpeptide product candidate designed to antagonize ACTH, intended for the treatment of diseases caused by 
excess ACTH, including Cushing’s disease, CAH, and EAS. Cushing’s disease results from a pituitary tumor that secretes excess ACTH which, in turn, 
causes the downstream synthesis and over-secretion of cortisol by the adrenal glands. Cortisol is the body’s main stress hormone and excess amounts can 
cause significant increases in 
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mortality and morbidity. CAH encompasses a set of disorders that are caused by genetic mutations that result in impaired cortisol synthesis. A lack of 
cortisol leads to a loss of feedback mechanisms and results in persistently high levels of ACTH, which, in turn, causes overstimulation of the adrenal 
cortex. The resulting adrenal hyperplasia and over-secretion of other steroids (particularly androgens) and steroid precursors can lead to a variety of effects 
from improper gonadal development to life-threatening dysregulation of mineralocorticoids. EAS is a rare disorder that results from non-pituitary tumors 
that secrete excessive amounts of ACTH. The supraphysiological degree of ACTH secretion in EAS can vary with effects that range from cushingoid to 
acutely life-threatening. We are currently conducting a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled Phase 1 study of CRN04894 in healthy volunteers to 
assess the safety and tolerability of single and multiple doses of CRN04894. In addition, the study is designed to measure the effect of CRN04894 on 
suppression of cortisol, cortisol precursors, and adrenal androgens following exogenous ACTH stimulation. In August 2021, we announced positive data 
from the single ascending dose cohorts of the Phase 1 study. CRN04894 was well tolerated and demonstrated dose-dependent increases in CRN04894 
plasma concentrations as well as reductions of both basal cortisol and elevated cortisol following an ACTH challenge. All adverse events reported through 
the single ascending dose cohorts were considered mild and there were no serious adverse events. The MAD portion of the Phase 1 study is ongoing and 
topline data are expected in the second quarter of 2022. If these data are positive, we plan to prepare for regulatory interactions to discuss the design of the 
clinical studies we plan to initiate in the second half of 2022.

Parathyroid Hormone Antagonist

We are developing antagonists of the parathyroid hormone, or PTH, receptor for the treatment of primary hyperparathyroidism, or PHPT and humoral 
hypercalcemia of malignancy, or HHM, and other diseases of excess PTH. PTH regulates calcium and phosphate homeostasis in bone and kidney through 
activation of its receptor, PTHR1. Increased activation of PTHR1, either via PTH or PTH-related peptide (PTHrP, PTHLH) can lead to skeletal, renal, 
gastrointestinal, and neurological problems. Primary hyperparathyroidism arises from a small, benign tumor on one or more of the parathyroid glands, 
which results in over-secretion of PTH, leading to increased blood calcium levels, or hypercalcemia. Some patients experience no symptoms, and many can 
have surgery to remove the tumor and/or hyperactive gland(s), while some require management with medical therapy. Symptomatic PHPT is characterized 
by skeletal, renal, gastrointestinal, and neurological manifestations with increased mortality. HHM typically arises in patients with advanced-stage cancers. 
In cases of HHM, over-secretion of PTHrP caused by the malignant tumor results in bone resorption and calcium reabsorption in the kidney, leading to 
hypercalcemia. We have identified investigational, orally available nonpeptide PTH antagonists that showed activity and drug-like properties in preclinical 
models. We are evaluating a subset of molecules to identify potential development candidates that we believe are suitable for evaluation in human clinical 
trials. 

Radionetics Oncology, Inc.

On October 18, 2021, we, together with 5AM Ventures and Frazier Healthcare Partners, announced the formation of Radionetics Oncology, Inc., or 
Radionetics. Radionetics aims to develop a deep pipeline of novel, targeted, nonpeptide radiopharmaceuticals for the treatment of a broad range of 
oncology indications. In connection with the formation of Radionetics, we entered into a Collaboration and License Agreement with Radionetics granting 
Radionetics an exclusive world-wide license to our technology for the development of radiotherapeutics and related radio-imaging agents in exchange for a 
majority equity stake in Radionetics, a warrant to obtain additional shares of common stock of Radionetics, potential sales milestones in excess of $1.0 
billion and single-digit royalties on net sales.

Research Discovery

Patients with many other debilitating endocrine diseases await new therapeutic options, and we are continuously evaluating where next to deploy our drug 
discovery efforts. We plan to continue our drug discovery efforts and leverage our expertise in the evaluation of additional conditions including 
nonfunctional pituitary adenomas and polycystic kidney disease, among other indications. All of our product candidates have been discovered, 
characterized and developed internally and are the subject of composition of matter patent applications. We currently file patent applications covering the 
compounds in our lead product candidates in the United States, Europe, Japan, China, South Korea, Australia, Canada, Israel, Mexico, Taiwan, Hong Kong, 
Brazil, India, Eurasia, New Zealand, Ukraine, Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Thailand, Vietnam, Singapore, South Africa, Chile, Colombia, Argentina, 
Peru, Venezuela, and Egypt. We have retained worldwide rights to commercialize our product candidates and do not have any royalty obligations. Over 
time, we intend to sell our products, if approved, through our own commercial organization, which we believe can be of modest size to cover the relatively 
small number of specialty endocrinologists who treat patients with rare endocrine diseases and endocrine-related tumors. 

Our strategy 

Our objective is to transform the treatment of rare endocrine diseases and endocrine-related tumors by creating a diversified portfolio of novel therapeutics 
that will advance the standard of care. To achieve this objective, we are pursuing the following strategy: 
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• Focus on rare endocrine diseases and endocrine-related tumors with significant unmet medical need.     There are numerous rare endocrine 
diseases and endocrine-related tumors for which currently available pharmacological therapies (when they exist) have significant limitations in 
efficacy, safety and/or tolerability. Patients living with these diseases often experience significant morbidity, mortality and/or poor quality of life. We 
are focused on discovering, developing, and commercializing orally available therapies for multiple rare indications across endocrinology to advance 
the standard of care for these patients. 

• Rapidly advance multiple product candidates in parallel to clinical proof-of-concept and late-stage development by targeting diseases that require 
relatively small trials and employ validated biomarkers as clinical endpoints.    Phase 1 clinical trials for rare endocrine diseases and endocrine-
related tumors can often measure predictive biomarkers in healthy volunteers and lower the technical risk by providing a predictive measure of 
efficacy early in clinical development. Clinical trials in these indications often enroll relatively small numbers of trial subjects and use validated 
biomarkers as registration endpoints, which we believe will allow us to efficiently develop multiple clinical programs in parallel. 

• Continue to expand our therapeutic pipeline for rare endocrine diseases by leveraging the capabilities of our experienced discovery team in the 
area of peptide hormone GPCRs.    Our discovery team has significant expertise in understanding and creating product candidates to influence the 
dynamic behavior of GPCRs and has developed a number of proprietary methods, techniques and tools that we believe will enable us to efficiently 
and reliably evaluate newly synthesized molecules. We employ an iterative strategy where compounds are designed, synthesized, and rapidly 
characterized for pharmacologic and pharmaceutical properties. This approach has led to our current pipeline, and we will continue to invest in 
creating additional product candidates acting at this important class of targets. Peptide hormone GPCRs regulate many aspects of physiology and are 
attractive drug targets for treating a broad range of diseases. There are more than 80 known peptide hormones acting at more than 120 known different 
receptors. With each of our drug discovery programs, our goal is to specifically tailor a product candidate with pharmacologic and pharmaceutical 
properties highly optimized for its interaction with its specific GPCR target that we anticipate will translate to downstream benefits in our chosen 
therapeutic applications. 

• Retain significant development and commercial rights to our product candidates.    We intend to commercialize our product candidates if approved 
by regulators. In February 2022, we entered into the Sanwa License pursuant to which Sanwa has the exclusive right to commercialize paltusotine in 
Japan. In the future, we may enter into additional distribution or licensing arrangements for commercialization rights for other product candidates.

• Maintain an entrepreneurial, scientifically rigorous, and inclusive corporate culture where employees are fully engaged and strive to bring 
improved therapeutic options to patients.    The patients we seek to treat currently only have options with significant drawbacks and often limited 
efficacy, safety and/or tolerability. We are passionate about developing new pharmacological therapies to help these patients better control their 
diseases and to reduce the impact of these diseases on their daily lives. We believe that building a successful and sustainable endocrine company 
requires not just specific expertise in multiple areas of drug discovery, development, and commercialization, but a team-oriented culture that integrates 
and harnesses the creative energy, scientific insights and enthusiasm of the entire organization. 

The endocrine system 

Overview 

The endocrine system regulates most of the body’s physiological activities through the actions of hormones, which are chemical and biochemical 
messengers secreted from different organs that influence growth, gastrointestinal function, maturation and development, reproduction, stress, metabolism 
and nearly all aspects of homeostasis. Hormones are structurally variable and can be monoamines, steroids, amino acids, peptides, or larger proteins. The 
endocrine system includes, among other glands and organs, the pituitary gland, hypothalamus, pancreas, adrenal gland, thyroid and parathyroid, ovaries and 
testes, as well as specialized enteroendocrine cells. 

Hormonal secretion is complex, and the body employs several mechanisms to exert positive and negative feedback control to maintain homeostasis. For 
example, the pituitary gland, which is located behind the eyes at the base of the brain, is sometimes referred to as “the master endocrine gland” because it 
regulates multiple endocrine systems. Positive and negative control of pituitary hormonal secretion is often dictated by the adjacent hypothalamus, which 
integrates feedback responses from other areas of the body, including the brain. In the case of GH, its synthesis and secretion are stimulated by growth 
hormone-releasing hormone, or GHRH, and inhibited by somatostatin, which are both hypothalamic peptides. Another example is the pancreas that 
secretes insulin and glucagon, which lower and raise blood glucose levels, respectively. Insulin and glucagon secretion are both inhibited by somatostatin, 
which is also locally produced in and secreted by specific cells in the pancreas. 
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Hormonal dysregulation can arise from endocrine organ defects, including injury, inflammation, genetic abnormalities, or the growth of tumors derived 
from endocrine cells. These insults can result in the under-secretion or over-secretion of one or more hormones, disrupting homeostasis and causing 
disease. For example, several serious clinical disorders, including acromegaly and Cushing’s disease, result from pituitary tumors secreting excess 
hormones. In the pancreas, genetic defects or cellular dysfunction can give rise to disorders of under-secretion or over-secretion of pancreatic hormones 
(e.g., hyperinsulinemia). 

Peptide hormone GPCRs 

Various GPCRs are expressed in every type of cell in the body and their function is to transmit signals from outside the cell across the membrane to 
signaling pathways within the cell, between cells and between organ systems. Because of these critical actions, the GPCR superfamily is the largest and 
single most important family of drug targets as highlighted by the large number of approved therapeutics targeting this class. However, most currently 
available GPCR-targeting drugs act at receptors for which the native ligands are small molecules, such as histamine, adrenaline, and neurotransmitters. 

Most peptide hormones bind selectively to specific receptors located on the surface of cells in the target tissue. Receptors for peptide hormones are often 
GPCRs, which play a central role in many biological processes and are linked to a wide range of disease areas. There are more than 80 known peptide 
hormones acting at more than 120 known different receptors. Historically, it was assumed that small molecules could not replicate or compete with the 
complex interactions between peptides and their cognate GPCRs. As such, most drugs developed for peptide GPCRs have been and continue to be peptides 
themselves, which present manufacturing and formulation difficulties and force patients to undergo frequent injections because peptides generally are not 
orally bioavailable. We believe our approach to developing novel small molecule product candidates that uniquely engage peptide hormone GPCRs will 
enable us to generate orally bioavailable, and potentially more selective, effective and better tolerated therapeutics for patients. 

The somatostatin receptor family of peptide GPCRs is an illustrative example of the complex and subtle control inherent in endocrine biology and peptide 
hormone physiology. The peptide hormone somatostatin, which was first isolated over 40 years ago, is produced by a variety of cell types and has 
pleiotropic effects throughout the body, many of which are related to the inhibition of secretion of other hormones or neurotransmitters, and selective 
activation of this activity has made somatostatin agonism a well-established, commercially validated mechanism. These effects are mediated by five 
different somatostatin receptor proteins (SST1, SST2, SST3, SST4, and SST5), which lower levels of cyclic adenosine monophosphate, or cAMP, a key 
intracellular signaling molecule regulated by GPCR activation. Each of these receptors is expressed in different subsets of tissues. For example, SST2 is the 
most widely expressed subtype in NETs and is the dominant receptor by which GH secretion is suppressed in the pituitary. The SST5 receptor is expressed 
by pancreatic islet cells where its activation potently inhibits insulin secretion. 

GPCRs were originally thought to function as simple on-off switches responding to hormones and neurotransmitters but have since been shown to exhibit 
complex and diverse molecular and cellular behaviors. Many lines of structural and mechanistic research demonstrate that distinct signaling cascades and 
feedback mechanisms create multi-dimensional pathways with distinct physiological responses. These different responses are based on ligand binding 
kinetics, receptor regulation and trafficking (Figure 1). Some transduce signals into the cell interior to regulate various cellular functions. Other responses 
attenuate hormonal signals to prevent overstimulation and include receptor internalization (a removal of the GPCR from the cell surface, which makes it 
unavailable for external ligands), desensitization and downregulation. The capacity of a GPCR ligand to preferentially affect one of these pathways, such as 
G-protein signaling, over others, such as receptor downregulation, is termed biased agonism. We believe our understanding of these different signaling 
pathways enables us to develop oral, small molecule product candidates that not only are highly selective for specific receptor subtypes but also are further 
custom-tailored to activate specific GPCR properties and ultimately improve patient outcomes. 
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Our product candidates 

All of our product candidates have been discovered and developed internally and we have retained global rights to commercialize our product candidates 
and have no royalty or licensing obligations. The following table summarizes our product candidate pipeline. 
 

 
 

Somatostatin receptor type 2 agonists for the treatment of acromegaly and neuroendocrine tumors

Our lead product, paltusotine, is an oral selective nonpeptide SST2 agonist in clinical development for the treatment of acromegaly. The FDA granted 
orphan drug designation for paltusotine for the treatment of acromegaly. Results from our Phase 1 trial of paltusotine demonstrated initial clinical proof-of-
concept based on observed suppression of GH and IGF-1 secretion in healthy volunteers. In October 2020, we announced positive topline results from the 
ACROBAT Edge and Evolve Phase 2 trials in acromegaly. The prespecified primary endpoint in Edge was achieved, showing that once daily oral 
paltusotine maintained IGF-1 levels at Week 13 in acromegaly patients who were switched from an injected somatostatin receptor ligand depot of either 
octreotide or lanreotide monotherapy. We are currently conducting our Phase 3 program of paltusotine in acromegaly patients and topline data is expected 
in 2023. We have also initiated a Phase 2 trial of paltusotine in patients with NETs complicated by carcinoid syndrome for which we expect to report 
topline data in 2023. In February 2022, we entered into the Sanwa License pursuant to which Sanwa has the exclusive right to develop and commercialize 
paltusotine in Japan.

Acromegaly disease background 

Acromegaly is typically caused by a pituitary tumor that secretes excess GH. Pituitary tumors are generally benign adenomas that, in addition to GH 
secretion, also express membrane receptors for somatostatin. Increased GH secretion results in excess downstream secretion of IGF-1 from the liver. GH 
and IGF-1 promote tissue growth and have other metabolic effects throughout the body. 

The symptoms of acromegaly include abnormal growth of hands and feet and changes in shape of the bones that result in alteration of facial features. 
Overgrowth of bone and cartilage and thickening of tissue can lead to arthritis, carpal tunnel syndrome, joint aches, enlarged lips, nose and tongue, 
deepening of voice due to enlarged vocal cords, sleep apnea due to obstruction of airways and enlargement of the heart, liver and other organs. Additional 
symptoms can include thick, coarse, oily skin, skin tags, excessive sweating and skin odor, fatigue and weakness, headaches, goiter, decreased libido, 
menstrual abnormalities in women and erectile dysfunction in men. As the tumor grows, it can impinge on the nerves in the optic chiasm leading to visual 
problems and potentially vision loss. Compression of the surrounding normal pituitary tissues can decrease production of other pituitary hormones, 
resulting in hypopituitarism. Acromegaly patients experience increased mortality rates, principally due to cardiovascular diseases (diabetes, hypertension), 
respiratory disease and cerebrovascular diseases. 

Acromegaly is often suspected when the patient exhibits enlargement of extremities and an alteration of facial features. Pituitary tumors are also often 
found during clinical workup for severe headaches, vision changes or incidentally on cranial imaging initiated for other reasons. Elevation of serum IGF-1 
levels confirms the suspicion of acromegaly, but a formal diagnosis requires lack of suppression of serum GH levels in response to an oral glucose 
tolerance test. A magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) or computerized tomography (CT) scan of the pituitary is then used to locate the tumor, determine its 
size and assess the potential for surgical intervention. It is estimated that there are approximately 26,000 patients in the United States with acromegaly. 
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Current acromegaly treatments and limitations 

The major goals of treatment are to reduce serum GH and normalize IGF-1 levels, ameliorate symptoms and relieve any pressure resulting from the tumor. 
Surgical removal of the pituitary tumor is the first treatment option and often results in rapid improvement of symptoms. Surgery can be curative if the 
tumor is small and accessible enough to be fully resected. However, many acromegaly patients turn to pharmacological treatments if they are not 
candidates for surgery or surgery was unsuccessful. Somatostatin analogs octreotide (marketed as Sandostatin) and lanreotide (marketed as Somatuline) are 
selective for SST2 receptors and are the preferred first-line pharmacologic treatments. However, these peptides leave many patients inadequately 
controlled. For example, a meta-analysis published in 2014 by the Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism showed that approximately 50% of 
over 4,000 acromegaly patients treated with octreotide or lanreotide failed to achieve biochemical control. Pegvisomant (marketed as Somavert) is a daily 
injectable GH receptor antagonist and is generally used in patients resistant to or intolerant of somatostatin analogs. Pasireotide (marketed as Signifor) is a 
less selective SST receptor agonist that is also used and has activity toward SST5, SST3 and SST2 receptors. However, pasireotide treatment leads to an 
increase in fasting plasma glucose levels in patients within the first two or three weeks of treatment and a pronounced shift to pre-diabetes and diabetes (as 
judged by HbA1c levels) within six months due to its insulin-suppressing SST5 activity. Orally administered dopamine agonists, such as cabergoline, are 
also used, but do not achieve hormone normalization in most patients. For this reason, dopamine agonists are usually used as adjunct to somatostatin 
analogs. While these currently approved drugs reduce the disease burden, many patients still report acromegaly symptoms despite treatment, particularly at 
the end of the monthly dosing cycle. In 2020, octreotide capsules (marketed as MYCAPSSA) received marketing approval in the United States for long-
term maintenance treatment in acromegaly patients who have responded to and tolerated treatment with octreotide or lanreotide.

Currently available therapies for acromegaly are primarily peptide drugs that require injection, making them both painful and inconvenient. Octreotide and 
pasireotide are typically a monthly intramuscular injection, lanreotide a monthly deep subcutaneous injection and pegvisomant a daily subcutaneous 
injection. Patients report pain, swelling and bruising both at the time of injection and for days following injections. In addition, octreotide, lanreotide and 
pasireotide labels require injections by a trained healthcare provider and are therefore inconvenient for patients. Finally, the reconstitution of octreotide and 
pasireotide can be complex and prone to error for healthcare providers.

We believe that a once-daily oral nonpeptide somatostatin agonist that reduces excess GH secretion and normalizes IGF-1 levels in acromegaly patients 
would represent a major clinical advance by eliminating painful injections and reducing the frequency of physician office visits. Additionally, we believe it 
should allow physicians to more quickly determine optimal dosing regimens compared to existing depot therapies. 

Neuroendocrine tumors (NETs) background 

NETs arise from cells of the enteroendocrine system in the gastrointestinal tract (approximately 70% of cases) but can also arise from neuroendocrine cells 
in the lung (approximately 25% of cases) or, more rarely, the pancreas. These tumors are usually slow growing and often initially asymptomatic. Therefore, 
many patients are only diagnosed at a time of extensive metastatic disease, and these patients can progress to liver failure. In approximately 19% of cases, 
these tumors are associated with excess secretion of serotonin resulting in carcinoid syndrome, which is characterized by severe diarrhea and flushing. 
NETs are present in approximately 171,000 adults in the United States, of which approximately 33,000 patients have carcinoid syndrome. While still an 
orphan disease, NETs are the second most common gastrointestinal malignancy after colon cancer. 

Current neuroendocrine tumor treatments and limitations 

Most NETs overexpress SST2 receptors and injected depots of peptide somatostatin analogs have become a standard of care for patients with carcinoid 
syndrome. While somatostatin analogs have been historically indicated primarily for patients with carcinoid syndrome, there is an evolving understanding 
of the positive impact of somatostatin analog treatment on the broader NETs patient population. For example, lanreotide was approved for the treatment of 
gastroenteropancreatic NETs based on a long-term study that showed significant improvement in progression free survival. However, many patients 
eventually become increasingly resistant to somatostatin analogs requiring increased dosage of depot preparations or use short-acting analogs as an add-on 
therapy. In 2017, the serotonin synthesis inhibitor, telotristat, was approved for the treatment of carcinoid syndrome diarrhea in combination with 
somatostatin analog (SSA) therapy in adults inadequately controlled by SSA therapy. 

The overexpression of SST2 in NETs is also the basis for somatostatin targeted radioimaging of the tumors for diagnosis and staging. Peptide somatostatin 
analogs modified to incorporate a chelating agent can use their SST2 binding activity to concentrate radioisotopes in tumor tissue that can then be imaged 
using positron-emission tomography (PET). More recently, this approach has been adapted to deliver the beta particle emitter 177Lu for anti-tumor activity. 
A drug using this mechanism, Lutathera, significantly improved progression free survival and led to a substantial reduction in the risk of disease 
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progression or death when added onto octreotide LAR therapy compared to a double dose of octreotide LAR, in a Phase 3 trial in NET patients who had 
failed on somatostatin analog therapy. Lutathera was approved in 2018 for the treatment of somatostatin receptor-positive gastroenteropancreatic 
neuroendocrine tumors.

Paltusotine overview and clinical development 

Paltusotine, our lead product candidate, pioneers a new class of oral selective nonpeptide SST2 agonists designed for the treatment of acromegaly and is the 
first agent in its class with reported clinical results. It is designed to reduce excess GH secretion from benign pituitary tumors and normalize IGF-1 levels in 
patients with acromegaly. In vitro pharmacology studies demonstrated that paltusotine potently stimulated SST2 receptor activity as measured by a 
decrease in cAMP accumulation in cells expressing the human SST2 receptor (EC50=0.25 nM, the concentration that achieves 50% cAMP inhibition). 
Analogous experiments using the other SST receptor subtypes showed paltusotine’s selectivity for SST2 was 4,000 times greater than the other SST 
receptor subtypes. 

In addition to somatostatin receptor-directed pharmacology, paltusotine showed little off-target activity in a variety of assays for other GPCRs, enzymes, 
ion channels and transporters. Based on further in vivo studies in rats and dogs, paltusotine suppressed GH and IGF-1 consistent with its mechanism of 
action. We conducted 28-day good laboratory practice, or GLP, toxicity studies in rats and dogs and identified no dose-limiting toxicities, which supported 
moving paltusotine into human clinical trials. 

We began a Phase 1, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial in late 2017 to assess the safety, tolerability, PK, and PD of paltusotine in 99 healthy human 
volunteers. This trial was performed at a single center in Melbourne, Australia. Subjects in the single ascending dose, or SAD, arm (up to 20 mg) were also 
evaluated for the ability of paltusotine to suppress GH secretion. Because GH secretion is pulsatile during the day, subjects in the first five SAD cohorts 
were given an intravenous bolus of GHRH (50 µg) to ensure a reliable window of high GH secretion. These GH responses were evaluated on day -1 (the 
day prior to dosing) and again on day 1 (the day of dosing either paltusotine or placebo). The ability of paltusotine to suppress serum IGF-1 was evaluated 
in the multiple ascending dose, or MAD, cohorts.

Administration of GHRH on day -1 resulted in a rapid surge of serum GH that lasted approximately 2 hours. In contrast to day -1, the presence of 
paltusotine in plasma strongly suppressed (approximately 92%) stimulated GH secretion, consistent with the compound’s activity as an SST2 agonist. This 
response was dose dependent. The first-generation paltusotine capsule achieved approximately 75% of the total plasma exposure (area under the curve, or 
AUC) of the same dose administered as an oral solution to fasted subjects. However, when the capsule was administered with a standardized high fat meal, 
plasma AUC was reduced by approximately 83%, suggesting that the first-generation capsule formulation should be taken under fasted conditions. In the 
drug-drug interaction cohort, repeated dosing of paltusotine resulted in no change in the exposure of the sensitive CYP3A4 reporter midazolam, suggesting 
that paltusotine is not likely to cause drug interactions by inhibiting the metabolism of other drugs that are primarily metabolized by the major CYP 
enzymes in the liver. 

In the MAD arm, subjects were dosed with paltusotine for seven days (5 mg cohort) or ten days (10-30 mg cohorts) and serum IGF-1 levels were measured 
each day. In both acromegaly patients and healthy volunteers, sustained suppression of GH release results in lowering of serum IGF-1 levels. However, in 
contrast to the rapid effects of the GH response, IGF-1 levels are known to decrease more gradually and require several days of exposure to somatostatin 
agonists to produce an observable effect. As paltusotine concentrations reached steady state, serum IGF-1 concentrations began to decline. This decline 
reached steady state in approximately seven days. Of note, IGF-1 remained suppressed for several days after the final dose but began to recover as 
paltusotine plasma concentrations fell. 

Paltusotine exhibited a dose-dependent increase in exposure in the dose range of 5 mg to 30 mg and a terminal elimination half-life of 42 to 50 hours, 
consistent with potential for once daily administration. Suppression of IGF-1 levels for the 10 mg, 20 mg and 30 mg cohorts was similar indicating that the 
10 mg dose achieved a maximal response. This degree of IGF-1 suppression by paltusotine was similar to that observed for peptide somatostatin analogs 
(octreotide, lanreotide) in previously reported healthy volunteer studies. Concentrations of somatostatin analogs in healthy volunteers that result in this 
level of suppression in healthy volunteers are comparable to the trough concentrations in patients on the highest approved dose. This suggests that drug 
concentrations that result in maximal suppression of IGF-1 in healthy volunteers translates to meaningful suppression of IGF-1 in acromegaly patients. 

The safety and tolerability of paltusotine in the trial was generally consistent with that of approved peptide somatostatin analogs. In the trial, paltusotine 
resulted in mild gastrointestinal disorders (such as abdominal pain, flatulence, abdominal distension, and diarrhea) in approximately 30% of subjects and 
mild elevations of pancreatic enzymes in approximately 10% of subjects. One subject experienced moderate abdominal pain after a single 40 mg dose. 
Additional adverse events included headache, dizziness and cardiac rhythm abnormalities (including nonsustained ventricular tachycardia, or NSVT) which 
were not dose dependent and also observed in placebo subjects and/or prior to dosing. One serious adverse event of moderate 
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NSVT was observed following a single 1.25 mg dose and was considered unlikely to be related to paltusotine. Based on the conclusions from this Phase 1 
clinical study, we selected 10 mg as the initial dose for our Phase 2 trials. 

Following our Phase 1 study, we conducted global Phase 2 clinical trials with paltusotine in acromegaly patients. The first of these, Evolve, was a double-
blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial in patients whose IGF-1 levels were biochemically controlled by octreotide or lanreotide monotherapy. We also 
conducted a second, open-label exploratory trial, Edge, to evaluate the effects of paltusotine on patients whose IGF-1 levels were not biochemically 
controlled by octreotide or lanreotide alone. We are also conducting the Advance trial, which is a Phase 2 open label, long term extension study designed to 
evaluate the safety and efficacy of paltusotine in patients who completed the Evolve or Edge trials. 

We announced positive topline results from the ACROBAT Phase 2 program in acromegaly in October 2020. The prespecified primary endpoint in Edge 
was achieved, showing that once daily oral paltusotine maintained insulin-like growth factor-1, or IGF-1, levels at Week 13 in acromegaly patients who 
were switched from an injected SRL, depot of either octreotide or lanreotide monotherapy [change in IGF-1 = -0.034 (-0.107, 0.107), median (IQR)]. There 
were 25 patients enrolled in this prespecified primary analysis population (Group 1). During the four-week washout period after the 13-week treatment 
period, Group 1 patients showed a meaningful (>20%) and prompt (within two weeks) rise in IGF-1 levels from baseline, which provided evidence 
regarding the magnitude of therapeutic activity of oral paltusotine in acromegaly patients. Edge also enrolled an additional 22 patients into four different 
exploratory populations (Groups 2-5).

As previously announced, the enrollment in Evolve was terminated early, enabling data to be available for the end of Phase 2 regulatory interactions on the 
Edge study. The reduced sample size did not allow for meaningful statistical comparisons between groups in the randomized withdrawal period. Data from 
these patients on lower doses of paltusotine were included in the post-hoc dose response analyses in combination with data from patients in the Edge study, 
most of whom received the higher doses.

Post-hoc analyses of patients in Edge (Group 1; n=25) and Evolve (n=13) were conducted to explore the effect of paltusotine dose on IGF-1 suppression. 
These analyses provided evidence of a dose response across the dose range of 10 to 40 mg.  Dose-dependent results were observed when evaluating the 
effect on IGF-1 levels from: 1) switching from injectable SRL to paltusotine, and 2) withdrawing paltusotine during the washout phase. These data and 
ongoing exposure response analysis has informed the selection of doses to be included the Phase 3 program.

Paltusotine was generally well tolerated among the 60 ACROBAT participants (including both Edge and Evolve), which is consistent with prior clinical 
findings in healthy volunteers. There were no discontinuations due to drug-related adverse events, no safety signals seen in clinical laboratory analyses, no 
treatment-related SAEs, and no patients required rescue treatments with standard acromegaly medications during treatment. The most common treatment-
emergent adverse events (>10%) included: headache, arthralgia, fatigue, peripheral swelling, paresthesia, and hyperhidrosis.

Based on feedback from our interactions with the FDA and other regulators, we have defined our Phase 3 development program which consists of two 
placebo-controlled clinical trials. We are conducting PATHFNDR-1, which is designed as a double-blind, placebo-controlled, nine-month clinical trial of 
paltusotine in 52 acromegaly patients with average IGF-1 levels less than or equal to 1.0 times the upper limit of normal, or ULN, and who are on stable 
doses of SRL monotherapy (octreotide LAR or lanreotide depot). The primary endpoint is the proportion of patients with IGF-1 ≤ 1.0 × ULN at the end of 
a nine-month treatment period on paltusotine as compared to placebo. We are also conducting a second study, PATHFNDR-2, which is designed as a 
double-blind, placebo-controlled, twenty-four-week trial in 76 acromegaly patients with elevated IGF-1 levels, who are medication naïve or who are not 
being treated with pharmacotherapy (untreated patients). The primary endpoint in this study is also the proportion of patients with IGF-1 ≤ 1.0 × ULN at 
the end of the treatment period on paltusotine as compared to placebo. A new tablet formulation of paltusotine is being used in both trials. When evaluated 
in a Phase 1 pharmacokinetic healthy volunteer study, the tablet formulation had a reduced fasting requirement compared to the capsule formulation that 
was used in prior trials and dose proportional exposure was observed up to 80 mg. We expect top line data from both PATHFNDR studies in 2023. We 
believe that, if successful, these trials could support registration of paltusotine for all acromegaly patients who require pharmacotherapy, including 
untreated patients and those switching from standard of care. We have also initiated a Phase 2 trial in patients with NETs complicated by carcinoid 
syndrome and expect to report topline data in 2023.

Somatostatin receptor type 5 agonists for the treatment of hyperinsulinism 

We are developing CRN04777, an investigational, oral, selective nonpeptide SST5 receptor agonist that is designed to inhibit the excess insulin secretion 
associated with congenital and acquired disorders of hyperinsulinism, with our initial focus on congenital HI. CRN04777 is intended to act at the SST5 
receptor, which is independent of many of the mutations that cause congenital HI and, therefore, should allow CRN04777 to be broadly applicable to 
congenital HI patients with the various underlying mutations. We have completed a Phase 1 study of CRN04777 in healthy volunteers to assess the safety 
and tolerability of single and multiple doses of CRN04777. We are preparing for regulatory interactions to discuss the design of 

11



the clinical studies we plan to initiate in the second half of 2022. The FDA has granted rare pediatric disease designation for CRN04777 for the treatment 
of congenital HI. In addition, the European Medicines Agency has granted orphan drug designation for CRN04777 for the treatment of congenital HI.

Hyperinsulinism background 

Hyperinsulinism is a heterogeneous condition in which dangerously low blood sugar levels are caused by increased insulin secretion from pancreatic ß-
cells. The most severe form of hyperinsulinism arises from congenital HI, a disorder whose underlying pathology is driven by genetic mutations in key 
genes involved in regulating insulin secretion from ß-cells. The incidence of congenital HI is approximately 1 in 30,000 to 50,000 new births in the United 
States. Hyperinsulinism is one of the most frequent causes of persistent hypoglycemia in neonates and infants. Early diagnosis is vital to prevent 
neurological complications due to chronic low blood sugar, which can result in apneas, seizures, developmental delays, learning disabilities, epilepsy and 
even death. Hyperinsulinism can also be a severe complication for patients with insulin secreting tumors (insulinomas). Insulinomas are a specific type of 
NET derived from pancreatic ß-cells that secrete insulin and cause hypoglycemia. The incidence of insulinomas is 1 to 4 in 1,000,000 persons. There are 
also other diseases characterized by excess insulin secretion, including forms of syndromic hyperinsulinism. Rather than being caused by a single gene 
mutation confined to the pancreatic beta-cell, syndromic HI may occur as part of a constellation of clinical findings in diseases where genetic mutations 
have pleiotropic effects outside of the beta-cell. Sotos syndrome, Beckwith Wiedemann syndrome, Kabuki syndrome and Turner’s syndrome are examples 
of disorders from which many patients suffer from HI. 

Current treatments and limitations 

Maintaining glucose levels through feeding or glucose infusions is the first step in managing congenital HI. Diazoxide is the only approved therapy 
indicated for hyperinsulinemia. It acts at the ATP-sensitive potassium channels, or KATP, that are involved in insulin secretion and inhibits insulin secretion. 
However, mutations in these channels are present in approximately 55% to 60% of congenital HI patients, which limits the efficacy of the drug in this 
population. There are also serious side effects of diazoxide, which include hypertrichosis (abnormal and excessive hair growth over much of the body) and 
pulmonary hypertension, for which the FDA issued a warning regarding its use in infants and children. Octreotide (used off-label) is administered as 
subcutaneous injections up to six times/day in those who respond poorly to diazoxide. Octreotide is an SST2 agonist, which can suppress both insulin and 
glucagon secretion. As glucagon is a primary physiologic defense mechanism against hypoglycemia, targeting SST2 is not optimal for congenital HI 
patients, and octreotide therapy fails for approximately 70% to 75% of patients. Patients who fail pharmacological therapy often progress to partial or 
nearly complete pancreatectomy, which can result in type I diabetes that must be managed for the remainder of the patient’s life. We believe an orally 
available SST5 agonist would provide an important new therapeutic option that inhibits insulin secretion while avoiding glucagon suppression, allowing 
these patients to maintain normal glucose levels and possibly avoid pancreatectomy, the surgical removal of all or a part of the pancreas. 

Preclinical development 

In the process of discovering paltusotine, we synthesized many other drug-like nonpeptides, some of which also showed activity at other somatostatin 
receptor subtypes, including SST5. Because activation of SST5 is known to strongly inhibit insulin secretion, we focused on optimizing selective SST5 
agonists to identify potential product candidates. 

CRN04777 was examined in a rat model of congenital HI. In this model, rats were treated with sulfonylurea glyburide, which promotes insulin release by 
acting at KATP channels. This activity mimics the KATP channel mutations found in about half of congenital HI patients. This high level of insulin produced 
a decrease of blood glucose in rats. When these rats were then treated with our development candidates, blood glucose levels returned to normal, and at 
higher doses, even to a hyperglycemic state. Repeat dose experiments demonstrated that insulin continued to be suppressed after seven days. Further, 
glucagon secretion was not suppressed in these experiments.  

In addition, the drug-like characteristics of CRN04777 met our rigorous internal criteria that we use to determine if a product candidate should enter into 
preclinical development. This includes extensive evaluation of pharmacology, selectivity, drug interaction potential, oral bioavailability and PK in multiple 
species, synthetic accessibility and preliminary non-GLP safety assessments including 14-day screening toxicology in rats and cardiovascular safety studies 
in dogs. 

Clinical development 

We conducted a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled Phase 1 study of CRN04777 in healthy volunteers to assess the safety and tolerability of 
single and multiple doses of CRN04777. In addition, the study was designed to evaluate the potential mechanism of action of CRN04777 by measuring the 
suppression of insulin secretion in healthy volunteers following stimulation with either glucose or a sulfonylurea, agents that increase the secretion of 
insulin. We announced positive topline data from the single ascending dose cohorts in September 2021 and positive topline data from the multiple 
ascending dose cohorts in March 2022. We believe CRN04777 demonstrated pharmacologic proof-of-concept in this study, based on potent suppression of 
stimulated insulin observed in these subjects. The plasma exposure of CRN04777 suggested 
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the drug was well absorbed with a half-life of approximately 40 hours, which we believe supports the potential for once daily administration in patients. All 
adverse events were considered mild or moderate and there were no serious adverse events. CRN04777 was well tolerated at single and multiple doses 
from 0.5 mg up to 120 mg and exhibited dose-proportional pharmacokinetics for the same dose range. A dose-dependent reduction in glucose-induced 
insulin secretion was demonstrated with an intravenous glucose tolerance test in the SAD cohorts and a dose-dependent reversal of sulfonylurea-induced 
insulin secretion was seen in both the SAD and MAD cohorts. The sulfonylurea-induced insulin secretion model represents a pharmacologic analog of the 
hyperinsulinism that the patients experience. 

These data from the MAD cohorts are from 27 healthy volunteers that received daily oral doses of CRN04777 (30 mg, 60 mg or 120 mg) or placebo for 10 
days with daily sampling to measure levels of fasting plasma glucose and insulin. Results showed CRN04777 treatment led to rapid, sustained and dose-
dependent decreases in fasting insulin, which in turn led to dose-dependent increases in fasting plasma glucose. Pharmacokinetic and exposure profiles 
were consistent with expectations from the SAD cohorts. Increasing CRN04777 exposures were observed with increasing doses and the study drug was 
well-tolerated. 

On Day 10 of each of the MAD cohorts, participants underwent a challenge with a sulfonylurea, which induces HI, pharmacologically mimicking the 
effects of the most common genetic mutations in congenital HI. To avoid the occurrence of hypoglycemia as a result of increased insulin secretion, patients 
undergoing the sulfonylurea challenge were evaluated using the euglycemic clamp procedure, meaning they received intravenous (IV) glucose support, 
with the glucose infusion rate increasing in automated fashion to maintain safe glucose levels. One hour after the sulfonylurea challenge, the final dose of 
CRN04777 was administered, which led to a dose-proportional and rapid reduction of insulin secretion and glucose infusion rate requirement compared to 
placebo. In participants receiving 120 mg of CRN04777, the need for IV glucose support was eliminated for most patients We are preparing for regulatory 
interactions to discuss the design of the clinical studies we plan to initiate in the second half of 2022.

ACTH antagonists for the treatment of Cushing’s disease and other diseases of ACTH excess

We are developing, CRN04894, an investigational, orally available nonpeptide ACTH antagonist, designed to antagonize adrenocorticotrophic hormone, or 
ACTH, intended for the treatment of diseases caused by excess ACTH, including Cushing’s disease, CAH, and EAS.  The MAD portion of the Phase 1 
study is ongoing and topline data are expected in the second quarter of 2022. If these data are positive, we plan to prepare for regulatory interactions to 
discuss the design of the clinical studies we plan to initiate in the second half of 2022.

Background on diseases of ACTH excess 

Cushing’s syndrome was first described by Harvey Cushing over a century ago and results from a prolonged exposure to elevated levels of glucocorticoids, 
particularly cortisol. Common signs include growth of fat pads (collarbone, back of neck, face, trunk), excessive sweating, dilation of capillaries, thinning 
of the skin, muscle weakness, hirsutism, depression/anxiety, hypertension, osteoporosis, insulin resistance and hyperglycemia, heart disease and a range of 
other metabolic disturbances resulting in high morbidity. While excessive synthetic steroid administration or adrenal tumors can cause ACTH-independent 
forms of the disease, ACTH dependent Cushing’s syndrome (known as Cushing’s disease) is the most common form accounting for 60-80% of all cases 
and is most often due to tumors of pituitary corticotroph cells that secrete excess ACTH. 

Cushing’s disease is an orphan indication with a prevalence of approximately 10,000 patients in the United States. It presents more commonly in women, 
and usually between 30 and 50 years of age. Cushing’s disease often takes many years to diagnose and may well be under-diagnosed in the general 
population as many of its symptoms such as lethargy, depression, obesity, hypertension, hirsutism and menstrual irregularity can be incorrectly attributed to 
other more common disorders. 

CAH encompasses a set of disorders that are caused by genetic mutations that result in impaired cortisol synthesis. This lack of cortisol leads to a 
breakdown of feedback mechanisms and results in persistently high levels of ACTH, which in turn causes overstimulation of the adrenal cortex. The 
resulting adrenal hyperplasia and over-secretion of other steroids (particularly androgens) and steroid precursors can lead to a variety of effects from 
improper gonadal development to life-threatening dysregulation of mineralocorticoids. CAH is an orphan indication with a prevalence of approximately 
27,000 patients in the United States.

EAS is a rare disorder that results from non-pituitary tumors that secrete excessive amounts of ACTH. The supraphysiological degree of ACTH secretion in 
EAS can vary with effects that range from cushingoid to acutely life-threatening.

Current treatments and limitations 

As with acromegaly, first-line therapy for Cushing’s disease is surgery to remove the pituitary tumor if possible. Pharmacological therapy is required when 
surgery is delayed, contraindicated or unsuccessful. Adrenal enzyme inhibitors (e.g., metyrapone and ketoconazole) prevent the synthesis of cortisol and 
can improve symptoms but suffer from mechanistic 
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side effects as a result of accumulation of precursor steroids and the resulting lack of negative feedback. For example, metyrapone is associated with 
hirsutism in women and patients must be monitored carefully to avoid hypoadrenalism. Ketoconazole often requires progressively increasing dosage to 
maintain disease control, but this is ultimately limited by the hepatotoxicity of the drug. In addition, it is a potent inhibitor of one of the most important 
drug metabolizing enzymes in the liver, CYP3A4, resulting in the potential for negative drug-interactions as a side effect. Mifepristone, a potent 
glucocorticoid receptor antagonist, is approved for control of hyperglycemia in Cushing’s syndrome, but is difficult to titrate and has significant liabilities 
due to its potent anti-progesterone activity. The somatostatin analog, pasireotide, inhibits ACTH secretion, but in a recently published study, only 15-26% 
of patients in a Phase 3 trial achieved normalization of urinary free cortisol while 73% of patients experienced a hyperglycemia-related adverse event due 
to the compound’s potent inhibition of insulin secretion. Osilodrostat, a cortisol synthesis inhibitor, received marketing approval in 2020 in the United 
States for the treatment of adult patients with Cushing’s disease for whom pituitary surgery is not an option or has not been curative.

The current treatment algorithm for CAH consists of lifelong daily glucocorticoid supplementation which attempts to balance the inability to synthesize 
cortisol and alleviate the lack of negative feedback. The inability to precisely dose glucocorticoids can often lead to enduring cycles of over- or under-
treatment. Under-treatment can result in adrenal crisis and intramuscular stress doses of glucocorticoid for acute illness are common. CAH patients have a 
two-fold risk of bone fractures compared to the general population and commonly suffer from hypercholesterolemia, insulin resistance, and hypertension. 
Compared to the general population, CAH patients have a diminished life expectancy of 7 years, and more than 20% of CAH patients will die of a 
condition complicated by adrenal crisis. Therefore, we believe a significant unmet medical need exists for improved agents to treat both Cushing’s disease 
and CAH.

Treatment options for EAS are limited, with the first goal being surgical removal of the tumors, if possible. If surgery is not an option, medical therapy may 
be used to block cortisol production. And in some cases, adrenalectomy is required if the tumor cannot be located and medical therapy does not fully block 
the cortisol production.

Preclinical development 

ACTH acts through a peptide GPCR called the melanocortin type 2 receptor, or MC2R, that is specifically expressed in the adrenal gland. Activation of 
MC2 by ACTH results in increased synthesis of cAMP, enhanced synthesis and secretion of cortisol and hypertrophy of adrenal cells. CRN04894 is a 
potent, selective nonpeptide antagonist of MC2R designed to block ACTH action and prevent its excessive stimulation of the adrenal gland in Cushing’s 
disease and CAH patients. In vivo proof-of-concept is demonstrated by CRN04894’s capacity to block corticosterone secretion in a rodent ACTH-
challenge model, which mimics aspects of Cushing’s disease. 

Clinical development 

We are currently conducting a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled Phase 1 study of CRN04894 in healthy volunteers to assess the safety and 
tolerability of single and multiple doses of CRN04894. In addition, the study is designed to measure the effect of CRN04894 on suppression of cortisol, 
cortisol precursors, and adrenal androgens following exogenous ACTH stimulation. In August 2021, we announced positive data from the single ascending 
dose cohorts of the Phase 1 study. CRN04894 was well tolerated and demonstrated dose-dependent increases in CRN04894 plasma concentrations as well 
as reductions of both basal cortisol and elevated cortisol following an ACTH challenge. All adverse events reported through the single ascending dose 
cohorts were considered mild and there were no serious adverse events. The MAD portion of the Phase 1 study is ongoing and topline data are expected in 
the second quarter of 2022. If these data are positive, we plan to prepare for regulatory interactions to discuss the design of the clinical studies we plan to 
initiate in the second half of 2022.

Competition 

The commercialization of new drugs is competitive, and we could face competition from a number of pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies around 
the world. Our commercial opportunity could be reduced or eliminated if our competitors develop and commercialize products that are safer, more 
effective, have fewer or less severe side effects or more convenient than any products that we may develop. Our competitors also may obtain FDA or other 
regulatory approval for their products more rapidly than we do. The key competitive factors affecting the success of all of our programs are likely to be 
their efficacy, safety and convenience.

With respect to paltusotine, injected peptide somatostatin agonists and GH receptor antagonists are the main medical therapies for acromegaly patients 
where surgery is unsuccessful. There are three injected somatostatin analogs approved for the treatment of acromegaly: octreotide (marketed by Novartis 
AG), lanreotide (marketed by Ipsen Biopharmaceuticals, Inc.) and pasireotide (marketed by Recordati Rare Diseases Inc.). Pegvisomant (marketed by 
Pfizer Inc.) is a daily injectable growth hormone receptor antagonist and is generally used in patients not fully controlled on somatostatin analogs. Orally 
administered dopamine agonists, such as bromocriptine and cabergoline, are also used. In 2020, Chiasma, Inc. (Chiasma acquired by Amryt Pharma, Aug 
2021) received marketing approval in the United States for an oral octreotide product, 
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MYCAPSSA, for long-term maintenance treatment in acromegaly patients who have responded to and tolerated treatment with octreotide or lanreotide. In 
December 2021, the FDA approved a lanreotide injection biosimilar manufactured by Cipla Ltd. for the treatment of acromegaly and GEP-NETs.  Other 
products in clinical development include new formulations of peptide somatostatin agonists or GH receptor antagonists. Other companies developing new 
pharmaceutical therapies for acromegaly include Camurus AB, Ionis Pharmaceuticals, Inc./Antisense Therapeutics Ltd., Aquestive Therapeutics, Inc., 
XERIS Pharmaceuticals, Amolyt Pharma and Rani Therapeutics, Inc.

Injected depots of peptide somatostatin analogs are used as therapy for NETs. In adults whose carcinoid syndrome symptoms are inadequately controlled 
by somatostatin therapy, telotristat ethyl (marketed by TerSera Therapeutics, Inc.) is an orally administered add-on therapy. In 2018, the FDA approved 
Novartis’ Lutathera for the treatment of somatostatin receptor positive gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Camurus, Amryt, POINT Biopharma 
Global Inc., and ITM Isotopen Technologien Munchen are currently engaged in Phase 3 trials of new compounds for use in the treatment of NETs and/or 
carcinoid syndrome symptoms. Other companies developing NETs therapeutics that target somatostatin receptors include, Ipsen, Oranomed/RadioMedix, 
Xencor, Tarveda Therapeutics, Advanced Accelerator Applications SA, ASCIL Biopharm, DexTech Medical, Aquestive Therapeutics Inc., Molecular 
Targeting Technologies Inc., Viewpoint Molecular Targeting LLC, Xeris Pharmaceuticals, and Immunwork Inc.

With respect to congenital HI, maintaining glucose levels through feeding or glucose infusions is the first step in managing the disease. Diazoxide 
(marketed by Teva Pharmaceuticals, Inc.) is the only approved therapy indicated for hyperinsulinemia. Octreotide (used off-label) is administered as 
subcutaneous injections in those who respond poorly to diazoxide. Patients who fail pharmacological therapy often progress to partial or nearly complete 
pancreatectomy, which can result in type I diabetes that must be managed for the remainder of the patient’s life. Ready-to-use glucagon analog products 
have also been approved and could be used to treat congenital HI if a patient experiences severe hypoglycemia and includes Zegalogue, which received 
approval in 2021 and is marketed by Zealand Pharma A/S, and Gvoke HypoPen, which received approval in 2019 and is marketed by Xeris 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc,. Companies developing products for potential use in congenital HI include Rezolute, Inc., Hanmi Pharmaceuticals, Eiger 
Biopharmaceuticals, Inc., Sosei Heptares and AmideBio. 

As with acromegaly, first-line therapy for Cushing’s disease is surgery to remove the pituitary tumor if possible. Use of adrenal enzyme inhibitors 
(metyrapone, ketoconazole and more recently levoketoconazole which gained FDA approval in December 2021 and is marketed by Xeris Pharmaceuticals) 
prevent the synthesis of cortisol and can improve symptoms. Mifepristone (marketed by Corcept Therapeutics, Inc.), a glucocorticoid receptor antagonist, is 
approved for control of hyperglycemia in Cushing’s syndrome. Osilodrostat (marketed by Recordati), a cortisol synthesis inhibitor, is approved for the 
treatment of endogenous Cushing’s syndrome. The somatostatin agonist pasireotide is also approved for Cushing’s disease. Other companies developing 
products for potential use in Cushing’s disease include Corcept Therapeutics, Inc., and Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Neurocrine Biosciences and Spruce 
Biosciences are developing CRF receptor antagonists for the treatment of CAH. BridgeBio Pharma is also developing a potentially curative gene therapy 
treatment for CAH targeting the 21-hydroxylase enzyme. 
 

There may be other earlier stage clinical programs that, if approved, would compete with our products. Many of our competitors have substantially greater 
financial, technical and human resources than we have. Additional mergers and acquisitions in the pharmaceutical industry may result in even more 
resources being concentrated in our competitors. Competition may increase further as a result of advances made in the commercial applicability of 
technologies and greater availability of capital for investment in these fields. Our success will be based in part on our ability to build and actively manage a 
portfolio of drugs that addresses unmet medical needs and creates value in patient therapy.
 

Intellectual property 

We actively protect our commercially important proprietary technology by, among other methods, obtaining, maintaining, and defending our patent rights. 
We have filed numerous patent applications covering our internally developed product candidates in the United States and in jurisdictions outside of the 
United States, resulting in multiple issued patents. We file patent applications covering the compounds in our lead product candidates in the United States, 
Europe, Japan, China, South Korea, Australia, Canada, Israel, Mexico, Taiwan, Hong Kong, Brazil, India, Indonesia, Eurasia, New Zealand, Singapore, 
South Africa, Ukraine, and Venezuela. We pursue patent protection for all inventions and improvements throughout development, including, when possible, 
compositions of matter, methods of use, dosage regimens, formulations, and manufacturing processes.

Issued patents can provide protection for varying periods of time, depending upon the date of filing of the patent application, the date of patent issuance and 
the legal term of patents in the countries in which they are obtained. In general, patents issued for applications filed in the United States can provide 
exclusionary rights for 20 years from the earliest effective 
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non-provisional filing date. In addition, in certain instances, the term of an issued U.S. patent that covers or claims an FDA approved product can be 
extended to recapture a portion of the term effectively lost as a result of the FDA regulatory review period, which is called patent term extension. The 
period of patent term extension in the United States cannot be longer than five years and the total patent term, including the extension period, must not 
exceed 14 years following FDA approval. The term of patents outside of the United States varies in accordance with the laws of the foreign jurisdiction, but 
typically is also 20 years from the earliest effective non-provisional filing date. However, the actual protection afforded by a patent varies on a product-by-
product basis, from country-to-country, and depends upon many factors, including the type of patent, the scope of its coverage, the availability of 
regulatory-related extensions, the availability of legal remedies in a particular country and the validity and enforceability of the patent. Some countries also 
provide mechanisms to recapture a portion of the patent term lost during regulatory review, similar to patent term extension in the United States. The 
amount of patent term that can be recaptured depends on the laws of the relevant jurisdictions.

We own multiple issued patents and patent applications relating to our lead product candidate paltusotine. Issued patents covering the compound 
paltusotine have been obtained in the United States and Japan, among others, and are estimated to expire in 2037, not including any available patent term 
adjustments or extensions. We own additional patents and patent applications covering the lead product candidate paltusotine, which, where issued, are 
estimated to expire between 2039 and 2043, not including any available patent term adjustments or extensions. 

We own multiple issued patents patent applications relating to our ACTH antagonist product candidate CRN04894. Issued patents covering the compound 
CRN04894 have been obtained in the United States and are estimated to expire in 2039, not including any available patent term adjustments or extensions. 
We own additional patent applications covering the lead product candidate CRN04894, which, where issued, are estimated to expire in 2042, not including 
any available patent term adjustments or extensions. 

We own multiple patent applications relating to our SST5 product candidate CRN04777. Where issued, patents covering the compound CRN04777 are 
estimated to expire in 2040, not including any available patent term adjustments or extensions. We own additional patent applications covering the lead 
product candidate CRN04777, which, where issued, are estimated to expire in 2042, not including any available patent term adjustments or extensions.

We own a variety of other patents and patent applications related to various compounds, pharmaceutical compositions and methods of use. The issued 
patents, and any patents that may issue from the pending patent applications, are estimated to expire between 2036 and 2042, not including any available 
patent term adjustments or extensions. 

We also possess substantial know-how and trade secrets relating to the development and commercialization of our product candidates, including related 
manufacturing processes and technology, which strengthen and maintain our proprietary position in the field of endocrinology. We own one registered 
trademark and two trademark registration applications filed at the USPTO, three trademark registration applications filed at the UK IPO, and three 
trademark registration applications filed at the European Union Intellectual Property Office (EUIPO). We also plan to rely on data exclusivities and market 
exclusivities, when available, to provide additional protection for our products.

Certain intellectual property rights, including for our lead programs, have been generated through the use of U.S. government funding provided from our 
Small Business Innovation Research Grants, or SBIR Grants, awarded to us by the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases of the 
National Institutes of Health, and are therefore subject to certain federal regulations. As a result, the U.S. government may have certain rights to intellectual 
property embodied in our current or future product candidates pursuant to the Bayh-Dole Act of 1980. 

Manufacturing 

Manufacturing, testing and storage of our product candidates for nonclinical and clinical studies is conducted at third-party contract manufacturers and 
distributors. We do not plan to build plants or facilities for development or commercial scale manufacture or storage of our product candidates. To date, the 
contract manufacturers have met our manufacturing requirements, and we expect them to be capable of providing sufficient quantities of our product 
candidates to meet estimated full-scale commercial needs. However, the contract manufacturers may be required to increase production scale, or we may 
need to secure alternate suppliers. 

Commercialization

We intend to build the infrastructure to effectively support the commercialization of our product candidates, if and when we believe a regulatory approval 
of the first of such product candidates in a particular geographic market appears imminent. The infrastructure for orphan products typically consists of 
medical  liaisons and a targeted, specialty sales force that calls on a focused group of physicians supported by sales management, internal sales support, an 
internal marketing group and distribution support. One challenge unique to commercializing therapies for rare diseases is the difficulty in identifying 
eligible patients due to the very small and sometimes heterogeneous disease populations. 
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Additional capabilities important to the orphan marketplace include the management of key accounts, such as managed care organizations, group 
purchasing organizations, specialty pharmacies and government accounts. To develop the appropriate commercial infrastructure, we will have to invest 
significant amounts of financial and management resources, some of which will be committed prior to any confirmation that any of our product candidates 
will be approved. 

Where appropriate, we may elect in the future to utilize strategic partners, distributors or contract sales forces to assist in the commercialization of our 
product candidates. In certain instances, we may consider building our own commercial infrastructure. 

Government regulation 

Government authorities in the United States, at the federal, state and local level, and other countries extensively regulate, among other things, the research, 
development, testing, manufacture, quality control, approval, labeling, packaging, storage, record-keeping, promotion, advertising, distribution, marketing 
and export and import of products such as those we are developing. A new drug must be approved by the FDA through the NDA process before it may be 
legally marketed in the United States. 

U.S. drug development process 

In the United States, the FDA regulates drugs under the federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or the FDCA, and its implementing regulations. The 
process of obtaining regulatory approvals and the subsequent compliance with appropriate federal, state, local and foreign statutes and regulations require 
the expenditure of substantial time and financial resources. Failure to comply with the applicable U.S. requirements at any time during the product 
development process, approval process or after approval may subject an applicant to administrative or judicial sanctions. These sanctions could include the 
FDA’s refusal to approve pending applications, withdrawal of an approval, a clinical hold, warning letters, product recalls, product seizures, total or partial 
suspension of production or distribution, injunctions, fines, refusals of government contracts, restitution, disgorgement or civil or criminal penalties. Any 
agency or judicial enforcement action could have a material adverse effect on us. 

The process required by the FDA before a drug may be marketed in the United States generally involves the following: 

• completion of preclinical laboratory tests, animal studies and formulation studies in accordance with GLP regulations and other applicable regulations; 

• submission to the FDA of an IND, which must become effective before human clinical trials may begin; 

• approval by an independent institutional review board, or IRB, or ethics committee at each clinical site before each trial may be initiated; 

• performance of adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials in accordance with good clinical practice, or GCP, regulations to establish the safety 
and efficacy of the proposed drug for its intended use; 

• submission to the FDA of an NDA after completion of all pivotal trials; 

• satisfactory completion of an FDA advisory committee review, if applicable; 

• satisfactory completion of an FDA inspection of the manufacturing facility or facilities at which the drug is produced to assess compliance with 
current GMP, or cGMP, requirements to assure that the facilities, methods and controls are adequate to preserve the drug’s identity, strength, quality 
and purity, and of selected clinical investigation sites to assess compliance with GCP; and 

• FDA review and approval of the NDA to permit commercial marketing of the product for particular indications for use in the United States.

Once a product candidate is identified for development, it enters the preclinical testing stage. Preclinical tests include laboratory evaluations of product 
chemistry, toxicity and formulation, as well as animal studies. An IND sponsor must submit the results of the preclinical tests, together with manufacturing 
information and analytical data, to the FDA as part of an IND. An IND is a request for authorization from the FDA to administer an investigational new 
drug product to humans. An IND will also include a protocol detailing, among other things, the objectives of the clinical trial, the parameters to be used in 
monitoring safety, and the effectiveness criteria to be evaluated, if the trial includes an efficacy evaluation. Some preclinical testing may continue even after 
the IND is submitted. The IND automatically becomes effective 30 days after receipt by the FDA, unless the FDA, within the 30-day time period, places 
the clinical trial on a clinical hold. In such a case, the IND sponsor and the FDA must resolve any outstanding concerns before the clinical trial can begin. 
Clinical holds also may be imposed by the FDA at any time before or during clinical trials due to safety concerns about on-going or proposed clinical 
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trials or non-compliance with specific FDA requirements, and the trials may not begin or continue until the FDA notifies the sponsor that the hold has been 
lifted. 

All clinical trials must be conducted under the supervision of one or more qualified investigators in accordance with GCP regulations, which include the 
requirement that all research subjects provide their informed consent in writing for their participation in any clinical trial. Clinical trials must be conducted 
under protocols detailing the objectives of the trial, dosing procedures, subject selection and exclusion criteria and the safety and effectiveness criteria to be 
evaluated. Each protocol must be submitted to the FDA as part of the IND, and timely safety reports must be submitted to the FDA and the investigators for 
serious and unexpected adverse events. A separate submission to the existing IND must be made for each successive clinical trial conducted during product 
development and for any subsequent protocol amendments.  An independent IRB at each institution participating in the clinical trial must review and 
approve each protocol before a clinical trial commences at that institution and must also approve the information regarding the trial and the consent form 
that must be provided to each trial subject or his or her legal representative, monitor the study until completed and otherwise comply with IRB regulations. 
The FDA or the sponsor may suspend a clinical trial at any time on various grounds, including a finding that the research subjects or patients are being 
exposed to an unacceptable health risk. Similarly, an IRB can suspend or terminate approval of a clinical trial at its institution if the clinical trial is not 
being conducted in accordance with the IRB’s requirements or if the drug has been associated with unexpected serious harm to patients. In addition, some 
clinical trials are overseen by an independent group of qualified experts organized by the sponsor, known as a data safety monitoring board or committee. 
Depending on its charter, this group may determine whether a trial may move forward at designated check points based on access to certain data from the 
trial. There are also requirements governing the reporting of ongoing clinical studies and clinical study results to public registries, including 
clinicaltrials.gov.

Human clinical trials are typically conducted in three sequential phases that may overlap or be combined: 

• Phase 1:    The product candidate is initially introduced into healthy human subjects and tested for safety, dosage tolerance, absorption, metabolism, 
distribution and excretion and, if possible, to gain an early indication of its effectiveness. In the case of some products for severe or life-threatening 
diseases, such as cancer, especially when the product may be too inherently toxic to ethically administer to healthy volunteers, the initial human 
testing is often conducted in patients. Sponsors sometimes designate their Phase 1 clinical trials as Phase 1a or Phase 1b. Phase 1b clinical trials are 
typically aimed at evaluating dosing, pharmacokinetics and safety in larger number of patients. Some Phase 1b studies evaluate biomarkers or 
surrogate markers that may be associated with efficacy in patients with specific types of diseases. 

• Phase 2:    The product candidate is administered to a limited patient population with a specified disease or condition to identify possible adverse 
effects and safety risks, to preliminarily evaluate the efficacy of the product candidate for specific targeted diseases and to determine dosage tolerance 
and appropriate dosage. Multiple Phase 2 clinical trials may be conducted to obtain information prior to beginning larger and more expensive Phase 3 
clinical trials. 

• Phase 3:    The product candidate is administered to an expanded patient population to further evaluate dosage, to provide statistically significant 
evidence of clinical efficacy and to further test for safety, generally at multiple geographically dispersed clinical trial sites. These clinical trials are 
intended to establish the overall risk-benefit ratio of the product candidate and provide an adequate basis for product labeling. 

Post-approval trials, sometimes referred to as Phase 4 studies, may be conducted after initial marketing approval. These trials are used to gain additional 
experience from the treatment of patients in the intended therapeutic indication. In certain instances, the FDA may mandate the performance of Phase 4 
clinical trials as a condition of approval of an NDA. 

During the development of a new drug, sponsors are given opportunities to meet with the FDA at certain points. These points may be prior to submission of 
an IND, at the end of Phase 2, and before an NDA is submitted. Meetings at other times may be requested. These meetings can provide an opportunity for 
the sponsor to share information about the data gathered to date, for the FDA to provide advice, and for the sponsor and the FDA to reach agreement on the 
next phase of development. Sponsors typically use the meetings at the end of the Phase 2 trial to discuss Phase 2 clinical results and present plans for the 
pivotal Phase 3 clinical trials that they believe will support approval of the new drug. 
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Concurrent with clinical trials, companies usually complete additional animal studies and must also develop additional information about the chemistry and 
physical characteristics of the drug and finalize a process for manufacturing the product in commercial quantities in accordance with cGMP requirements. 
The manufacturing process must be capable of consistently producing quality batches of the product candidate and, among other things, the manufacturer 
must develop methods for testing the identity, strength, quality and purity of the final drug. In addition, appropriate packaging must be selected and tested, 
and stability studies must be conducted to demonstrate that the product candidate does not undergo unacceptable deterioration over its shelf life. 

While the IND is active, progress reports summarizing the results of the clinical trials and nonclinical studies performed since the last progress report, 
among other information, must be submitted at least annually to the FDA, and written IND safety reports must be submitted to the FDA and investigators 
for serious and unexpected suspected adverse events, findings from other studies suggesting a significant risk to humans exposed to the same or similar 
drugs, findings from animal or in vitro testing suggesting a significant risk to humans, and any clinically important increased incidence of a serious 
suspected adverse reaction compared to that listed in the protocol or investigator brochure. 

U.S. review and approval process 

The results of product development, preclinical and other non-clinical studies and clinical trials, along with descriptions of the manufacturing process, 
analytical tests conducted on the chemistry of the drug, proposed labeling and other relevant information are submitted to the FDA as part of an NDA 
requesting approval to market the product. The submission of an NDA is subject to the payment of substantial user fees; a waiver of such fees may be 
obtained under certain limited circumstances. 

The FDA conducts a preliminary review of all NDAs within the first 60 days after submission, before accepting them for filing, to determine whether they 
are sufficiently complete to permit substantive review. The FDA may request additional information rather than accept an NDA for filing. In this event, the 
NDA must be resubmitted with the additional information. The resubmitted application also is subject to review before the FDA accepts it for filing. Once 
filed, the FDA reviews an NDA to determine, among other things, whether a product is safe and effective for its intended use and whether its 
manufacturing is cGMP-compliant to assure and preserve the product’s identity, strength, quality and purity. Under the Prescription Drug User Fee Act, or 
PDUFA, guidelines that are currently in effect, the FDA has a goal of ten months from the date of “filing” of a standard NDA for a new molecular entity to 
review and act on the submission. This review typically takes twelve months from the date the NDA is submitted to FDA because the FDA has 
approximately two months to make a “filing” decision after it the application is submitted.

The FDA may refer an application for a novel drug to an advisory committee. An advisory committee is a panel of independent experts, including 
clinicians and other scientific experts, that reviews, evaluates and provides a recommendation as to whether the application should be approved and under 
what conditions. The FDA is not bound by the recommendations of an advisory committee, but it considers such recommendations carefully when making 
decisions. Before approving an NDA, the FDA will inspect the facility or facilities where the product is manufactured. The FDA will not approve an 
application unless it determines that the manufacturing processes and facilities are in compliance with cGMP requirements and adequate to assure 
consistent production of the product within required specifications. Additionally, before approving an NDA, the FDA may inspect one or more clinical trial 
sites to assure compliance with GCP requirements.

After the FDA evaluates an NDA and conducts inspections of manufacturing facilities where the investigational product and/or its drug substance will be 
produced, the FDA may issue an approval letter or a Complete Response Letter, or CRL. An approval letter authorizes commercial marketing of the drug 
with prescribing information for specific indications. A CRL indicates that the review cycle of the application is complete, and the application will not be 
approved in its present form. A CRL usually describes the specific deficiencies in the NDA identified by the FDA and may require additional clinical data, 
such as an additional clinical trial or other significant and time-consuming requirements related to clinical trials, nonclinical studies or manufacturing. If a 
CRL is issued, the sponsor must resubmit the NDA or, addressing all of the deficiencies identified in the letter, or withdraw the application. Even if such 
data and information are submitted, the FDA may decide that the NDA does not satisfy the criteria for approval. 

If a product receives regulatory approval, the approval may be significantly limited to specific diseases and dosages or the indications for use may 
otherwise be limited, which could restrict the commercial value of the product. In addition, the FDA may require a sponsor to conduct Phase 4 testing, 
which involves clinical trials designed to further assess a drug’s safety and effectiveness after NDA approval, and may require testing and surveillance 
programs to monitor the safety of approved products which have been commercialized. The FDA may also place other conditions on approval including the 
requirement for a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy, or REMS, to assure the safe use of the drug. If the FDA concludes a REMS is needed, the sponsor 
of the NDA must submit a proposed REMS. The FDA will not approve the NDA without an approved REMS, if required. A REMS could include 
medication guides, physician communication plans or elements to assure safe use, 
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such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries and other risk minimization tools. Any of these limitations on approval or marketing could restrict 
the commercial promotion, distribution, prescription or dispensing of products. 

In addition, the Pediatric Research Equity Act, or PREA, requires a sponsor to conduct pediatric clinical trials for most drugs, for a new active ingredient, 
new indication, new dosage form, new dosing regimen or new route of administration. Under PREA, original NDAs and supplements must contain a 
pediatric assessment unless the sponsor has received a deferral or waiver. The required assessment must evaluate the safety and effectiveness of the product 
for the claimed indications in all relevant pediatric subpopulations and support dosing and administration for each pediatric subpopulation for which the 
product is safe and effective. The sponsor or FDA may request a deferral of pediatric clinical trials for some or all of the pediatric subpopulations. A 
deferral may be granted for several reasons, including a finding that the drug is ready for approval for use in adults before pediatric clinical trials are 
complete or that additional safety or effectiveness data needs to be collected before the pediatric clinical trials begin. The FDA must send a non-compliance 
letter to any sponsor that fails to submit the required assessment, keep a deferral current or fails to submit a request for approval of a pediatric formulation. 

Orphan drug designation 

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orphan designation to a drug intended to treat a rare disease or condition, which is a disease or condition 
that affects fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United States or, if it affects more than 200,000 individuals in the United States, there is no reasonable 
expectation that the cost of developing and making a drug product available in the United States for this type of disease or condition will be recovered from 
sales of the product. Orphan designation must be requested before submitting an NDA. After the FDA grants orphan designation, the identity of the 
therapeutic agent and its potential orphan use are disclosed publicly by the FDA. Orphan designation does not convey any advantage in or shorten the 
duration of the regulatory review and approval process. 

If a product that has orphan designation subsequently receives the first FDA approval for the disease or condition for which it has such designation, the 
product is entitled to orphan product exclusivity, which means that the FDA may not approve any other applications to market the same drug for the same 
disease or condition for seven years, except in limited circumstances, such as a showing of clinical superiority to the product with orphan exclusivity or 
inability to manufacture the product in sufficient quantities. The designation of such drug also entitles a party to financial incentives such as opportunities 
for grant funding towards clinical trial costs, tax advantages and user-fee waivers. However, competitors, may receive approval of different products for the 
indication for which the orphan product has exclusivity or obtain approval for the same product but for a different indication for which the orphan product 
has exclusivity. Orphan exclusivity also could block the approval of a competing product for seven years if a competitor obtains approval of the same drug 
as defined by the FDA or if a product candidate is determined to be contained within the competitor’s product for the same disease or condition. In 
addition, if an orphan designated product receives marketing approval for an indication broader than what is designated, it may not be entitled to orphan 
exclusivity.  

Expedited development and review programs 

The FDA has a fast track designation program that is intended to expedite or facilitate the process for reviewing new drug products that meet certain 
criteria. Specifically, new drugs are eligible for fast track designation if they are intended to treat a serious or life-threatening disease or condition and 
demonstrate the potential to address unmet medical needs for the disease or condition. The sponsor of a fast track product candidate has opportunities for 
more frequent interactions with the applicable FDA review team during product development and, once an NDA is submitted, the product candidate may 
be eligible for priority review. With regard to a fast track product candidate, the FDA may consider for review sections of the NDA on a rolling basis before 
the complete application is submitted, if the sponsor provides a schedule for the submission of the sections of the NDA, the FDA agrees to accept sections 
of the NDA and determines that the schedule is acceptable, and the sponsor pays any required user fees upon submission of the first section of the NDA. 

A product candidate intended to treat a serious or life-threatening disease or condition may also be eligible for breakthrough therapy designation to expedite 
its development and review. A product candidate can receive breakthrough therapy designation if preliminary clinical evidence indicates that the product 
candidate, alone or in combination with one or more other drugs or biologics, may demonstrate substantial improvement over existing therapies on one or 
more clinically significant endpoints, such as substantial treatment effects observed early in clinical development. The designation includes all of the fast 
track program features, as well as more intensive FDA interaction and guidance beginning as early as Phase 1 and an organizational commitment to 
expedite the development and review of the product candidate, including involvement of senior managers.

Any product candidate submitted to the FDA for approval, including a product candidate with a fast track designation or breakthrough designation, may 
also be eligible for other types of FDA programs intended to expedite development and review, such as priority review and accelerated approval. An NDA 
is eligible for priority review if the product candidate is designed to treat a serious condition, and if approved, would provide a significant improvement in 
safety or efficacy 
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compared to marketed products. The FDA will attempt to direct additional resources to the evaluation of an application for a new drug designated for 
priority review in an effort to facilitate the review. The FDA endeavors to review applications with priority review designations within six months of the 
filing date as compared to ten months for review of new molecular entity NDAs under its current PDUFA review goals. 

In addition, a product candidate may be eligible for accelerated approval. Drug products intended to treat serious or life-threatening diseases or conditions 
may be eligible for accelerated approval upon a determination that the product candidate has an effect on a surrogate endpoint that is reasonably likely to 
predict clinical benefit, or on a clinical endpoint that can be measured earlier than irreversible morbidity or mortality, that is reasonably likely to predict an 
effect on irreversible morbidity or mortality or other clinical benefit, taking into account the severity, rarity, or prevalence of the condition and the 
availability or lack of alternative treatments. As a condition of approval, the FDA may require that a sponsor of a drug receiving accelerated approval 
perform adequate and well-controlled post-marketing clinical trials. Drugs receiving accelerated approval may be subject to expedited withdrawal 
procedures if the sponsor fails to conduct the required post-marketing trials or if such trials fail to verify the predicted clinical benefit. In addition, the FDA 
currently requires as a condition for accelerated approval pre-approval of promotional materials, which could adversely impact the timing of the 
commercial launch of the product. 

Fast track designation, priority review and breakthrough therapy designation do not change the standards for approval but may expedite the development or 
approval process. Even if a product candidate qualifies for one or more of these programs, the FDA may later decide that the product no longer meets the 
conditions for qualification or decide that the time period for FDA review or approval will not be shortened.

Post-approval requirements 

Any products manufactured or distributed pursuant to FDA approvals are subject to pervasive and continuing regulation by the FDA, including, among 
other things, requirements relating to record-keeping, reporting of adverse experiences, periodic reporting, product sampling and distribution, and 
advertising and promotion of the product. After approval, most changes to the approved product, such as adding new indications, certain manufacturing 
changes and additional labeling claims, are subject to further FDA review and approval. Drug manufacturers and other entities involved in the manufacture 
and distribution of approved drugs are required to register their establishments with the FDA and certain state agencies and are subject to periodic 
unannounced inspections by the FDA and certain state agencies for compliance with cGMP regulations and other laws and regulations. Changes to the 
manufacturing process are strictly regulated, and, depending on the significance of the change, may require prior FDA approval before being implemented. 
Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to expend time, money and effort in the area of production and quality control to maintain compliance with 
cGMP and other aspects of regulatory compliance. 

The FDA may withdraw approval if compliance with regulatory requirements and standards is not maintained or if problems occur after the product 
reaches the market. Later discovery of previously unknown problems with a product, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or 
with manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may result in revisions to the approved labeling to add new safety 
information; imposition of post-market studies or clinical studies to assess new safety risks; or imposition of distribution restrictions or other restrictions 
under a REMS program. Other potential consequences include, among other things:

• restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of the product, complete withdrawal of the product from the market or product recalls;
• fines, warning letters, or untitled letters;
• clinical holds on clinical studies;
• refusal of the FDA to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications, or suspension or revocation of product approvals;
• product seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of products;
• consent decrees, corporate integrity agreements, debarment or exclusion from federal healthcare programs;
• mandated modification of promotional materials and labeling and the issuance of corrective information;
• the issuance of safety alerts, Dear Healthcare Provider letters, press releases and other communications containing warnings or other safety 

information about the product; or
• injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

In addition, the FDA closely regulates the marketing, labeling, advertising and promotion of drug products. A company can make only those claims 
relating to safety and efficacy, purity and potency that are approved by the FDA and in accordance with the provisions of the approved label. The FDA and 
other agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of off-label uses. Failure to comply with these requirements can result 
in, among other things, adverse publicity, warning letters, corrective advertising and potential civil and criminal penalties. Physicians may prescribe legally 
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available products for uses that are not described in the product’s labeling and that differ from those tested by us and approved by the FDA. Such off-label 
uses are common across medical specialties. Physicians may believe that such off-label uses are the best treatment for many patients in varied 
circumstances. The FDA does not regulate the behavior of physicians in their choice of treatments. The FDA does, however, restrict manufacturer’s 
communications on the subject of off-label use of their products. 

Marketing exclusivity 

Market exclusivity provisions under the FDCA can delay the submission or the approval of certain marketing applications. The FDCA provides a five-year 
period of non-patent data exclusivity within the United States to the first applicant to obtain approval of an NDA for a new chemical entity. A drug is a new 
chemical entity if the FDA has not previously approved any other new drug containing the same active moiety, which is the molecule or ion responsible for 
the action of the drug substance. During the exclusivity period, the FDA may not approve or even accept for review an abbreviated new drug application, or 
ANDA, or an NDA submitted under Section 505(b)(2), or 505(b)(2) NDA, submitted by another company for another drug based on the same active 
moiety, regardless of whether the drug is intended for the same indication as the original innovative drug or for another indication, where the applicant does 
not own or have a legal right of reference to all the data required for approval. However, an application may be submitted after four years if it contains a 
certification of patent invalidity or non-infringement to one of the patents listed with the FDA by the innovator NDA holder. 

The FDCA alternatively provides three years of marketing exclusivity for an NDA, or supplement to an existing NDA if new clinical investigations, other 
than bioavailability studies, that were conducted or sponsored by the applicant are deemed by the FDA to be essential to the approval of the application, for 
example new indications, dosages or strengths of an existing drug. This three-year exclusivity covers only the modification for which the drug received 
approval on the basis of the new clinical investigations and does not prohibit the FDA from approving ANDAs or 505(b)(2) NDAs for drugs containing the 
active agent for the original indication or condition of use. Five-year and three-year exclusivity will not delay the submission or approval of a full NDA. 
However, an applicant submitting a full NDA would be required to conduct or obtain a right of reference to all of the preclinical studies and adequate and 
well-controlled clinical trials necessary to demonstrate safety and effectiveness. 

Pediatric exclusivity is another type of marketing exclusivity available in the United States. Pediatric exclusivity provides for an additional six months of 
marketing exclusivity attached to another period of exclusivity if a sponsor conducts clinical trials in children in response to a written request from the 
FDA. The issuance of a written request does not require the sponsor to undertake the described clinical trials.

U.S. coverage and reimbursement 

Significant uncertainty exists as to the coverage and reimbursement status of any therapeutic product candidate for which we may seek regulatory approval. 
Sales in the United States will depend in part on the availability of sufficient coverage and adequate reimbursement from third-party payors, which include 
government health programs such as Medicare, Medicaid, TRICARE and the Veterans Administration, as well as managed care organizations and private 
health insurers. Prices at which we or our customers seek reimbursement for our therapeutic product candidates can be subject to challenge, reduction or 
denial by payors. 

The process for determining whether a payor will provide coverage for a product is typically separate from the process for setting the reimbursement rate 
that the payor will pay for the product. A payor’s decision to provide coverage for a product does not imply that an adequate reimbursement rate will be 
available. Additionally, in the United States there is no uniform policy among payors for coverage or reimbursement. Third-party payors often rely upon 
Medicare coverage policy and payment limitations in setting their own coverage and reimbursement policies, but also have their own methods and approval 
processes. Therefore, coverage and reimbursement for products can differ significantly from payor to payor. If coverage and adequate reimbursement are 
not available, or are available only at limited levels, successful commercialization of, and obtaining a satisfactory financial return on, any product we 
develop may not be possible. 

Third-party payors are increasingly challenging the price and examining the medical necessity and cost-effectiveness of medical products and services, in 
addition to their safety and efficacy. In order to obtain coverage and reimbursement for any product that might be approved for marketing, we may need to 
conduct expensive studies in order to demonstrate the medical necessity and cost-effectiveness of any products, which would be in addition to the costs 
expended to obtain regulatory approvals. Third-party payors may not consider our product candidates to be medically necessary or cost-effective compared 
to other available therapies, or the rebate percentages required to secure favorable coverage may not yield an adequate margin over cost or may not enable 
us to maintain price levels sufficient to realize an appropriate return on our investment in drug development. 
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Healthcare reform 

In the United States and some foreign jurisdictions, there have been, and continue to be, several legislative and regulatory changes and proposed changes 
regarding the healthcare system that could prevent or delay marketing approval of drug product candidates, restrict or regulate post-approval activities, and 
affect the profitable sale of drug product candidates. 

Among policy makers and payors in the United States and elsewhere, there is significant interest in promoting changes in healthcare systems with the 
stated goals of containing healthcare costs, improving quality and/or expanding access.

In the United States, the pharmaceutical industry has been a particular focus of these efforts and has been significantly affected by major legislative 
initiatives. In March 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as subsequently amended by as amended by the Health Care and Education 
Reconciliation Act, collectively the ACA, was passed, which substantially changed the way healthcare is financed by both the government and private 
insurers, and significantly impacts the U.S. pharmaceutical industry. The ACA, as amended, among other things: (1) increased the minimum Medicaid 
rebates owed by manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program and extended the rebate program to individuals enrolled in Medicaid managed 
care organizations; (2) established an annual, nondeductible fee on any entity that manufactures or imports certain specified branded prescription drugs and 
biologic agents apportioned among these entities according to their market share in some government healthcare programs; (3) expanded the availability of 
lower pricing under the 340B drug pricing program by adding new entities to the program; (4) increased the statutory minimum rebates a manufacturer 
must pay under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program; (5) expanded the eligibility criteria for Medicaid programs; (6) created a new Patient-Centered 
Outcomes Research Institute to oversee, identify priorities in, and conduct comparative clinical effectiveness research, along with funding for such 
research; (7) created a new Medicare Part D coverage gap discount program, in which manufacturers must agree to offer 70% point-of-sale discounts off 
negotiated prices of applicable brand drugs to eligible beneficiaries during their coverage gap period, as a condition for the manufacturer’s outpatient drugs 
to be covered under Medicare Part D; (8) established a new Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute to oversee, identify priorities in, and conduct 
comparative clinical effectiveness research, along with funding for such research; and (9) established a Center for Medicare Innovation at the Centers for 
Medicare & Medicaid Services, or CMS, to test innovative payment and service delivery models to lower Medicare and Medicaid spending, potentially 
including prescription drugs.

Since its enactment, there have been judicial, Congressional and executive challenges to certain aspects of the ACA. On June 17, 2021, the U.S. Supreme 
Court dismissed the most recent judicial challenge to the ACA without specifically ruling on the constitutionality of the ACA. Prior to the Supreme Court’s 
decision, President Biden issued an executive order to initiate a special enrollment period from February 15, 2021 through August 15, 2021 for purposes of 
obtaining health insurance coverage through the ACA marketplace. The executive order also instructed certain governmental agencies to review and 
reconsider their existing policies and rules that limit access to healthcare, including among others, reexamining Medicaid demonstration projects and 
waiver programs that include work requirements, and policies that create unnecessary barriers to obtaining access to health insurance coverage through 
Medicaid or the ACA.

Other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the ACA was enacted, including aggregate reductions of Medicare payments to providers 
of 2% per fiscal year, which was temporarily suspended from May 1, 2020 through March 31, 2022 and reduced to a 1% reduction from April 1, 2022 
through June 30, 2022, and reduced payments to several types of Medicare providers. Moreover, there has recently been heightened governmental scrutiny 
over the manner in which manufacturers set prices for their marketed products, which has resulted in several Congressional inquiries and proposed and 
enacted federal and state legislation designed to, among other things, bring more transparency to product pricing, review the relationship between pricing 
and manufacturer patient programs, and reform government program reimbursement methodologies for drug products. At the state level, legislatures have 
increasingly passed legislation and implemented regulations designed to control pharmaceutical product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement 
constraints, discounts, restrictions on certain product access and marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures, and, in some cases, designed to 
encourage importation from other countries and bulk purchasing. 

U.S. healthcare fraud and abuse laws and compliance requirements 

Federal and state healthcare laws and regulations restrict business practices in the biopharmaceutical industry. These laws include anti-kickback and false 
claims laws and regulations, and transparency laws and regulations with respect to drug pricing and payments or other transfers of value made to physicians 
and other licensed healthcare professionals. 

The federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits, among other things, individuals or entities from knowingly and willfully offering, paying, soliciting or 
receiving remuneration, directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind to induce or in return for purchasing, leasing, ordering or arranging for 
or recommending the purchase, lease or order of any item or service reimbursable under Medicare, Medicaid or other federal healthcare programs. A 
person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of this statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation. 
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The federal civil and criminal false claims laws, including the civil False Claims Act, prohibit, among other things, any individual or entity from knowingly 
presenting, or causing to be presented, a false claim for payment to the federal government or knowingly making, using or causing to be made or used a 
false record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim to the federal government. In addition, the government may assert that a claim including 
items or services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the civil False 
Claims Act.

The federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, created additional federal civil and criminal statutes that prohibit, 
among other things, knowingly and willfully executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program. Similar to the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, a 
person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of this statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation.

The federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act requires certain manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies for which payment is 
available under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program, with specific exceptions, to report annually to CMS information related to 
payments or other transfers of value made to physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors), certain non-
physician practitioners including physician assistants and nurse practitioners, and teaching hospitals, and applicable manufacturers and applicable group 
purchasing organizations to report annually to CMS ownership and investment interests held by physicians and their immediate family members. 

Similar state and foreign laws and regulations may also restrict business practices in the biopharmaceutical industry, such as state anti-kickback and false 
claims laws, which may apply to business practices, including but not limited to, research, distribution, sales and marketing arrangements and claims 
involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by non- governmental third-party payors, including private insurers, or by patients themselves; state laws 
that require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance 
guidance promulgated by the federal government, or otherwise restrict payments that may be made to healthcare providers and other potential referral 
sources; state laws and regulations that require drug manufacturers to file reports relating to pricing and marketing information, which requires tracking 
gifts and other remuneration and items of value provided to physicians, other healthcare providers and entities; state and local laws that require the 
registration of pharmaceutical sales representatives. 

Efforts to ensure compliance with applicable healthcare laws and regulations can involve substantial costs. Violations of healthcare laws can result in 
significant penalties, including the imposition of significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, monetary fines, disgorgement, individual 
imprisonment, possible exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other U.S. healthcare programs, integrity oversight and reporting 
obligations, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, and curtailment or restructuring of operations.

Data Privacy and Security 

Numerous state, federal and foreign laws, including consumer protection laws and regulations, govern the collection, dissemination, use, access to, 
confidentiality and security of personal information, including health-related information. In the United States, numerous federal and state laws and 
regulations, including data breach notification laws, health information privacy laws, and consumer protection laws and regulations (e.g., Section 5 of the 
FTC Act), that govern the collection, use, disclosure, and protection of health-related and other personal information could apply to our operations or the 
operations of our partners. For example, HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, imposes certain 
requirements relating to the privacy, security and transmission of protected health information on HIPAA covered entities, which include certain healthcare 
provider, health plans and healthcare clearinghouses, and their business associates who conduct certain activities involving protected health information on 
their behalf.  In Europe, the General Data Protection Regulation, or the GDPR, went into effect in May 2018 and imposes strict requirements for processing 
the personal data of individuals within the EEA. In addition, the GDPR increases the scrutiny of transfers of personal data from clinical trial sites located in 
the EEA to the United States and other jurisdictions that the European Commission does not recognize as having “adequate” data protection laws; in July 
2020, the Court of Justice of the European Union limited how organizations could lawfully transfer personal data from the EEA to the United States by 
invalidating the EU-US Privacy Shield and imposing further restrictions on use of the standard contractual clauses, which could increase our costs and our 
ability to efficiently process personal data from the EEA. Companies that must comply with the GDPR face increased compliance obligations and risk, 
including more robust regulatory enforcement of data protection requirements and potential fines for noncompliance of up to €20 million or 4% of the 
annual global revenues of the noncompliant company, whichever is greater. Additionally, from January 1, 2021, companies have to comply with the GDPR 
and the GDPR as incorporated into United Kingdom national law, the latter regime having the ability to separately fine up to the greater of £17.5 million or 
4% of global turnover. The relationship between the United Kingdom and the EU in relation to 
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certain aspects of data protection law remains unclear, for example around how data can lawfully be transferred between each jurisdiction, which exposes 
us to further compliance risk. 

Employees and Human Capital Resources

As of March 25, 2022, we had 143 full-time employees, 40 of whom have a Ph.D. or M.D. None of our employees are represented by labor unions or 
covered by collective bargaining agreements. We consider our relationship with our employees to be good. In addition, we rely on a number of consultants 
to assist us.

Our human capital resources objectives include, as applicable, identifying, recruiting, retaining, incentivizing and integration our existing and additional 
employees. The principal purposes of our equity incentive plans are to attract, retain and motivate selected employees, consultants and directors through the 
granting of stock-based compensation awards and cash-based performance bonus awards, in order to increase stockholder value and the success of our 
company by motivating such individuals to perform to the best of their abilities and achieve our objectives.

Insurance

We maintain limited product liability insurance coverage for our clinical trials in the amount of $10 million per occurrence and $10 million in the 
aggregate. However, insurance coverage is becoming increasingly expensive, and we may not be able to obtain or maintain insurance coverage at a 
reasonable cost or in sufficient amounts to protect us against losses due to liability. 

About Crinetics

We were formed as a Delaware corporation on November 18, 2008. Our principal executive offices are located at 10222 Barnes Canyon Road, Bldg. #2, 
San Diego, California 92121, and our telephone number is (858) 450-6464. In January 2017, we formed a wholly-owned Australian subsidiary, Crinetics 
Australia Pty Ltd, or CAPL, to conduct various preclinical and clinical activities for our product and development candidates in Australia.

Available Information

Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to reports filed pursuant to Sections 
13(a) and 15(d) of the Exchange Act are available free of charge on our website at www.crinetics.com, as soon as reasonably practicable after we 
electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. The SEC maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and information statements and 
other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC. The address of that website is www.sec.gov. We use our investor relations website 
as a means of disclosing material non-public information and for complying with our disclosure obligations under Regulation FD. Investors should monitor 
such website, in addition to following our press releases, SEC filings and public conference calls and webcasts. Information relating to our corporate 
governance is also included on our investor relations website. The information in or accessible through the SEC and our website are not incorporated into, 
and are not considered part of, this filing. Further, our references to the URLs for these websites are intended to be inactive textual references only.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors 

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should consider carefully the risks and uncertainties described below, together with all of 
the other information included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including our consolidated financial statements and related notes and “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” before making an investment decision to purchase or sell shares of our 
common stock. If any of the following risks are realized, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be materially and 
adversely affected. In that event, the trading price of our common stock could decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment. The risks 
described below are not the only ones that we may face, and additional risks or uncertainties not known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may 
also impair our business and future prospects.

Risks related to our limited operating history, financial position and capital requirements 

We have a limited operating history, have incurred significant operating losses since our inception and expect to incur significant losses for the 
foreseeable future. We may never generate any revenue or become profitable or, if we achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain it. 

Pharmaceutical product development is a highly speculative undertaking and involves a substantial degree of risk. We are a clinical-stage pharmaceutical 
company with a limited operating history upon which you can evaluate our business and prospects. We commenced operations in 2010, and to date, we 
have focused primarily on organizing and staffing our company, business planning, raising capital, discovering potential product candidates, and 
conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials. Our approach to the discovery and development of product candidates is unproven, and we do not know 
whether we will be able to develop any products of commercial value. In addition, only three of our product candidates, paltusotine, CRN04777, and 
CRN04894 are in clinical development, while our other development programs remain in the preclinical or discovery stages. We have not yet demonstrated 
an ability to successfully complete any pivotal clinical trials beyond Phase 2, obtain regulatory approvals, manufacture a commercial scale product, or 
arrange for a third party to do so on our behalf, or conduct sales and marketing activities necessary for successful product commercialization. 
Consequently, any predictions made about our future success or viability may not be as accurate as they could be if we had a history of successfully 
developing and commercializing pharmaceutical products. 

We have incurred significant operating losses since our inception. If our product candidates are not successfully developed and approved, we may never 
generate any revenue. We have incurred cumulative net losses since our inception and, as of December 31, 2021, we had an accumulated deficit of $275.3 
million. Our losses have primarily resulted from expenses incurred in connection with our research and development programs and from general and 
administrative costs associated with our operations. All of our product candidates will require substantial additional development time and resources before 
we would be able to apply for or receive regulatory approvals and begin generating revenue from product sales. We expect to continue to incur losses for 
the foreseeable future, and we anticipate these losses will increase substantially as we continue our development of, seek regulatory approval for and 
potentially commercialize any approved products. 

To become and remain profitable, we must succeed in developing and eventually commercializing products that generate significant revenue. This will 
require us to be successful in a range of challenging activities, including completing preclinical studies and clinical trials of our product candidates, 
discovering additional product candidates, obtaining regulatory approval for these product candidates and manufacturing, marketing and selling any 
products for which we may obtain regulatory approval. We are only in the preliminary stages of most of these activities. We may never succeed in these 
activities and, even if we do, may never generate revenues that are significant enough to achieve profitability. In addition, we have not yet demonstrated an 
ability to successfully overcome many of the risks and uncertainties frequently encountered by companies in new and rapidly evolving fields, particularly 
in the biopharmaceutical industry. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with pharmaceutical product development, we are unable to 
accurately predict the timing or amount of increased expenses or when, or if, we will be able to achieve profitability. Even if we do achieve profitability, we 
may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. Our failure to become and remain profitable would depress the value of 
our company and could impair our ability to raise capital, expand our business, maintain our research and development efforts, diversify our product 
candidates or even continue our operations. A decline in the value of our company could also cause you to lose all or part of your investment. 

We will require substantial additional financing to achieve our goals, and a failure to obtain this necessary capital when needed on acceptable terms, or 
at all, could force us to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development programs, commercialization efforts or other operations. 

The development of biopharmaceutical product candidates is capital-intensive. We expect our expenses to increase in connection with our ongoing 
activities, particularly as we conduct our ongoing and planned clinical trials of paltusotine, CRN04777, and CRN04894 and continue our research and 
development activities and conduct preclinical studies for our other development programs, and seek regulatory approval for our current product candidates 
and any future product candidates, including product candidates that we may develop for nonfunctional pituitary adenomas and polycystic kidney 
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disease, among other indications. In addition, if we obtain regulatory approval for any of our product candidates, we expect to incur significant 
commercialization expenses related to product manufacturing, marketing, sales and distribution. Because the outcome of any preclinical study or clinical 
trial is highly uncertain, we cannot reasonably estimate the actual amounts necessary to successfully complete the development and commercialization of 
our product candidates. Furthermore, we expect to incur additional costs associated with operating as a public company. Accordingly, we will need to 
obtain substantial additional funding in connection with our continuing operations. If we are unable to raise capital when needed or on attractive terms, we 
could be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate our research and development programs or any future commercialization efforts. 

We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents and investment securities will enable us to fund our operations for at least the next 12 months. We have 
based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could use our capital resources sooner than we currently expect. Our operating 
plans and other demands on our cash resources may change as a result of many factors currently unknown to us, and we may need to seek additional funds 
sooner than planned, through public or private equity or debt financings, such as our follow-on public offerings and private placements completed in 2020 
and 2021, or other sources, including strategic collaborations. We do not currently have any active grants nor do we expect grant revenues to be a material 
source of future revenue. In addition, we may seek additional capital due to favorable market conditions or strategic considerations even if we believe we 
have sufficient funds for our current or future operating plans. For example, in August 2019 we entered into a Sales Agreement, or the Sales Agreement, 
with SVB Leerink LLC and Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., or the Sales Agents, under which we may, from time to time, sell up to $75.0 million of shares of our 
common stock through the Sales Agents. However, there can be no assurance that the Sales Agents will be successful in consummating future sales based 
on prevailing market conditions or in the quantities or at the prices that we deem appropriate. In addition, the Sales Agreement may be terminated by us or 
the Sales Agents at any time upon ten days’ notice to the other parties, or by either Sales Agent, with respect to itself, at any time in certain circumstances, 
including the occurrence of a material adverse change. Attempting to secure additional financing may divert our management from our day-to-day 
activities, which may adversely affect our ability to develop our product candidates. 

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including: 

• the type, number, scope, progress, expansions, results, costs and timing of, our preclinical studies and clinical trials of our product candidates which 
we are pursuing or may choose to pursue in the future; 

• the costs and timing of manufacturing for our product candidates, including commercial manufacturing if any product candidate is approved; 
• the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates; 
• the costs of obtaining, maintaining and enforcing our patents and other intellectual property rights; 
• our efforts to enhance operational systems and hire additional personnel to satisfy our obligations as a public company, including enhanced internal 

controls over financial reporting; 
• the costs associated with hiring additional personnel and consultants as our preclinical and clinical activities increase; 
• the timing and the extent of any Australian Tax Incentive refunds and future grant revenues, if any, that we receive; 
• the costs and timing of establishing or securing sales and marketing capabilities if any product candidate is approved; 
• our ability to achieve sufficient market acceptance, adequate coverage and reimbursement from third-party payors and adequate market share and 

revenue for any approved products; 
• the terms and timing of establishing and maintaining collaborations, licenses and other similar arrangements;
• our ability to receive sales-based milestones under our collaboration and license agreements and other potential future similar arrangements;
• costs associated with any products or technologies that we may in-license or acquire;
• the funding of any co-development arrangements we enter into; and
• our ability to participate in future equity offering by Radionetics, including our option to exercise our warrant for the purchase of Radionetics stock.

Identifying potential product candidates and conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials is a time-consuming, expensive and uncertain process that 
takes years to complete, and we may never generate the necessary data or results required to obtain regulatory approval and achieve product sales. In 
addition, our product candidates, if approved, may not achieve commercial success. Our commercial revenues, if any, will be derived from sales of 
products that we do not expect to be commercially available for many years, if at all. 

Accordingly, we will need to continue to rely on additional financing to achieve our business objectives. Adequate additional financing may not be 
available to us on acceptable terms, or at all.  

Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to our technologies or 
product candidates. 

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenues, we expect to finance our cash needs through equity offerings, such as our follow-
on public offerings and private placements completed in 2020 and 2021, and under the Sales 
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Agreement, debt financings or other capital sources, including potentially collaborations, licenses and other similar arrangements. To the extent that we 
raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, your ownership interest will be diluted, and the terms of these securities 
may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect your rights as a common stockholder. Debt financing and preferred equity financing, if 
available, may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, 
making capital expenditures or declaring dividends. 

If we raise funds through future collaborations, licenses and other similar arrangements, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, 
future revenue streams, research programs or product candidates or grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us and/or that may reduce the value 
of our common stock. 

Risks related to the discovery and development and regulatory approval of our product candidates 

We are early in our development efforts and have only three product candidates in clinical development. All of our other research programs are still in 
the preclinical or discovery stage. If we are unable to successfully develop product candidates or experience significant delays in doing so, our business 
will be materially harmed. 

We are in the early stages of our development efforts and have only three product candidates, paltusotine, CRN04777, and CRN04894, in clinical 
development. All of our other development programs are still in the preclinical or drug discovery stage. We have invested substantially all of our efforts 
and financial resources in developing our current product candidates, potential product candidates and conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials. Our 
ability to generate product revenues, which we do not expect will occur for many years, if ever, will depend heavily on the successful development and 
eventual commercialization of our product candidates. The success of our product candidates will depend on several factors, including the following: 

• completion of preclinical studies and clinical trials with favorable results; 
• acceptance of INDs by the FDA or acceptance of similar regulatory filing by comparable foreign regulatory authorities for the conduct of clinical 

trials of our product candidates and our proposed design of future clinical trials; 
• receipt of marketing approvals from applicable regulatory authorities, including NDAs, from the FDA and maintaining such approvals; 
• making arrangements with our third-party manufacturers for, or establishing, commercial manufacturing capabilities; 
• maintaining an acceptable safety profile of our products following approval; and 
• maintaining and growing an organization of scientists and businesspeople who can develop our products and technology. 

The success of our business, including our ability to finance our company and generate any revenue in the future, will primarily depend on the successful 
development, regulatory approval and commercialization of paltusotine, as well as our other product candidates, which may never occur. In the future, we 
may also become dependent on other product candidates that we may develop or acquire; however, given our early stage of development, it may be several 
years, if at all, before we have demonstrated the safety and efficacy of a treatment sufficient to warrant approval for commercialization. If we are unable to 
develop, or obtain regulatory approval for, or, if approved, successfully commercialize our product candidates, we may not be able to generate sufficient 
revenue to continue our business. 

We cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully develop any product candidates. 

The success of our business depends primarily upon our ability to discover, develop, and commercialize products created with our internal capabilities, 
including the experience of our scientists and drug development staff. While we believe we have a highly productive drug discovery and development 
organization, we have not yet succeeded and may not succeed in demonstrating efficacy and safety for any product candidates in clinical trials or in 
obtaining marketing approval thereafter. We may be unsuccessful in discovering additional product candidates, moving such product candidates from 
preclinical studies into clinical development, and any product candidates that we are currently developing may be shown to have harmful side effects or 
may have other characteristics that may necessitate additional clinical testing or make the product candidates unmarketable or unlikely to receive marketing 
approval. If any of these events occur, we may be forced to abandon our development efforts for a program or programs, which would have a material 
adverse effect on our business and could potentially cause us to cease operations. 

Preclinical and clinical drug development involves a lengthy and expensive process with an uncertain outcome, and the results of preclinical studies 
and early clinical trials are not necessarily predictive of future results. Our product candidates may not have favorable results in later clinical trials, if 
any, or receive regulatory approval. 

Preclinical and clinical drug development is expensive and can take many years to complete, and its outcome is inherently uncertain. Failure can occur at 
any time during the preclinical study or clinical trial process. Despite promising preclinical or clinical results, any product candidate can unexpectedly fail 
at any stage of preclinical or clinical development. The historical failure rate for product candidates in our industry is high. 
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The results from preclinical studies or early clinical trials of a product candidate may not predict the results of later clinical trials of the product candidate, 
and interim results of a clinical trial are not necessarily indicative of final results. Product candidates in later stages of clinical trials may fail to show the 
desired safety and efficacy characteristics despite having progressed through preclinical studies and initial clinical trials. In particular, while we have 
conducted preclinical studies and have obtained Phase 2 results for paltusotine in acromegaly subjects, we do not know how paltusotine will perform in 
future clinical trials, including as a result of any differences resulting from the use of our new tablet formulation that we will use in our planned Phase 3 
clinical trials of paltusotine. It is not uncommon to observe results in clinical trials that are unexpected based on preclinical studies and early clinical trials, 
and many product candidates fail in clinical trials despite very promising early results. Moreover, preclinical and clinical data are often susceptible to 
varying interpretations and analyses. A number of companies in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries have suffered significant setbacks in 
clinical development even after achieving promising results in earlier studies. Furthermore, although our product candidates all target endocrine diseases 
and/or endocrine-related tumors, we cannot assure you that our preclinical programs will be able to progress from candidate identification to Phase 1 
clinical proof-of-concept in healthy volunteers. 

For the foregoing reasons, we cannot be certain that our ongoing and planned clinical trials and preclinical studies will be successful. Any safety concerns 
observed in any one of our clinical trials in our targeted indications could limit the prospects for regulatory approval of our product candidates in those and 
other indications, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Any delays in the commencement or completion, or termination or suspension, of our clinical trials could result in increased costs to us, delay or limit 
our ability to generate revenue and adversely affect our commercial prospects. 

Before obtaining marketing approval from regulatory authorities for the sale of our product candidates, we must conduct extensive clinical studies to 
demonstrate the safety and efficacy of the product candidates in humans. Clinical testing is expensive, time consuming and uncertain as to outcome. In 
addition, we may rely in part on preclinical, clinical and quality data generated by clinical research organizations, or CROs, and other third parties for 
regulatory submissions for our product candidates. While we have or will have agreements governing these third parties’ services, we have limited 
influence over their actual performance. If these third parties do not make data available to us, or, if applicable, make regulatory submissions in a timely 
manner, in each case pursuant to our agreements with them, our development programs may be significantly delayed, and we may need to conduct 
additional studies or collect additional data independently. In either case, our development costs would increase.

The FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may require us to conduct additional preclinical studies for any product candidate before they allow 
us to initiate clinical trials under any IND or similar regulatory filing, which may lead to additional delays and increase the costs of our preclinical 
development programs. Any such delays in the commencement or completion of our ongoing and planned clinical trials for our product candidates could 
significantly affect our product development costs. 

We do not know whether our planned trials will begin on time or be completed on schedule, if at all. The commencement and completion of clinical trials 
can be delayed for a number of reasons, including delays related to: 

• the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities disagreeing as to the design or implementation of our clinical studies; 
• obtaining regulatory authorizations to commence a trial or reaching a consensus with regulatory authorities on trial design; 
• any failure or delay in reaching an agreement with CROs and clinical trial sites, the terms of which can be subject to extensive negotiation and may 

vary significantly among different CROs and trial sites; 
• obtaining approval from one or more institutional review boards, or IRBs; 
• IRBs refusing to approve, suspending or terminating the trial at an investigational site, precluding enrollment of additional subjects, or withdrawing 

their approval of the trial; 
• changes to clinical trial protocol; 
• clinical sites deviating from trial protocol or dropping out of a trial; 
• manufacturing sufficient quantities of product candidate or obtaining sufficient quantities of combination therapies for use in clinical trials; 
• subjects failing to enroll or remain in our trial at the rate we expect, or failing to return for post-treatment follow-up; 
• subjects choosing an alternative treatment for the indication for which we are developing our product candidates, or participating in competing clinical 

trials; 
• lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trial; 
• subjects experiencing severe or unexpected drug-related adverse effects; 
• occurrence of serious adverse events in trials of the same class of agents conducted by other companies; 
• selection of clinical end points that require prolonged periods of clinical observation or analysis of the resulting data; 
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• a facility manufacturing our product candidates or any of their components being ordered by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities to 
temporarily or permanently shut down due to violations of current good manufacturing practice, or cGMP, regulations or other applicable 
requirements, or infections or cross-contaminations of product candidates in the manufacturing process; 

• any changes to our manufacturing process that may be necessary or desired; 
• third-party clinical investigators losing the licenses or permits necessary to perform our clinical trials, not performing our clinical trials on our 

anticipated schedule or consistent with the clinical trial protocol, good clinical practices, or GCP, or other regulatory requirements; 
• third-party contractors not performing data collection or analysis in a timely or accurate manner; or 
• third-party contractors becoming debarred or suspended or otherwise penalized by the FDA or other government or regulatory authorities for 

violations of regulatory requirements, in which case we may need to find a substitute contractor, and we may not be able to use some or all of the data 
produced by such contractors in support of our marketing applications. 

In addition, disruptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic have and may continue to increase the likelihood that we encounter such difficulties or delays 
in initiating, enrolling, conducting, or completing our planned and ongoing clinical trials. We could also encounter delays if a clinical trial is suspended or 
terminated by us, by the IRBs of the institutions in which such trials are being conducted, by a Data Safety Monitoring Board for such trial or by the FDA 
or comparable foreign regulatory authorities. Such authorities may impose such a suspension or termination due to a number of factors, including failure to 
conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory requirements or our clinical protocols, inspection of the clinical trial operations or trial site by the 
FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities resulting in the imposition of a clinical hold, unforeseen safety issues or adverse side effects, failure to 
demonstrate a benefit from using a drug, changes in governmental regulations or administrative actions or lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical 
trial. In addition, changes in regulatory requirements and policies may occur, and we may need to amend clinical trial protocols to comply with these 
changes. Amendments may require us to resubmit our clinical trial protocols to IRBs for reexamination, which may impact the costs, timing or successful 
completion of a clinical trial. 

Further, conducting clinical trials in foreign countries, as we currently are and may continue to do, for our product candidates, presents additional risks that 
may delay completion of our clinical trials. These risks include the failure of enrolled patients in foreign countries to adhere to clinical protocol as a result 
of differences in healthcare services or cultural customs, managing additional administrative burdens associated with foreign regulatory schemes, as well as 
political and economic risks, including war, relevant to such foreign countries.  For example, we had planned to conduct clinical trials at sites in Russia but 
paused activities at these sites prior to randomizing patients due to the escalating conflict in Ukraine and the imposition of sanctions against Russia. This 
could result in delays in our clinical trials. While we do not currently believe our clinical trial timelines are significantly impacted, we cannot be certain 
what the overall impact of this conflict will be on our ability to conduct and complete clinical trials on schedule.

Moreover, principal investigators for our clinical trials may serve as scientific advisors or consultants to us from time to time and receive compensation in 
connection with such services. Under certain circumstances, we may be required to report some of these relationships to the FDA or comparable foreign 
regulatory authorities. The FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authority may conclude that a financial relationship between us and a principal 
investigator has created a conflict of interest or otherwise affected interpretation of the study. The FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authority may 
therefore question the integrity of the data generated at the applicable clinical trial site and the utility of the clinical trial itself may be jeopardized. This 
could result in a delay in approval, or rejection, of our marketing applications by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authority, as the case may be, 
and may ultimately lead to the denial of marketing approval of one or more of our product candidates. 

If we experience delays in the completion of, or termination of, any clinical trial of our product candidates, the commercial prospects of our product 
candidates will be harmed, and our ability to generate product revenues from any of these product candidates will be delayed. Moreover, any delays in 
completing our clinical trials will increase our costs, slow down our product candidate development and approval process and jeopardize our ability to 
commence product sales and generate revenues. 

In addition, many of the factors that cause, or lead to, termination or suspension of, or a delay in the commencement or completion of, clinical trials may 
also ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory approval of a product candidate. We may make formulation or manufacturing changes to our product 
candidates, in which case we may need to conduct additional preclinical studies to bridge our modified product candidates to earlier versions. Any delays to 
our clinical trials that occur as a result could shorten any period during which we may have the exclusive right to commercialize our product candidates and 
our competitors may be able to bring products to market before we do, and the commercial viability of our product candidates could be significantly 
reduced. Any of these occurrences may harm our business, financial condition and prospects significantly. 
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The COVID-19 pandemic, related variants and other epidemic diseases has had and could continue to adversely impact our business, including our 
drug manufacturing, nonclinical activities and clinical trials.

The COVID-19 pandemic continues to rapidly evolve.  The pandemic and government measures taken in response have had a significant impact, both 
direct and indirect, on businesses and commerce, as worker shortages have occurred; supply chains have been disrupted; facilities and production have 
been suspended; and demand for certain goods and services, such as medical services and supplies, has spiked, while demand for other goods and services, 
such as travel, has fallen. The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic may impact our business, including our preclinical studies, planned clinical trials, 
and financial condition will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, such as the continued 
geographic spread of variants, the duration of the pandemic, the timing and effectiveness of vaccine distribution, travel restrictions and social distancing in 
the United States and other countries, business closures or business disruptions and the effectiveness of actions taken in the United States and other 
countries to contain and treat the disease. To the extent possible, and consistent with applicable guidance from federal, state and local authorities, we are 
conducting business as usual, with necessary or advisable modifications to employee travel. However, we have experienced certain delays in our clinical 
trials, as we announced in March 2022 that we now expect the release of preliminary data from our ongoing Phase 1 study of CRN04894 to occur in the 
second quarter of 2022 due to the fact that some of the healthy volunteers contracted COVID-19 during a recent cohort of the multiple ascending dose 
portion of the study. We will continue to actively monitor the evolving situation related to COVID-19 and may take further actions that alter our operations, 
including those that may be required by federal, state or local authorities, or that we determine are in the best interests of its employees and other third 
parties with whom the Company does business. As the COVID-19 pandemic continues, we may continue to experience disruptions that could severely 
impact our business, drug manufacturing, nonclinical activities, and clinical trials, including:

• delays or difficulties in enrolling volunteers and patients in our clinical trials;
• delays or difficulties in clinical site initiation, including difficulties in recruiting clinical site investigators and staff;
• diversion of healthcare resources away from the conduct of clinical trials, including the diversion of hospitals serving as our clinical trial sites 

and hospital staff supporting the conduct of our clinical trials;  
• interruption of key clinical trial activities, such as clinical trial site monitoring and source data verification, due to limitations on travel imposed 

or recommended by federal or state governments, employers and others or interruption of clinical trial subject visits and study procedures, which 
may impact the integrity of subject data and clinical study endpoints;

• interruption or delays in the operations of the FDA or other regulatory authorities, which may impact review and approval timelines;
• interruption of, or delays in receiving, supplies of our product candidates from our contract manufacturing organizations due to staffing 

shortages, production slowdowns or stoppages and disruptions in delivery systems;
• delays in clinical sites receiving the supplies and materials needed to conduct our clinical trials and interruption in global shipping that may 

affect the transport of clinical trial materials;
• interruptions in nonclinical studies due to restricted or limited operations at our laboratory facility or those of our outsourced service providers;
• limitations on employee resources that would otherwise be focused on the conduct of our nonclinical studies or clinical trials due to sickness of 

employees or their families or the desire of employees to avoid contact with large groups of people, or other staffing shortages as a result of 
remote working requirements or otherwise;

• delays in receiving authorization from local regulatory authorities to initiate our planned clinical trials;
• changes in local regulations as part of a response to COVID-19 which may require us to change the ways in which our clinical trials are 

conducted, which may result in unexpected costs, or to discontinue such clinical trials altogether;
• delays in necessary interactions with local regulators, ethics committees, and other important agencies and contractors due to limitations in 

employee resources or forced furlough of government employees;
• refusal of the FDA to accept data from clinical trials in affected geographies outside the United States;
• interruption or delays to our discovery and development pipeline; and
• patent office interruption or delays in our ability to timely secure patent coverage for our product candidates.

In addition, the spread of COVID-19 has had and may continue to severely impact the trading price of shares of our common stock and could further 
severely impact our ability to raise additional capital on a timely basis or at all.
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The extent to which the COVID-19 may impact our business, including our drug manufacturing, nonclinical activities, clinical trials, and financial 
condition will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence. To the extent the COVID-19 pandemic 
adversely affects our business and financial results, it may also have the effect of heightening many of the other risks described in this section. In addition, 
if in the future there is a further outbreak of COVID-19 or a variation thereof, an outbreak of another highly infectious or contagious disease or other health 
concern, we may be subject to similar risks as posed by COVID-19.

We may find it difficult to enroll patients in our clinical trials given the limited number of patients who have the diseases for which our product 
candidates are being developed. If we encounter difficulties enrolling subjects in our clinical trials, our clinical development activities could be delayed 
or otherwise adversely affected. 

Subject enrollment, a significant factor in the timing of clinical trials, is affected by many factors including the size and nature of the patient population, the 
proximity of patients to clinical sites, the eligibility and exclusion criteria for the trial, the design of the clinical trial, the risk that enrolled patients will not 
complete a clinical trial, our ability to recruit clinical trial investigators with the appropriate competencies and experience, competing clinical trials and 
clinicians’ and patients’ perceptions as to the potential advantages and risks of the product candidate being studied in relation to other available therapies, 
including any new drugs that may be approved for the indications we are investigating as well as any drugs under development. We will be required to 
identify and enroll a sufficient number of subjects for each of our clinical trials. Potential subjects for any planned or ongoing clinical trials may not be 
adequately diagnosed or identified with the diseases which we are targeting or may not meet the entry criteria for such trials. For example, each of our 
target indications is an orphan indication and, in particular, our lead product candidate, paltusotine, targets acromegaly, a condition which currently affects 
approximately 26,000 people in the United States. We also may encounter difficulties in identifying and enrolling subjects with a stage of disease 
appropriate for our planned or ongoing clinical trials and monitoring such subjects adequately during and after treatment. We may not be able to initiate or 
continue clinical trials if we are unable to locate a sufficient number of eligible subjects to participate in the clinical trials required by the FDA or 
comparable foreign regulatory authorities. In addition, the process of finding and diagnosing subjects may prove costly. 

The timing of our clinical trials depends, in part, on the speed at which we can recruit patients to participate in our trials, as well as completion of required 
follow-up periods. The conditions for which we currently plan to evaluate our product candidates are orphan or rare diseases with limited patient pools 
from which to draw for clinical trials. The eligibility criteria of our clinical trials, once established, will further limit the pool of available trial participants. 
If patients are unwilling to participate in our trials for any reason, including the existence of concurrent clinical trials for similar patient populations, if they 
are unwilling to enroll in a clinical trial with a placebo-controlled design or the availability of approved therapies, or we otherwise have difficulty enrolling 
a sufficient number of patients, the timeline for recruiting subjects, conducting studies and obtaining regulatory approval of our product candidates may be 
delayed. Our inability to enroll a sufficient number of subjects for any of our future clinical trials would result in significant delays or may require us to 
abandon one or more clinical trials altogether. In addition, we expect to rely on CROs and clinical trial sites to ensure proper and timely conduct of our 
future clinical trials and, while we intend to enter into agreements governing their services, we will have limited influence over their actual performance. 

We cannot assure you that our assumptions used in determining expected clinical trial timelines are correct or that we will not experience delays in 
enrollment, which would result in the delay of completion of such trials beyond our expected timelines. 

Use of our product candidates could be associated with side effects or adverse events, which could severely harm our business, prospects, operating 
results and financial condition. 

As is the case with pharmaceuticals generally, it is likely that there may be side effects and adverse events associated with our product candidates’ use. 
Results of our clinical trials could reveal a high and unacceptable severity and prevalence of side effects or unexpected characteristics. Undesirable side 
effects caused by our product candidates could cause us or regulatory authorities to interrupt, delay or halt clinical trials and could result in a more 
restrictive label or the delay or denial of regulatory approval by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities. The drug-related side effects could 
affect patient recruitment or the ability of enrolled patients to complete the trial or result in potential product liability claims. Any of these occurrences may 
harm our business, financial condition and prospects significantly. 

Moreover, if our product candidates are associated with undesirable side effects in clinical trials or have characteristics that are unexpected, we may elect to 
abandon their development or limit their development to more narrow uses or subpopulations in which the undesirable side effects or other characteristics 
are less prevalent, less severe or more acceptable from a risk-benefit perspective, which may limit the commercial expectations for the product candidate if 
approved. We may also be required to modify our study plans based on findings in our ongoing clinical trials. Many compounds that initially showed 
promise in early stage testing have later been found to cause side effects that prevented further development of the compound. In addition, regulatory 
authorities may draw different conclusions or require additional testing to confirm these determinations. 
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It is possible that as we test our product candidates in larger, longer and more extensive clinical trials, including with different dosing regimens and 
formulations, or as the use of these product candidates becomes more widespread if they receive regulatory approval, illnesses, injuries, discomforts and 
other adverse events that were observed in earlier trials, as well as conditions that did not occur or went undetected in previous trials, will be reported by 
subjects. If such side effects become known later in development or upon approval, if any, such findings may harm our business, financial condition and 
prospects significantly. 

In addition, if one or more of our product candidates receives marketing approval, and we or others later identify undesirable side effects caused by such 
products, a number of potentially significant negative consequences could result, including: 

• regulatory authorities may withdraw approvals of such product; 
• we may be required to recall a product or change the way such product is administered to patients; 
• regulatory authorities may require additional warnings on the label, such as a “black box” warning or a contraindication; 
• we may be required to implement a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy, or REMS, or create a medication guide outlining the risks of such side 

effects for distribution to patients; 
• we could be sued and held liable for harm caused to patients; 
• the product could become less competitive; and 
• our reputation may suffer. 

Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the particular product candidate, if approved, and could 
significantly harm our business, results of operations and prospects. 

Our product candidates are subject to extensive regulation and compliance, which is costly and time consuming and which may cause unanticipated 
delays or prevent the receipt of the required approvals to commercialize our product candidates. 

The clinical development, manufacturing, labeling, storage, record-keeping, advertising, promotion, import, export, marketing and distribution of our 
product candidates are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA in the United States and by comparable foreign regulatory authorities in foreign markets. 
In the United States, we are not permitted to market our product candidates until we receive regulatory approval from the FDA. The process of obtaining 
regulatory approval is expensive, often takes many years following the commencement of clinical trials and can vary substantially based upon the type, 
complexity and novelty of the product candidates involved, as well as the target indications and patient population. Approval policies or regulations may 
change, and the FDA has substantial discretion in the drug approval process, including the ability to delay, limit or deny approval of a product candidate for 
many reasons. Despite the time and expense invested in clinical development of product candidates, regulatory approval is never guaranteed. Neither we 
nor any future collaborator is permitted to market any of our product candidates in the United States until we receive approval of an NDA from the FDA. 

Prior to obtaining approval to commercialize a product candidate in the United States or abroad, we or our potential future collaborators must demonstrate 
with substantial evidence from adequate and well-controlled clinical trials, and to the satisfaction of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities, 
that such product candidates are safe and effective for their intended uses. Results from nonclinical studies and clinical trials can be interpreted in different 
ways. Even if we believe the nonclinical or clinical data for our product candidates are promising, such data may not be sufficient to support approval by 
the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities. For example, while we are conducting two Phase 3 clinical trials of paltusotine in distinct patient 
populations (patients who are on stable doses of SRL monotherapy and patients who are not being treated with pharmacotherapy), the FDA or comparable 
foreign regulatory authorities may require additional clinical trials or suggest changes to our planned clinical trials, prior to and in support of the approval 
of an NDA or equivalent foreign marketing application. The FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities, as the case may be, may also require us to 
conduct additional preclinical studies or clinical trials for our product candidates either prior to or post-approval, or may object to elements of our clinical 
development program. 

The FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities can delay, limit or deny approval of a product candidate for many reasons, including: 

• such authorities may disagree with the design or implementation of our clinical trials; 
• negative or ambiguous results from our clinical trials or results may not meet the level of statistical significance required by the FDA or comparable 

foreign regulatory agencies for approval; 
• serious and unexpected drug-related side effects may be experienced by participants in our clinical trials or by individuals using drugs similar to our 

product candidates; 
• the population studied in the clinical trial may not be sufficiently broad or representative to assure safety in the full population for which we seek 

approval; 
• such authorities may not accept clinical data from trials which are conducted at clinical facilities or in countries where the standard of care is 

potentially different from that of the United States; 
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• we may be unable to demonstrate that a product candidate’s clinical and other benefits outweigh its safety risks; 
• such authorities may disagree with our interpretation of data from preclinical studies or clinical trials; 
• such authorities may not agree that the data collected from clinical trials of our product candidates are acceptable or sufficient to support the 

submission of an NDA or other submission or to obtain regulatory approval in the United States or elsewhere, and such authorities may impose 
requirements for additional preclinical studies or clinical trials; 

• such authorities may disagree regarding the formulation, labeling and/or the specifications of our product candidates; 
• approval may be granted only for indications that are significantly more limited than what we apply for and/or with other significant restrictions on 

distribution and use; 
• such authorities may find deficiencies in the manufacturing processes or facilities of our third-party manufacturers with which we or any of our 

potential future collaborators contract for clinical and commercial supplies; or 
• the approval policies or regulations of such authorities may significantly change in a manner rendering our or any of our potential future collaborators’ 

clinical data insufficient for approval. 

With respect to foreign markets, approval procedures vary among countries and, in addition to the foregoing risks, may involve additional product testing, 
administrative review periods and agreements with pricing authorities. In addition, events raising questions about the safety of certain marketed 
pharmaceuticals may result in increased cautiousness by the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities in reviewing new drugs based on safety, 
efficacy or other regulatory considerations and may result in significant delays in obtaining regulatory approvals. Any delay in obtaining, or inability to 
obtain, applicable regulatory approvals would prevent us or any of our potential future collaborators from commercializing our product candidates. 

Of the large number of drugs in development, only a small percentage successfully complete the FDA or foreign regulatory approval processes and are 
commercialized. The lengthy approval process as well as the unpredictability of future clinical trial results may result in our failing to obtain regulatory 
approval to market our product candidates, which would significantly harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 

Even if we eventually complete clinical trials and receive approval of an NDA or foreign marketing application for our product candidates, the FDA or 
comparable foreign regulatory authority may grant approval contingent on the performance of costly additional clinical trials, including Phase 4 clinical 
trials, and/or the implementation of a REMS, which may be required to ensure safe use of the drug after approval. The FDA or the comparable foreign 
regulatory authority also may approve a product candidate for a more limited indication or patient population than we originally requested, and the FDA or 
comparable foreign regulatory authority may not approve the labeling that we believe is necessary or desirable for the successful commercialization of a 
product. Any delay in obtaining, or inability to obtain, applicable regulatory approval would delay or prevent commercialization of that product candidate 
and would materially adversely impact our business and prospects. 

We may expend our limited resources to pursue a particular product candidate and fail to capitalize on product candidates or indications that may be 
more profitable or for which there is a greater likelihood of success. 

Because we have limited financial and managerial resources, we focus on specific product candidates, indications and discovery programs. As a result, we 
may forgo or delay pursuit of opportunities with other product candidates that could have had greater commercial potential. Our resource allocation 
decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on viable commercial products or profitable market opportunities. Our spending on current and future research 
and development programs and product candidates for specific indications may not yield any commercially viable products. If we do not accurately 
evaluate the commercial potential or target market for a particular product candidate, we may relinquish valuable rights to that product candidate through 
future collaborations, licenses and other similar arrangements in cases in which it would have been more advantageous for us to retain sole development 
and commercialization rights to such product candidate. 
We have obtained orphan drug designation from the FDA for paltusotine for the treatment of acromegaly and have received orphan drug designation 
from the EMA for CRN04777 for the treatment of congenital HI. We also plan to seek orphan drug designations for certain of our other product 
candidates. However, we may not be able to obtain or maintain orphan drug designations for any of our product candidates, and we may be unable to 
maintain the benefits associated with orphan drug designation, including the potential for market exclusivity.

Regulatory authorities in some jurisdictions, including the United States and Europe, may designate drugs for relatively small patient populations as orphan 
drugs. Under the Orphan Drug Act of 1983, the FDA may designate a product as an orphan product if it is intended to treat a rare disease or condition, 
which is generally defined as a patient population of fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United States, or a patient population of greater than 200,000 
individuals in the United States, but for which there is no reasonable expectation that the cost of developing the drug will be recovered from sales in the 
United States. In the European Union, the EMA's Committee for Orphan Medicinal Products grants orphan drug designation to promote the development of 
products that are intended for the diagnosis, prevention or treatment of a life-threatening or chronically debilitating condition affecting not more than five 
in 10,000 persons in the European Union. We have obtained orphan drug designation for paltusotine in the United States for the treatment of acromegaly, 
and we intend to seek a similar 
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orphan drug designation in the European Union. We have also obtained orphan drug designation for CRN04777 in Europe for the treatment of congenital 
HI. We also plan to seek orphan drug designations for certain of our other product candidates. There can be no assurance, however, that the FDA or the 
EMA’s Committee for Orphan Medicinal Products will grant orphan designation for any indication for which we apply.

In the United States, orphan designation entitles a party to financial incentives such as opportunities for grant funding towards clinical trial costs, tax 
advantages and user-fee waivers. In addition, if a product candidate that has orphan designation subsequently receives the first FDA approval for the 
disease for which it has such designation, the product is entitled to orphan drug exclusivity, which means that the FDA may not approve any other 
applications, including an NDA, to market the same drug for the same disease or condition for seven years, except in limited circumstances, such as a 
showing of clinical superiority to the product with orphan drug exclusivity or where the manufacturer is unable to assure sufficient product quantity. The 
applicable exclusivity period is ten years in Europe, but such exclusivity period can be reduced to six years if a product no longer meets the criteria for 
orphan designation or if the product is sufficiently profitable so that market exclusivity is no longer justified.

Even if we obtain orphan drug exclusivity for a product, that exclusivity may not effectively protect the product from competition because different drugs 
can be approved for the same condition. Even after an orphan drug is approved, the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authority can subsequently 
approve the same drug for the same condition if such regulatory authority concludes that the later drug is clinically superior if it is shown to be safer, more 
effective or makes a major contribution to patient care. Orphan drug designation neither shortens the development time or regulatory review time of a drug 
nor gives the drug any advantage in the regulatory review or approval process.

The FDA has granted rare pediatric disease designation for CRN04777 for the treatment of congenital HI, however, there is no guarantee that FDA 
approval of CRN04777 will result in a priority review voucher.

In 2012, Congress authorized the FDA to award priority review vouchers to sponsors of certain rare pediatric disease product applications. This program is 
designed to encourage development of new drug and biological products for prevention and treatment of certain rare pediatric diseases. Specifically, under 
this program, a sponsor who receives an approval for a drug or biologic for a “rare pediatric disease” that meets certain criteria may qualify for a voucher 
that can be redeemed to receive a priority review of a subsequent marketing application for a different product. The sponsor of a rare pediatric disease drug 
product receiving a priority review voucher may transfer (including by sale) the voucher to another sponsor. The voucher may be further transferred any 
number of times before the voucher is used, as long as the sponsor making the transfer has not yet submitted the application. The FDA may also revoke any 
priority review voucher if the rare pediatric disease drug for which the voucher was awarded is not marketed in the U.S. within one year following the date 
of approval.

The FDA has granted rare pediatric disease designation for CRN04777 for the treatment of congenital HI, however, there is no guarantee that we will be 
able to obtain a priority review voucher, even if CRN04777 is approved by the FDA. Moreover, Congress included a sunset provision in the statute 
authorizing the rare pediatric disease priority review voucher program. Specifically, FDA may not award the voucher to sponsors of marketing applications 
unless either (i) the drug has received rare pediatric disease designation as of September 30, 2024 and is then approved by the FDA no later than September 
30, 2026; or (ii) Congress reauthorizes the program. Even though we received rare pediatric disease designation for CRN04777 by the current statutory 
deadline of September 30, 2024 we may not receive the voucher if we do not obtain approval by September 2026.  Even if legislation is enacted that 
extends the date by which approval of the rare pediatric disease-designated drug must obtain approval to receive a priority review voucher, we may not 
obtain approval by that date, and even if we do, we may not obtain a priority review voucher. 

We have conducted, and continue to conduct, clinical trials for paltusotine and CRN04777 outside of the United States and we may do so for our other 
product candidates. However, the FDA and other foreign equivalents may not accept data from such trials, in which case our development plans will be 
delayed, which could materially harm our business. 

We conducted our initial Phase 1 clinical trials for paltusotine in Australia and we have conducted and plan to conduct additional clinical trials for 
paltusotine at centers outside of the United States. In addition, our Phase 1 clinical trial of CRN04777 is currently being conducted in Germany. The 
acceptance of study data from clinical trials conducted outside the U.S. or another jurisdiction by the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority 
may be subject to certain conditions or may not be accepted at all. For example, in cases where data from foreign clinical trials are intended to serve as the 
sole basis for marketing approval in the U.S., the FDA will generally not approve the application on the basis of foreign data alone unless (i) the data are 
applicable to the U.S. population and U.S. medical practice; (ii) the trials were performed by clinical investigators of recognized competence and pursuant 
to GCP regulations; and (iii) the data may be considered valid without the need for an on-site inspection by the FDA, or if the FDA considers such 
inspection to be necessary, the FDA is able to validate the data through an on-site inspection or other appropriate means. In addition, even where the 
foreign study data are not intended to serve as the sole basis for approval, the FDA will not accept the data as support for an application for marketing 
approval unless the study is well-designed and well-conducted in accordance with GCP requirements and the FDA 
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is able to validate the data from the study through an onsite inspection if deemed necessary.  Many foreign regulatory authorities have similar approval 
requirements. In addition, such foreign trials would be subject to the applicable local laws of the foreign jurisdictions where the trials are conducted. If the 
FDA, U.K. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency, or MHRA, or other foreign equivalents do not accept any data generated from other 
jurisdictions, we would likely be required to conduct additional clinical trials, which would be costly and time consuming, and delay aspects of our 
development plan, which could harm our business. 

Conducting trials outside the United States also exposes us to additional risks, including risks associated with: 

• additional foreign regulatory requirements; 
• foreign exchange fluctuations; 
• compliance with foreign manufacturing, customs, shipment and storage requirements; 
• cultural differences in medical practice and clinical research;  
• diminished protection of intellectual property in some countries; and
• interruptions or delays in our trials resulting from geopolitical events, such as war or terrorism. 

In particular, we had planned to conduct our PATHFINDR-1 and PATHFNDR-2 trials of paltusotine in acromegaly patients at sites in Russia, but have 
suspended our enrollment efforts for the foreseeable future at such sites. As a result of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine in February 2022, the United States and 
its European allies have imposed significant new sanctions against Russia, including regional embargoes, full blocking sanctions, and other restrictions 
targeting major Russian financial institutions. Our ability to conduct clinical trials in Russia and elsewhere in the region may become restricted under 
applicable sanctions laws, which would require us to identify alternative trial sites, which may increase our development costs and delay the clinical 
development of our product candidates. All of the foregoing could impede the execution of our clinical development plans, which could materially harm 
our business.

In addition, effective January 31, 2020, the United Kingdom commenced an exit from the European Union, commonly referred to as “Brexit” and, 
following the expiration of the Brexit transitional period on December 31, 2020, operates under a distinct regulatory regime.  European legislation, 
including on clinical trials (including the impending EU Clinical Trials Regulation, or EU CTR), is no longer directly applicable in the United Kingdom. 
Current United Kingdom rules on clinical trials are derived from existing European Union legislation (as implemented into United Kingdom law), however 
going forward there is a risk that United Kingdom rules will diverge from European Union laws. Although regulatory authorities in the United Kingdom 
have indicated in the Medicines and Medical Devices Bill that new United Kingdom rules will closely align with the European Union legislation, detailed 
proposals are yet to be published. In addition, already as a result of the United Kingdom ceasing to be part of the European Union, various benefits of 
membership no longer apply to the United Kingdom, such that, for example, United Kingdom sponsored trials that span several European countries now 
need to have an individual or organization in the European Union to act as a legal representative, or sponsor; it is unclear whether the United Kingdom will 
have access to European Union clinical trial databases such as the Clinical Trial Information System (the centralized EU Portal for clinical trial information 
storage); and additionally, new rules apply to the import of investigational medicinal products from the European Union and European Economic Area to 
the United Kingdom. As a result, Brexit may create additional administrative burdens including disruptions to and uncertainty surrounding our planned 
clinical trials and activities in the United Kingdom and the European Union, impacting relationships with our existing and prospective customers, partners, 
vendors and employees. Although the United Kingdom and European Union have now reached an agreement on their future trading relationship to be 
implemented in the EU-UK Trade and Cooperation Agreement from January 1, 2021, which includes zero tariffs on goods and provides for regulatory 
cooperation, the agreement does not cover all regulatory areas regarding supply of medicinal products, which will likely be subject to bilateral discussions 
going forward which could further change the relationship between the United Kingdom and the European Union in this regard. Changes impacting our 
ability to conduct business in the United Kingdom or other European Union countries, or changes to the regulatory regime applicable to our operations in 
those countries (such as with respect to the approval of our product candidates), may have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition 
and prospects.

Interim, topline and preliminary data from our clinical trials that we announce or publish from time to time may change as more patient data become 
available and are subject to audit and verification procedures that could result in material changes in the final data. 

From time to time, we may publicly disclose preliminary or topline or data from our clinical studies, which is based on a preliminary analysis of then-
available data, and the results and related findings and conclusions are subject to change following a more comprehensive review of the data related to the 
particular study or trial. We also make assumptions, estimations, calculations and conclusions as part of our analyses of data, and we may not have received 
or had the opportunity to fully and carefully evaluate all data. As a result, the preliminary or topline results that we report may differ from future results of 
the same studies, or different conclusions or considerations may qualify such results, once additional data have been received and fully evaluated. 
Preliminary and topline data also remain subject to audit and verification 
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procedures that may result in the final data being materially different from the preliminary data we previously published. As a result, preliminary and 
topline data should be viewed with caution until the final data are available. From time to time, we may also disclose interim data from our clinical studies. 
Interim data from clinical trials that we may complete are subject to the risk that one or more of the clinical outcomes may materially change as patient 
enrollment continues and more patient data become available. Adverse differences between preliminary, topline or interim data and final data could 
significantly harm our business prospects. 

Further, others, including regulatory agencies, may not accept or agree with our assumptions, estimates, calculations, conclusions or analyses or may 
interpret or weigh the importance of data differently, which could impact the value of the particular program, the approvability or commercialization of the 
particular product candidate or product and our company in general. In addition, the information we choose to publicly disclose regarding a particular study 
or clinical trial is based on what is typically extensive information, and you or others may not agree with what we determine is the material or otherwise 
appropriate information to include in our disclosure, and any information we determine not to disclose may ultimately be deemed significant with respect to 
future decisions, conclusions, views, activities or otherwise regarding a particular drug, drug candidate or our business. If the interim, preliminary, or 
topline data that we report differ from actual results, or if others, including regulatory authorities, disagree with the conclusions reached, our ability to 
obtain approval for, and commercialize, our product candidates may be harmed, which could harm our business, operating results, prospects or financial 
condition. 

Risks related to our reliance on third parties 

We rely on third parties to conduct many of our preclinical studies and clinical trials. Any failure by a third party to conduct the clinical trials 
according to GCPs and in a timely manner may delay or prevent our ability to seek or obtain regulatory approval for or commercialize our product 
candidates. 

We are dependent on third parties to conduct our preclinical studies and clinical trials, including our ongoing clinical trials for paltusotine, CRN04777, 
CRN04894, and any future clinical trials and preclinical studies for our product candidates. Specifically, we have used and relied on, and intend to continue 
to use and rely on, medical institutions, clinical investigators, CROs and consultants to conduct our clinical trials in accordance with our clinical protocols 
and regulatory requirements. These CROs, investigators and other third parties play a significant role in the conduct and timing of these trials and 
subsequent collection and analysis of data. While we have agreements governing the activities of our third-party contractors, we have limited influence 
over their actual performance. Nevertheless, we are responsible for ensuring that each of our clinical trials is conducted in accordance with the applicable 
protocol and legal, regulatory and scientific standards, and our reliance on the CROs and other third parties does not relieve us of our regulatory 
responsibilities. We and our CROs are required to comply with GCP requirements, which are regulations and guidelines enforced by the FDA and 
comparable foreign regulatory authorities for all of our product candidates in clinical development. Regulatory authorities enforce these GCPs through 
periodic inspections of trial sponsors, principal investigators and trial sites. If we or any of our CROs or trial sites fail to comply with applicable GCPs, the 
clinical data generated in our clinical trials may be deemed unreliable, and the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may require us to perform 
additional clinical trials before approving our marketing applications. In addition, our clinical trials must be conducted with product produced under cGMP 
regulations. Our failure to comply with these regulations may require us to repeat clinical trials, which would delay the regulatory approval process. 

There is no guarantee that any such CROs, investigators or other third parties will devote adequate time and resources to such trials or perform as 
contractually required. If any of these third parties fail to meet expected deadlines, adhere to our clinical protocols or meet regulatory requirements, or 
otherwise performs in a substandard manner, our clinical trials may be extended, delayed or terminated. In addition, many of the third parties with whom 
we contract may also have relationships with other commercial entities, including our competitors, for whom they may also be conducting clinical trials or 
other drug development activities that could harm our competitive position. In addition, principal investigators for our clinical trials may serve as scientific 
advisors or consultants to us from time to time and may receive cash or equity compensation in connection with such services. If these relationships and 
any related compensation result in perceived or actual conflicts of interest, or the FDA concludes that the financial relationship may have affected the 
interpretation of the study, the integrity of the data generated at the applicable clinical trial site may be questioned and the utility of the clinical trial itself 
may be jeopardized, which could result in the delay or rejection of any NDA we submit by the FDA. Any such delay or rejection could prevent us from 
commercializing our product candidates. 

If any of our relationships with these third parties terminate, we may not be able to enter into arrangements with alternative third parties or do so on 
commercially reasonable terms. Switching or adding additional CROs, investigators and other third parties involves additional cost and requires 
management time and focus. In addition, there is a natural transition period when a new CRO commences work. As a result, delays occur, which can 
materially impact our ability to meet our desired clinical development timelines. Though we carefully manage our relationships with our CROs, 
investigators and other third parties, 
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there can be no assurance that we will not encounter challenges or delays in the future or that these delays or challenges will not have a material adverse 
impact on our business, financial condition and prospects. 

We rely on third parties for the manufacture of our product candidates for preclinical and clinical development and expect to continue to do so for the 
foreseeable future. This reliance on third parties increases the risk that we will not have sufficient quantities of our product candidates or products or 
such quantities at an acceptable cost, which could delay, prevent or impair our development or commercialization efforts. 

We do not own or operate manufacturing facilities and have no plans to build our own clinical or commercial scale manufacturing capabilities. We rely, and 
expect to continue to rely, on third parties for the manufacture of our product candidates and related raw materials for preclinical and clinical development, 
as well as for commercial manufacture if any of our product candidates receive marketing approval. Furthermore, the raw materials for our product 
candidates are sourced, in some cases, from a single-source supplier. If we were to experience an unexpected loss of supply of any of our product 
candidates or any of our future product candidates for any reason, whether as a result of manufacturing, supply or storage issues or otherwise, we could 
experience delays, disruptions, suspensions or terminations of, or be required to restart or repeat, any pending or ongoing clinical trials. For example, the 
extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic impacts our ability to procure sufficient supplies for the development of our products and product candidates will 
depend on the severity and duration of the spread of the virus, and the actions undertaken to contain COVID-19 or treat its effects. 

The facilities used by third-party manufacturers to manufacture our product candidates must be approved by the FDA pursuant to inspections that will be 
conducted after we submit our NDA to the FDA. We do not control the manufacturing process of, and are completely dependent on, third-party 
manufacturers for compliance with cGMP requirements for manufacture of drug products. If these third-party manufacturers cannot successfully 
manufacture material that conforms to our specifications and the strict regulatory requirements of the FDA or others, including requirements related to the 
manufacturing of high potency compounds, they will not be able to secure and/or maintain regulatory approval for their manufacturing facilities. In 
addition, we have no control over the ability of third-party manufacturers to maintain adequate quality control, quality assurance and qualified personnel. If 
the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority does not approve these facilities for the manufacture of our product candidates or if it withdraws any 
such approval in the future, we may need to find alternative manufacturing facilities, which would significantly impact our ability to develop, obtain 
regulatory approval for or market our product candidates, if approved. Our failure, or the failure of our third-party manufacturers, to comply with 
applicable regulations could result in sanctions being imposed on us, including clinical holds, fines, injunctions, civil penalties, delays, suspension or 
withdrawal of approvals, seizures or recalls of product candidates or products, operating restrictions and criminal prosecutions, any of which could 
significantly and adversely affect supplies of our products. 

In addition, we may be unable to establish any agreements with third-party manufacturers or to do so on acceptable terms. Even if we are able to establish 
agreements with third-party manufacturers, reliance on third-party manufacturers entails additional risks, including: 

• failure of third-party manufacturers to comply with regulatory requirements and maintain quality assurance; 
• breach of the manufacturing agreement by the third party; 
• failure to manufacture our product according to our specifications; 
• failure to manufacture our product according to our schedule or at all; 
• misappropriation of our proprietary information, including our trade secrets and know-how; and 
• termination or nonrenewal of the agreement by the third party at a time that is costly or inconvenient for us. 

Our product candidates and any products that we may develop may compete with other product candidates and products for access to manufacturing 
facilities. There are a limited number of manufacturers that operate under cGMP regulations and that might be capable of manufacturing for us. 

Any performance failure on the part of our existing or future manufacturers could delay clinical development or marketing approval, and any related 
remedial measures may be costly or time-consuming to implement. We do not currently have arrangements in place for redundant supply or a second 
source for all required raw materials used in the manufacture of our product candidates. If our current third-party manufacturers cannot perform as agreed, 
we may be required to replace such manufacturers and we may be unable to replace them on a timely basis or at all. 

Our current and anticipated future dependence upon others for the manufacture of our product candidates or products may adversely affect our future profit 
margins and our ability to commercialize any products that receive marketing approval on a timely and competitive basis. 

We are dependent on an international third-party licensee for the development and commercialization of paltusotine in Japan, and may do so in other 
geographic regions. The failure of this and other third parties to meet their contractual, regulatory or other obligations could adversely affect our 
business.
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We have entered into an exclusive license agreement with Sanwa that provides Sanwa with exclusive rights to the development and commercialization of 
paltusotine in Japan. As a result, we are dependent on Sanwa to achieve regulatory approval of paltusotine for marketing in Japan and for the 
commercialization of paltusotine, if approved. The timing and amount of any milestone and royalty payments we may receive under this agreement, as well 
as the commercial success of paltusotine in Japan, will depend on, among other things, the efforts, allocation of resources and successful commercialization 
of paltusotine by Sanwa. We also depend on Sanwa to comply with all applicable laws relative to the development and commercialization of our product in 
Japan. They may take actions or fail to take actions that result in safety issues with the licensed product in the licensed territory, and such safety issues 
could negatively impact the licensed product in countries outside of the licensed territory. We do not control the individual efforts of Sanwa and have 
limited ability to terminate these agreements or to have assigned assets returned to us if Sanwa does not perform as anticipated. The failure of Sanwa to 
devote sufficient time and effort to the development and commercialization of paltusotine; to meet its obligations to us, including for future royalty and 
milestone payments; to adequately deploy business continuity plans in the event of a crisis; and/or to satisfactorily resolve significant disagreements with 
us or address other factors could have an adverse impact on our financial results and operations. In addition, if Sanwa violates, or is alleged to have 
violated, any laws or regulations during the performance of its obligations for us, including with respect to safety, patient and data privacy, antitrust, and 
bribery and corruption, it is possible that we could suffer financial and reputational harm or other negative outcomes, including possible legal consequences 
and liabilities. We may not be successful in enforcing the terms and conditions of our license agreement in court or via agreed upon dispute resolution 
mechanisms, and even if we were to prevail in any such dispute, the remedies may not be adequate to compensate us for the losses. Any termination, 
breach or expiration of any of this license agreement could have a material adverse effect on our financial position by reducing or eliminating the potential 
for us to receive license fees, milestones and royalties. In such an event, we may be required to devote additional efforts and to incur additional costs 
associated with pursuing regulatory approval and commercialization of the applicable products and product candidates. Alternatively, we may attempt to 
identify and transact with a new assignee or licensee, but there can be no assurance that we would be able to identify a suitable partner or transact on terms 
that are favorable to us. In addition, we may enter into similar license agreements with additional third parties for paltusotine or our other product 
candidates in other geographic regions, and similar risks would be associated with any such similar arrangements.

Our reliance on third parties requires us to share our trade secrets, which increases the possibility that a competitor will discover them or that our trade 
secrets will be misappropriated or disclosed. 

Because we currently rely on other third parties to manufacture our product candidates and to perform quality testing, we must, at times, share our 
proprietary technology and confidential information, including trade secrets, with them. We seek to protect our proprietary technology, in part, by entering 
into confidentiality agreements, consulting agreements or other similar agreements with our advisors, employees and consultants prior to beginning 
research or disclosing proprietary information. These agreements typically limit the rights of the third parties to use or disclose our confidential 
information. Despite the contractual provisions employed when working with third parties, the need to share trade secrets and other confidential 
information increases the risk that such trade secrets become known by our competitors, are intentionally or inadvertently incorporated into the technology 
of others or are disclosed or used in violation of these agreements. Given that our proprietary position is based, in part, on our know-how and trade secrets 
and despite our efforts to protect our trade secrets, a competitor’s discovery of our proprietary technology and confidential information or other 
unauthorized use or disclosure would impair our competitive position and may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of 
operations and prospects. 

Risks related to commercialization of our product candidates 

Even if we receive regulatory approval for any product candidate, we will be subject to ongoing regulatory obligations and continued regulatory review, 
which may result in significant additional expense. Additionally, our product candidates, if approved, could be subject to labeling and other restrictions 
on marketing or withdrawal from the market, and we may be subject to penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or if we experience 
unanticipated problems with our product candidates, when and if any of them are approved. 

Following potential approval of any our product candidates, the FDA may impose significant restrictions on a product’s indicated uses or marketing or 
impose ongoing requirements for potentially costly and time-consuming post-approval studies, post-market surveillance or clinical trials to monitor the 
safety and efficacy of the product. The FDA may also require a REMS as a condition of approval of our product candidates, which could include 
requirements for a medication guide, physician communication plans or additional elements to ensure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, 
patient registries and other risk minimization tools. In addition, if the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority approves our product candidates, 
the manufacturing processes, labeling, packaging, distribution, adverse event reporting, storage, advertising, promotion, import, export and recordkeeping 
for our products will be subject to extensive and ongoing regulatory requirements. These requirements include submissions of safety and other post-
marketing information and reports, registration, as well as continued compliance with cGMPs and GCP requirements for any clinical trials that we conduct 
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post-approval. Later discovery of previously unknown problems with our products, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or with 
our third-party manufacturers or manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may result in, among other things: 

• restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of our products, withdrawal of the product from the market or voluntary or mandatory product recalls; 
• restrictions on product distribution or use, or requirements to conduct post-marketing studies or clinical trials; 
• fines, restitutions, disgorgement of profits or revenues, warning letters, untitled letters or holds on clinical trials; 
• refusal by the FDA to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications filed by us or suspension or revocation of approvals; 
• product seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of our products; and 
• injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties. 

The occurrence of any event or penalty described above may inhibit our ability to commercialize our product candidates and generate revenue and could 
require us to expend significant time and resources in response and could generate negative publicity. 

In addition, if any of our product candidates is approved, our product labeling, advertising and promotion will be subject to regulatory requirements and 
continuing regulatory review. The FDA strictly regulates the promotional claims that may be made about drug products. In particular, a product may not be 
promoted for uses that are not approved by the FDA as reflected in the product’s approved labeling. If we receive marketing approval for a product 
candidate, physicians may nevertheless prescribe it to their patients in a manner that is inconsistent with the approved label. If we are found to have 
promoted such off label uses, we may become subject to significant liability. The FDA and other agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations 
prohibiting the promotion of off-label uses, and a company that is found to have improperly promoted off-label uses may be subject to significant sanctions. 
The federal government has levied large civil and criminal fines against companies for alleged improper promotion and has enjoined several companies 
from engaging in off-label promotion. The FDA has also requested that companies enter into consent decrees or permanent injunctions under which 
specified promotional conduct is changed or curtailed. 

The FDA’s and other regulatory authorities’ policies may change, and additional government regulations may be enacted that could prevent, limit or delay 
regulatory approval of our product candidates. 

We also cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative or executive action, 
either in the United States or abroad. If we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new requirements or policies, 
or if we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may be subject to enforcement action, and we may not achieve or sustain profitability.

Disruptions at the FDA and other government agencies caused by funding shortages or global health concerns could hinder their ability to hire, retain 
or deploy key leadership and other personnel, or otherwise prevent new or modified products from being developed, approved, or commercialized in a 
timely manner or at all, which could negatively impact our business. 

The ability of the FDA to review and approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including government budget and funding levels, 
statutory, regulatory and policy changes, the FDA’s ability to hire and retain key personnel and accept the payment of user fees, and other events that may 
otherwise affect the FDA’s ability to perform routine functions. Average review times at the FDA have fluctuated in recent years as a result. In addition, 
government funding of other government agencies that fund research and development activities is subject to the political process, which is inherently fluid 
and unpredictable. Disruptions at the FDA and other agencies may also slow the time necessary for new drugs and biologics or modifications to approved 
drugs and biologics to be reviewed and/or approved by necessary government agencies, which would adversely affect our business. For example, over the 
last several years, the U.S. government has shut down several times and certain regulatory agencies, such as the FDA, have had to furlough critical FDA 
employees and stop critical activities. 

Separately, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, in March 2020, the FDA announced its intention to postpone most inspections of foreign 
manufacturing facilities, and on March 18, 2020, the FDA temporarily postponed routine surveillance inspections of domestic manufacturing facilities. 
Subsequently, in July 2020, the FDA resumed certain on-site inspections of domestic manufacturing facilities subject to a risk-based prioritization system. 
The FDA utilized this risk-based assessment system to assist in determining when and where it was safest to conduct prioritized domestic inspections. 
Additionally, on April 15, 2021, the FDA issued a guidance document in which the FDA described its plans to conduct voluntary remote interactive 
evaluations of certain drug manufacturing facilities and clinical research sites, among other facilities. According to the guidance, the FDA may request such 
remote interactive evaluations where the FDA determines that remote evaluation would be appropriate based on mission needs and travel limitations. In 
May 2021, the FDA outlined a detailed plan to move toward a more consistent state of inspectional operations, and in July 2021, the FDA resumed 
standard inspectional operations of domestic facilities and was continuing to maintain this level of operation as of September 2021. More recently, 
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the FDA has continued to monitor and implement changes to its inspectional activities to ensure the safety of its employees and those of the firms it 
regulates as it adapts to the evolving COVID-19 pandemic. Regulatory authorities outside the United States may adopt similar restrictions or other policy 
measures in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. If a prolonged government shutdown occurs, or if global health concerns continue to prevent the FDA or 
other regulatory authorities from conducting their regular inspections, reviews or other regulatory activities, it could significantly impact the ability of the 
FDA or other regulatory authorities to timely review and process our regulatory submissions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

The commercial success of our product candidates will depend upon the degree of market acceptance of such product candidates by physicians, 
patients, health care payors and others in the medical community. 

Our product candidates may not be commercially successful. Even if any of our product candidates receive regulatory approval, they may not gain market 
acceptance among physicians, patients, healthcare payors or the medical community. The commercial success of any of our current or future product 
candidates will depend significantly on the broad adoption and use of the resulting product by physicians and patients for approved indications. The degree 
of market acceptance of our products will depend on a number of factors, including: 

• demonstration of clinical efficacy and safety compared to other more-established products; 
• the indications for which our product candidates are approved; 
• the limitation of our targeted patient population and other limitations or warnings contained in any FDA-approved labeling; 
• acceptance of a new drug for the relevant indication by healthcare providers and their patients; 
• the pricing and cost-effectiveness of our products, as well as the cost of treatment with our products in relation to alternative treatments and therapies; 
• our ability to obtain and maintain sufficient third-party coverage and adequate reimbursement from government healthcare programs, including 

Medicare and Medicaid, private health insurers and other third-party payors; 
• the willingness of patients to pay all, or a portion of, out-of-pocket costs associated with our products in the absence of sufficient third-party coverage 

and adequate reimbursement; 
• the prevalence and severity of any adverse effects; 
• potential product liability claims; 
• the timing of market introduction of our products as well as competitive drugs; 
• the effectiveness of our or any of our potential future collaborators’ sales and marketing strategies; and 
• unfavorable publicity relating to the product. 

If any product candidate is approved but does not achieve an adequate level of acceptance by physicians, hospitals, healthcare payors or patients, we may 
not generate sufficient revenue from that product and may not become or remain profitable. Our efforts to educate the medical community and third-party 
payors regarding the benefits of our products may require significant resources and may never be successful. 

The successful commercialization of our product candidates, if approved, will depend in part on the extent to which governmental authorities and 
health insurers establish coverage, adequate reimbursement levels and favorable pricing policies. Failure to obtain or maintain coverage and adequate 
reimbursement for our products could limit our ability to market those products and decrease our ability to generate revenue. 

The availability of coverage and the adequacy of reimbursement by governmental healthcare programs such as Medicare and Medicaid, private health 
insurers and other third-party payors are essential for most patients to be able to afford prescription medications such as our product candidates, if 
approved. Our ability to achieve coverage and acceptable levels of reimbursement for our products by governmental authorities, private health insurers and 
other organizations will have an effect on our ability to successfully commercialize those products. Even if we obtain coverage for a given product by a 
third-party payor, the resulting reimbursement payment rates may not be adequate or may require co-payments that patients find unacceptably high. We 
cannot be sure that coverage and reimbursement in the United States, the European Union or elsewhere will be available for any product that we may 
develop, and any reimbursement that may become available may be decreased or eliminated in the future. 

Third-party payors increasingly are challenging prices charged for pharmaceutical products and services, and many third-party payors may refuse to 
provide coverage and reimbursement for particular drugs when an equivalent generic drug or a less expensive therapy is available. It is possible that a third-
party payor may consider our products as substitutable and only offer to reimburse patients for the less expensive product. Even if we are successful in 
demonstrating improved efficacy or improved convenience of administration with our products, pricing of existing drugs may limit the amount we will be 
able to charge for our products. These payors may deny or revoke the reimbursement status of a given product or establish prices for new or existing 
marketed products at levels that are too low to enable us to realize an appropriate return on our investment in product development. If reimbursement is not 
available or is available only at limited levels, we may not be able to 
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successfully commercialize our products and may not be able to obtain a satisfactory financial return on products that we may develop. 

There is significant uncertainty related to the insurance coverage and reimbursement of newly approved products. In the United States, third-party payors, 
including private and governmental payors, such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs, play an important role in determining the extent to which new 
drugs will be covered. Some third-party payors may require pre-approval of coverage for new or innovative devices or drug therapies before they will 
reimburse health care providers who use such therapies. It is difficult to predict at this time what third-party payors will decide with respect to the coverage 
and reimbursement for our products. 

Obtaining and maintaining reimbursement status is time-consuming, costly and uncertain. The Medicare and Medicaid programs increasingly are used as 
models for how private payors and other governmental payors develop their coverage and reimbursement policies for drugs. However, no uniform policy 
for coverage and reimbursement for products exists among third-party payors in the United States. Therefore, coverage and reimbursement for products can 
differ significantly from payor to payor. As a result, the coverage determination process is often a time-consuming and costly process that will require us to 
provide scientific and clinical support for the use of our products to each payor separately, with no assurance that coverage and adequate reimbursement 
will be applied consistently or obtained in the first instance. Furthermore, rules and regulations regarding reimbursement change frequently, in some cases 
at short notice, and we believe that changes in these rules and regulations are likely. 

Outside the United States, international operations are generally subject to extensive governmental price controls and other market regulations, and we 
believe the increasing emphasis on cost-containment initiatives in Europe and other countries has and will continue to put pressure on the pricing and usage 
of our products. In many countries, the prices of medical products are subject to varying price control mechanisms as part of national health systems. Other 
countries allow companies to fix their own prices for medical products but monitor and control company profits. Additional foreign price controls or other 
changes in pricing regulation could restrict the amount that we are able to charge for our products. Accordingly, in markets outside the United States, the 
reimbursement for our products may be reduced compared with the United States and may be insufficient to generate commercially reasonable revenue and 
profits. 

Moreover, increasing efforts by governmental and third-party payors in the United States and abroad to cap or reduce healthcare costs may cause such 
organizations to limit both coverage and the level of reimbursement for newly approved products and, as a result, they may not cover or provide adequate 
payment for our products. We expect to experience pricing pressures in connection with the sale of any of our products due to the trend toward managed 
healthcare, the increasing influence of health maintenance organizations and additional legislative changes. The downward pressure on healthcare costs in 
general, particularly prescription drugs and surgical procedures and other treatments, has become very intense. As a result, increasingly high barriers are 
being erected to the entry of new products. 

We face competition from entities that have developed or may develop somatostatin agonist products or other product candidates. If these companies 
develop technologies or product candidates more rapidly than we do or their technologies are more effective, our ability to develop and successfully 
commercialize products may be adversely affected. 

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are characterized by rapidly advancing technologies, intense competition and a strong emphasis on 
proprietary and novel products and product candidates. Our competitors have developed, are developing or may develop products, product candidates and 
processes competitive with our product candidates. Any product candidates that we successfully develop and commercialize will compete with existing 
therapies and new therapies that may become available in the future. We believe that a significant number of products are currently under development, and 
may become commercially available in the future, for the treatment of conditions for which we may attempt to develop product candidates. In particular, 
there is intense competition in the field of endocrine disorders. Our competitors include larger and better funded pharmaceutical, biopharmaceutical, 
biotechnological and therapeutics companies. Moreover, we may also compete with universities and other research institutions who may be active in 
endocrinology research and could be in direct competition with us. We also compete with these organizations to recruit management, scientists and clinical 
development personnel, which could negatively affect our level of expertise and our ability to execute our business plan. We will also face competition in 
establishing clinical trial sites, enrolling subjects for clinical trials and in identifying and in-licensing new product candidates. Smaller or early-stage 
companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and established companies. 

With respect to paltusotine, injected peptide somatostatin agonists and GH receptor antagonists are the main medical therapies for acromegaly patients 
where surgery is unsuccessful. There are three injected somatostatin analogs approved for the treatment of acromegaly: octreotide (marketed by Novartis 
AG), lanreotide (marketed by Ipsen Biopharmaceuticals, Inc.) and pasireotide (marketed by Recordati Rare Diseases Inc.). Pegvisomant (marketed by 
Pfizer Inc.) is a daily injectable growth hormone receptor antagonist and is generally used in patients not fully controlled on somatostatin analogs. Orally 
administered dopamine agonists, such as bromocriptine and cabergoline, are also used. In 2020, Chiasma, Inc. (Chiasma 
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acquired by Amryt Pharma, Aug 2021) received marketing approval in the United States for an oral octreotide product, MYCAPSSA, for long-term 
maintenance treatment in acromegaly patients who have responded to and tolerated treatment with octreotide or lanreotide. In December 2021, the FDA 
approved a lanreotide injection biosimilar manufactured by Cipla Ltd. for the treatment of acromegaly and GEP-NETs.  Other products in clinical 
development include new formulations of peptide somatostatin agonists or GH receptor antagonists. Other companies developing new pharmaceutical 
therapies for acromegaly include Camurus AB, Ionis Pharmaceuticals, Inc./Antisense Therapeutics Ltd., Aquestive Therapeutics, Inc., XERIS 
Pharmaceuticals, Amolyt Pharma and Rani Therapeutics, Inc.

Injected depots of peptide somatostatin analogs are used as therapy for NETs. In adults whose carcinoid syndrome symptoms are inadequately controlled 
by somatostatin therapy, telotristat ethyl (marketed by TerSera Therapeutics, Inc.) is an orally administered add-on therapy. In 2018, the FDA approved 
Novartis’ Lutathera for the treatment of somatostatin receptor positive gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Camurus, Amryt, POINT Biopharma 
Global Inc., and ITM Isotopen Technologien Munchen are currently engaged in Phase 3 trials of new compounds for use in the treatment of NETs and/or 
carcinoid syndrome symptoms. Other companies developing NETs therapeutics that target somatostatin receptors include, Ipsen, Oranomed/RadioMedix, 
Xencor, Tarveda Therapeutics, Advanced Accelerator Applications SA, ASCIL Biopharm, DexTech Medical, Aquestive Therapeutics Inc., Molecular 
Targeting Technologies Inc., Viewpoint Molecular Targeting LLC, Xeris Pharmaceuticals, and Immunwork Inc.

With respect to congenital HI, maintaining glucose levels through feeding or glucose infusions is the first step in managing the disease. Diazoxide 
(marketed by Teva Pharmaceuticals, Inc.) is the only approved therapy indicated for hyperinsulinemia. Octreotide (used off-label) is administered as 
subcutaneous injections in those who respond poorly to diazoxide. Patients who fail pharmacological therapy often progress to partial or nearly complete 
pancreatectomy, which can result in type I diabetes that must be managed for the remainder of the patient’s life. Ready-to-use glucagon analog products 
have also been approved and could be used to treat congenital HI if a patient experiences severe hypoglycemia and includes Zegalogue, which received 
approval in 2021 and is marketed by Zealand Pharma A/S, and Gvoke HypoPen which received approval in 2019 and is marketed by Xeris 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc,. Companies developing products for potential use in congenital HI include Rezolute, Inc., Hanmi Pharmaceuticals, Eiger 
Biopharmaceuticals, Inc., Sosei Heptares and AmideBio. 

As with acromegaly, first-line therapy for Cushing’s disease is surgery to remove the pituitary tumor if possible. Adrenal enzyme inhibitors (metyrapone, 
ketoconazole) prevent the synthesis of cortisol and can improve symptoms. Mifepristone (marketed by Corcept Therapeutics, Inc.), a glucocorticoid 
receptor antagonist, is approved for control of hyperglycemia in Cushing’s syndrome. Osilodrostat (marketed by Recordati), a cortisol synthesis inhibitor, is 
approved for the treatment of endogenous Cushing’s syndrome. The somatostatin agonist pasireotide is also approved for Cushing’s disease. Strongbridge 
Biopharma is conducting a Phase 3 clinical trial with levoketoconazole, respectively. Other companies developing products for potential use in Cushing’s 
disease include Corcept Therapeutics, Inc., and Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Neurocrine Biosciences and Spruce Biosciences are developing CRF 
receptor antagonists for the treatment of CAH.

Many of our competitors have significantly greater financial, technical, manufacturing, marketing, sales and supply resources or experience than we do. If 
we successfully obtain approval for any product candidate, we will face competition based on many different factors, including the safety and effectiveness 
of our products, the ease with which our products can be administered and the extent to which patients accept relatively new routes of administration, the 
timing and scope of regulatory approvals for these products, the availability and cost of manufacturing, marketing and sales capabilities, price, 
reimbursement coverage and patent position. Competing products could present superior treatment alternatives, including by being more effective, safer, 
more convenient, less expensive or marketed and sold more effectively than any products we may develop. Competitive products may make any products 
we develop obsolete or noncompetitive before we recover the expense of developing and commercializing our product candidates. For example, a 
competitor could develop another oral formulation of a somatostatin agonist or other technology that could make administration of peptide therapies more 
convenient. If we are unable to compete effectively, our opportunity to generate revenue from the sale of our products we may develop, if approved, could 
be adversely affected. 

The number of patients suffering from the rare endocrine diseases that we target is small, and have not been established with precision. If the market 
opportunities for our products are smaller than we believe they are, our revenue may be adversely affected, and our business may suffer. 

We focus our research and product development on treatments for orphan and rare diseases. Given the small number of patients who have the diseases that 
we are targeting, it is critical to our ability to grow and become profitable that we continue to successfully identify patients with these diseases. Our 
projections of both the number of people who have these diseases, as well as the subset of people with these diseases who have the potential to benefit from 
treatment with our products, are based on our beliefs and estimates. These estimates have been derived from a variety of sources, including the scientific 
literature, surveys of clinics, patient foundations or market research, and may prove to be incorrect. Further, new studies may change the estimated 
incidence or prevalence of these diseases. The number of patients may turn out to be lower 
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than expected. The effort to identify patients with diseases we seek to treat is in early stages, and we cannot accurately predict the number of patients for 
whom treatment might be possible. Additionally, the potentially addressable patient population for each of our products may be limited or may not be 
amenable to treatment with our products, and new patients may become increasingly difficult to identify or gain access to, which would adversely affect 
our results of operations and our business. Further, even if we obtain significant market share for our products, because the potential target populations are 
very small, we may never achieve profitability despite obtaining such significant market share. 

We may seek to enter into collaborations, licenses and other similar arrangements of our product and may not be successful in doing so, and even if we 
are, we may not realize the benefits of such relationships. 

We may seek to enter into collaborations, licenses and other similar arrangements for the development or commercialization of our product candidates, due 
to capital costs required to develop or commercialize the product candidate in such markets. We may not be successful in our efforts to establish such 
collaborations for our product candidates because our product candidates may be deemed to be at too early of a stage of development for collaborative 
effort or third parties may not view our product candidates as having the requisite potential to demonstrate safety and efficacy or significant commercial 
opportunity. In addition, we face significant competition in seeking appropriate strategic partners, and the negotiation process can be time-consuming and 
complex. Further, any future collaboration agreements may restrict us from entering into additional agreements with potential collaborators. We cannot be 
certain that, following a strategic transaction or license, we will achieve an economic benefit that justifies such transaction. 

Even if we are successful in our efforts to establish such collaborations, the terms that we agree upon may not be favorable to us, and we may not be able to 
maintain such collaborations if, for example, development or approval of a product candidate is delayed, the safety of a product candidate is questioned, or 
sales of an approved product are unsatisfactory. We also may not be able to realize the benefit of such collaborations if we are unable to successfully 
integrate them with our existing operations and company culture. 

In addition, any potential future collaborations may be terminable by our strategic partners, and we may not be able to adequately protect our rights under 
these agreements. Furthermore, strategic partners may negotiate for certain rights to control decisions regarding the development and commercialization of 
our product candidates, if approved, and may not conduct those activities in the same manner as we do. Any termination of collaborations we enter into in 
the future, or any delay in entering into collaborations related to our product candidates, could delay the development and commercialization of our product 
candidates and reduce their competitiveness if they reach the market, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations. 

We currently have no marketing and sales organization and have no experience as a company in commercializing products, and we may have to invest 
significant resources to develop these capabilities. If we are unable to establish marketing and sales capabilities or enter into agreements with third 
parties to market and sell our products, we may not be able to generate product revenue. 

We have no internal sales, marketing or distribution capabilities, nor have we commercialized a product. If any of our product candidates ultimately 
receives regulatory approval, we expect to establish a marketing and sales organization with technical expertise and supporting distribution capabilities to 
commercialize each such product in major markets, which will be expensive and time consuming. We have no prior experience as a company in the 
marketing, sale and distribution of pharmaceutical products and there are significant risks involved in building and managing a sales organization, 
including our ability to hire, retain and incentivize qualified individuals, generate sufficient sales leads, provide adequate training to sales and marketing 
personnel and effectively manage a geographically dispersed sales and marketing team. Any failure or delay in the development of our internal sales, 
marketing and distribution capabilities would adversely impact the commercialization of these products. We may also choose to collaborate with third 
parties that have direct sales forces and established distribution systems, either to augment our own sales force and distribution systems or in lieu of our 
own sales force and distribution systems. We may not be able to enter into collaborations or hire consultants or external service providers to assist us in 
sales, marketing and distribution functions on acceptable financial terms, or at all. In addition, our product revenues and our profitability, if any, may be 
lower if we rely on third parties for these functions than if we were to market, sell and distribute any products that we develop ourselves. We likely will 
have little control over such third parties, and any of them may fail to devote the necessary resources and attention to sell and market our products 
effectively. If we are not successful in commercializing our products, either on our own or through arrangements with one or more third parties, we may not 
be able to generate any future product revenue and we would incur significant additional losses. 

Our future growth may depend, in part, on our ability to operate in foreign markets, where we would be subject to additional regulatory burdens and 
other risks and uncertainties. 

Our future growth may depend, in part, on our ability to develop and commercialize our product candidates in foreign markets. We are not permitted to 
market or promote any of our product candidates before we receive regulatory approval 

44



from applicable regulatory authorities in foreign markets, and we may never receive such regulatory approvals for any of our product candidates. To obtain 
separate regulatory approval in many other countries we must comply with numerous and varying regulatory requirements regarding safety and efficacy 
and governing, among other things, clinical trials, commercial sales, pricing and distribution of our product candidates. If we obtain regulatory approval of 
our product candidates and ultimately commercialize our products in foreign markets, we would be subject to additional risks and uncertainties, including: 

• different regulatory requirements for approval of drugs in foreign countries; 
• reduced protection for intellectual property rights; 
• the existence of additional third-party patent rights of potential relevance to our business; 
• unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriers and regulatory requirements; 
• economic weakness, including inflation, or political instability in particular foreign economies and markets; 
• compliance with tax, employment, immigration and labor laws for employees living or traveling abroad; 
• foreign currency fluctuations, which could result in increased operating expenses and reduced revenues, and other obligations incident to doing 

business in another country; 
• foreign reimbursement, pricing and insurance regimes; 
• workforce uncertainty in countries where labor unrest is common; 
• production shortages resulting from any events affecting raw material supply or manufacturing capabilities abroad; and 
• business interruptions resulting from geopolitical actions, including war and terrorism, or natural disasters including earthquakes, typhoons, floods 

and fires. 

Risks related to our business operations and industry 

Our operating results may fluctuate significantly, which makes our future operating results difficult to predict and could cause our operating results to 
fall below expectations or any guidance we may provide. 

Our quarterly and annual operating results may fluctuate significantly, which makes it difficult for us to predict our future operating results. These 
fluctuations may occur due to a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control, including, but not limited to: 

• the timing and cost of, and level of investment in, research, development, regulatory approval and commercialization activities relating to our product 
candidates, which may change from time to time; 

• coverage and reimbursement policies with respect to our product candidates, if approved, and potential future drugs that compete with our products; 
• the cost of manufacturing our product candidates, which may vary depending on the quantity of production and the terms of our agreements with 

third-party manufacturers; 
• expenditures that we may incur to acquire, develop or commercialize additional product candidates and technologies; 
• the level of demand for any approved products, which may vary significantly; 
• future accounting pronouncements or changes in our accounting policies; and 
• the timing and success or failure of preclinical studies or clinical trials for our product candidates or competing product candidates, or any other 

change in the competitive landscape of our industry, including consolidation among our competitors or partners. 

The cumulative effects of these factors could result in large fluctuations and unpredictability in our quarterly and annual operating results. As a result, 
comparing our operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful. Investors should not rely on our past results as an indication of our 
future performance. 

This variability and unpredictability could also result in our failing to meet the expectations of industry or financial analysts or investors for any period. If 
our revenue or operating results fall below the expectations of analysts or investors or below any forecasts we may provide to the market, or if the forecasts 
we provide to the market are below the expectations of analysts or investors, the price of our common stock could decline substantially. Such a stock price 
decline could occur even when we have met any previously publicly stated revenue or earnings guidance we may provide. 

We are dependent on the services of our management and other clinical and scientific personnel, and if we are not able to retain these individuals or 
recruit additional management or clinical and scientific personnel, our business will suffer. 

Our success depends in part on our continued ability to attract, retain and motivate highly qualified management, clinical and scientific personnel. We are 
highly dependent upon our senior management, particularly our Chief Executive Officer, as well as our senior scientists and other members of our senior 
management team. The loss of services of any of these individuals could delay or prevent the successful development of our product pipeline, initiation or 
completion of our planned clinical trials or the commercialization of our product candidates. Although we have executed employment agreements or offer 
letters with each member of our senior management team, these agreements are terminable at will with or without notice and, therefore, we may not be able 
to retain their services as expected. We do not currently maintain “key person” life insurance 
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on the lives of our executives or any of our employees. This lack of insurance means that we may not have adequate compensation for the loss of the 
services of these individuals. 

We will need to expand and effectively manage our managerial, operational, financial and other resources in order to successfully pursue our clinical 
development and commercialization efforts. We may not be successful in maintaining our unique company culture and continuing to attract or retain 
qualified management and scientific and clinical personnel in the future due to the intense competition for qualified personnel among pharmaceutical, 
biotechnology and other businesses, particularly in the San Diego area. Our industry has experienced a high rate of turnover of management personnel in 
recent years. If we are not able to attract, integrate, retain and motivate necessary personnel to accomplish our business objectives, we may experience 
constraints that will significantly impede the achievement of our development objectives, our ability to raise additional capital and our ability to implement 
our business strategy. 

We may encounter difficulties in managing our growth and expanding our operations successfully. 

As of March 25, 2022, we had 143 full-time employees. As we continue development and pursue the potential commercialization of our product 
candidates, as well as function as a public company, we will need to expand our financial, development, regulatory, manufacturing, marketing and sales 
capabilities or contract with third parties to provide these capabilities for us. As our operations expand, we expect that we will need to manage additional 
relationships with various strategic partners, suppliers and other third parties. Our future financial performance and our ability to develop and 
commercialize our product candidates and to compete effectively will depend, in part, on our ability to manage any future growth effectively. 

We conduct certain research and development operations through our Australian wholly-owned subsidiary. If we lose our ability to operate in 
Australia, or if our subsidiary is unable to receive the research and development tax credit allowed by Australian regulations, our business and results 
of operations could suffer. 

In January 2017, we formed a wholly-owned Australian subsidiary, CAPL, to conduct various preclinical and clinical activities for our product and 
development candidates in Australia. Due to the geographical distance and lack of employees currently in Australia, as well as our lack of experience 
operating in Australia, we may not be able to efficiently or successfully monitor, develop and commercialize our lead products in Australia, including 
conducting clinical trials. Furthermore, we have no assurance that the results of any clinical trials that we conduct for our product candidates in Australia 
will be accepted by the FDA or foreign regulatory authorities for development and commercialization approvals. 

In addition, current Australian tax regulations provide for a refundable research and development tax credit equal to 43.5% of qualified expenditures. If we 
lose our ability to operate CAPL in Australia, or if we are ineligible or unable to receive the research and development tax credit, or the Australian 
government significantly reduces or eliminates the tax credit, our business and results of operation may be adversely affected. 

We are subject to various foreign, federal and state healthcare laws and regulations, and our failure to comply with these laws and regulations could 
harm our results of operations and financial condition. 

Our business operations and current and future arrangements with investigators, healthcare professionals, consultants, third-party payors and customers 
expose us to broadly applicable federal and state fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations. These laws may constrain the business or 
financial arrangements and relationships through which we conduct our operations, including how we research, market, sell and distribute any products for 
which we obtain marketing approval. Such laws include: 

• the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, persons or entities from knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering, receiving 
or providing any remuneration (including any kickback, bribe or certain rebates), directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind, in return 
for, either the referral of an individual or the purchase, lease, or order, or arranging for or recommending the purchase, lease, or order of any good, 
facility, item or service, for which payment may be made, in whole or in part, under a federal healthcare program such as Medicare and Medicaid. A 
person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of the federal statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation; 

• the federal false claims, including the civil False Claims Act, which, among other things, impose criminal and civil penalties against individuals or 
entities for knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, to the federal government, claims for payment or approval that are false or fraudulent, 
knowingly making, using or causing to be made or used, a false record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim, or from knowingly making 
or causing to be made a false statement to avoid, decrease or conceal an obligation to pay money to the federal government. In addition, the 
government may assert that a claim including items or services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or 
fraudulent claim for purposes of the civil False Claims Act; 
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• HIPAA, which imposes criminal and civil liability for, among other things, knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to 
defraud any healthcare benefit program, or knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any materially 
false statement, in connection with the delivery of, or payment for, healthcare benefits, items or services. Similar to the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, 
a person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation. 

• the federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act, which requires certain manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies for which 
payment is available under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program (with certain exceptions) to report annually to the 
government information related to payments and other “transfers of value” made to physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, 
podiatrists and chiropractors), certain other healthcare professionals (physician assistants, nurse practitioners, clinical nurse specialists, 
anesthesiologist assistants, certified registered nurse anesthetists, anesthesiology assistants and certified nurse midwives), and teaching hospitals, as 
well as ownership and investment interests held by the physicians described above and their immediate family members; and 

• analogous state and foreign laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws, which may apply to our business practices, 
including but not limited to, research, distribution, sales and marketing arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by 
non- governmental third-party payors, including private insurers, or by the patients themselves; state laws that require pharmaceutical companies to 
comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal 
government, or otherwise restrict payments that may be made to healthcare providers and other potential referral sources; state laws and regulations 
that require drug manufacturers to file reports relating to pricing and marketing information, which requires tracking gifts and other remuneration and 
items of value provided to physicians, other healthcare providers and entities; state and local laws that require the registration of pharmaceutical sales 
representatives. 

Ensuring that our internal operations and business arrangements with third parties comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations could involve 
substantial costs. It is possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices, including our consulting and advisory board 
arrangements with physicians and other healthcare providers, some of whom receive stock options as compensation for services provided, do not comply 
with current or future statutes, regulations, agency guidance or case law involving applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. If 
our operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any other governmental laws and regulations that may apply to us, we may 
be subject to significant penalties, including civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines, exclusion from U.S. government funded healthcare 
programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, or similar programs in other countries or jurisdictions, disgorgement, individual imprisonment, contractual 
damages, reputational harm, additional reporting requirements and oversight if we become subject to a corporate integrity agreement or similar agreement 
to resolve allegations of non-compliance with these laws, diminished profits and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. Further, defending 
against any such actions can be costly, time-consuming and may require significant financial and personnel resources. Therefore, even if we are successful 
in defending against any such actions that may be brought against us, our business may be impaired. If any of the physicians or other providers or entities 
with whom we expect to do business are found to not be in compliance with applicable laws, they may be subject to criminal, civil or administrative 
sanctions, including exclusion from government funded healthcare programs and imprisonment. If any of the above occur, it could adversely affect our 
ability to operate our business and our results of operations. 

We are subject to governmental regulation and other legal obligations related to privacy, data protection and information security. Compliance with 
these requirements could result in additional costs and liabilities to us or inhibit our ability to collect and process data, and the failure to comply with 
such requirements could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Privacy and data security have become significant issues in the U.S., E.U. and in many other jurisdictions where we may in the future conduct our 
operations. The legislative and regulatory landscape for privacy and data protection continues to evolve, and there has been an increasing focus on privacy 
and data protection issues, which may affect our business and may increase our compliance costs and exposure to liability.  As we receive, collect, process, 
use and store personal and confidential data, we are or may be subject to diverse laws and regulations relating to data privacy and security, including, in the 
U.S., HIPAA and CCPA (defined below), and, in the EU and the EEA, the GDPR. Compliance with these privacy and data security requirements is 
rigorous and time-intensive and may increase our cost of doing business, and despite those efforts, there is a risk that we may be subject to fines and 
penalties, litigation and reputational harm, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In the U.S., we may be subject to data privacy and security regulation by both the federal government and the states in which we conduct our business. 
HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, and their respective implementing regulations, impose, 
among other things, certain standards relating to the privacy, security, transmission and breach reporting of individually identifiable health information held 
by covered entities and their business 
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associates. We may obtain health information from third parties (including research institutions from which we obtain clinical trial data) that are subject to 
privacy and security requirements under HIPAA. Depending on the facts and circumstances, we could be subject to criminal penalties if we knowingly 
receive individually identifiable health information from a HIPAA-covered entity in a manner that is not authorized or permitted by HIPAA. Even when 
HIPAA does not apply, according to the Federal Trade Commission or the FTC, failing to take appropriate steps to keep consumers’ personal information 
secure constitutes unfair acts or practices in or affecting commerce in violation of Section 5(a) of the Federal Trade Commission Act. The FTC expects a 
company’s data security measures to be reasonable and appropriate in light of the sensitivity and volume of consumer information it holds, the size and 
complexity of its business, and the cost of available tools to improve security and reduce vulnerabilities. Individually identifiable health information is 
considered sensitive data that merits stronger safeguards. 

In addition, state laws govern the privacy and security of health-related and other personal information in certain circumstances, many of which differ from 
each other in significant ways and may not have the same requirements, thus complicating compliance efforts. By way of example, California enacted the 
California Consumer Privacy Act, or CCPA, effective January 1, 2020, which gives California residents expanded rights to access and delete their personal 
information, opt out of certain personal information sharing, and receive detailed information about how their personal information is used. The CCPA 
provides for civil penalties for violations, as well as a private right of action for data breaches that is expected to increase data breach litigation. The CCPA 
may increase our compliance costs and potential liability. Further, the California Privacy Rights Act, or CPRA, recently passed in California. The CPRA 
significantly amends the CCPA and will impose additional data protection obligations on covered businesses, including additional consumer rights 
processes, limitations on data uses, new audit requirements for higher risk data, and opt outs for certain uses of sensitive data. It will also create a new 
California data protection agency authorized to issue substantive regulations and could result in increased privacy and information security enforcement. 
The majority of the provisions will go into effect on January 1, 2023, and additional compliance investment and potential business process changes may be 
required.  Similar laws have passed in Virginia and Colorado, and have been proposed in other states and at the federal level, reflecting a trend toward more 
stringent privacy legislation in the United States. The enactment of such laws could have potentially conflicting requirements that would make compliance 
challenging. If we fail to comply with applicable laws and regulations, we could be subject to penalties or sanctions, including criminal penalties if we 
knowingly obtain or disclose individually identifiable health information from a covered entity in a manner that is not authorized or permitted by HIPAA or 
applicable state laws.

In the EEA, the GDPR imposes many requirements for controllers and processors of personal data, including, for example, high standards for obtaining 
consent from individuals to process their personal data, robust disclosures to individuals and a strong individual data rights regime, short timelines for data 
breach notifications, limitations on retention and secondary use of information, significant requirements pertaining to health data and pseudonymized (i.e., 
key-coded) data and obligations when we contract third-party processors in connection with the processing of the personal data. The GDPR allows EEA 
member states to make additional laws and regulations further limiting the processing of genetic, biometric or health data. Failure to comply with the 
requirements of the GDPR and the applicable national data protection laws of the EEA member states may result in fines of up to €20,000,000 or up to 4% 
of the total worldwide annual turnover of the preceding financial year, whichever is higher, and other regulatory investigations, reputational damage, orders 
to cease/ change our processing of our data, enforcement notices, and/ or assessment notices (for a compulsory audit). We may also face civil claims 
including representative actions and other class action type litigation (where individuals have suffered harm), potentially amounting to significant 
compensation or damages liabilities, as well as associated costs, diversion of internal resources, and reputational harm.

We are also subject to European Union rules with respect to cross-border transfers of personal data out of the EEA. Recent legal developments in Europe 
have created complexity and uncertainty regarding transfers of personal data from the EEA to the United States. Most recently, on July 16, 2020, the Court 
of Justice of the European Union, or CJEU, invalidated the EU-US Privacy Shield Framework, or Privacy Shield, under which personal data could be 
transferred from the EEA to US entities who had self-certified under the Privacy Shield scheme. While the CJEU upheld the adequacy of the standard 
contractual clauses, or SCCs, it made clear that reliance on them alone may not necessarily be sufficient in all circumstances. Use of the SCCs must now be 
assessed on a case-by-case basis taking into account the legal regime applicable in the destination country. The CJEU went on to state that if a competent 
supervisory authority believes that the SCCs cannot be complied with in the destination country and the required level of protection cannot be secured by 
other means, such supervisory authority is under an obligation to suspend or prohibit that transfer. The European Commission issued revised SCCs on June 
4, 2021 to account for the decision of the CJEU and recommendations made by the European Data Protection Board. The revised SCCs must be used for 
relevant new data transfers from September 27, 2021; existing standard contractual clauses arrangements must be migrated to the revised clauses by 
December 27, 2022. The new SCCs apply only to the transfer of personal data outside of the EEA and not the UK; the UK’s Information Commissioner’s 
Office launched a public consultation on its draft revised data transfers mechanisms in August 2021. There is some uncertainty around whether the revised 
clauses can be used for all types of data transfers, particularly whether they can be relied on for data transfers to 

48



non-EEA entities subject to the GDPR. As supervisory authorities issue further guidance on personal data export mechanisms, including circumstances 
where the standard contractual clauses cannot be used, and/ or start taking enforcement action, we could suffer additional costs, complaints and/ or 
regulatory investigations or fines, and/ or if we are otherwise unable to transfer personal data between and among countries and regions in which we 
operate, it could affect the manner in which we provide our services, the geographical location or segregation of our relevant systems and operations, and 
could adversely affect our financial results.

Additionally, from 1 January 2021, we are subject to the GDPR and also the UK GDPR which, together with the amended UK Data Protection Act 2018, 
retains the GDPR in UK national law. The UK GDPR mirrors the fines under the GDPR, e.g. fines up to the greater of €20 million (£17.5 million) or 4% of 
global turnover. The relationship between the United Kingdom and the European Union in relation to certain aspects of data protection law remains 
unclear, and it is unclear how UK data protection laws and regulations will develop in the medium to longer term, and how data transfers to and from the 
United Kingdom will be regulated in the long term. The European Commission has adopted an adequacy decision in favor of the United Kingdom, 
enabling data transfers from EU member states to the United Kingdom without additional safeguards. However, the UK adequacy decision will 
automatically expire in June 2025 unless the European Commission re-assesses and renews or extends that decision.

Compliance with U.S. and foreign data privacy and security laws, rules and regulations could require us to take on more onerous obligations in our 
contracts, require us to engage in costly compliance exercises, restrict our ability to collect, use and disclose data, or in some cases, impact our or our 
partners’ or suppliers’ ability to operate in certain jurisdictions. Each of these constantly evolving laws can be subject to varying interpretations. If we fail 
to comply with any such laws, rules or regulations, we may face government investigations and/or enforcement actions, fines, civil or criminal penalties, 
private litigation or adverse publicity that could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Recently enacted legislation, future legislation and healthcare reform measures may increase the difficulty and cost for us to obtain marketing 
approval for and commercialize our product candidates and may affect the prices we may set. 

In the United States and some foreign jurisdictions, there have been, and we expect there will continue to be, a number of legislative and regulatory 
changes to the healthcare system, including cost-containment measures that may reduce or limit coverage and reimbursement for newly approved drugs and 
affect our ability to profitably sell any product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval. In particular, there have been and continue to be a 
number of initiatives at the U.S. federal and state levels that seek to reduce healthcare costs and improve the quality of healthcare. 

For example, in March 2010, the ACA was enacted in the United States. Among the provisions of the ACA of importance to our potential product 
candidates, the ACA: established an annual, nondeductible fee on any entity that manufactures or imports specified branded prescription drugs and biologic 
agents; expanded eligibility criteria for Medicaid programs; increased the statutory minimum rebates a manufacturer must pay under the Medicaid Drug 
Rebate Program; created a new Medicare Part D coverage gap discount program; established a new Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute to 
oversee, identify priorities in and conduct comparative clinical effectiveness research, along with funding for such research; and established a Center for 
Medicare Innovation at the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services to test innovative payment and service delivery models to lower Medicare and 
Medicaid spending. 

Since its enactment, there have been judicial, executive and Congressional challenges to certain aspects of the ACA. On June 17, 2021, the U.S. Supreme 
Court dismissed the most recent judicial challenge to the ACA without specifically ruling on the constitutionality of the ACA. Prior to the Supreme Court’s 
decision, President Biden issued an executive order to initiate a special enrollment period from February 15, 2021 through August 15, 2021 for purposes of 
obtaining health insurance coverage through the ACA marketplace. The executive order also instructed certain governmental agencies to review and 
reconsider their existing policies and rules that limit access to healthcare, including among others, reexamining Medicaid demonstration projects and 
waiver programs that include work requirements, and policies that create unnecessary barriers to obtaining access to health insurance coverage through 
Medicaid or the ACA. 

In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the ACA was enacted. On August 2, 2011, the Budget Control Act of 2011 was 
signed into law, which, among other things, included reductions to Medicare payments to providers of 2% per fiscal year, which went into effect on April 1, 
2013 and, due to subsequent legislative amendments to the statute, will remain in effect through 2030, with the exception of a temporary suspension from 
May 1, 2020 through March 31, 2022, and a 1% reduction from April 1, 2022 through June 30, 2022, unless additional Congressional action is taken. On 
January 2, 2013, the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 was signed into law, which, among other things, reduced Medicare payments to several 
providers, including hospitals, and increased the statute of limitations period for the government to recover overpayments to providers from three to five 
years.

Further, there has been heightened governmental scrutiny in the United States of pharmaceutical pricing practices in light of the rising cost of prescription 
drugs. Such scrutiny has resulted in several recent congressional inquiries and proposed and enacted federal and state legislation designed to, among other 
things, bring more transparency to product pricing, review the 
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relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient programs, and reform government program reimbursement methodologies for products. 

At the state level, individual states in the United States are also increasingly active in passing legislation and implementing regulations designed to control 
pharmaceutical and biological product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts, restrictions on certain product access and 
marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures, and, in some cases, designed to encourage importation from other countries and bulk purchasing. 
Legally mandated price controls on payment amounts by third-party payors or other restrictions could harm our business, results of operations, financial 
condition and prospects. In addition, regional healthcare authorities and individual hospitals are increasingly using bidding procedures to determine what 
pharmaceutical products and which suppliers will be included in their prescription drug and other healthcare programs. This could reduce the ultimate 
demand for our product candidates, if approved, or put pressure on our product pricing, which could negatively affect our business, results of operations, 
financial condition and prospects. 

On May 30, 2018, the Trickett Wendler, Frank Mongiello, Jordan McLinn, and Matthew Bellina Right to Try Act of 2017, or Right to Try Act, was signed 
into law. The law, among other things, provides a federal framework for patients to access certain investigational new drug products that have completed a 
Phase I clinical trial. Under certain circumstances, eligible patients can seek treatment without enrolling in clinical trials and without obtaining FDA 
approval under the FDA expanded access program. The Right to Try Act did not establish any new entitlement or positive right to any party or individual, 
nor did it create any new mandates, directives, or additional regulations requiring a manufacturer or sponsor of an eligible investigational new drug product 
to provide expanded access. 

We expect that these new laws and other healthcare reform measures that may be adopted in the future may result in additional reductions in Medicare and 
other healthcare funding, more rigorous coverage criteria, new payment methodologies and additional downward pressure on the price that we receive for 
any approved product. Any reduction in reimbursement from Medicare or other government programs may result in a similar reduction in payments from 
private payors. The implementation of cost containment measures or other healthcare reforms may prevent us from being able to generate revenue, attain 
profitability or commercialize our product candidates, if approved. 

If product liability lawsuits are brought against us, we may incur substantial liabilities and may be required to limit commercialization of our products. 

We face an inherent risk of product liability as a result of the clinical trials of our product candidates and will face an even greater risk if we commercialize 
our product candidates. For example, we may be sued if our product candidates allegedly cause injury or are found to be otherwise unsuitable during 
product testing, manufacturing, marketing or sale. Any such product liability claims may include allegations of defects in manufacturing, defects in design, 
a failure to warn of dangers inherent in the product candidate, negligence, strict liability and a breach of warranties. Claims may be brought against us by 
clinical trial participants, patients or others using, administering or selling products that may be approved in the future, or could be asserted under state 
consumer protection acts. 

If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against product liability claims, we may incur substantial liabilities or be required to limit or cease the 
commercialization of our products. Even a successful defense would require significant financial and management resources. Regardless of the merits or 
eventual outcome, liability claims may result in: 

• decreased demand for our products; 
• injury to our reputation and significant negative media attention; 
• withdrawal of clinical trial participants; 
• costs to defend the related litigation; 
• a diversion of management’s time and our resources; 
• substantial monetary awards to trial participants or patients; 
• product recalls, withdrawals or labeling, marketing or promotional restrictions; 
• significant negative financial impact; 
• the inability to commercialize our product candidates; and 
• a decline in our stock price. 

We currently hold $10 million in product liability insurance coverage in the aggregate. We may need to increase our insurance coverage as we expand our 
clinical trials or if we commence commercialization of our product candidates. Insurance coverage is increasingly expensive. Our inability to obtain and 
retain sufficient product liability insurance at an acceptable cost to protect against potential product liability claims could prevent or inhibit the 
commercialization of our product candidates. Although we maintain such insurance, any claim that may be brought against us could result in a court 
judgment or settlement in an amount that is not covered, in whole or in part, by our insurance or that is in excess of the limits of our insurance coverage. 
Our insurance policies will also have various exclusions, and we may be subject to a product liability claim for which we have no coverage. We may have 
to pay any amounts awarded by a court or negotiated in a 
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settlement that exceed our coverage limitations or that are not covered by our insurance, and we may not have, or be able to obtain, sufficient capital to pay 
such amounts. 

We and any of our potential future collaborators will be required to report to regulatory authorities if any of our approved products cause or contribute 
to adverse medical events, and any failure to do so would result in sanctions that would materially harm our business. 

If we and any of our potential future collaborators are successful in commercializing our products, the FDA and foreign regulatory authorities would 
require that we and any of our potential future collaborators report certain information about adverse medical events if those products may have caused or 
contributed to those adverse events. The timing of our obligation to report would be triggered by the date we become aware of the adverse event as well as 
the nature of the event. We and any of our potential future collaborators or CROs may fail to report adverse events within the prescribed timeframe. If we 
or any of our potential future collaborators or CROs fail to comply with such reporting obligations, the FDA or a foreign regulatory authority could take 
action, including criminal prosecution, the imposition of civil monetary penalties, seizure of our products or delay in approval or clearance of future 
products. 

Our employees and independent contractors, including principal investigators, CROs, consultants and vendors may engage in misconduct or other 
improper activities, including noncompliance with regulatory standards and requirements. 

We are exposed to the risk that our employees and independent contractors, including principal investigators, CROs, consultants and vendors may engage 
in misconduct or other illegal activity. Misconduct by these parties could include intentional, reckless and/or negligent conduct or disclosure of 
unauthorized activities to us that violate: (1) the laws and regulations of the FDA and other similar regulatory requirements, including those laws that 
require the reporting of true, complete and accurate information to such authorities, manufacturing standards, (2) federal and state data privacy, security, 
fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations in the United States and abroad or (3) laws that require the true, complete and accurate reporting 
of financial information or data. Activities subject to these laws also involve the improper use or misrepresentation of information obtained in the course of 
clinical trials, the creation of fraudulent data in our preclinical studies or clinical trials, or illegal misappropriation of drug product, which could result in 
regulatory sanctions and cause serious harm to our reputation. It is not always possible to identify and deter misconduct by employees and other third 
parties, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in 
protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to be in compliance with such laws or regulations. In 
addition, we are subject to the risk that a person or government could allege such fraud or other misconduct, even if none occurred. If any such actions are 
instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant impact on our business 
and financial results, including, without limitation, the imposition of significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, monetary fines, 
disgorgements, possible exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare programs, individual imprisonment, contractual 
damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, additional reporting requirements and oversight if we become subject to a corporate 
integrity agreement or similar agreement to resolve allegations of non-compliance with these laws, and curtailment of our operations, any of which could 
adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our results of operations. 

We may engage in strategic transactions that could impact our liquidity, increase our expenses and present significant distractions to our management. 

From time to time, we may consider strategic transactions, such as acquisitions of companies, asset purchases and out-licensing or in-licensing of 
intellectual property, products or technologies. Additional potential transactions that we may consider in the future include a variety of business 
arrangements, including spin-offs, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, restructurings, divestitures, business combinations and investments. Any future 
transactions could increase our near and long-term expenditures, result in potentially dilutive issuances of our equity securities, including our common 
stock, or the incurrence of debt, contingent liabilities, amortization expenses or acquired in-process research and development expenses, any of which could 
affect our financial condition, liquidity and results of operations. Future acquisitions may also require us to obtain additional financing, which may not be 
available on favorable terms or at all. These transactions may never be successful and may require significant time and attention of management. In 
addition, the integration of any business that we may acquire in the future may disrupt our existing business and may be a complex, risky and costly 
endeavor for which we may never realize the full benefits of the acquisition. Accordingly, although there can be no assurance that we will undertake or 
successfully complete any additional transactions of the nature described above, any additional transactions that we do complete could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. 

We may not realize any benefits from our relationship with Radionetics.

In conjunction with formation of Radionetics, we will initially retain a majority equity stake in Radionetics and have the potential to receive future sales 
milestones and royalties on net sales of any approved products subject and pursuant to the terms of our license agreement. However, Radionetics will need 
additional capital to advance its pipeline and our ownership 
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interest may be diminished in connection with future capital raising. In addition, our ability to receive milestone or royalty payments from Radionetics will 
depend on Radionetics ability to advance its pipeline through clinical development, regulatory approval and ultimately commercial sales, all of which will 
take significant time, will be subject to inherent risks in drug development and may be impacted by changes in regulatory requirements, healthcare reform 
measures and competitive dynamics. Further, the Radionetics nonpeptide therapeutics platform technology targeting the delivery of therapeutic 
radioisotopes is novel and unproven and may never lead to approved products of commercial value. As a result, we and our stockholders may never realize 
future value from our equity interest in or license agreement or research collaboration with Radionetics.

Risks related to our intellectual property 

Our success depends on our ability to protect our intellectual property and our proprietary technologies. 

Our commercial success depends in part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent protection and trade secret protection for our product candidates, 
proprietary technologies and their uses as well as our ability to operate without infringing upon the proprietary rights of others. We generally seek to protect 
our proprietary position by filing patent applications in the United States and abroad related to our product candidates, proprietary technologies and their 
uses that are important to our business. Our patent applications cannot be enforced against third parties practicing the technology claimed in such 
applications unless, and until, patents issue from such applications, and then only to the extent the issued claims cover the technology. There can be no 
assurance that our patent applications will result in patents being issued or that issued patents will afford sufficient protection against competitors with 
similar technology, nor can there be any assurance that the patents issued will not be infringed, designed around or invalidated by third parties. Even issued 
patents may later be found invalid or unenforceable or may be modified or revoked in proceedings instituted by third parties before various patent offices or 
in courts. The degree of future protection for our proprietary rights is uncertain. Only limited protection may be available and may not adequately protect 
our rights or permit us to gain or keep any competitive advantage. This failure to obtain the intellectual property rights relating to our product candidates 
could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

The patent positions of companies like ours are generally uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions. No consistent policy regarding the 
scope of claims allowable in patents in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology space has emerged in the United States. The relevant patent laws and their 
interpretation outside of the United States is also uncertain. Changes in either the patent laws or their interpretation in the United States and other countries 
may diminish our ability to protect our technology or product candidates and could affect the value of such intellectual property. In particular, our ability to 
stop third parties from making, using, selling, offering to sell or importing products that infringe our intellectual property will depend in part on our success 
in obtaining and enforcing patent claims that cover our technology, inventions and improvements. We cannot guarantee that patents will be granted with 
respect to any of our pending patent applications or with respect to any patent applications we may file in the future, nor can we be sure that any patents 
that may be granted to us in the future will be commercially useful in protecting our products, the methods of use or manufacture of those products. 
Moreover, even our issued patents do not guarantee us the right to practice our technology in relation to the commercialization of our products. Patent and 
other intellectual property rights in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology space are evolving and involve many risks and uncertainties. For example, third 
parties may have blocking patents that could be used to prevent us from commercializing our product candidates and practicing our proprietary technology, 
and our issued patents may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented, which could limit our ability to stop competitors from marketing related products 
or could limit the term of patent protection that otherwise may exist for our product candidates. In addition, the scope of the rights granted under any issued 
patents may not provide us with protection or competitive advantages against competitors with similar technology. Furthermore, our competitors may 
independently develop similar technologies that are outside the scope of the rights granted under any issued patents. For these reasons, we may face 
competition with respect to our product candidates. Moreover, because of the extensive time required for development, testing and regulatory review of a 
potential product, it is possible that, before any particular product candidate can be commercialized, any patent protection for such product may expire or 
remain in force for only a short period following commercialization, thereby reducing the commercial advantage the patent provides. The patent application 
process is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, and there can be no assurance that we or any of our potential future collaborators will be successful 
in protecting our product candidates by obtaining and defending patents. These risks and uncertainties include but are not limited to the following: 

• the USPTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other 
provisions during the patent process, the noncompliance with which can result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application, and partial or 
complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction; 

• patent applications may not result in any patents being issued; 
• patents may be challenged, invalidated, modified, revoked, circumvented, found to be unenforceable or otherwise may not provide any competitive 

advantage; 
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• our competitors, many of whom have substantially greater resources than we do and many of whom have made significant investments in competing 
technologies, may seek or may have already obtained patents that will limit, interfere with or eliminate our ability to make, use and sell our potential 
product candidates; 

• there may be significant pressure on the U.S. government and international governmental bodies to limit the scope of patent protection both inside and 
outside the United States for disease treatments that prove successful, as a matter of public policy regarding worldwide health concerns; and 

• countries other than the United States may have patent laws less favorable to patentees than those upheld by U.S. courts, allowing foreign competitors 
a better opportunity to create, develop and market competing product candidates. 

The patent prosecution process is also expensive and time-consuming, and we may not be able to file and prosecute all necessary or desirable patent 
applications at a reasonable cost or in a timely manner or in all jurisdictions where protection may be commercially advantageous. It is also possible that 
we will fail to identify patentable aspects of our research and development output before it is too late to obtain patent protection.

The issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its inventorship, scope, validity or enforceability. Our patents may be challenged in the courts or patent 
offices in the United States and abroad, and may be narrowed or invalidated as a result of challenges by third parties.  We may be subject to a third-party 
pre-issuance submission of prior art to the USPTO, or become involved in opposition, derivation, revocation, reexamination, post-grant review, or PGR, 
and inter partes review, or IPR, or other similar proceedings challenging our owned patent rights. An adverse determination in any such submission, 
proceeding or litigation could reduce the scope of, or invalidate or render unenforceable, our patent rights, allow third parties to commercialize our product 
candidates and compete directly with us, without payment to us, or result in our inability to manufacture or commercialize products without infringing 
third-party patent rights. Moreover, our patents may become subject to post-grant challenge proceedings, such as oppositions in a foreign patent office, that 
challenge our priority of invention or other features of patentability with respect to our patents and patent applications. Such challenges may result in loss 
of patent rights, loss of exclusivity or patent claims being narrowed, invalidated or held unenforceable, which could limit our ability to stop others from 
using or commercializing similar or identical technology and products, or limit the duration of the patent protection of our product candidates. Such 
proceedings also may result in substantial cost and require significant time from our scientists and management, even if the eventual outcome is favorable 
to us. In addition, if the breadth or strength of protection provided by our patents and patent applications is threatened, regardless of the outcome, it could 
dissuade companies from collaborating with us to license, develop or commercialize current or future product candidates. 

In addition, although we enter into non-disclosure and confidentiality agreements with parties who have access to patentable aspects of our research and 
development output, such as our employees, outside scientific collaborators, CROs, third-party manufacturers, consultants, advisors and other third parties, 
any of these parties may breach such agreements and disclose such output before a patent application is filed, thereby jeopardizing our ability to seek patent 
protection. 

Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting such candidates might 
expire before or shortly after such candidates are commercialized. As a result, our intellectual property may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude 
others from commercializing products similar or identical to ours.

If the scope of any patent protection we obtain is not sufficiently broad, or if we lose any of our patent protection, our ability to prevent our competitors 
from commercializing similar or identical product candidates would be adversely affected. 

The patent position of biopharmaceutical companies generally is highly uncertain, involves complex legal and factual questions, and has been the subject of 
much litigation in recent years. As a result, the issuance, scope, validity, enforceability and commercial value of our patent rights are highly uncertain. Our 
pending and future patent applications may not result in patents being issued which protect our product candidates or which effectively prevent others from 
commercializing competitive product candidates. 

Moreover, the coverage claimed in a patent application can be significantly reduced before the patent is issued, and its scope can be reinterpreted after 
issuance. Even if patent applications we own currently or in the future issue as patents, they may not issue in a form that will provide us with any 
meaningful protection, prevent competitors or other third parties from competing with us, or otherwise provide us with any competitive advantage. Any 
patents that we own may be challenged or circumvented by third parties or may be narrowed or invalidated as a result of challenges by third parties. 
Consequently, we do not know whether our product candidates will be protectable or remain protected by valid and enforceable patents. Our competitors or 
other third parties may be able to circumvent our patents by developing similar or alternative technologies or products in a non-infringing manner which 
could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 
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The issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its inventorship, scope, validity or enforceability, and our patents may be challenged in the courts or patent 
offices in the United States and abroad. We may be subject to a third-party pre-issuance submission of prior art to the USPTO, or become involved in 
opposition, derivation, revocation, reexamination, post-grant review, or PGR, and inter partes review, or IPR, or other similar proceedings challenging our 
owned patent rights. An adverse determination in any such submission, proceeding or litigation could reduce the scope of, or invalidate or render 
unenforceable, our patent rights, allow third parties to commercialize our product candidates and compete directly with us, without payment to us, or result 
in our inability to manufacture or commercialize products without infringing third-party patent rights. Moreover, our patents may become subject to post-
grant challenge proceedings, such as oppositions in a foreign patent office, that challenge our priority of invention or other features of patentability with 
respect to our patents and patent applications. Such challenges may result in loss of patent rights, loss of exclusivity or patent claims being narrowed, 
invalidated or held unenforceable, which could limit our ability to stop others from using or commercializing similar or identical technology and products, 
or limit the duration of the patent protection of our product candidates. Such proceedings also may result in substantial cost and require significant time 
from our scientists and management, even if the eventual outcome is favorable to us. In addition, if the breadth or strength of protection provided by our 
patents and patent applications is threatened, regardless of the outcome, it could dissuade companies from collaborating with us to license, develop or 
commercialize current or future product candidates. 

Some of our intellectual property has been discovered through government funded programs and thus may be subject to federal regulations such as 
“march-in” rights, certain reporting requirements and a preference for U.S.-based companies. Compliance with such regulations may limit our 
exclusive rights and limit our ability to contract with non-U.S. manufacturers. 

Most of our intellectual property rights, including those for our lead programs, have been generated through the use of U.S. government funding provided 
from SBIR Grants awarded to us prior to 2020 by the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases of the National Institutes of Health, 
and are therefore subject to certain federal regulations. As a result, the U.S. government may have certain rights to intellectual property embodied in our 
current or future product candidates pursuant to the Bayh-Dole Act of 1980, or Bayh-Dole Act. These U.S. government rights include a non-exclusive, non-
transferable, irrevocable worldwide license to use inventions for any governmental purpose. In addition, the U.S. government has the right, under certain 
limited circumstances, to require us to grant exclusive, partially exclusive, or non-exclusive licenses to any of these inventions to a third party if it 
determines that: (i) adequate steps have not been taken to commercialize the invention; (ii) government action is necessary to meet public health or safety 
needs; or (iii) government action is necessary to meet requirements for public use under federal regulations (also referred to as “march-in rights”). The U.S. 
government also has the right to take title to these inventions if we fail to disclose the invention to the government or fail to file an application to register 
the intellectual property within specified time limits. Intellectual property generated under a government funded program is also subject to certain reporting 
requirements, compliance with which may require us to expend substantial resources. In addition, the U.S. government requires that any products 
embodying any of these inventions or produced through the use of any of these inventions be manufactured substantially in the United States. This 
preference for U.S. industry may be waived by the federal agency that provided the funding if the owner or assignee of the intellectual property can show 
that reasonable but unsuccessful efforts have been made to grant licenses on similar terms to potential licensees that would be likely to manufacture 
substantially in the United States or that under the circumstances domestic manufacture is not commercially feasible. This preference for U.S. industry may 
limit our ability to contract with non-U.S. product manufacturers for products covered by such intellectual property. To the extent any of our future 
intellectual property is also generated through the use of U.S. government funding, the provisions of the Bayh-Dole Act may similarly apply.

We may be involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents, which could be expensive, time consuming and unsuccessful. Further, our issued 
patents could be found invalid or unenforceable if challenged in court. 

Competitors may infringe our intellectual property rights. To prevent infringement or unauthorized use, we may be required to file infringement claims, 
which can be expensive and time-consuming. In addition, in a patent infringement proceeding, a court may decide that a patent we own is not valid, is 
unenforceable and/or is not infringed. If we or any of our potential future collaborators were to initiate legal proceedings against a third party to enforce a 
patent directed at one of our product candidates, the defendant could counterclaim that our patent is invalid and/or unenforceable in whole or in part. In 
patent litigation in the United States, defendant counterclaims alleging invalidity and/or unenforceability are commonplace. Grounds for a validity 
challenge include an alleged failure to meet any of several statutory requirements, including but not limited to lack of novelty, obviousness, written 
description or non-enablement. Grounds for an unenforceability assertion could include an allegation that someone connected with prosecution of the 
patent withheld relevant information from the USPTO or made a misleading statement during prosecution. 

Third parties may also raise similar invalidity claims before the USPTO or patent offices abroad, even outside the context of litigation. Such mechanisms 
include re-examination, PGR, IPR, derivation proceedings, and equivalent proceedings in 
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foreign jurisdictions (e.g., opposition proceedings). Such proceedings could result in the revocation of, cancellation of or amendment to our patents in such 
a way that they no longer cover our technology or platform, or any product candidates that we may develop. The outcome following legal assertions of 
invalidity and unenforceability is unpredictable. With respect to the validity question, for example, we cannot be certain that there is no invalidating prior 
art, of which we and the patent examiner were unaware during prosecution. If a third party were to prevail on a legal assertion of invalidity or 
unenforceability, we would lose at least part, and perhaps all, of the patent protection on our technology or platform, or any product candidates that we may 
develop. Such a loss of patent protection would have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 

The outcome following legal assertions of invalidity and/or unenforceability is unpredictable, and prior art could render our patents invalid. There is no 
assurance that all potentially relevant prior art relating to our patents and patent applications has been found. There is also no assurance that there is not 
prior art of which we are aware, but which we do not believe affects the validity or enforceability of a claim in our patents and patent applications, which 
may, nonetheless, ultimately be found to affect the validity or enforceability of a claim. 

If a defendant were to prevail on a legal assertion of invalidity and/or unenforceability, we would lose at least part, and perhaps all, of the patent protection 
on such product candidate. In addition, if the breadth or strength of protection provided by our patents and patent applications is threatened, it could 
dissuade companies from collaborating with us to license, develop or commercialize current or future product candidates. Such a loss of patent protection 
would have a material adverse impact on our business. 

Even if resolved in our favor, litigation or other legal proceedings relating to our intellectual property rights may cause us to incur significant expenses and 
could distract our technical and management personnel from their normal responsibilities. In addition, there could be public announcements of the results 
of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments and if securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have 
a substantial adverse effect on the price of our common stock. Such litigation or proceedings could substantially increase our operating losses and reduce 
the resources available for development activities or any future sales, marketing or distribution activities. We may not have sufficient financial or other 
resources to conduct such litigation or proceedings adequately. Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of such litigation or proceedings 
more effectively than we can because of their greater financial resources. Uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of patent litigation or 
other proceedings could compromise our ability to compete in the marketplace. 

Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation or other legal proceedings relating 
to our intellectual property rights, there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation 
or other proceedings. There could also be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments. If 
securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a material adverse effect on the price of our common stock. In addition, 
the issuance of a patent does not give us the right to practice the patented invention. Third parties may have blocking patents that could prevent us from 
marketing our own patented product and practicing our own patented technology.  

Intellectual property rights do not necessarily address all potential threats to our competitive advantage. 

The degree of future protection afforded by our intellectual property rights is uncertain because intellectual property rights have limitations and may not 
adequately protect our business or permit us to maintain our competitive advantage. For example: 

• others may be able to develop products that are similar to our product candidates but that are not covered by the claims of the patents that we own; 
• we might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by the issued patents or patent application that we own; 
• we might not have been the first to file patent applications covering certain of our inventions; 
• others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies without infringing our intellectual property 

rights; 
• it is possible that our pending patent applications will not lead to issued patents; 
• issued patents that we own may be held invalid or unenforceable, as a result of legal challenges by our competitors; 
• our competitors might conduct research and development activities in countries where we do not have patent rights and then use the information 

learned from such activities to develop competitive products for sale in our major commercial markets; 
• we may not develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable; and 
• the patents of others may have an adverse effect on our business. 

Should any of these events occur, it could significantly harm our business, results of operations and prospects. 
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Our commercial success depends significantly on our ability to operate without infringing the patents and other proprietary rights of third parties. 
Claims by third parties that we infringe their proprietary rights may result in liability for damages or prevent or delay our developmental and 
commercialization efforts. 

Our commercial success depends in part on avoiding infringement of the patents and proprietary rights of third parties. However, our research, 
development and commercialization activities may be subject to claims that we infringe or otherwise violate patents or other intellectual property rights 
owned or controlled by third parties. Other entities may have or obtain patents or proprietary rights that could limit our ability to make, use, sell, offer for 
sale or import our product candidates and products that may be approved in the future, or impair our competitive position. There is a substantial amount of 
litigation, both within and outside the United States, involving patent and other intellectual property rights in the biopharmaceutical industry, including 
patent infringement lawsuits, oppositions, reexaminations, IPR proceedings and PGR proceedings before the USPTO and/or corresponding foreign patent 
offices. Numerous third-party U.S. and foreign issued patents and pending patent applications exist in the fields in which we are developing product 
candidates. There may be third-party patents or patent applications with claims to materials, formulations, methods of manufacture or methods for 
treatment related to the use or manufacture of our product candidates. 

As the biopharmaceutical industry expands and more patents are issued, the risk increases that our product candidates may be subject to claims of 
infringement of the patent rights of third parties. Because patent applications are maintained as confidential for a certain period of time, until the relevant 
application is published, we may be unaware of third-party patents that may be infringed by commercialization of any of our product candidates, and we 
cannot be certain that we were the first to file a patent application related to a product candidate or technology. Moreover, because patent applications can 
take many years to issue, there may be currently pending patent applications that may later result in issued patents that our product candidates may infringe. 
In addition, identification of third-party patent rights that may be relevant to our technology is difficult because patent searching is imperfect due to 
differences in terminology among patents, incomplete databases and the difficulty in assessing the meaning of patent claims. There is also no assurance that 
there is not prior art of which we are aware, but which we do not believe is relevant to our business, which may, nonetheless, ultimately be found to limit 
our ability to make, use, sell, offer for sale or import our products that may be approved in the future, or impair our competitive position. In addition, third 
parties may obtain patents in the future and claim that use of our technologies infringes upon these patents. Any claims of patent infringement asserted by 
third parties would be time consuming and could: 

• result in costly litigation that may cause negative publicity; 
• divert the time and attention of our technical personnel and management; 
• cause development delays; 
• prevent us from commercializing any of our product candidates until the asserted patent expires or is held finally invalid or not infringed in a court of 

law; 
• require us to develop non-infringing technology, which may not be possible on a cost-effective basis; 
• subject us to significant liability to third parties; or 
• require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements, which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, or which might be 

non-exclusive, which could result in our competitors gaining access to the same technology. 

Although no third party has asserted a claim of patent infringement against us as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, others may hold 
proprietary rights that could prevent our product candidates from being marketed. Any patent-related legal action against us claiming damages and seeking 
to enjoin commercial activities relating to our products or processes could subject us to potential liability for damages, including treble damages if we were 
determined to willfully infringe, and require us to obtain a license to manufacture or market our product candidates. Defense of these claims, regardless of 
their merit, would involve substantial litigation expense and would be a substantial diversion of employee resources from our business. We cannot predict 
whether we would prevail in any such actions or that any license required under any of these patents would be made available on commercially acceptable 
terms, if at all. Moreover, even if we or our future strategic partners were able to obtain a license, the rights may be nonexclusive, which could result in our 
competitors gaining access to the same intellectual property. In addition, we cannot be certain that we could redesign our product candidates or processes to 
avoid infringement, if necessary. Accordingly, an adverse determination in a judicial or administrative proceeding, or the failure to obtain necessary 
licenses, could prevent us from developing and commercializing our product candidates, which could harm our business, financial condition and operating 
results. In addition, intellectual property litigation, regardless of its outcome, may cause negative publicity and could prohibit us from marketing or 
otherwise commercializing our product candidates and technology. 

Parties making claims against us may be able to sustain the costs of complex patent litigation more effectively than we can because they have substantially 
greater resources. Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation or administrative 
proceedings, there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure. In addition, any uncertainties resulting from the 
initiation and continuation 
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of any litigation could have material adverse effect on our ability to raise additional funds or otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business, 
results of operations, financial condition and prospects. 

Intellectual property litigation may lead to unfavorable publicity that harms our reputation and causes the market price of our common shares to 
decline. 

During the course of any intellectual property litigation, there could be public announcements of the initiation of the litigation as well as results of hearings, 
rulings on motions, and other interim proceedings in the litigation. If securities analysts or investors regard these announcements as negative, the perceived 
value of our existing products, programs or intellectual property could be diminished. Accordingly, the market price of shares of our common stock may 
decline. Such announcements could also harm our reputation or the market for our future products, which could have a material adverse effect on our 
business. 

Derivation proceedings may be necessary to determine priority of inventions, and an unfavorable outcome may require us to cease using the related 
technology or to attempt to license rights from the prevailing party. 

Derivation proceedings provoked by third parties or brought by us or declared by the USPTO may be necessary to determine the priority of inventions with 
respect to our patents or patent applications. An unfavorable outcome could require us to cease using the related technology or to attempt to license rights 
to it from the prevailing party. Our business could be harmed if the prevailing party does not offer us a license on commercially reasonable terms. Our 
defense of derivation proceedings may fail and, even if successful, may result in substantial costs and distract our management and other employees. In 
addition, the uncertainties associated with such proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our ability to raise the funds necessary to continue our 
clinical trials, continue our research programs, license necessary technology from third parties or enter into development or manufacturing partnerships that 
would help us bring our product candidates to market. 

Changes in U.S. patent law, or laws in other countries, could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our 
product candidates. 

As is the case with other pharmaceutical companies, our success is heavily dependent on intellectual property, particularly patents. Obtaining and enforcing 
patents in the pharmaceutical industry involve a high degree of technological and legal complexity. Therefore, obtaining and enforcing pharmaceutical 
patents is costly, time consuming and inherently uncertain. Changes in either the patent laws or in the interpretations of patent laws in the United States and 
other countries may diminish the value of our intellectual property and may increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of patent 
applications and the enforcement or defense of issued patents. We cannot predict the breadth of claims that may be allowed or enforced in our patents or in 
third-party patents. In addition, Congress or other foreign legislative bodies may pass patent reform legislation that is unfavorable to us. 

For example, the U.S. Supreme Court has ruled on several patent cases in recent years, either narrowing the scope of patent protection available in certain 
circumstances or weakening the rights of patent owners in certain situations. In addition to increasing uncertainty with regard to our ability to obtain 
patents in the future, this combination of events has created uncertainty with respect to the value of patents, once obtained. Depending on decisions by the 
U.S. Congress, the U.S. federal courts, the USPTO, or similar authorities in foreign jurisdictions, the laws and regulations governing patents could change 
in unpredictable ways that would weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to enforce our existing patents and patents we might obtain in the future. 

We may be subject to claims challenging the inventorship or ownership of our patents and other intellectual property. 

We may also be subject to claims that former employees or other third parties have an ownership interest in our patents or other intellectual property. 
Litigation may be necessary to defend against these and other claims challenging inventorship or ownership. If we fail in defending any such claims, in 
addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights. Such an outcome could have a material adverse effect on our 
business. Even if we are successful in defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and distraction to management and other 
employees. 

Patent terms may be inadequate to protect our competitive position on our product candidates for an adequate amount of time. 

Patents have a limited lifespan. In the United States, if all maintenance fees are timely paid, the natural expiration of a patent is generally 20 years from its 
earliest U.S. non-provisional filing date. Various extensions may be available, but the life of a patent, and the protection it affords, is limited. Even if 
patents covering our product candidates are obtained, once the patent life has expired, we may be open to competition from competitive products. Given the 
amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting such candidates might expire 
before or shortly after such candidates are commercialized. As a result, our patent portfolio may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others from 
commercializing products similar or identical to ours. 
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If we do not obtain patent term extension for our product candidates, our business may be materially harmed. 

Depending upon the timing, duration and specifics of FDA marketing approval of our product candidates, one or more of our U.S. patents may be eligible 
for limited patent term restoration under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, or the Hatch-Waxman Amendments. The 
Hatch-Waxman Amendments permit a patent restoration term of up to five years as compensation for patent term lost during product development and the 
FDA regulatory review process. A maximum of one patent may be extended per FDA approved product as compensation for the patent term lost during the 
FDA regulatory review process. A patent term extension cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years from the date of product 
approval and only those claims covering such approved drug product, a method for using it or a method for manufacturing it may be extended. Patent term 
extension may also be available in certain foreign countries upon regulatory approval of our product candidates. However, we may not be granted an 
extension because of, for example, failing to apply within applicable deadlines, failing to apply prior to expiration of relevant patents or otherwise failing to 
satisfy applicable requirements. Moreover, the applicable time period or the scope of patent protection afforded could be less than we request. If we are 
unable to obtain patent term extension or restoration or the term of any such extension is less than we request, our competitors may obtain approval of 
competing products following our patent expiration, and our revenue could be reduced, possibly materially. Further, if this occurs, our competitors may 
take advantage of our investment in development and trials by referencing our clinical and preclinical data and launch their product earlier than might 
otherwise be the case. 

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world. 

Filing, prosecuting and defending patents in all countries throughout the world could be prohibitively expensive, and our intellectual property rights in 
some countries outside the United States can be less extensive than those in the United States. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect 
intellectual property rights to the same extent as federal and state laws in the United States. Consequently, we may not be able to prevent third parties from 
practicing our inventions in all countries outside the United States or from selling or importing products made using our inventions in and into the United 
States or other jurisdictions. Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent protection to develop their own 
products and, further, may export otherwise infringing products to territories where we have patent protection, but enforcement is not as strong as that in 
the United States. These products may compete with our product candidates, and our patents or other intellectual property rights may not be effective or 
sufficient to prevent them from competing. 

Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in foreign jurisdictions. The legal systems 
of many foreign countries do not favor the enforcement of patents and other intellectual property protection, which could make it difficult for us to stop the 
infringement of our patents or marketing of competing products in violation of our proprietary rights. Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign 
jurisdictions could result in substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business, could put our patents at risk of being 
invalidated or interpreted narrowly and our patent applications at risk of not issuing and could provoke third parties to assert claims against us. We may not 
prevail in any lawsuits that we initiate, and the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially meaningful. Accordingly, our efforts 
to enforce our intellectual property rights around the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellectual property 
that we develop or license. 

Many countries have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner may be compelled to grant licenses to third parties. In addition, many 
countries limit the enforceability of patents against government agencies or government contractors. In these countries, the patent owner may have limited 
remedies, which could materially diminish the value of such patent. If we are forced to grant a license to third parties with respect to any patents relevant to 
our business, our competitive position may be impaired, and our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may be adversely 
affected. 

Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, documentary, fee payment and other requirements 
imposed by regulations and governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these 
requirements. 

Periodic maintenance fees, renewal fees, annuity fees and various other governmental fees on patents and/or applications will be due to the USPTO and 
various foreign patent offices at various points over the lifetime of our patents and/or applications. We have systems in place to remind us to pay these fees, 
and we rely on our outside patent annuity service to pay these fees when due. Additionally, the USPTO and various foreign patent offices, require 
compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions during the patent application process. We employ 
reputable law firms and other professionals to help us comply, and in many cases, an inadvertent lapse can be cured by payment of a late fee or by other 
means in accordance with rules applicable to the particular jurisdiction. However, there are situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or 
lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of 
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patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. If such an event were to occur, it could have a material adverse effect on our business. 

If our trademarks and trade names are not adequately protected, then we may not be able to build name recognition in our markets of interest and our 
business may be adversely affected. 

Even though we have filed three trademark registration applications in the USPTO, we cannot be certain that our registered or unregistered U.S. trademarks 
or trade names, or the corresponding trademarks or trade names registered in foreign territories, will not be challenged, infringed, circumvented or declared 
generic or determined to be infringing on other marks. We may not be able to protect our rights to these trademarks and trade names, which we need to 
build name recognition among potential partners or customers in our markets of interest. At times, competitors may adopt trade names or trademarks 
similar to ours, thereby impeding our ability to build brand identity and possibly leading to market confusion. In addition, there could be potential trade 
name or trademark infringement claims brought by owners of other registered trademarks or trademarks that incorporate variations of our registered or 
unregistered trademarks or trade names. Over the long term, if we are unable to establish name recognition based on our trademarks and trade names, then 
we may not be able to compete effectively, and our business may be adversely affected. Our efforts to enforce or protect our proprietary rights related to 
trademarks, trade secrets, domain names, copyrights or other intellectual property may be ineffective and could result in substantial costs and diversion of 
resources and could adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations. 

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, our business and competitive position would be harmed. 

In addition, we rely on the protection of our trade secrets, including unpatented know-how, technology and other proprietary information to maintain our 
competitive position. Although we have taken steps to protect our trade secrets and unpatented know-how, including entering into confidentiality 
agreements with third parties, and confidential information and inventions agreements with employees, consultants and advisors, we cannot provide any 
assurances that all such agreements have been duly executed, and any of these parties may breach the agreements and disclose our proprietary information, 
including our trade secrets, and we may not be able to obtain adequate remedies for such breaches. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or 
misappropriated a trade secret is difficult, expensive and time-consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, some courts inside and outside the 
United States are less willing or unwilling to protect trade secrets. 

Moreover, third parties may still obtain this information or may come upon this or similar information independently, and we would have no right to 
prevent them from using that technology or information to compete with us. If any of these events occurs or if we otherwise lose protection for our trade 
secrets, the value of this information may be greatly reduced, and our competitive position would be harmed. If we do not apply for patent protection prior 
to such publication or if we cannot otherwise maintain the confidentiality of our proprietary technology and other confidential information, then our ability 
to obtain patent protection or to protect our trade secret information may be jeopardized. 

We may be subject to claims that we have wrongfully hired an employee from a competitor or that we or our employees have wrongfully used or 
disclosed alleged confidential information or trade secrets of their former employers. 

As is common in the pharmaceutical industry, in addition to our employees, we engage the services of consultants to assist us in the development of our 
product candidates. Many of these consultants, and many of our employees, were previously employed at, or may have previously provided or may be 
currently providing consulting services to, other pharmaceutical companies including our competitors or potential competitors. We may become subject to 
claims that we, our employees or a consultant inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or other information proprietary to their former 
employers or their former or current clients. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. If we fail in defending any such claims, in addition 
to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel, which could adversely affect our business. Even if we are 
successful in defending against these claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to our management team and other employees. 

Risks related to our common stock 

An active, liquid and orderly market for our common stock may not be maintained. 

Our common stock began trading on the Nasdaq Global Select Market, or Nasdaq, in 2018, and we can provide no assurance that we will be able to 
maintain an active trading market for our common stock. The lack of an active market may impair your ability to sell your shares at the time you wish to 
sell them or at a price that you consider reasonable. An inactive market may also impair our ability to raise capital by selling shares and may impair our 
ability to acquire other businesses or technologies using our shares as consideration, which, in turn, could materially adversely affect our business. 

The trading price of the shares of our common stock could be highly volatile, and purchasers of our common stock could incur substantial losses. 
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Our stock price has been and is likely to be volatile. The stock market in general and the market for stock of pharmaceutical companies in particular have 
experienced extreme volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. As a result of this volatility, investors 
may not be able to sell their common stock at or above the price at which they paid. The market price for our common stock may be influenced by those 
factors discussed in this “Risk factors” section and many others, including: 

• our ability to enroll subjects in our ongoing and planned clinical trials; 
• results of our clinical trials and preclinical studies, and the results of trials of our competitors or those of other companies in our market sector; 
• regulatory approval of our product candidates, or limitations to specific label indications or patient populations for its use, or changes or delays in the 

regulatory review process; 
• regulatory developments in the United States and foreign countries; 
• changes in the structure of healthcare payment systems, especially in light of current reforms to the U.S. healthcare system; 
• the success or failure of our efforts to acquire, license or develop additional product candidates; 
• innovations or new products developed by us or our competitors; 
• announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments; 
• manufacturing, supply or distribution delays or shortages; 
• any changes to our relationship with any manufacturers, suppliers, future collaborators or other strategic partners; 
• achievement of expected product sales and profitability; 
• variations in our financial results or those of companies that are perceived to be similar to us; 
• market conditions in the pharmaceutical sector and issuance of securities analysts’ reports or recommendations; 
• trading volume of our common stock; 
• an inability to obtain additional funding; 
• sales of our stock by insiders and stockholders; 
• general economic, industry and market conditions or other events or factors, many of which are beyond our control, such as the COVID-19 pandemic 

and the military conflict between Russia and Ukraine; 
• additions or departures of key personnel; and 
• intellectual property, product liability or other litigation against us. 

In addition, in the past, stockholders have initiated class action lawsuits against pharmaceutical companies following periods of volatility in the market 
prices of these companies’ stock. Such litigation, if instituted against us, could cause us to incur substantial costs and divert management’s attention and 
resources, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Our failure to meet the continued listing requirements of the Nasdaq Global Select Market could result in a delisting of our common stock. 

If we fail to satisfy the continued listing requirements of the Nasdaq Global Select Market, such as the corporate governance requirements or the minimum 
closing bid price requirement, Nasdaq may take steps to delist our common stock. Such a delisting would likely have a negative effect on the price of our 
common stock and would impair your ability to sell or purchase our common stock when you wish to do so. In the event of a delisting, we can provide no 
assurance that any action taken by us to restore compliance with listing requirements would allow our common stock to become listed again, stabilize the 
market price or improve the liquidity of our common stock, prevent our common stock from dropping below the Nasdaq minimum bid price requirement or 
prevent future non-compliance with Nasdaq’s listing requirements. 

Our executive officers, directors and principal stockholders, if they choose to act together, have the ability to control or significantly influence all 
matters submitted to stockholders for approval. 

Our executive officers, directors and greater than 5% stockholders, in the aggregate, own approximately 52% of our outstanding common stock as of 
March 25, 2022. As a result, such persons, acting together, have the ability to control or significantly influence all matters submitted to our stockholders for 
approval, including the election and removal of directors and approval of any significant transaction, as well as our management and business affairs. This 
concentration of ownership may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control, impeding a merger, consolidation, takeover or 
other business combination involving us, or discouraging a potential acquiror from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control of our 
business, even if such a transaction would benefit other stockholders.

We do not currently intend to pay dividends on our common stock, and, consequently, your ability to achieve a return on your investment will depend 
on appreciation, if any, in the price of our common stock. 
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We have never declared or paid any cash dividend on our common stock. We currently anticipate that we will retain future earnings for the development, 
operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends for the foreseeable future. In addition, the terms of 
any future debt agreements may preclude us from paying dividends. Any return to stockholders will therefore be limited to the appreciation of their stock. 
There is no guarantee that shares of our common stock will appreciate in value or even maintain the price at which stockholders have purchased their 
shares. 

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock by our existing stockholders in the public market could cause our stock price to fall. 

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market or the perception that these sales might occur could significantly reduce 
the market price of our common stock and impair our ability to raise adequate capital through the sale of additional equity securities. 

The holders of 4,022,131 shares of our outstanding common stock, or approximately 8% of our total outstanding common stock as of March 25, 2022, are 
entitled to rights with respect to the registration of their shares under the Securities Act. Registration of these shares under the Securities Act would result 
in the shares becoming freely tradable without restriction under the Securities Act, except for shares held by affiliates, as defined in Rule 144 under the 
Securities Act. Sales of securities by these stockholders could have a material adverse effect on the trading price of our common stock. 

We are an emerging growth company and a smaller reporting company, and the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to such companies may 
make our common stock less attractive to investors. 

We are an emerging growth company, as defined in the JOBS Act, and a smaller reporting company, as defined under the rules promulgated under the 
Securities Act. We may remain an emerging growth company until the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the completion of our 
initial public offering, or IPO. However, if certain events occur prior to the end of such five-year period, including if we become a “large accelerated filer,” 
our annual gross revenues exceed $1.07 billion or we issue more than $1.0 billion of non-convertible debt in any three-year period, we will cease to be an 
emerging growth company prior to the end of such five-year period. For so long as we remain an emerging growth company, we are permitted and intend to 
rely on exemptions from certain disclosure requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies. These 
exemptions include: 

• not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements in the assessment of our internal control over financial reporting; 
• not being required to comply with any requirement that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding mandatory 

audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report providing additional information about the audit and the financial statements; 
• reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation; and 
• exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and shareholder approval of any golden 

parachute payments not previously approved. 

In addition, the JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of an extended transition period for complying with new or 
revised accounting standards. This allows an emerging growth company to delay the adoption of these accounting standards until they would otherwise 
apply to private companies. We have irrevocably elected not to avail ourselves of this exemption and, therefore, we will be subject to the same new or 
revised accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies.

We are also a smaller reporting company, and we will remain a smaller reporting company until the fiscal year following the determination that our voting 
and non‑voting common shares held by non‑affiliates is more than $250 million measured on the last business day of our second fiscal quarter, or our 
annual revenues are more than $100 million during the most recently completed fiscal year and our voting and non‑voting common shares held by 
non‑affiliates is more than $700 million measured on the last business day of our second fiscal quarter. Similar to emerging growth companies, smaller 
reporting companies are able to provide simplified executive compensation disclosure and have certain other reduced disclosure obligations, including, 
among other things, being required to provide only two years of audited financial statements and not being required to provide selected financial data, 
supplemental financial information or risk factors.

We may choose to take advantage of some, but not all, of the available exemptions for emerging growth companies and smaller reporting companies. We 
cannot predict whether investors will find our common stock less attractive if we rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less 
attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be reduced or more volatile. 

Provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could discourage a takeover that stockholders may consider favorable and may lead to 
entrenchment of management. 
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Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could significantly reduce the value of our 
shares to a potential acquiror or delay or prevent changes in control or changes in our management without the consent of our board of directors. The 
provisions in our charter documents include the following: 

• a classified board of directors with three-year staggered terms, which may delay the ability of stockholders to change the membership of a majority of 
our board of directors; 

• no cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates; 
• the exclusive right of our board of directors, unless the board of directors grants such right to the stockholders, to elect a director to fill a vacancy 

created by the expansion of the board of directors or the resignation, death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to 
fill vacancies on our board of directors; 

• the required approval of at least 66-2/3% of the shares entitled to vote to remove a director for cause, and the prohibition on removal of directors 
without cause; 

• the ability of our board of directors to authorize the issuance of shares of preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms of those shares, 
including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquiror; 

• the ability of our board of directors to alter our amended and restated bylaws without obtaining stockholder approval; 
• the required approval of at least 66-2/3% of the shares entitled to vote to adopt, amend or repeal our amended and restated bylaws or repeal the 

provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation regarding the election and removal of directors; 
• a prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or special meeting of our 

stockholders; 
• an exclusive forum provision providing that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the exclusive forum for certain actions and 

proceedings; 
• the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by the board of directors, which may delay the ability of our stockholders to 

force consideration of a proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors; and 
• advance notice procedures that stockholders must comply with in order to nominate candidates to our board of directors or to propose matters to be 

acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which may discourage or deter a potential acquiror from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the 
acquiror’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us. 

We are also subject to the anti-takeover provisions contained in Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. Under Section 203, a corporation 
may not, in general, engage in a business combination with any holder of 15% or more of its capital stock unless the holder has held the stock for three 
years or, among other exceptions, the board of directors has approved the transaction. 

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware 
will be the exclusive forum for substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders, and our amended and restated bylaws provide that the 
federal district courts shall be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act, 
which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees. 

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the 
exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty, any action asserting a claim 
against us arising pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation Law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and restated 
bylaws, or any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine; provided, however, that this exclusive forum provision 
would not apply to suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Securities Act or the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal 
courts have exclusive jurisdiction. Furthermore, our amended and restated bylaws also provide that unless we consent in writing to the selection of an 
alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States shall be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action 
arising under the Securities Act. These provisions may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes 
with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and other employees. 
Alternatively, if a court were to find this provision in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws to be 
inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could adversely 
affect our business and financial condition. 

Our ability to use net operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes may be limited. 

We have incurred substantial losses during our history, do not expect to become profitable in the near future, and may never achieve profitability. To the 
extent that we continue to incur losses for tax purposes, or NOLs, such NOLs will carry forward 
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to offset future taxable income, if any, until such NOLs expire (if subject to expiration). As of December 31, 2021, we had federal, state and foreign NOLs 
of approximately $209.4 million, $216.0 million and $1.3 million, respectively. The federal NOLs generated in taxable years beginning after December 31, 
2017 of $203.1 million will carry forward indefinitely, but can be used to offset up to 80% of taxable income in a given taxable year, while those NOLs 
generated in taxable years beginning prior to January 1, 2018 begin expiring in 2035, unless previously utilized, but are not subject to the 80% annual 
limitation on use. $0.2 million of the state loss carryforwards will carryforward indefinitely. The remaining state NOLs begin expiring in 2035, unless 
previously utilized. Our foreign NOLs do not expire. We also have federal and California R&D credit carryforwards totaling $6.3 million and $4.1 million, 
respectively. The federal credits will begin to expire in 2030, unless previously utilized, while the state credits do not expire. We also have federal Orphan 
Drug credit carryforwards totaling $5.7 million which will begin to expire in 2041 unless previously utilized.

Our NOLs and other tax attributes (including tax credits) are subject to review and possible adjustment by the Internal Revenue Service and state tax 
authorities. Moreover, in general, under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, a corporation that undergoes 
an “ownership change” is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-ownership change NOLs or tax credits to offset future taxable income or 
income tax liabilities, respectively. For these purposes, an ownership change generally occurs where the aggregate change in stock ownership of one or 
more stockholders or groups of stockholders owning at least 5% of a corporation’s stock exceeds 50 percentage points over a rolling three-year period. If 
finalized, Treasury Regulations currently proposed under Section 382 of the Code may further limit our ability to utilize our pre-ownership change NOLs 
or tax credits if we undergo a such a future ownership change. Similar rules may apply under state or foreign tax laws. During 2020, we completed a study 
to assess whether any ownership changes within the meaning of Section 382 of the Code had occurred with respect to us for the time period prior to July 
15, 2020. The study identified ownership changes during the fourth quarter of 2015, the first quarter of 2018 and the second quarter of 2020.  These 
ownership changes have subjected, and will continue to subject, our NOLs and tax credits to an annual limitation on their utilization. However, our NOLs 
and tax credits are not expected to expire unused assuming we have taxable income or income tax liabilities in future periods. Although we do not expect 
these limitations to constrain utilization of our NOLs or tax credits, such limitations could result in the expiration of our NOLs or tax credits before they 
can be utilized and, if we are profitable, our future cash flows could be adversely affected due to our increased tax liability. In addition, future changes in 
our stock ownership, many of which are outside of our control, could result in additional ownership changes and further annual limitations. We have 
recorded a full valuation allowance related to our NOLs and other deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty of the ultimate realization of the future benefits 
of those assets. 

General risk factors

We and any of our third-party manufacturers and suppliers may use potent chemical agents and hazardous materials, and any claims relating to 
improper handling, storage or disposal of these materials could be time consuming or costly. 

We and any of our third-party manufacturers or suppliers will use biological materials, potent chemical agents and may use hazardous materials, including 
chemicals and biological agents and compounds that could be dangerous to human health and safety of the environment. Our operations and the operations 
of our third-party manufacturers and suppliers also produce hazardous waste products. Federal, state and local laws and regulations govern the use, 
generation, manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of these materials and wastes. Compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations may 
be expensive, and current or future environmental laws and regulations may impair our product development efforts. In addition, we cannot eliminate the 
risk of accidental injury or contamination from these materials or wastes. We do not carry specific biological or hazardous waste insurance coverage, and 
our property, casualty and general liability insurance policies specifically exclude coverage for damages and fines arising from biological or hazardous 
waste exposure or contamination. In the event of contamination or injury, we could be held liable for damages or be penalized with fines in an amount 
exceeding our resources, and our clinical trials or regulatory approvals could be suspended. 

Although we maintain workers’ compensation insurance for certain costs and expenses we may incur due to injuries to our employees resulting from the 
use of hazardous materials or other work-related injuries, this insurance may not provide adequate coverage against potential liabilities. We do not maintain 
insurance for toxic tort claims that may be asserted against us in connection with our storage or disposal of biologic, hazardous or radioactive materials. 

In addition, we may incur substantial costs in order to comply with current or future environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, which have 
tended to become more stringent over time. These current or future laws and regulations may impair our research, development or production efforts. 
Failure to comply with these laws and regulations also may result in substantial fines, penalties or other sanctions or liabilities, which could materially 
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 

Our internal computer systems, or those of any of our CROs, manufacturers, other contractors or consultants or potential future collaborators, may 
fail or suffer security breaches, which could result in a material disruption of our product development programs. 
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Despite the implementation of security measures, our internal computer systems and those of our current and any future CROs and other contractors, 
consultants and collaborators are vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, cybersecurity threats, unauthorized access, natural disasters, terrorism, war 
and telecommunication and electrical failures. Attacks upon information technology systems are increasing in their frequency, levels of persistence, 
sophistication and intensity, and are being conducted by sophisticated and organized groups and individuals with a wide range of motives and expertise. As 
a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we may also face increased cybersecurity risks due to our reliance on internet technology and the number of our 
employees who are working remotely, which may create additional opportunities for cybercriminals to exploit vulnerabilities. Furthermore, because the 
techniques used to obtain unauthorized access to, or to sabotage, systems change frequently and often are not recognized until launched against a target, we 
may be unable to anticipate these techniques or implement adequate preventative measures. We may also experience security breaches that may remain 
undetected for an extended period. If such an event were to occur and cause interruptions in our operations, it could result in a material disruption of our 
development programs and our business operations, whether due to a loss of our trade secrets or other similar disruptions. For example, the loss of clinical 
trial data from completed or future clinical trials could result in delays in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or 
reproduce the data. We also rely on third parties to manufacture our product candidates, and similar events relating to their computer systems could also 
have a material adverse effect on our business. To the extent that any disruption or security breach were to result in a loss of, or damage to, our data or 
applications, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, we could incur liability and the further development and 
commercialization of our product candidates could be delayed. 

Business disruptions could seriously harm our future revenue and financial condition and increase our costs and expenses. 

Our operations could be subject to earthquakes, power shortages, telecommunications failures, water shortages, floods, hurricanes, typhoons, fires, extreme 
weather conditions, medical epidemics and other natural or manmade disasters or business interruptions, for which we are predominantly self-insured. We 
rely on third- party manufacturers to produce our product candidates. Our ability to obtain clinical supplies of our product candidates could be disrupted if 
the operations of these suppliers were affected by a man-made or natural disaster or other business interruption. In addition, our corporate headquarters is 
located in San Diego, California near major earthquake faults and fire zones, and the ultimate impact on us of being located near major earthquake faults 
and fire zones and being consolidated in a certain geographical area is unknown. The occurrence of any of these business disruptions could seriously harm 
our operations and financial condition and increase our costs and expenses. 

Unstable market and economic conditions may have serious adverse consequences on our business, financial condition and stock price.

The global credit and financial markets have from time to time experienced extreme volatility and disruptions, including severely diminished liquidity and 
credit availability, declines in consumer confidence, declines in economic growth, increases in unemployment rates and uncertainty about economic 
stability. The financial markets and the global economy may also be adversely affected by the current or anticipated impact of military conflict, including 
the conflict between Russia and Ukraine, terrorism or other geopolitical events. Sanctions imposed by the United States and other countries in response to 
such conflicts, including the one in Ukraine, may also adversely impact the financial markets and the global economy, and any economic countermeasures 
by the affected countries or others could exacerbate market and economic instability. There can be no assurance that further deterioration in credit and 
financial markets and confidence in economic conditions will not occur. Our general business strategy may be adversely affected by any such economic 
downturn, volatile business environment or continued unpredictable and unstable market conditions. If the current equity and credit markets deteriorate, it 
may make any necessary debt or equity financing more difficult, more costly and more dilutive. Failure to secure any necessary financing in a timely 
manner and on favorable terms could have a material adverse effect on our growth strategy, financial performance and stock price and could require us to 
delay or abandon clinical development plans. In addition, there is a risk that one or more of our current service providers, manufacturers and other partners 
may not survive an economic downturn, which could directly affect our ability to attain our operating goals on schedule and on budget.

We are subject to U.S. and certain foreign export and import controls, sanctions, embargoes, anti-corruption laws and anti-money laundering laws and 
regulations. Compliance with these legal standards could impair our ability to compete in domestic and international markets. We can face criminal 
liability and other serious consequences for violations, which can harm our business. 

We are subject to export control and import laws and regulations, including the U.S. Export Administration Regulations, U.S. Customs regulations, and 
various economic and trade sanctions regulations administered by the U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Controls, and anti-corruption 
and anti-money laundering laws and regulations, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, the U.S. domestic bribery statute 
contained in 18 U.S.C. § 201, the U.S. Travel Act, the USA PATRIOT Act, and other state and national anti-bribery and anti-money laundering laws in the 
countries in which we conduct activities. Anti-corruption laws are interpreted broadly and prohibit companies and their 
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employees, agents, clinical research organizations, contractors and other collaborators and partners from authorizing, promising, offering, providing, 
soliciting or receiving, directly or indirectly, improper payments or anything else of value to recipients in the public or private sector. We may engage third 
parties for clinical trials outside of the United States, to sell our products abroad once we enter a commercialization phase, and/or to obtain necessary 
permits, licenses, patent registrations and other regulatory approvals. We have direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of government 
agencies or government-affiliated hospitals, universities and other organizations. We can be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of our 
employees, agents, clinical research organizations, contractors and other collaborators and partners, even if we do not explicitly authorize or have actual 
knowledge of such activities. Any violations of the laws and regulations described above may result in substantial civil and criminal fines and penalties, 
imprisonment, the loss of export or import privileges, debarment, tax reassessments, breach of contract and fraud litigation, reputational harm and other 
consequences. 

Furthermore, U.S. export control laws and economic sanctions prohibit the provision of certain products and services to countries, governments, and 
persons targeted by U.S. sanctions. U.S. sanctions that have been or may be imposed as a result of military conflicts in other countries may impact our 
ability to continue activities at clinical trial sites within regions covered by such sanctions. For example, as a result of the military conflict between Russia 
and Ukraine, the United States and its European allies have recently announced the imposition of sanctions on certain industry sectors and parties in Russia 
and the regions of Donetsk and Luhansk in Ukraine, as well as enhanced export controls on certain products and industries. These and any additional 
sanctions and export controls, as well as any economic countermeasures by the governments of Russia or other jurisdictions, could adversely impact our 
ability to continue activities at clinical trial sites within regions covered by such sanctions or directly or indirectly disrupt our supply chain. If we fail to 
comply with export and import regulations and such economic sanctions, penalties could be imposed, including fines and/or denial of certain export 
privileges.

We incur significant costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management will be required to devote substantial time to new 
compliance initiatives. 

As a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses. We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, which 
require, among other things, that we file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to 
our business and financial condition. In addition, Sarbanes-Oxley, as well as rules subsequently adopted by the SEC, and Nasdaq to implement provisions 
of Sarbanes-Oxley, impose significant requirements on public companies, including requiring establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and 
financial controls and changes in corporate governance practices. Further, pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 
2010, the SEC has adopted additional rules and regulations in these areas, such as mandatory “say on pay” voting requirements that will apply to us when 
we cease to be an emerging growth company. Stockholder activism, the current political environment and the current high level of government intervention 
and regulatory reform may lead to substantial new regulations and disclosure obligations, which may lead to additional compliance costs and impact the 
manner in which we operate our business in ways we cannot currently anticipate. 

The rules and regulations applicable to public companies have increased and may continue to increase our legal and financial compliance costs and to make 
some activities more time-consuming and costly. If these requirements divert the attention of our management and personnel from other business concerns, 
they could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. The increased costs will decrease our net income or 
increase our net loss and may require us to reduce costs in other areas of our business. For example, in recent periods obtaining director and officer liability 
insurance has become more expensive, and we may be required to continue to incur substantial costs to maintain the same or similar coverage. We cannot 
predict or estimate the amount or timing of additional costs we may incur to respond to these requirements. The impact of these requirements could also 
make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors, our board committees or as executive officers. 

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports or publish unfavorable research or reports about our business, our stock price and 
trading volume could decline. 

The trading market for our common stock depends in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us, our business, our 
market or our competitors. We currently have limited research coverage by securities and industry analysts. If securities or industry analysts do not 
continue coverage of our company, the trading price for our stock would be negatively impacted. In the event one or more of the analysts who covers us 
downgrades our stock, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts ceases to cover us or fails to regularly publish reports on us, 
interest in our stock could decrease, which could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline. 

If we fail to maintain proper and effective internal control over financial reporting, our ability to produce accurate and timely financial statements 
could be impaired, investors may lose confidence in our financial reporting and the trading price of our common stock may decline. 
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Pursuant to Section 404 of Sarbanes-Oxley, our management is required to report upon the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. 
When we lose our status as an “emerging growth company,” unless we are no longer an accelerated filer, our independent registered public accounting firm 
will be required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. The rules governing the standards that must be met for 
management to assess our internal control over financial reporting are complex and require significant documentation, testing and possible remediation. To 
comply with the requirements of being a reporting company under the Exchange Act, we have been required to upgrade our information technology 
systems; implement additional financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures; and hire additional accounting and finance staff. If 
we or, if required, our auditors are unable to conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, investors may lose confidence in our 
financial reporting and the trading price of our common stock may decline. 

Although we have determined that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2021, we cannot assure you that there will 
not be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting in the future. Any failure to maintain internal control 
over financial reporting could severely inhibit our ability to accurately report our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. If we are unable to 
conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our independent registered public accounting firm determines we have a 
material weakness or significant deficiency in our internal control over financial reporting once that firm begin its Section 404 reviews, investors may lose 
confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, the market price of our common stock could decline, and we could be subject to 
sanctions or investigations by Nasdaq, the SEC or other regulatory authorities. Failure to remedy any material weakness in our internal control over 
financial reporting, or to implement or maintain other effective control systems required of public companies, could also restrict our future access to the 
capital markets. 

Changes in tax laws may impact our financial condition and results of operations.

New income, sales, use or other tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations or ordinances could be enacted at any time, or interpreted, changed, modified or 
applied adversely to us, any of which could adversely affect our business operations and financial performance. In particular, the United States government 
may enact significant changes to the taxation of business entities including, among others, a permanent increase in the corporate income tax rate, an 
increase in the tax rate applicable to the global intangible low-taxed income and elimination of certain exemptions, and the imposition of minimum taxes or 
surtaxes on certain types of income. We are currently unable to predict whether such changes will occur and, if so, the ultimate impact on our business. To 
the extent that such changes have a negative impact on us, our suppliers or our customers, including as a result of related uncertainty, these changes may 
materially and adversely impact our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We could be subject to securities class action litigation. 

In the past, securities class action litigation has often been brought against a company following a decline in the market price of its securities. This risk is 
especially relevant for us because pharmaceutical companies have experienced significant stock price volatility in recent years. If we face such litigation, it 
could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and resources, which could harm our business.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters consists of a 29,499 square foot facility in San Diego, California. We use our corporate headquarters primarily for corporate, 
research, development, clinical, regulatory, manufacturing and quality functions. Our lease for this facility expires in August 2025, with the option to 
extend the term of the lease for an additional five years, subject to certain conditions. 

We believe that our facilities are adequate to meet our current needs, and that suitable additional alternative spaces will be available in the future on 
commercially reasonable terms, if required. 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings. From time to time, we may be involved in legal proceedings or subject to claims incident to 
the ordinary course of business. Regardless of the outcome, such proceedings or claims can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement 
costs, diversion of resources and other factors, and there can be no assurances that favorable outcomes will be obtained. 
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Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

None.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 

Market Information

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the ticker symbol “CRNX.”

Holders of Common Stock

As of March 25, 2022, there were 13 registered holders of record of our common stock.  This number was derived from our shareholder records and does 
not include beneficial owners of our common stock whose shares are held in the name of various dealers, clearing agencies, banks, brokers and other 
fiduciaries.

Dividend Policy 

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. We intend to retain future earnings, if any, to finance the operation of our business 
and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination related to dividend policy will be made at the discretion 
of our board of directors after considering our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, business prospects and other factors the board 
of directors deems relevant, and subject to the restrictions contained in any future financing instruments. 

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans 

See Item 12 of Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for information about our equity compensation plans which is incorporated by reference herein. 

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities 

None.

Use of Proceeds

On July 17, 2018, the SEC declared effective our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-225824), as amended, filed in connection with our IPO. 
The IPO closed on July 20, 2018 and we issued and sold 6,900,000 shares of our common stock at a price to the public of $17.00 per share, which included 
the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares. We received gross proceeds from the IPO of $117.3 million, before deducting 
underwriting discounts and commissions of approximately $8.2 million and estimated offering expenses of approximately $2.6 million. The managing 
underwriters of the offering were J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Leerink Partners LLC and Piper Jaffray & Co. No offering expenses were paid or are 
payable, directly or indirectly, to our directors or officers, to persons owning 10% or more of any class of our equity securities or to any of our affiliates.

As of December 31, 2021, we have used all of the proceeds from our IPO for general corporate purposes, including the development of paltusotine as well 
as for the preclinical and clinical development of our other development programs. There was no material change in the use of such proceeds from that 
described in the prospectus for our IPO.

Issuer Repurchases of Equity Securities 

None. 
 

Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 
You should read the following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and 
the notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K generally discusses 2021 and 
2020 items and year-to-year comparisons between 2021 and 2020. Discussions of 2019 items and year-to-year comparisons between 2020 and 2019 that 
are not included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K can be found in the section entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations” in Part II, Item 7 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Overview 
We are a clinical-stage pharmaceutical company focused on the discovery, development and commercialization of novel therapeutics for rare endocrine 
diseases and endocrine-related tumors. Endocrine pathways function to maintain homeostasis and commonly use peptide hormones acting through G 
protein coupled receptors, or GPCRs, to regulate many aspects of physiology including growth, energy, metabolism, gastrointestinal function and stress 
responses. We have assembled a seasoned team with extensive expertise in drug discovery and development in endocrine GPCRs and built a highly 
productive drug discovery organization. We have discovered a pipeline of oral nonpeptide (small molecule) new chemical entities that target peptide 
GPCRs to treat a variety of rare endocrine diseases where treatment options have significant efficacy, safety and/or tolerability limitations. Our product 
candidates include paltusotine (formerly CRN00808), which is in clinical development for the treatment of acromegaly and neuroendocrine tumors, or 
NETs, CRN04777, which is in clinical development for congenital hyperinsulinism, or HI, and CRN04894, which is in clinical development for diseases of 
excess adrenocorticotrophic hormone, or ACTH, including Cushing’s Disease, congenital adrenal hyperplasia, and Ectopic ACTH Syndrome. We are 
advancing additional product candidates through preclinical discovery and development studies in parallel. Our vision is to build the leading endocrine 
company which consistently pioneers new therapeutics to help patients better control their disease and improve their daily lives.

We focus on the discovery and development of oral nonpeptide therapeutics that target peptide GPCRs with well-understood biological functions, validated 
biomarkers and the potential to substantially improve the treatment of endocrine diseases and/or endocrine-related tumors. 

To date, we have devoted substantially all of our resources to drug discovery, conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials, obtaining and maintaining 
patents related to our product candidates, licensing activities, and the provision of general and administrative support for these operations. We have 
recognized revenues from various research and development grants and our Collaboration and License agreement with Radionetics, or the CLA, but do not 
have any products approved for sale and have not generated any product sales. We have funded our operations to date primarily through our grant revenues, 
the private placement of our preferred stock, and sales of our common stock. As of December 31, 2021, we had unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and 
investment securities of $333.7 million.

We have incurred cumulative net losses since our inception and, as of December 31, 2021, we had an accumulated deficit of $275.3 million. Our net losses 
may fluctuate significantly from quarter-to-quarter and year-to-year, depending on the timing of our clinical trials and preclinical studies and our 
expenditures on other research and development activities. We expect our expenses and operating losses will increase substantially as we conduct our 
ongoing and planned clinical trials, continue our research and development activities and conduct preclinical studies, hire additional personnel, protect our 
intellectual property and incur costs associated with being a public company, including audit, legal, regulatory, and tax-related services associated with 
maintaining compliance with exchange listing and Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, requirements, director and officer insurance premiums, 
and investor relations costs.

We do not expect to generate any revenues from product sales unless and until we successfully complete development and obtain regulatory approval for 
one or more of our product candidates, which we expect will take a number of years. If we obtain regulatory approval for any of our product candidates, we 
expect to incur significant commercialization expenses related to product sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution. Accordingly, until such time as 
we can generate significant revenue from sales of our product candidates, if ever, we expect to finance our cash needs through equity offerings, debt 
financings or other capital sources, including potentially collaborations, licenses and other similar arrangements. However, we may be unable to raise 
additional funds or enter into such other arrangements when needed on favorable terms or at all. Our failure to raise capital or enter into such other 
arrangements when needed would have a negative impact on our financial condition and could force us to delay, scale back or discontinue the development 
of our existing product candidates or our efforts to expand our product pipeline.

Australian operations

In January 2017, we established Crinetics Australia Pty Ltd, or CAPL, a wholly-owned subsidiary which was formed to conduct various preclinical and 
clinical activities for our product and development candidates. We believe CAPL will be 
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eligible for certain financial incentives made available by the Australian government for research and development expenses. Specifically, the Australian 
Taxation Office provides for a refundable tax credit in the form of a cash refund equal to 43.5% of qualified research and development expenditures under 
the Australian Research and Development Tax Incentive Program, or the Australian Tax Incentive, to Australian companies that operate the majority of 
their research and development activities associated with such projects in Australia. A wholly-owned Australian subsidiary of a non-Australian parent 
company is eligible to receive the refundable tax credit, provided that the Australian subsidiary retains the rights to the data and intellectual property 
generated in Australia, and provided that the total revenues of the parent company and its consolidated subsidiaries during the period for which the 
refundable tax credit is claimed are less than $20.0 million Australian dollars. If we lose our ability to operate CAPL in Australia, or if we are ineligible or 
unable to receive the research and development tax credit, or the Australian government significantly reduces or eliminates the tax credit, the actual refund 
amounts we receive may differ from our estimates.

COVID-19

As we continue to actively advance our programs, we are in close contact with our principal investigators and clinical sites and continue to assess any 
impacts of the ongoing COVID-19 global pandemic on our drug manufacturing, nonclinical activities, and clinical trials, expected timelines, and costs on 
an ongoing basis. In light of the COVID-19 pandemic, and consistent with the FDA’s updated industry guidance for conducting clinical trials issued on 
March 18, 2020, and updated most recently on January 27, 2021, clinical trials may be deprioritized in favor of treating patients who have contracted the 
virus or to prevent the spread of the virus. The direct and indirect impacts of COVID-19 on our business could alter our forecasted timelines. In addition, in 
response to the spread of COVID-19, we have limited the number of staff in our offices. We will continue to evaluate the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic on our business.

Financial operations overview

Revenues

To date, all of our revenue has been derived from grant awards and licenses. We have not generated any revenues from the commercial sale of approved 
products, and we do not expect to generate revenues from the commercial sale of our product candidates for at least the foreseeable future, if ever. 

License revenues    

License revenues for 2021 were derived from the majority equity stake obtained in Radionetics pursuant to the CLA, under which Radionetics was granted 
an exclusive world-wide license to our radiotherapeutics technology platform and associated intellectual property for the development of radiotherapeutics 
and related radio-imaging agents.

Grant revenues

Grant revenues for 2020 and 2019 were derived from Small Business Innovation Research Grants, or SBIR Grants, awarded to us by the National Institute 
of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases of the National Institutes of Health. There were no grant revenues in 2021. We do not currently have any 
active SBIR Grants nor do we expect grant revenues to be a material source of future funding.

Research and development

To date, our research and development expenses have related primarily to discovery efforts and preclinical and clinical development of our product 
candidates. Research and development expenses are recognized as incurred and payments made prior to the receipt of goods or services to be used in 
research and development are capitalized until the goods or services are received.

Research and development expenses include:

• salaries, payroll taxes, employee benefits, and stock-based compensation charges for those individuals involved in research and development 
efforts; 

• external research and development expenses incurred under agreements with contract research organizations, or CROs, investigative sites and 
consultants to conduct our clinical trials and preclinical and nonclinical studies;

• costs related to manufacturing our product candidates for clinical trials and preclinical studies, including fees paid to third-party manufacturers;
• costs related to compliance with regulatory requirements; 
• laboratory supplies; and
• facilities, depreciation and other allocated expenses for rent, facilities maintenance, insurance, equipment and other supplies.

We recognize the Australian Tax Incentive as a reduction of research and development expense. The amounts are determined based on eligible research and 
development expenditures. The Australian Tax Incentive is recognized when there is 
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reasonable assurance that the Australian Tax Incentive will be received, the relevant expenditure has been incurred, and the amount of the Australian Tax 
Incentive can be reliably measured.

Our direct research and development expenses consist principally of external costs, such as fees paid to CROs, investigative sites and consultants in 
connection with our clinical trials, preclinical and non-clinical studies, and costs related to manufacturing clinical trial materials. The majority of our third-
party expenses during the three years ended December 31, 2021 related to the research and development of paltusotine. We deploy our personnel and 
facility related resources across all of our research and development activities.

Our clinical development costs may vary significantly based on factors such as: 

• per patient trial costs;
• the number of trials required for approval;
• the number of sites included in the trials;
• the countries in which the trials are conducted;
• the length of time required to enroll eligible patients;
• the number of patients that participate in the trials;
• number of doses that patients receive;
• drop-out or discontinuation rates of patients;
• potential additional safety monitoring requested by regulatory agencies;
• the duration of patient participation in the trials and follow-up;
• the cost and timing of manufacturing our product candidates;
• the phase of development of our product candidates; and
• the efficacy and safety profile of our product candidates.

We plan to substantially increase our research and development expenses for the foreseeable future as we continue the development of our product 
candidates and the discovery of new product candidates. We cannot determine with certainty the timing of initiation, the duration or the completion costs of 
current or future preclinical studies and clinical trials of our product candidates due to the inherently unpredictable nature of preclinical and clinical 
development. Clinical and preclinical development timelines, the probability of success and development costs can differ materially from expectations. We 
anticipate that we will make determinations as to which product candidates to pursue and how much funding to direct to each product candidate on an 
ongoing basis in response to the results of ongoing and future preclinical studies and clinical trials, regulatory developments and our ongoing assessments 
as to each product candidate’s commercial potential. We will need to raise substantial additional capital in the future. In addition, we cannot forecast which 
product candidates may be subject to future collaborations, when such arrangements will be secured, if at all, and to what degree such arrangements would 
affect our development plans and capital requirements.

General and administrative

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and employee-related costs, including stock-based compensation, for personnel in 
executive, finance and other administrative functions. Other significant costs include facility-related costs, legal fees relating to intellectual property and 
corporate matters, professional fees for accounting and consulting services, insurance costs, and commercial planning expenses. We anticipate that our 
general and administrative expenses will increase in the future to support our continued research and development activities and, if any of our product 
candidates receive marketing approval, commercialization activities. We also anticipate increased expenses related to audit, legal, regulatory, and tax-
related services associated with maintaining compliance with exchange listing and SEC requirements, director and officer insurance premiums, and 
investor relations costs associated with operating as a public company.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our consolidated financial statements, which 
have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities in our consolidated financial statements. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including those 
listed below. We base our estimates on historical experience, known trends and events, information received from third parties and various other factors that 
we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. There 
were no material differences between estimates and actual results for the years presented in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
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While our significant accounting policies are described in more detail in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, we believe the following accounting policies and estimates to be most critical to the preparation of our consolidated financial 
statements. 

Accrued expenses 

As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements, we are required to estimate our accrued expenses as of each balance sheet date. 
This process involves reviewing open contracts and purchase orders, communicating with our personnel to identify services that have been performed on 
our behalf and estimating the level of service performed and the associated cost incurred for the service when we have not yet been invoiced or otherwise 
notified of the actual cost. We make estimates of our accrued expenses as of each balance sheet date based on facts and circumstances known to us at that 
time. We periodically confirm the accuracy of our estimates with the service providers and make adjustments if necessary. The significant estimates in our 
accrued research and development expenses include the costs incurred for services performed by our vendors in connection with research and development 
activities for which we have not yet been invoiced. 

We base our expenses related to research and development activities on our estimates of the services received and efforts expended pursuant to quotes and 
contracts with vendors that conduct research and development on our behalf. The financial terms of these agreements are subject to negotiation, vary from 
contract to contract and may result in uneven payment flows. There may be instances in which payments made to our vendors will exceed the level of 
services provided and result in a prepayment of the research and development expense. In accruing service fees, we estimate the time period over which 
services will be performed and the level of effort to be expended in each period. If the actual timing of the performance of services or the level of effort 
varies from our estimate, we adjust the accrual or prepaid expense accordingly. Advance payments for goods and services that will be used in future 
research and development activities are expensed when the activity has been performed or when the goods have been received rather than when the 
payment is made. 

Although we do not expect our estimates to be materially different from amounts actually incurred, if our estimates of the status and timing of services 
performed differ from the actual status and timing of services performed, it could result in us reporting amounts that are too high or too low in any 
particular period. To date, there have been no material differences between our estimates of such expenses and the amounts actually incurred. 

Stock-based compensation expense 

Stock-based compensation expense represents the cost of the estimated grant date fair value of stock option awards and employee stock purchase plan 
rights amortized over the requisite service period of the awards (usually the vesting period) on a straight-line basis. We estimate the fair value of all stock 
award grants using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and recognize forfeitures as they occur. 

Estimating the fair value of equity awards as of the grant date using valuation models, such as the Black-Scholes option pricing model, is affected by 
assumptions regarding a number of complex variables, including the expected stock price volatility, the risk-free interest rate, the expected term of stock 
options, the expected dividend yield and the fair value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. Changes in the assumptions can materially 
affect the fair value and ultimately how much stock-based compensation expense is recognized. These inputs are subjective and generally require 
significant analysis and judgment to develop. 

Due to the lack of an adequate history of a public market for the trading of our common stock and a lack of adequate company-specific historical and 
implied volatility data, we have based our estimate of expected volatility on the historical volatility of a group of similar companies that are publicly traded.  
For these analyses, we have selected companies with comparable characteristics to ours, including enterprise value, risk profiles, and position within the 
industry, and with historical share price information sufficient to meet the expected life of the stock-based awards. We compute the historical volatility data 
using the daily close prices for the selected companies’ shares during the equivalent period of the calculated expected term of our stock-based awards. We 
will continue to apply this process until sufficient historical information regarding the volatility of our common stock price becomes available. We have 
estimated the expected life of our employee stock options using the “simplified” method, whereby the expected life equals the average of the vesting term 
and the original contractual term of the option.  The expected term for employee stock purchase plan awards represents the term the awards are expected to 
be outstanding.  The risk-free interest rates for periods within the expected life of the awards are based on the yields of zero-coupon U.S. treasury 
securities.  

Equity Method Investment 

We first analyze our investment in another entity to determine if the entity is a variable interest entity, or VIE, and if so, whether we are the primary 
beneficiary requiring consolidation. An entity is considered a VIE if (1) the entity does not have enough equity to finance its own activities without 
additional support, (2) the entity’s at-risk equity holders lack the characteristics of a controlling financial interest, or (3) the entity is structured with non-
substantive voting rights. VIEs are consolidated by the primary beneficiary, which is the entity that has both the power to direct the activities that most 
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significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance and the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that potentially could 
be significant to the VIE. Variable interests in a VIE can be contractual, ownership, or other financial interests. We re-assess our investment upon 
reconsideration events to determine whether we are the primary beneficiary of the VIE, in which case we would consolidate the VIE. If it has been 
determined that we are not the primary beneficiary or do not have control but do have the ability to exercise significant influence over the VIE, we account 
for the unconsolidated investment under the equity method of accounting. 

Radionetics is considered to be a VIE due to its insufficient equity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support. We maintain 
an equity interest in Radionetics and account for our investment under the equity method of accounting as we are not the primary beneficiary of 
Radionetics but have the ability to exercise significant influence. The valuation method and primary inputs used in valuing the Radionetics investment are 
discussed below under Revenue Recognition. We record our share of Radionetics income (loss) outside of operations in the statements of operations and 
comprehensive loss on a quarterly lag. Since our investment in Radionetics was obtained on October 15, 2021, we will record its share of income (loss) 
beginning in the first quarter of 2022.

Valuation of Financial Instruments 

Investment Securities 

We hold investment securities that consist of highly liquid, investment grade debt securities. We determine the fair value of our investment securities based 
upon one or more valuations reported by its investment accounting and reporting service provider. The investment service provider values the securities 
using a hierarchical security pricing model that relies primarily on valuations provided by an industry-recognized valuation service. Such valuations may be 
based on trade prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 inputs) or valuation models using inputs that are observable either directly 
or indirectly (Level 2 inputs), such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, yield curves, volatility factors, credit spreads, default rates, loss severity, 
current market and contractual prices for the underlying instruments or debt, and broker and dealer quotes, as well as other relevant economic measures.

Derivative Asset

Derivatives are recorded at fair value and changes in fair value are recorded through the statements of operations and comprehensive loss each period. We 
have a single derivative instrument, a warrant from Radionetics, or the Radionetics Warrant, to purchase the greater of 3,407,285 additional shares of 
common stock or the number of additional shares of common stock that would allow us to maintain an aggregate equity interest of 22% of the fully diluted 
capitalization of Radionetics. We record the Radionetics Warrant as long-term on the balance sheets due to the lack of marketability, such that it is not 
expected to be available for current operations. Changes in fair value of the Radionetics Warrant are recognized in other income (expense) in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

The valuation method and primary inputs used in valuing the Radionetics Warrant are discussed below under revenue recognition. Such valuation is based 
on valuations provided by a third-party valuation specialist using unobservable inputs due to little to no market data (Level 3 inputs). There were no 
material changes in the inputs or total the valuation of the Radionetics Warrant between October 15, 2021 (date of the warrant) and December 31, 2021.

Revenue Recognition

We have generated revenue from the CLA, as well as from grants from government agencies. We have recognized revenues when, or as, the promised 
goods or services are transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which we expect to be entitled in exchange for those services. 
To determine revenue recognition for arrangements, we perform the following five steps: (1) identify the contract(s) with a customer; (2) identify the 
performance obligation(s) in the contract; (3) determine the transaction price; (4) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligation(s) in the 
contract; and (5) recognize revenue when (or as) the performance obligation(s) are satisfied. At contract inception, we assess the goods or services 
promised within each contract, assess whether each promised good or service is distinct and identify those that are performance obligations. We recognize 
as revenue the amount of the transaction price that is allocated to the respective performance obligation when, or as, the performance obligation is satisfied.

We consider a variety of factors in determining the appropriate estimates and assumptions under the arrangements, such as whether the elements are distinct 
performance obligations, whether there are observable stand-alone prices, and whether the license is functional or symbolic. We evaluate each performance 
obligation to determine if it can be satisfied and recognized as revenue at a point in time or over time. 

Collaboration and License Agreement 

We have entered into the CLA, which includes the following: (i) upfront noncash considerations; (ii) payments associated with achieving certain 
milestones; and (iii) royalties based on specified percentages of net product sales, if any. At the 
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initiation of an agreement, we analyze each unit of account within the contract to determine if the counterparty is a customer in the context of the unit of 
account.

Under the CLA, we will not be supporting or maintaining the intellectual property and do not plan on continuing to undertake those activities from which 
the utility of the intellectual property is derived. The collaborative provisions per the CLA are deemed to be protective measures for the advancement of the 
technology and not deemed to be a separate performance obligation. Our performance obligation under the CLA consisted of the license and know-how of 
the technology. 

The upfront noncash considerations consist of the initial common stock investment in Radionetics and the Radionetics Warrant and are fixed considerations 
for functional intellectual property as it exists at a point in time, being the time that the CLA was executed. Revenues for sales-based royalties and 
milestones are recognized at the later of the subsequent sale or satisfaction of the performance obligation.

We engaged a third-party valuation specialist to determine the estimated fair value of these upfront noncash considerations received. The valuation 
specialist utilized a cost approach to determine the implied value of Radionetics' equity since it was newly formed with early development stage technology 
from the CLA for which there are not reliable long-term forecasts. Next, the total equity value was allocated to various share classes using the current value 
method and option pricing method. The current value method allocates the value of the business to the shareholders' given consideration of senior 
obligations such as debt, equity certificates and other preferred equity. The option pricing method entails allocating the total shareholders’ equity value to 
the various share classes based upon their respective claims on a series of call options with strike prices at various value levels depending upon the rights 
and preferences of each class. 

Estimating the fair value of the Radionetics common stock and Radionetics Warrant is affected by assumptions regarding a number of complex variables, 
including the expected term for a liquidity event, the risk-free interest rate and stock price volatility. Changes in the assumptions can materially affect the 
value of license revenues, initial investment in Radionetics, and the Radionetics Warrant. These inputs are subjective and generally require significant 
analysis and judgment to develop. 

We estimated the expected term based on the expected time to a liquidity event. The risk-free interest rate was based on the yields of zero-coupon U.S. 
treasury securities. Volatility was estimated based upon an analysis of historical equity and asset volatilities of companies deemed comparable to 
Radionetics. The valuation amounts were adjusted by a discount for lack of marketability to account for the lack of liquidity an owner of the interest would 
experience for common stock in an early-stage company.

Grant Revenue Recognition 

Our grant revenues are derived from SBIR Grants. Our performance obligation under SBIR Grants consists of research activities and we recognize SBIR 
Grants revenue over time as reimbursable grant costs are incurred up to pre-approved award limits within the budget period. The costs associated with these 
reimbursements are reflected as a component of research and development expense.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (in thousands):

   Year ended December 31,   Dollar  
   2021   2020    Change  

Revenues:          
License revenues  $ 1,078   $ —    $ 1,078  
Grant revenues   —    71    (71 )
Total revenues   1,078     71     1,007  
Operating expenses:              
Research and development    84,255     56,998     27,257  
General and administrative    24,525     18,026     6,499  
Total operating expenses    108,780     75,024     33,756  
Loss from operations    (107,702 )    (74,953 )   (32,749 )
Other income (expense), net    61     1,141    (1,080 )
Net loss  $ (107,641 )  $ (73,812 )  $ (33,829 )
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License Revenues.     License revenues relate to upfront noncash considerations and totaled $1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. Our license 
revenue is associated with the CLA, which was entered into during the fourth quarter of 2021. There were no license revenues during the year ended 
December 31, 2020.

Grant revenues.     Grant revenues relate to reimbursable expenses incurred in connection with our SBIR Grants and totaled $71,000 for the year ended 
December 31, 2020. Our 2020 revenues were primarily associated with research activities for one SBIR Grant, which was completed during the first 
quarter of 2020. There were no grant revenues during the year ended December 31, 2021. We do not expect grant revenues to be significant in future 
periods.

Research and development expenses.     Research and development expenses were $84.3 million and $57.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 
and 2020, respectively. The increase was primarily due to increased spending on manufacturing and development activities of $13.5 million associated with 
our clinical and nonclinical activities for paltusotine and our other clinical and preclinical research programs. Additionally, our 2021 results reflect an 
increase in costs of $12.3 million primarily due to the hiring of additional personnel (which includes $4.4 million of additional stock-based compensation), 
expenditures for consulting and outside services of $0.8 million and other corporate expenditures of $0.4 million.

General and administrative expenses.     General and administrative expenses were $24.5 million and $18.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 
and 2020, respectively. The increase was primarily due to increases in personnel-related costs of $4.5 million (which includes $2.5 million of additional 
stock-based compensation) and spending on recruiting, consulting and professional services and pre-commercialization activities of $2.1 million.

Other income (expense).     Other income (expense), net was $0.1 million and $1.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 
The decrease resulted from the impact of foreign currency fluctuations and a reduction of the income generated by our investment securities portfolio due 
to declining market yields available for such securities.

Cash Flows

We have incurred cumulative net losses and negative cash flows from operations since our inception and anticipate we will continue to incur net losses for 
the foreseeable future. As of December 31, 2021, we had an accumulated deficit of $275.3 million and unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and investment 
securities of $333.7 million.

The following table provides information regarding our cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2021 (in thousands):
  Years ended December 31,
  2021   2020   
Net cash used in operating activities  $ (88,588 )  $ (62,027 )  
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities   (56,483 )   217   
Net cash provided by financing activities   252,679    114,571   
Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash  $ 107,608   $ 52,761   

Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020        

Operating Activities.     Net cash used in operating activities was $88.6 million and $62.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively. The increase in cash used in operations was primarily attributable to development and manufacturing activities associated with paltusotine as 
well as our other clinical and preclinical programs, and higher personnel-related costs. The net cash used in operating activities during the year ended 
December 31, 2021 was primarily due to our net loss of $107.6 million, adjusted for $18.0 million of noncash charges, including stock-based 
compensation, depreciation expense, noncash license revenues, and a $1.1 million change in our operating assets and liabilities. The net cash used in 
operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily due to our net loss of $73.8 million adjusted for $11.4 million of noncash 
charges, including stock-based compensation and depreciation expense and a $0.4 million change in our operating assets and liabilities.

Investing activities.      Investing activities consist primarily of purchases and maturities of investment securities and, to a lesser extent, the cash outflow 
associated with purchases of property and equipment. Such activities resulted in net cash outflows of approximately $56.5 million and net cash inflows of 
approximately $0.2 million during 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Financing activities.    Net cash provided by financing activities was $252.7 million and $114.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively. The net cash provided by financing activities during 2021 was primarily the result of the net proceeds of $234.6 million from the sale of 
shares of common stock in our follow-on public offerings in April 2021 and October 2021, as well as $15.0 million from the sale of shares through our 
Private Placement, as defined 
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below, in July 2021 and $3.1 million from the exercise of common stock options. The net cash provided by financing activities during 2020 was primarily 
the result of the net proceeds of $107.9 million from the sale of shares of common stock in our public offering in April 2020, as well as $6.4 million from 
the sale of shares in our ATM Offering, as defined below, and $0.3 million from the exercise of common stock options.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2021, we had unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and investment securities of $333.7 million. Based on our current and anticipated level 
of operations, we believe that our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments will be sufficient to meet our anticipated obligations for at least one 
year from the date this Annual Report on Form 10-K is filed with the SEC. However, our forecast of the period of time through which our financial 
resources will be adequate to support our operations is a forward-looking statement that involves risks and uncertainties, and actual results could vary 
materially. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could use our capital resources sooner than we expect. 
Additionally, the process of testing product candidates in clinical trials is costly, and the timing of progress and expenses in these trials is uncertain.

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:

• the type, number, scope, progress, expansions, results, costs and timing of, our preclinical studies and clinical trials of our product candidates 
which we are pursuing or may choose to pursue in the future;

• the costs and timing of manufacturing for our product candidates, including commercial manufacturing if any product candidate is approved;
• the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates;
• the costs of obtaining, maintaining and enforcing our patents and other intellectual property rights;
• our efforts to enhance operational systems and hire additional personnel to satisfy our obligations as a public company, including enhanced 

internal controls over financial reporting;
• the costs associated with hiring additional personnel and consultants as our preclinical and clinical activities increase; 
• the timing and the extent of any Australian Tax Incentive refund and future grant revenues that we receive;
• the costs and timing of establishing or securing sales and marketing capabilities if any product candidate is approved;
• our ability to achieve sufficient market acceptance, adequate coverage and reimbursement from third-party payors and adequate market share and 

revenue for any approved products;
• the terms and timing of establishing and maintaining collaborations, licenses and other similar arrangements;
• costs associated with any products or technologies that we may in-license or acquire;
• the funding of any co-development arrangements we enter into; and
• our ability to participate in future equity offering by Radionetics, including our option to exercise our warrant for the purchase of Radionetics 

stock.

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenues to support our cost structure, we expect to finance our cash needs through equity 
offerings, debt financings or other capital sources, including potentially collaborations, licenses and other similar arrangements. To the extent that we raise 
additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, the ownership interest of our stockholders will be or could be diluted, and the 
terms of these securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect the rights of our common stockholders. Debt financing and 
preferred equity financing, if available, may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as 
incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends. If we raise funds through collaborations, licenses and other similar 
arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or product 
candidates or grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us and/or may reduce the value of our common stock. If we are unable to raise additional 
funds through equity or debt financings when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development or future 
commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and market our product candidates even if we would otherwise prefer to develop and market such 
product candidates ourselves.

In August 2019, we entered into a Sales Agreement, or the Sales Agreement, with SVB Leerink LLC and Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., or collectively, the Sales 
Agents, under which we may, from time to time, sell shares of our common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $75.0 million through the 
Sales Agents, or the ATM Offering. Sales of our common stock made pursuant to the Sales Agreement will be made directly on or through the Nasdaq 
Global Select Market under our effective shelf Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed on August 19, 2019 by means of ordinary brokers’ transactions at 
market prices. Additionally, under the terms of the Sales Agreement, we may also sell shares of our common stock through the Sales Agents, on the Nasdaq 
Global Select Market or otherwise, at negotiated prices or at prices related to the prevailing 
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market price. We are not obligated to, and we cannot provide any assurances that we will continue to, make any sales of the shares under the Sales 
Agreement. The Sales Agreement may be terminated by either Sales Agent (with respect to itself) or us at any time upon 10 days’ notice to the other 
parties, or by either Sales Agent, with respect to itself, at any time in certain circumstances, including the occurrence of a material adverse change. We will 
pay the Sales Agents a commission for their services in acting as agent in the sale of common stock in an amount equal to 3% of the gross sales price per 
share sold. During 2020, we issued 275,764 shares of common stock in the ATM Offering for net proceeds of $6.4 million, after deducting commissions. 
No shares were issued under the ATM Offering during the year ended December 31, 2021.

On April 17, 2020, we completed a public offering of 8,222,500 shares of our common stock at a public offering price of $14.00 per share. We received 
proceeds of approximately $107.9 million from that offering, net of offering discounts and commissions and offering costs of $7.3 million.

On April 12, 2021, we completed an underwritten follow-on offering of 4,562,044 shares of our common stock at a price to the public of $16.44 per share. 
Proceeds from the offering were approximately $72.6 million, net of underwriting discounts and commissions and offering costs of $2.4 million.

On July 28, 2021, we entered into a stock purchase agreement for the private placement of 851,306 shares of our common stock at a price of $17.62 per 
share, or the Private Placement, which shares were issued on July 30, 2021. The Private Placement yielded net proceeds of $15.0 million.

on August 10, 2021, we filed a universal shelf registration statement with the SEC for the future sale of an unlimited amount of common stock, preferred 
stock, debt securities, depositary shares, warrants and rights, and the resale of up to 851,306 shares by the investor who purchased shares in the Private 
Placement. The securities may be offered from time to time, separately or together, directly by us, by selling security holders, or through underwriters, 
dealers or agents at amounts, prices, interest rates and other terms to be determined at the time of the offering.

On October 21, 2021, we completed an underwritten follow-on offering of 8,712,400 shares of our common stock at a price to the public of $19.80 per 
share.  Proceeds from the offering were approximately $162.0 million, net of underwriting discounts and commissions and offering costs of $10.5 million. 
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk

Our cash, cash equivalents and investment securities consist of cash held in readily available checking and money market accounts, as well as short-term 
debt securities. We are exposed to market risk related to fluctuations in interest rates and market prices. Our primary exposure to market risk is interest rate 
sensitivity, which is affected by changes in the general level of United States interest rates. However, because of the short-term nature of the instruments in 
our portfolio, a sudden change in market interest rates would not be expected to have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations.

Foreign Currency

We contract with vendors, CROs and investigational sites in several foreign countries, including countries in South America, Europe and the Asia Pacific. 
We are therefore subject to fluctuations in foreign currency rates in connection with these agreements. We do not hedge our foreign currency exchange rate 
risk. To date, we have not incurred any material adverse effects from foreign currency changes on these contracts.

In January 2017, we formed CAPL, a wholly-owned subsidiary in Australia, which exposes us to foreign currency exchange rate risk. The functional 
currency of CAPL is the United States dollar. Assets and liabilities of our foreign subsidiary that are not denominated in the functional currency are 
remeasured into U.S. dollars at foreign currency exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date except for nonmonetary assets and capital accounts, 
which are remeasured at historical foreign currency exchange rates in effect at the date of transaction. Expenses are generally remeasured at foreign 
currency exchange rates which approximate average rates in effect during each period. Net realized and unrealized gains and losses from foreign currency 
transactions and remeasurement are reported in other income (expense), net, in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss and 
totaled approximately $107,000 and $160,000 for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

As of December 31, 2021, the impact of a theoretical 10% change in the exchange rate of the Australian dollar would not result in a material gain or loss. 

Inflation Risk

Inflation generally affects us by increasing our cost of labor and clinical trial costs. We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our results 
of operations during the periods presented.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our consolidated financial statements and the report of our independent registered accounting firm required pursuant to this item are incorporated by 
reference herein from the applicable information included in Item 15 of this report and are presented beginning on page F-1.

Item 9. Changes and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is 
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and 
communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions 
regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and 
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management 
is necessarily required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. In addition, the design of any 
system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will 
succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, control may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 
the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements 
due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
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As of December 31, 2021, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal 
executive officer and principal financial officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in 
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act. Based on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded 
that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of December 31, 2021.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under the supervision and with the participation of 
our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. Our internal control over financial reporting 
includes those policies and procedures that: (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions 
and dispositions of our assets, (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with GAAP, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors, 
and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have 
a material effect on our financial statements. Because of its inherent limitations, internal controls over financial reporting may not prevent or detect all 
misstatements.  Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement 
preparation and presentation.

As of December 31, 2021, our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting using the criteria set forth by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013). Based on this assessment, our 
management concluded that, as of December 31, 2021, our internal control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria. 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2021 that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Information required by this item will be contained in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in 
connection with our 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, or the Definitive Proxy Statement, which is expected to be filed not later than 120 days after 
the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, under the headings “Election of Directors,” “Corporate Governance,” “Our Executive Officers,” and, 
if applicable, “Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports,” and is incorporated herein by reference.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to our officers, directors and employees, which is available on our website at 
www.crinetics.com. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics contains general guidelines for conducting the business of our company consistent with the 
highest standards of business ethics and is intended to qualify as a “code of ethics” within the meaning of Section 406 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
and Item 406 of Regulation S-K. In addition, we intend to promptly disclose (i) the nature of any amendment to our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 
that applies to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller or persons performing similar functions 
and (ii) the nature of any waiver, including an implicit waiver, from a provision of our code of ethics that is granted to one of these specified officers, the 
name of such person who is granted the waiver and the date of the waiver on our website in the future. 

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Information required by this item will be contained in our Definitive Proxy Statement under the heading “Executive Compensation and Other Information,” 
and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

Information required by this item will be contained in our Definitive Proxy Statement under the heading “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners 
and Management,” and is incorporated herein by reference. 

Information required by Item 201(d) of Regulation S-K will be contained in our Definitive Proxy Statement under the heading “Executive Compensation 
and Other Information” and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

Information required by this item will be contained in our Definitive Proxy Statement under the headings “Certain Relationships and Related Person 
Transactions,” “Board Independence” and “Committees of the Board of Directors” and is incorporated herein by reference. 

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

Information required by this item will be contained in our Definitive Proxy Statement under the heading “Independent Registered Public Accountants’ 
Fees,” and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV 

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) Documents filed as a part of this report: 

(1) Financial Statements.

The financial statements of Crinetics Pharmaceuticals, Inc., together with the report thereon of BDO USA, LLP, an independent registered public 
accounting firm, are included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

(2) Financial Statement Schedules.

All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable, or the required information is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto. 

(3) Exhibits.

A list of exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K is set forth on the Exhibit Index immediately preceding the signature page and is incorporated herein 
by reference. 

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Stockholders and Board of Directors 
Crinetics Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
San Diego, California

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Crinetics Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the 
related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2021, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations 
and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the 
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not 
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an 
understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or 
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis 
for our opinion. 

/s/ BDO USA, LLP 

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2016. 

San Diego, California

March 30, 2022 
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CRINETICS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands) 

 
 

 
December 31,

2021   
December 31,

2020  
Assets       
Current assets:       
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 200,695   $ 93,087  
Investment securities   133,012    77,793  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   11,013    6,612  
Total current assets   344,720    177,492  
Property and equipment, net   2,825    3,181  
Operating lease right-of-use asset   1,892    2,232  
Derivative asset   68    —  
Investment in Radionetics   1,010    —  
Restricted cash   500    500  
Other assets   —    40  
Total assets  $ 351,015   $ 183,445  
       
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity       
Current liabilities:       
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ 8,468   $ 5,588  
Accrued compensation and related expenses   6,588    4,066  
Other current liabilities   939    835  
Total current liabilities   15,995    10,489  
Operating lease liability, non-current   3,074    4,014  
Unvested stock liability   2    23  
Total liabilities   19,071    14,526  
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)       
Stockholders’ equity:       
Preferred stock, $0.001 par; 10,000 shares authorized, no shares
   issued or outstanding at December 31, 2021 or 2020   —    —  
Common stock and paid-in capital, $0.001 par; 200,000 shares authorized,
   47,598 and 47,597 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2021;
   33,017 and 33,001 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020   607,581    336,508  
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income   (382 )   25  
Accumulated deficit   (275,255 )   (167,614 )
Total stockholders’ equity   331,944    168,919  
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 351,015   $ 183,445  
 

See the accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements. 
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CRINETICS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
(In thousands, except per share data) 

  
  Year ended December 31,  
  2021   2020   2019  

Revenues:          
License revenues  $ 1,078   $ —   $ —  
Grant revenues   —    71    1,193  
Total revenues   1,078    71    1,193  
Operating expenses:          
Research and development   84,255    56,998    41,506  
General and administrative   24,525    18,026    13,519  
Total operating expenses   108,780    75,024    55,025  
Loss from operations   (107,702 )   (74,953 )   (53,832 )
Other income (expense):          
Interest income   157    991    3,460  
Other income (expense), net   (96 )   150    (50 )
Total other income, net   61    1,141    3,410  
Net loss   (107,641 )   (73,812 )   (50,422 )
Net loss per share:          
Net loss per share - basic and diluted  $ (2.80 )  $ (2.42 )  $ (2.09 )
Weighted average shares - basic and diluted   38,436    30,448    24,175  
Other comprehensive income (loss):          
Unrealized gain (loss) on investment securities   (407 )   (123 )   87  
Comprehensive loss  $ (108,048 )  $ (73,935 )  $ (50,335 )
 

See the accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.
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CRINETICS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(in thousands) 

 

  Common Stock

Common
Stock and

Paid-In   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive   Accumulated   
Total

Stockholders’  
  Shares   Capital   Income   Deficit   Equity  

Balance at January 1, 2019   24,061   $ 203,544   $ 61   $ (43,380 )  $ 160,225  
Vesting of shares subject
   to repurchase   63    94    —    —    94  
Exercise of stock options   90    126    —    —    126  
Stock issued under Stock 
   Purchase Plan   49    735    —    —    735  
Stock-based compensation   —    6,294    —    —    6,294  
Comprehensive income   —    —    87    —    87  
Net loss   —    —    —    (50,422 )   (50,422 )
Balance at December 31, 2019   24,263    210,793    148    (93,802 )   117,139  
Issuance of common stock,
   net of transaction costs   8,499    114,283    —    —    114,283  
Vesting of shares subject
   to repurchase   17    26    —    —    26  
Exercise of stock options   171    288    —    —    288  
Stock issued under Stock 
   Purchase Plan   51    691    —    —    691  
Stock-based compensation   —    10,427    —    —    10,427  
Comprehensive loss   —    —    (123 )   —    (123 )
Net loss   —    —    —    (73,812 )   (73,812 )
Balance at December 31, 2020   33,001    336,508    25    (167,614 )   168,919  
Issuance of common stock,
   net of transaction costs   14,126    249,542    —    —    249,542  
Vesting of shares subject
   to repurchase   15    21    —    —    21  
Exercise of stock options   364    3,137    —    —    3,137  
Stock issued under Stock 
   Purchase Plan   91    1,021    —    —    1,021  
Stock-based compensation   —    17,352    —    —    17,352  
Comprehensive loss   —    —    (407 )   —    (407 )
Net loss   —    —    —    (107,641 )   (107,641 )
Balance at December 31, 2021   47,597   $ 607,581   $ (382 )  $ (275,255 )  $ 331,944  

See the accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements. 
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CRINETICS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands) 

 
  Year ended December 31,  
  2021   2020   2019  

Operating activities:          
Net loss  $ (107,641 )  $ (73,812 )  $ (50,422 )
Reconciliation of net loss to net cash used in operating activities:          
Stock-based compensation   17,352    10,427    6,294  
Depreciation and amortization   922    948    887  
Noncash lease expense   340    278    226  
Accretion of purchase discounts and amortization 
    of premiums on investment securities, net   422    (227 )   (1,229 )
Noncash license revenues   (1,078 )   —    —  
Other, net   (1 )   (17 )   (4 )
Increase (decrease) in cash resulting from changes in:          
Prepaid expenses and other assets   (4,361 )   (1,623 )   (2,221 )
Accounts payable and accrued expenses, compensation and related expenses   6,293    2,723    696  
Operating lease liability   (836 )   (724 )   (608 )
Net cash used in operating activities   (88,588 )   (62,027 )   (46,381 )
Investing activities:          
Purchases of investment securities   (125,404 )   (135,592 )   (108,136 )
Maturities of investment securities   69,357    135,995    150,295  
Purchases of property and equipment   (436 )   (186 )   (492 )
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities   (56,483 )   217    41,667  
Financing activities:          
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of $13.0 million (2021) and $7.5 million 
(2020) transaction costs   249,542    114,283    —  
Proceeds from exercise of stock options   3,137    288    126  
Repurchase of unvested shares   —    —    (59 )
Net cash provided by financing activities   252,679    114,571    67  
Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   107,608    52,761    (4,647 )
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash - beginning of period   93,587    40,826    45,473  
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash - end of period  $ 201,195   $ 93,587   $ 40,826  
Components of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash:          
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 200,695   $ 93,087   $ 40,326  
Restricted cash   500    500    500  
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period  $ 201,195   $ 93,587   $ 40,826  
Non-cash activity:          
Investment in Radionetics  $ 1,010   $ —   $ —  
Derivative asset  $ 68   $ —   $ —  
Stock issued under Stock Purchase Plan  $ 1,021   $ 691   $ 735  
Amounts accrued for purchases of property and equipment  $ 130   $ 6   $ 112  
Change in unvested stock liability  $ 21   $ 26   $ 94  

 
See the accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.
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CRINETICS PHARMACEUTICALS

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. ORGANIZATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

Description of Business

Crinetics Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) is a clinical-stage pharmaceutical company incorporated in Delaware on November 18, 2008 and based in 
San Diego, California. The Company is focused on the discovery, development and commercialization of novel therapeutics for rare endocrine diseases and 
endocrine-related tumors. In January 2017, the Company established a wholly-owned Australian subsidiary, Crinetics Australia Pty Ltd (“CAPL”), in order 
to conduct various preclinical and clinical activities for its development candidates. 

Principles of Consolidation and Foreign Currency Transactions

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and CAPL. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated 
in consolidation. The functional currency of both the Company and CAPL is the U.S. dollar. Assets and liabilities that are not denominated in the 
functional currency are remeasured into U.S. dollars at foreign currency exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date except for nonmonetary assets, 
which are remeasured at historical foreign currency exchange rates in effect at the date of transaction. Net realized and unrealized gains and losses from 
foreign currency transactions and remeasurement are reported in other income (expense), in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive loss and were not material for all periods presented.

Segment Reporting

Operating segments are identified as components of an enterprise about which discrete financial information is available for evaluation by the chief 
operating decision-maker in making decisions regarding resource allocation and assessing performance. The Company views its operations and manages its 
business in one operating segment.

Liquidity 

From inception, the Company has devoted substantially all of its efforts to drug discovery and development and conducting preclinical studies and clinical 
trials. The Company has a limited operating history and the sales and income potential of the Company’s business and market are unproven. Successful 
transition to attaining profitable operations is dependent upon achieving a level of revenues adequate to support the Company’s cost structure. The 
Company has experienced net losses and negative cash flows from operating activities since its inception and has an accumulated deficit of $275.3 million 
as of December 31, 2021. 

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had $333.7 million in unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and investment securities. To date, the Company has 
been funded primarily through equity offerings. On August 13, 2019, the Company entered into a sales agreement whereby the Company may offer and sell 
shares of its common stock from time to time up to $75.0 million through the sales agents (the “ATM Offering”). As of December 31, 2021, 275,764 shares 
had been sold through the ATM Offering, for net proceeds of $6.4 million, after deducting commissions of $0.2 million, (see Note 9). 

The Company expects to continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable future and believes it will need to raise substantial additional capital to accomplish 
its business plan over the next several years. The Company plans to continue to fund its losses from operations and capital funding needs through a 
combination of equity offerings, debt financings or other sources, including potential collaborations, licenses and other similar arrangements. If the 
Company is not able to secure adequate additional funding, the Company may be forced to make reductions in spending, extend payment terms with 
suppliers, liquidate assets, or suspend or curtail planned programs. Any of these actions could materially harm the Company’s business, results of 
operations and future prospects. There can be no assurance as to the availability or terms upon which such financing and capital might be available in the 
future.

COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic has caused significant business disruption around the globe. The extent of the impact of COVID-19 on the Company's 
operational and financial performance will depend on certain developments, including the duration and spread of the pandemic and the impact on the 
Company's clinical trials, employees and vendors. To the extent possible, and consistent with applicable guidance from federal, state and local authorities, 
the Company is conducting business as usual, with necessary or advisable modifications to employee travel. The Company will continue to actively 
monitor the evolving situation related to COVID-19 and may take further actions that alter its operations, including those that may be required by federal, 
state or local authorities, or that the Company determines are in the best interests of its employees and other third parties with whom the Company does 
business. While the pandemic has not yet had a material effect on the Company’s financial results, the degree to which COVID-19, including the impact of 
new variants of the virus that causes COVID-19, 
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may impact the Company's future financial condition or results of operations is uncertain. A prolonged outbreak could have a material adverse impact on 
financial results and business operations of the Company, including the timing and ability of Company to complete certain clinical trials and other efforts 
required to advance the development of its drug candidates and raise additional capital. 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Use of Estimates

The Company’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”). The 
preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements requires it to make estimates and assumptions that impact the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in the Company’s consolidated financial statements and 
accompanying notes. The most significant estimates in the Company’s consolidated financial statements relate to accrual of research and development 
expenses, valuation of stock-based awards, fair values of financial instruments, revenue recognition and equity method investment. Estimates are based on 
historical experiences or on forecasts, including information received from third parties and various other factors that the Company believes are reasonable 
under the circumstances. Estimates are periodically reviewed in light of changes in circumstances, facts and experience. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates. 

Equity Method Investment

The Company first analyzes its investment in another entity to determine if the entity is a variable interest entity (“VIE”) and if so, whether the Company is 
the primary beneficiary requiring consolidation. An entity is considered a VIE if (1) the entity does not have enough equity to finance its own activities 
without additional support, (2) the entity’s at-risk equity holders lack the characteristics of a controlling financial interest, or (3) the entity is structured with 
non-substantive voting rights. VIEs are consolidated by the primary beneficiary, which is the entity that has both the power to direct the activities that most 
significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance and the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that potentially could 
be significant to the VIE. Variable interests in a VIE can be contractual, ownership, or other financial interests. The Company re-assesses its investment 
upon reconsideration events to determine whether the Company is the primary beneficiary of the VIE, in which case the Company would consolidate the 
VIE.

If it has been determined that the Company is not the primary beneficiary or does not have control but does have the ability to exercise significant influence 
over the VIE, the Company accounts for the unconsolidated investment under the equity method of accounting. 

As discussed in Note 8, in October 2021, the Company, together with 5AM Ventures ("5AM") and Frazier Healthcare Partners ("Frazier"), announced the 
formation of Radionetics Oncology, Inc. ("Radionetics"). Radionetics aims to develop a deep pipeline of novel, targeted, nonpeptide radiopharmaceuticals 
for the treatment of a broad range of oncology indications. Radionetics is considered to be a VIE. The Company maintains an equity interest in Radionetics 
and accounts for its investment in Radionetics under the equity method of accounting. The Company records its share of Radionetics income (loss) outside 
of operations in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss on a quarterly lag. Since the Company’s investment in Radionetics was obtained on 
October 15, 2021, the Company will record its share of income (loss) beginning in the first quarter of 2022.

Fair Value Measurements

The accounting guidance defines fair value, establishes a consistent framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosure for each major asset and 
liability category measured at fair value on either a recurring or non-recurring basis. Fair value is defined as an exit price, representing the amount that 
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based 
measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for considering 
such assumptions, the accounting guidance establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows:

Level 1: Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets.

Level 2: Inputs, other than the quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly or indirectly.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the reporting entity to develop its own assumptions about risk 
and the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on the best information available in the 
circumstances.
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The carrying amounts of the Company’s current financial assets, restricted cash and current financial liabilities are considered to be representative of their 
respective fair values because of the short-term nature of those instruments. The Company recorded the derivative asset (see Note 8) and investment 
securities (see Note 3) at fair value.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

Cash and cash equivalents include cash held in readily available checking and money market accounts, as well as short-term debt securities with maturities 
of three months or less when purchased. Restricted cash represents cash held as collateral for the Company’s facility lease and is reported as a long-term 
asset in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 

Investment Securities

All investments have been classified as “available-for-sale” and are carried at fair value as determined based upon quoted market prices or pricing models 
for similar securities at period end. Investments with contractual maturities less than 12 months at the balance sheet date are considered short-term 
investments. Investments with contractual maturities beyond one year are also classified as short-term due to the Company’s ability to liquidate the 
investment for use in operations within the next 12 months.

Realized gains and losses on investment securities are derived using the specific identification method for determining the cost of securities sold and are 
included in other income (expenses), net in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.  The Company has not 
realized any significant gains or losses on sales of available-for-sale investment securities during any of the periods presented. As all the Company’s 
investment holdings are in the form of debt securities, unrealized gains and losses that are determined to be temporary in nature are reported as a 
component of accumulated other comprehensive income.  Investment securities are evaluated periodically for impairment. A decline in the fair value of any 
security below cost that is deemed other than temporary results in a charge to earnings and the establishment of a new cost basis for the security. Interest 
income is recognized when earned and is included in interest income in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, 
as are the amortization of purchase premiums and accretion of purchase discounts on investment securities. 

Derivative Asset

Derivatives are recorded at fair value and changes in fair value are recorded through the statements of operations and comprehensive loss each period. The 
Company has a single derivative instrument, a warrant ("Radionetics Warrant") received on October 15, 2021, to purchase the greater of 3,407,285 
additional shares of common stock or the number of additional shares of common stock that would all the Company to maintain an aggregate equity 
interest of 22% of the fully diluted capitalization of Radionetics. The Company records the Radionetics Warrant as long-term on the balance sheets due to 
the lack of marketability, such that it is not expected to be available for current operations. Changes in fair value of the Radionetics Warrant are recognized 
in other income (expense) in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents and 
investment securities. The Company maintains deposits in federally insured financial institutions in excess of federally insured limits. The Company has 
not experienced any losses in such accounts and believes it is not exposed to significant risk on its cash balances due to the financial position of the 
depository institution in which those deposits are held. Additionally, the Company has established guidelines regarding approved investments and 
maturities of investments, which are designed to maintain safety and liquidity. 
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Leases

The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at the inception of the arrangement. Leases with a term longer than 12 months that are determined to 
be operating leases are included in operating lease right-of-use assets, other current liabilities and noncurrent operating lease liabilities in the consolidated 
balance sheets. The Company accounts for each separate lease and non-lease component as a single lease component. When the Company’s leases do not 
provide an implicit rate, an incremental borrowing rate is used based on the information available at commencement dates in determining the present value 
of lease payments. The incremental borrowing rate is the rate of interest that the Company would expect to pay to borrow over a similar term, and on a 
collateralized basis, an amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic environment. The Company’s lease terms may include options to extend 
or terminate the lease when the Company is reasonably certain that it will exercise such options. Lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease agreements may contain variable costs such as common area maintenance, insurance, taxes or other costs. 
Such variable lease costs are expensed as incurred. Lease expense for minimum lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Property and Equipment, Net 

Property and equipment consist of leasehold improvements, and lab and various other equipment. Such assets are stated at cost and depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the related assets. The Company estimates its useful lives of its lab and other equipment as follows: lab 
equipment – three to five years; office equipment - three to five years; computer and software – three years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over 
the estimated useful life of the improvement or the remaining term of the associated lease. 

Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to expense as incurred and expenditures that materially extend the useful lives of assets are capitalized. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the 
assets may not be fully recoverable.

Factors considered in deciding when to perform an impairment review include significant underperformance of the business in relation to expectations, 
significant negative industry or economic trends, and significant changes or planned changes in the use of the assets. An impairment loss is recognized 
when estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the use of an asset are less than its carrying amount. If such assets are considered 
impaired, the impairment loss recognized is measured as the excess of the carrying value of the impaired asset over its fair value, determined based on 
future cash flows or appraised values, depending on the nature of the asset.  The Company has not recognized any impairment losses in any of the periods 
presented in these consolidated financial statements. 

Revenue Recognition

The Company has generated revenue from a collaboration and license agreement with a partner, as well as from grants from government agencies. The 
Company recognizes revenues when, or as, the promised goods or services are transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to 
which it expects to be entitled in exchange for those services. To determine revenue recognition for arrangements, the Company performs the following 
five steps: (1) identify the contract(s) with a customer; (2) identify the performance obligation(s) in the contract; (3) determine the transaction price; (4) 
allocate the transaction price to the performance obligation(s) in the contract; and (5) recognize revenue when (or as) the performance obligation(s) are 
satisfied. At contract inception, the Company assesses the goods or services promised within each contract, assesses whether each promised good or service 
is distinct and identifies those that are performance obligations. The Company recognizes as revenue the amount of the transaction price that is allocated to 
the respective performance obligation when, or as, the performance obligation is satisfied.

The Company considers a variety of factors in determining the appropriate estimates and assumptions under the arrangements, such as whether the 
elements are distinct performance obligations, whether there are observable stand-alone prices, and whether the license is functional or symbolic. The 
Company evaluates each performance obligation to determine if it can be satisfied and recognized as revenue at a point in time or over time. 

Collaboration and License Agreement 
The Company has entered into a collaboration and license agreement ("CLA") with a partner that mainly includes the following: (i) upfront noncash 
considerations; (ii) payments associated with achieving certain milestones; and (iii) royalties based on specified percentages of net product sales, if any. At 
the initiation of an agreement, the Company analyzes each unit of account within the contract to determine if the counterparty is a customer in the context 
of the unit of account.
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The Company's performance obligation under the CLA consisted of the license and know-how of the technology. The upfront noncash considerations are 
fixed considerations for functional intellectual property as it exists at a point in time, being the time that the CLA was executed. Revenues for sales-based 
royalties and milestones are recognized at the later of the subsequent sale or satisfaction of the performance obligation.

Grant Revenue Recognition 

The Company’s grant revenues are derived from Small Business Innovation Research Grants (“SBIR Grants”) from the National Institutes of Health. The 
Company's performance obligation under SBIR Grants consists of research activities and the Company recognizes SBIR Grant revenue over time as 
reimbursable grant costs are incurred up to pre-approved award limits within the budget period. The costs associated with these reimbursements are 
reflected as a component of research and development expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. 
Earnings in excess of billings are included as a component of prepaid expenses and other current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development (“R&D”) expenses consist primarily of salaries, payroll taxes, employee benefits and stock-based compensation for individuals 
involved in R&D efforts, as well as consulting expenses, third-party R&D expenses, laboratory supplies, clinical materials and overhead, including 
facilities and depreciation costs, offset by the Australian Tax Incentive discussed below. R&D expenses are charged to expense as incurred. Payments made 
prior to the receipt of goods or services to be used in R&D are capitalized until the goods or services are received and are recorded as prepaid expenses and 
other current assets. Costs incurred under contracts with contract research organizations that conduct and manage the Company’s clinical trials are also 
included in research and development expenses. The financial terms and activities of these agreements vary from contract to contract and may result in 
uneven expense levels. Generally, these agreements set forth activities that drive the recording of expenses such as start-up and initiation activities, 
enrollment and treatment of patients, or the completion of other clinical trial activities. Expenses related to clinical trials are accrued based on estimates 
and/or representations from service providers regarding work performed, including actual level of patient enrollment, completion of patient studies and 
progress of the clinical trials. Other incidental costs related to patient enrollment or treatment are accrued when reasonably certain. If the amounts that the 
Company is obligated to pay under its clinical trial agreements are modified (for instance, as a result of changes in the clinical trial protocol or scope of 
work to be performed), the Company adjusts its accruals accordingly on a prospective basis. Revisions to contractual payment obligations are charged to 
expense in the period in which the facts that give rise to the revision become reasonably certain.

Accrued R&D expenses totaled $4.2 million and $2.1 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and are a component of accounts payable 
and accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 

Australian Tax Incentive

CAPL is eligible to obtain a cash refund from the Australian Taxation Office for eligible R&D expenditures under the Australian R&D Tax Incentive 
Program (the “Australian Tax Incentive”). The Australian Tax Incentive is recognized as a reduction to R&D expense when there is reasonable assurance 
that the relevant expenditure has been incurred, the amount can be reliably measured and that the Australian Tax Incentive will be received. The Company 
recognized reductions to R&D expense of $0.3 million, $0.6 million and $1.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Patent Costs

All costs incurred for the filing of patent applications are recorded as general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of 
operations and comprehensive loss when incurred, as the recoverability of these expenses is uncertain.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense represents the estimated grant date fair value of the Company’s equity awards, consisting of stock options and shares 
issued under the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan, recognized over the requisite service period of such awards (usually the vesting period) on a 
straight-line basis. The Company estimates the fair value of equity awards using the Black-Scholes option pricing model on the date of grant and 
recognizes forfeitures as they occur. For stock awards for which vesting is subject to performance-based milestones, the expense is recorded over the 
remaining service period after the point when the achievement of the milestone is probable, or the performance condition has been achieved. 
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Income Taxes 

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the 
expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the consolidated financial statements. Under this method, deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are determined based on the differences between the consolidated financial statements and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax 
rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is 
recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. 

The Company recognizes net deferred tax assets to the extent that the Company believes these assets are more likely than not to be realized. In making such 
a determination, management considers all available positive and negative evidence, including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, 
projected future taxable income, tax-planning strategies, and results of recent operations. If management determines that the Company would be able to 
realize its deferred tax assets in the future in excess of their net recorded amount, management would make an adjustment to the deferred tax asset 
valuation allowance, which would reduce the provision for income taxes. 

The Company records uncertain tax positions on the basis of a two-step process whereby (1) management determines whether it is more likely than not that 
the tax positions will be sustained on the basis of the technical merits of the position and (2) for those tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not 
recognition threshold, management recognizes the largest amount of tax benefit that is more than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with 
the related tax authority. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within income tax expense, and any accrued 
interest and penalties would be included within the related tax liability.  No such costs were recorded during the three years ended December 31, 2021.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss is comprised of the Company’s net loss and the unrealized gains or losses on the Company’s available for sale investment securities for 
all periods presented. The cumulative amount of unrealized gains and losses is reflected as a separate component of stockholders' equity in the 
accompanying consolidated balance sheets as accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). There are no tax effects for the years ended December 31, 
2021, 2020 and 2019.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period, without 
consideration for potentially dilutive securities. Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted-average number of shares of 
common stock and dilutive common stock equivalents outstanding for the period determined using the treasury-stock. Dilutive common stock equivalents 
are comprised of common stock subject to repurchase, and options outstanding under the Company’s stock option plan. For all periods presented, there is 
no difference in the number of shares used to calculate basic and diluted shares outstanding as inclusion of the potentially dilutive securities on loss per 
share would be antidilutive.

Potentially dilutive securities (in common stock equivalent shares) not included in the calculation of diluted net loss per share because to do so would be 
anti-dilutive are as follows (in thousands):
 

  Year ended December 31,  
  2021   2020   2019  

Common stock options   6,554    4,422    3,127  
Unvested common stock subject to repurchase   1    16    33  
Total   6,555    4,438    3,160  
 

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

ASU 2020-01

In January 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU") 2020-01, Investments-Equity 
Securities ("Topic 321"), Investments-Equity Method and Joint Ventures ("Topic 323"), and Derivatives and Hedging ("Topic 815"), - Clarifying the 
Interactions between Topic 321, Topic 323, and Topic 815 ("ASU 2020-01"), which addresses the accounting for the transition into and out of the equity 
method and provides clarification of the interaction of rules for equity securities, the equity method of accounting, and forward contracts and purchase 
options on certain types of securities. The amendments clarify that: (a) an entity should consider observable transactions that require it to either apply or 
discontinue the equity method of accounting for the purposes of applying the measurement alternative in accordance with Topic 321 immediately before 
applying or upon discontinuing the equity method; and (b) an entity should 
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not consider whether, upon the settlement of the forward contract or exercise of the purchased option, individually or with existing investments, the 
underlying securities would be accounted for under the equity method in Topic 323 or the fair value option in accordance with the financial instruments 
guidance in Topic 825. The provisions of this guidance are to be applied prospectively upon their effective date. ASU 2020-01 was effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2020, and interim periods within those years. Early adoption was permitted, but required simultaneous adoption of all 
provisions of this guidance. The Company adopted this guidance as of January 1, 2021, which did not result in a material impact on its consolidated 
financial statements and related disclosures.

ASU 2020-06

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-06, Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging—
Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity ("ASU 2020-06"), 
which simplifies the accounting for certain financial instruments with characteristics of liabilities and equity, including convertible instruments and 
contracts on an entity’s own equity. Specifically, ASU 2020-06 simplifies accounting for the issuance of convertible instruments by removing major 
separation models required under current GAAP. In addition, the ASU removes certain settlement conditions that are required for equity contracts to 
qualify for the derivative scope exception and simplifies the diluted earnings per share (EPS) calculation in certain areas. The Company adopted ASU 
2020-06 as of January 1, 2021 using the modified-retrospective approach, which did not have an impact on its consolidated financial statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

ASU 2016-13

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, “Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial 
Instruments” (“Topic 326”). Topic 326 amends guidance on reporting credit losses for assets held at amortized cost basis and available for sale debt 
securities. For assets held at amortized cost basis, Topic 326 eliminates the probable initial recognition threshold in current GAAP and, instead, requires an 
entity to reflect its current estimate of all expected credit losses. The allowance for credit losses is a valuation account that is deducted from the amortized 
cost basis of the financial assets to present the net amount expected to be collected. For available for sale debt securities, credit losses should be measured 
in a manner similar to current GAAP, however Topic 326 will require that credit losses be presented as an allowance rather than as a write-down. This ASU 
update affects entities holding financial assets and net investment in leases that are not accounted for at fair value through net income. This update is 
effective for the Company for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company is 
currently evaluating the impact of the pending adoption of this new standard on its consolidated financial statements.

ASU 2021-04

In May 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-04, Earnings Per Share ("Topic 260"), Debt-Modifications and Extinguishments ("Subtopic 470-50"), 
Compensation-Stock Compensation ("Topic 718"), and Derivatives and Hedging-Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity ("Subtopic 815-40"): Issuer’s 
Accounting for Certain Modifications or Exchanges of Freestanding Equity-Classified Written Call Options, which intends to clarify and reduce diversity 
in an issuer’s accounting for modifications or exchanges of freestanding equity-classified written call options (for example, warrants) that remain equity 
classified after modification or exchange. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, including interim periods therein, 
and early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact that the adoption of ASU 2021-04 may have on its consolidated 
financial statements and related disclosures. 

3. INVESTMENT SECURITIES

Available-for-sale investment securities consisted of the following as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 (in thousands): 
 

  As of December 31, 2021  

  
Amortized

Cost   

Gross
Unrealized

Gains   

Gross
Unrealized

Losses   

Fair
Market
Value  

Available-for-sale investment securities:             
U.S. government and agency obligations  $ 54,637   $ —   $ (180 )  $ 54,457  
Certificates of deposit   5,735    1    (4 )   5,732  
Corporate debt securities   70,600    6    (204 )   70,402  
Asset-backed securities   2,421    —    —    2,421  
Total  $ 133,393   $ 7   $ (388 )  $ 133,012  
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  As of December 31, 2020  

  
Amortized

Cost   

Gross
Unrealized

Gains   

Gross
Unrealized

Losses   

Fair
Market
Value  

Available-for-sale investment securities:             
U.S. government and agency obligations  $ 74,222   $ 6   $ (5 )   74,223  
Certificates of deposit   2,161    14    —    2,175  
Corporate debt securities   1,385    10    —    1,395  
Total  $ 77,768   $ 30   $ (5 )  $ 77,793  
 

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, available-for-sale investment securities by contractual maturity were as follows (in thousands):
 

  As of December 31, 2021  As of December 31, 2020  

  
Amortized

Cost   

Fair
Market
Value  

Amortized
Cost   

Fair
Market
Value  

Available-for-sale investment securities:            
Due in one year or less  $ 31,101   $ 31,078  $ 59,472   $ 59,487  
Due after one year through five years   102,292    101,934   18,296    18,306  
Total  $ 133,393   $ 133,012  $ 77,768   $ 77,793  
 

The Company reviewed its investment holdings as of December 31, 2021 and determined that its unrealized losses were not considered to be other-than-
temporary based upon (i) the financial strength of the issuing institution and (ii) the fact that no securities have been in an unrealized loss position for 
twelve months or more. As such, the Company has not recognized any impairment in its financial statements related to its available-for-sale investment 
securities. During the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, the Company recognized $2,000, $26,000 and $7,000, respectively, of realized net 
gains in the accompanying statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

4. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Investment Securities 

The Company holds investment securities that consist of highly liquid, investment grade debt securities. The Company determines the fair value of its 
investment securities based upon one or more valuations reported by its investment accounting and reporting service provider. The investment service 
provider values the securities using a hierarchical security pricing model that relies primarily on valuations provided by an industry-recognized valuation 
service. Such valuations may be based on trade prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 inputs) or valuation models using inputs 
that are observable either directly or indirectly (Level 2 inputs), such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, yield curves, volatility factors, credit 
spreads, default rates, loss severity, current market and contractual prices for the underlying instruments or debt, and broker and dealer quotes, as well as 
other relevant economic measures. 

Derivative Asset

On October 15, 2021, the Company received the Radionetics Warrant to purchase the greater of 3,407,285 additional shares of common stock or the 
number of additional shares of common stock that would all the Company to maintain an aggregate equity interest of 22% of the fully diluted capitalization 
of Radionetics.  The valuation method and primary inputs used in valuing the Radionetics Warrant are discussed in Note 8. Such valuation is based on 
valuations provided by a third-party valuation specialist using unobservable inputs due to little to no market data (Level 3 inputs). There were no material 
changes in the inputs or total the valuation of the Radionetics Warrant between October 15, 2021 and December 31, 2021.

Financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 were as follows (in thousands): 
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  As of December 31, 2021  
  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  

Investment securities:             
U.S. government and agency obligations  $ 44,984   $ 9,473   $ —   $ 54,457  
Certificates of deposit   —    5,732    —    5,732  
Corporate debt securities   —    70,402    —    70,402  
Asset-backed securities   —    2,421       2,421  
Total Investment securities   44,984    88,028    —    133,012  
Derivative Assets:             
Radionetics Warrant   —    —    68    68  
Total assets measured at fair value  $ 44,984   $ 88,028   $ 68   $ 133,080  
 

  As of December 31, 2020  
  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  

Investment securities:             
U.S. government and agency obligations  $ 60,222   $ 14,001   $ —   $ 74,223  
Certificates of deposit   —    2,175    —    2,175  
Corporate debt securities   —    1,395    —    1,395  
Total assets measured at fair value  $ 60,222   $ 17,571   $ —   $ 77,793  
 

The Company’s policy is to recognize transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy on the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused 
the transfer. There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

5. BALANCE SHEET DETAILS

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following (in thousands):
 

  
December 31,

2021   
December 31,

2020  
Prepaid research and development costs  $ 7,184   $ 3,062  
Australian tax incentive receivable   977    1,720  
Prepaid insurance   888    693  
Interest receivable   499    113  
Due from Radionetics (Note 8)   553    —  
Other   912    1,024  
Total  $ 11,013   $ 6,612  
  
Property and equipment, net consisted of the following (in thousands): 
 

  
December 31,

2021   
December 31,

2020  
Leasehold improvements  $ 3,516   $ 3,494  
Lab equipment   1,889    1,551  
Office equipment   859    653  
Computers and software   41    41  
Property and equipment at cost   6,305    5,739  
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization   3,480    2,558  
Total  $ 2,825   $ 3,181  
 
Depreciation and amortization expense was $0.9 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

6. OPERATING LEASE

In February 2018, as amended in March 2018, the Company entered into a non-cancelable operating lease for a new facility in San Diego, California. The 
lease has an initial term of seven years which expires in August 2025, and the Company has an option to extend the term of the lease for an additional five 
years and has a termination option subject to early termination fees. The lease is subject to base lease payments and additional charges for common area 
maintenance and other costs and includes certain lease incentives and tenant improvement allowances. The Company’s estimated incremental fully 
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collateralized borrowing rate of 8.0% was used in its present value calculation as the facility lease does not have a stated rate and the implicit rate was not 
readily determinable.

Under the terms of the lease, the Company provided the lessor with an irrevocable letter of credit in the amount of $0.5 million. The lessor is entitled to 
draw on the letter of credit in the event of any default by the Company under the terms of the lease.

As of December 31, 2021, future minimum payments under non-cancellable operating leases were as follows (in thousands):
 

Year ending December 31,  
Minimum
Payments  

2022  $ 1,208  
2023   1,244  
2024   1,280  
2025   871  
Total future minimum lease payments   4,603  
Less imputed interest   (590 )
Total operating lease liability   4,013  
Less operating lease liability, current   (939 )
Operating lease liability, non-current  $ 3,074  
 
Lease cost is recorded on a straight-line basis over the term of the Company’s facility lease. Rent expense was $1.0 million for each of the years ended 
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company’s operating lease weighted average remaining term was 3.6 and 4.6 
years, respectively. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company’s weighted-average discount rate was 8%.

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities for operating cash flow from operating leases was $1.2 million, $1.1 million, and 
$1.1 million during each of the years ended years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

7. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Litigation

From time to time, the Company may be subject to various claims and suits arising in the ordinary course of business. The Company does not expect that 
the resolution of these matters will have a material adverse effect on its financial position or results of operations.

8. RADIONETICS ONCOLOGY, INC.

Formation

In October 2021, the Company, together with 5AM and Frazier, announced the formation of Radionetics Oncology, Inc. Radionetics aims to develop a deep 
pipeline of novel, targeted, nonpeptide radiopharmaceuticals for the treatment of a broad range of oncology indications.

Collaboration and License Agreement

The Company and Radionetics entered into the CLA under which the Company granted to Radionetics an exclusive world-wide license to its 
radiotherapeutics technology platform and associated intellectual property for use in developing radiotherapeutics and related radio-imaging agents, 
including exclusive rights to the underlying intellectual property on certain preclinical drug candidates. Under the CLA, the Company will not be 
supporting or maintaining the intellectual property and does not plan on continuing to undertake those activities from which the utility of the intellectual 
property is derived. The collaborative provisions per the CLA are deemed to be protective measures for the advancement of the technology and not deemed 
to be a separate performance obligation. The performance obligation under the CLA consisted of the license and know-how of the technology that was 
transferred at the inception of the CLA. The CLA is effective until the earlier of the fifth anniversary of signing the CLA or a change in control of either the 
Company or Radionetics.  

In exchange, the Company received 50,500,000 shares of common stock of Radionetics, which represents an initial majority stake in Radionetics of 64%, 
and the Radionetics Warrant to purchase the greater of 3,407,285 additional shares of common stock or the number of additional shares of common stock 
that would allow the Company to maintain an aggregate equity interest of 22% of the fully diluted capitalization of Radionetics. The exercise price of the 
Radionetics Warrant is $0.00001 and it is exercisable at any time and has a term of 10 years. 
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These upfront noncash considerations were valued at $1.1 million, which were comprised of $1.0 million for the Company's share of Radionetics common 
stock and $0.1 million for the Radionetics Warrant. The CLA is for functional intellectual property which was transferred at the inception of the CLA. The 
Company does not have an ongoing performance obligation to support or maintain the licensed intellectual property under the CLA. During the year ended 
December 31, 2021, the entire amount of the upfront noncash consideration of $1.1 million was recognized as license revenue in the accompanying 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss upon the Company's transfer of the license under the CLA. 

In addition, the Company may receive potential sales milestones in excess of $1.0 billion and single-digit royalties on net sales. The Company may also 
pay Radionetics potential royalties on certain net sales. Sales-based milestones and royalties are recognized at the later of when the subsequent sale or 
usage occurs or the performance obligation for which some or all of the sales-based milestones and royalties have been allocated to has been satisfied or 
partially satisfied.  As there have been no sales to date, no sales-based milestones or royalties were recognized during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Valuation of Upfront Noncash Considerations 

The Company engaged a third-party valuation specialist to determine the estimated fair value of these upfront noncash considerations received. The 
valuation specialist utilized a cost approach to determine the implied value of Radionetics’ equity since it was newly formed with early development stage 
technology from the CLA for which there are not reliable long-term forecasts. Next, the total equity value was allocated to various share classes using the 
current value method and option pricing method. The current value method allocates the value of the business to the shareholders' given consideration of 
senior obligations such as debt, equity certificates and other preferred equity. The option pricing method entails allocating the total shareholders’ equity 
value to the various share classes based upon their respective claims on a series of call options with strike prices at various value levels depending upon the 
rights and preferences of each class. 

The primary inputs used in valuing the Radionetics common stock and the Radionetics Warrant, were as follows:
 
Derivative Asset  October 15, 2021 and December 31, 2021  
Expected term  3.0 years  
Expected volatility   111.4 %
Risk free interest rate   0.7 %
Marketability discount   30.0 %

The Company estimated the expected term based on the expected time to a liquidity event. The risk-free interest rate was based on the yields of zero-
coupon U.S. treasury securities. Volatility was estimated based upon an analysis of historical equity and asset volatilities of companies deemed comparable 
to Radionetics. The valuation amounts were adjusted by a discount for lack of marketability to account for the lack of liquidity an owner of the interest 
would experience for common stock in an early-stage company. The estimated value for the common stock of Radionetics and the Radionetics Warrant was 
$0.02 per share as of October 15, 2021 and December 31, 2021.

Investment in Radionetics

The Company applied the VIE model to its variable interests in Radionetics and concluded Radionetics is a VIE due to its insufficient equity to finance its 
activities without additional subordinated financial support. 

The Company then evaluated whether it is the primary beneficiary of Radionetics by identifying Radionetics’ key activities: (1) research and development 
activities, (2) financing decisions, and (3) determining the strategic direction of Radionetics. Power over research and development activities are made by 
unanimous vote by members of the research and development committee, in which no party has power. Power for financing decisions and setting strategic 
direction rests with the Radionetics’ board of directors, and no party was determined to be in control since the Radionetics board of directors is comprised 
of 4 members for which Crinetics, 5AM and Frazier are entitled to appoint (and replace, as needed) their board designee while the fourth independent 
member must be mutually agreed to by all three investors. Radionetics’ management is entirely separate from the Company and is determined by 
Radionetics’ board of directors. As the Company does not control any of Radionetics' key activities, it is not the primary beneficiary of the VIE and does 
not consolidate Radionetics.

The Company accounted for its investment in Radionetics under the equity method of accounting due to its ability to exercise significant influence through 
its board seat and involvement in R&D activities, among other factors. The Company’s initial investment in Radionetics was recorded at the fair value of 
common stock received in the amount of $1.0 million. 

The Company's maximum exposure to loss of Radionetics is limited to carrying value of its equity method investment in Radionetics and the Radionetics 
Warrant. The Company has no obligation to fund the operations of Radionetics and has not provided significant explicit or implicit support to Radionetics 
that was not contractually required. The financial statements 
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of Radionetics are not received sufficiently timely for the Company to record its portion of earnings or loss in the current consolidated financial statements 
and therefore the Company reports its portion of earnings or loss on a one quarter lag.    

Other Radionetics Transactions

During the year ended December 31, 2021, Radionetics completed a $30.0 million convertible notes financing with 5AM and Frazier as the sole 
participants.

R. Scott Struthers, Ph.D. the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer, serves as chairman of the Radionetics board of directors.

As of December 31, 2021, The Company had approximately $0.6 million due from Radionetics for reimbursement of certain expenses paid on behalf of 
Radionetics. These amounts are recorded within prepaid expenses and other current assets in the accompanying balance sheets. The Company has 
evaluated these reimbursements and concluded that these reimbursements are not performance obligations for which the Company is acting as the principal 
and therefore these amounts have been included within operating expenses in the accompanying statements of operations and comprehensive income.

9. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Stock Offerings

On April 17, 2020, the Company completed a public offering of 8,222,500 shares of its common stock at a public offering price of $14.00 per share. 
Proceeds from the offering were approximately $107.9 million, net of underwriting discounts and commissions and offering costs of $7.3 million. The 
shares were registered pursuant to the Company’s Shelf Registration Statement discussed below.

On April 12, 2021, the Company completed an underwritten follow-on offering of 4,562,044 shares of its common stock at a price to the public of $16.44 
per share. Proceeds from the offering were approximately $72.6 million, net of underwriting discounts and commissions and offering costs of $2.4 million. 
The shares were registered pursuant to the Company’s Shelf Registration Statement discussed below.

On July 28, 2021, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement for the private placement of 851,306 shares of its common stock at a price of 
$17.62 per share (the “Private Placement”), which shares were issued on July 30, 2021. Proceeds from the offering were approximately $15.0 million. 

On October 21, 2021, the Company completed an underwritten follow-on offering of 8,712,400 shares of its common stock at a price to the public of 
$19.80 per share.  Proceeds from the offering were approximately $162.0 million, net of underwriting discounts and commissions and offering costs of 
$10.5 million.  The shares were registered pursuant to the Company’s 2021 Shelf Registration Statement discussed below.

Shelf Registration Statements and ATM Offering

On August 13, 2019, the Company filed a registration statement on Form S-3 (the “Shelf Registration Statement”), covering the offering of up to $300.0 
million of common stock, preferred stock, debt securities, warrants and units. The Registration Statement became effective on August 29, 2019.

On August 13, 2019, the Company also entered into the Sales Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with SVB Leerink LLC and Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. 
(the “Sales Agents”), under which the Company may, from time to time, sell shares of its common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $75.0 
million. The Shelf Registration Statement included a prospectus covering the offering, issuance, and sale of up to $75.0 million of Company common stock 
from time to time through the ATM Offering. The shares to be sold under the Sales Agreement may be issued and sold pursuant to the Shelf Registration 
Statement.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company sold a total of 275,764 shares of common stock pursuant to its ATM Offering for net proceeds of 
$6.4 million, after deducting commissions of $0.2 million. The Company did not issue any additional shares of common stock in the ATM Offering during 
the year ended December 31, 2021.

On August 10, 2021, the Company filed a registration statement on Form S-3 (the “2021 Shelf Registration Statement”), which became immediately 
effective upon filing, covering the offering of common stock, preferred stock, debt securities, warrants and units and the resale of up to 851,306 shares by 
the accredited investor who purchased shares in the Private Placement.
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10. EQUITY INCENTIVE PLANS

2021 Employment Inducement Incentive Award Plan

The Company adopted the 2021 Employment Inducement Incentive Award Plan (the "2021 Inducement Plan") in December 2021. The Company initially 
reserved 1,500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock for issuance pursuant to awards granted under the 2021 Inducement Plan. The terms of the 
2021 Inducement Plan are substantially similar to the terms of the Company’s 2018 Incentive Award Plan with the exception that awards may only be made 
to an employee who has not previously been an employee or member of the board of directors of the Company if the award is in connection with 
commencement of employment. No awards were granted under the 2021 Inducement Plan during the year ended December 31, 2021.

2018 Incentive Award Plan

The Company adopted the 2018 Incentive Award Plan (the “2018 Plan”) in July 2018. Under the 2018 Plan, which expires in July 2028, the Company may 
grant equity-based awards to individuals who are employees, officers, directors or consultants of the Company. Options issued under the 2018 Plan will 
generally expire ten years from the date of grant and vest over a four-year period. As of December 31, 2021, an aggregate of 1,121,703 shares of common 
stock were available for issuance under the 2018 Plan.

The 2018 Plan contains a provision that allows annual increases in the number of shares available for issuance on the first day of each calendar year 
through January 1, 2028 in an amount equal to the lesser of: (i) 5% of the aggregate number of shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding on 
December 31 of the immediately preceding calendar year, or (ii) such lesser amount determined by the Company. Under this evergreen provision, on 
January 1, 2022, an additional 2,379,911 shares became available for future issuance under the 2018 Plan.

2015 Stock Incentive Plan

In February 2015, the Company adopted the Crinetics Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2015 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2015 Plan”), which provided for the issuance 
of equity awards to the Company’s employees, members of its board of directors and consultants. In general, options issued under this plan vest over four 
years and expire after 10 years. Subsequent to the adoption of the 2018 Plan, no additional equity awards can be made under the 2015 Plan. 

Certain awards issued under the 2015 Plan allowed for exercise prior to vesting. Shares issued under such early-exercise provisions are subject to 
repurchase by the Company until they become fully vested. As of December 31, 2021, 1,228 unvested shares issued under early-exercise provisions were 
subject to repurchase by the Company. The consolidated balance sheet reflects an unvested stock liability of $2,000 and $23,000 as of December 31, 2021 
and 2020, respectively.

2018 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In July 2018, the Company adopted the 2018 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”). The ESPP permits participants to purchase common stock 
through payroll deductions of up to 20% of their eligible compensation. As of December 31, 2021, an aggregate of 853,108 shares of common stock were 
available for issuance under the ESPP. 

The ESPP contains a provision that allows annual increases in the number of shares available for issuance on the first day of each calendar year through 
January 1, 2028 in an amount equal to the lesser of: (i) 1% of the aggregate number of shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding on December 
31 of the immediately preceding calendar year, or (ii) such lesser amount determined by the Company. Under this evergreen provision, on January 1, 2022, 
an additional 475,982 shares became available for future issuance under the ESPP.   

Stock Option Activity

Activity under the Company’s stock option plans during the year ended December 31, 2021 was as follows: 
 

     Weighted-   Weighted-   Aggregate  
     Average   Average   Intrinsic  
  Options   Exercise   Remaining   Value  
  Outstanding   Price   Term   (000’s)  

Balance at December 31, 2020   4,421,533   $ 14.42        
Granted   2,889,000   $ 18.09        
Exercised   (364,273 )  $ 8.61        
Forfeited and expired   (392,666 )  $ 19.24        
Balance at December 31, 2021   6,553,594   $ 16.07    8.1   $ 80,906  
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2021   6,553,594   $ 16.07    8.1   $ 80,906  
Exercisable at December 31, 2021   2,989,994   $ 13.28    7.1   $ 45,283  
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Aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the closing price of the Company’s common stock at December 31, 2021 and the exercise 
price of stock options that had strike prices below the closing price.

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during 2021, 2020 and 2019 was $5.1 million, $2.5 million and $2.0 million, respectively. 

Fair Value of Stock Awards

The following table summarizes the weighted average assumptions used to estimate the fair value of stock options granted under the Company’s stock 
option plans and the shares purchasable under the ESPP during the periods presented:
 

  Year ended December 31,  
Stock Option Awards  2021   2020   2019  
Expected term  6.0 years   6.0 years   5.9 years  
Expected volatility   86 %   78 %   78 %
Risk free interest rate   1.0 %   0.8 %   2.3 %
Expected dividend yield   — %   — %   — %
 

  Year ended December 31,  
ESPP  2021   2020   2019  
Expected term  1.6 years   1.4 years   1.8 years  
Expected volatility   91 %   84 %   65 %
Risk free interest rate   0.3 %   0.2 %   2.2 %
Expected dividend yield   — %   — %   — %
 
The key assumptions used in determining the fair value of equity awards, and the Company’s rationale, were as follows: (i) Expected term - the expected 
term for options represents the period that options are expected to be outstanding and has been estimated using the simplified method, which is an average 
of the contractual option term and its vesting period; the expected term for ESPP represents the term the awards are expected to be outstanding; (ii) 
Expected volatility - the expected volatility assumption is based on volatilities of a peer group of similar companies in the biotechnology industry whose 
share prices are publicly available; (iii) Risk-free interest rate - the risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield in effect at the time of grant for 
zero coupon U.S. Treasury notes with maturities that approximate the expected terms of awards; and (iv) Expected dividend yield - the expected dividend 
yield assumption is zero as the Company has never paid dividends and has no present intention to do so in the future.

The weighted-average fair value of stock options granted to employees during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was $13.02, $12.83 and 
$16.35 per share, respectively. The weighted-average fair value of awards under the ESPP during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was 
$12.52, $8.07 and $10.59 per share, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Stock-based compensation expense for the equity awards issued by the Company to employees and non-employees for the periods presented below was as 
follows (in thousands):
 

  Year ended December 31,  
  2021   2020   2019  

Included in research and development  $ 9,654   $ 5,218   $ 3,190  
Included in general and administrative   7,698    5,209    3,104  
Total stock-based compensation expense  $ 17,352   $ 10,427   $ 6,294  
 
Unrecognized stock-based compensation cost related to option awards was $43.4 million as of December 31, 2021, which is expected to be recognized over 
a remaining weighted-average period of approximately 2.0 years. Unrecognized stock-based compensation cost related to stock purchase rights under the 
Company’s ESPP was $1.9 million as of December 31, 2021, which is expected to be recognized over a remaining weighted-average period of 
approximately 1.5 years. 
 

11. INCOME TAXES

The Company is subject to taxation in the United States, various state jurisdictions and Australia; however, as it has operated at a loss since inception, it has 
not paid income taxes in any of the jurisdictions in which it has operated. At 
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December 31, 2021, the Company had federal, state, and foreign net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards of approximately $209.4 million, $216.0 
million and $1.3 million, respectively. The federal loss carryforwards generated after 2017 of $203.1 million will carryforward indefinitely and can be used 
to offset up to 80% of future annual taxable income, while those loss carryforwards generated prior to 2018 begin expiring in 2035, unless previously 
utilized. $0.2 million of the state loss carryforwards will carryforward indefinitely. The remaining state loss carryforwards begin expiring in 2035, unless 
previously utilized. The Company’s foreign loss carryforwards do not expire. The Company also has federal and California R&D credit carryforwards 
totaling $6.3 million and $4.1 million, respectively. The federal credits begin to expire in 2030, unless previously utilized, while the state credits do not 
expire. The Company also has federal Orphan Drug credit carryforwards totaling $5.7 million which will begin to expire in 2041 unless previously utilized.

The Company’s NOL and credit carryforwards to offset future taxable income may be subject to a substantial annual limitation upon future utilization as a 
result of ownership changes that could occur in the future pursuant to Internal Revenue Code Sections 382 and 383. These ownership changes may limit the 
amount of NOL and credit carryforwards that can be utilized to offset future taxable income and income tax, respectively. In general, an “ownership 
change” as defined by the tax code results from a transaction or series of transactions over a three-year period resulting in an ownership change of more 
than 50 percent of the outstanding stock of a company by certain stockholders or public groups. During 2020, the Company completed a study to assess 
whether an ownership change within the meaning of Section 382 had occurred for the time period prior to July 15, 2020. The study identified several such 
ownership changes during the study period, which resulted in limitations on the annual utilization of the Company’s NOL and credit carryforwards, or the 
“Tax Attribute” carryforwards; however, the study findings also indicated that none of the Company’s Tax Attribute carryforwards generated during the 
study period would expire solely as a result of annual limitations on the utilization of such Tax Attribute carryforwards. Future ownership changes could 
still occur which might place further limits on the Company’s ability to utilize its Tax Attribute carryforwards.  

The Company’s federal income tax returns from 2018 forward, state income tax returns from 2017 forward, and its Australian tax returns beginning in 2019 
are subject to examination by tax authorities; however, the Company’s Tax Attribute carryforwards generated in closed years are also subject to 
examination and remeasurement. No such audits are underway.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Net deferred tax assets are comprised of the following as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 (in thousands): 
 

  December 31,  
  2021   2020  

Deferred tax assets:       
Net operating loss carryforwards  $ 59,453   $ 33,994  
Capitalized research expenses   3,598    4,231  
R&D and other tax credits   12,930    6,881  
Stock-based compensation   5,899    3,233  
Lease liability   1,125    1,358  
Accrued expenses and other, net   3,309    1,932  
Total deferred tax assets   86,314    51,629  
Deferred tax liabilities:       
Right-of use asset   (531 )   (625 )
Equity method investment   (302 )   —  
Other deferred tax liabilities   —    (132 )
Net of deferred tax assets and liabilities   85,481    50,872  
Less: valuation allowance   (85,481 )   (50,872 )
Net deferred tax assets  $ —   $ —  
 
Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings, if any, the timing and amount of which are uncertain. Management assesses the 
available positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient future taxable income will be generated to use existing deferred tax assets. Based on the 
weight of available evidence, including the Company’s history of operating losses, management has determined that it is more likely than not that the 
Company’s net deferred tax assets will not be realized. Accordingly, a valuation allowance has been established by the Company to fully offset these net 
deferred tax assets.
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Income tax benefit

For the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, domestic and foreign pre-tax loss were (in thousands): 
 

  Year ended December 31,  
  2021   2020   2019  

Loss before income taxes - Domestic  $ (107,723 )  $ (71,769 )  $ (48,643 )
Loss before income taxes - Foreign   82    (2,043 )   (1,779 )
Loss before income taxes - Consolidated  $ (107,641 )  $ (73,812 )  $ (50,422 )
 
A reconciliation of income tax expense to the amount computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate to the loss from operations for the three 
years in the period ended December 31, 2021 is as follows (in thousands): 
 

  Year ended December 31,  
  2021   2020   2019  

Expected income tax benefit at federal statutory rate  $ (22,605 )  $ (15,417 )  $ (10,589 )
State income tax benefit, net of federal benefit   (7,083 )   (4,886 )   (3,431 )
Tax effect of          

Change in valuation allowance   34,495    22,242    16,064  
R&D credit   (7,117 )   (2,597 )   (2,485 )
Stock-based compensation   1,196    539    226  
Australian tax incentive   27    215    307  
Other   1,087    (96 )   (92 )

Provision for income taxes  $ —   $ —   $ —  
 
Changes to the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits are summarized in the following table (in thousands): 
 

  Year ended December 31,  
  2021   2020   2019  

Beginning balance  $ 1,092   $ 886   $ 344  
Increase (decrease) for prior year tax positions   (34 )   (163 )   70  
Increase (decrease) for current year tax positions   495    369    472  
Ending balance  $ 1,553   $ 1,092   $ 886  
 
Due to the existence of the valuation allowance, future changes in unrecognized tax benefits would not have any effect on the Company’s effective tax rate. 
The Company does not foresee any material changes to its unrecognized tax benefits within the next twelve months. There have been no decreases in 
unrecognized tax benefits due to settlements or expiration of statute of limitations for the assessment of taxes during the years ended December 31, 2021, 
2020 and 2019.

In response to the pandemic, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”) was signed into law on March 27, 2020.  The 
CARES Act, among other things, includes tax provisions relating to refundable payroll tax credits, deferment of employer’s social security payments, net 
operating loss utilization and carryback periods, modifications to the net interest deduction limitations and technical corrections to tax depreciation methods 
for qualified improvement property.  The CARES Act did not have a material impact on our income tax provision for the year ended December 31, 2021 
and 2020.

Deferred income taxes have not been provided for undistributed earnings of the Company’s consolidated foreign subsidiary because the Parent entity would 
not be required to include the distribution into income as the amount would be tax free.                                  

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act subjects a U.S. shareholder to tax on Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income ("GILTI") earned by certain foreign subsidiaries. 
The FASB Staff Q&A, Topic 740 No. 5. Accounting for Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income, states that an entity can make an accounting policy election 
to either recognize deferred taxes for temporary basis differences expected to reverse as GILTI in future years or to provide for the tax expense related to 
GILTI in the year the tax is incurred as a period expense only. We have elected to account for GILTI in the year the tax is incurred.

12. EMPLOYEE SAVINGS PLAN

The Company has a defined contribution 401(k) benefit plan (the “401(k) Plan”) for all eligible employees, effective May 1, 2016. The plan permits 
participants to contribute up to the amount allowable under federal limits of annual pre-tax compensation to the 401(k) Plan. Effective in 2021, 
discretionary matching contributions to the 401(k) Plan are permitted in 
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an amount equal to 50% of the first 6% of the employee’s taxable income up to a maximum of $3,000 per year. The Company accrued approximately $0.3 
million for matching contributions for the year ended December 31, 2021.

13. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On February 25, 2022, the Company and Sanwa Kagaku Kenkyusho Co., Ltd. ("Sanwa"), entered into a license agreement (the “Sanwa License 
Agreement”) whereby the Company granted Sanwa an exclusive license to develop and commercialize paltusotine in Japan.

Under the terms of the Sanwa License Agreement, the Company received a $13.0 million nonrefundable, upfront payment and will be eligible to receive up 
to an additional $25.5 million in milestone payments related to the achievement of certain development, regulatory and commercial goals. In addition, upon 
market approval of paltusotine in Japan, the Company will be eligible to receive certain sales-based royalties. Sanwa will assume all costs associated with 
clinical trials and regulatory applications associated with these processes. Further, the Company retains all rights to develop and commercialize the product 
outside Japan.
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the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
 

Name   Title
 
 Date

          

/s/ R. Scott Struthers, Ph.D.   President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
 
  March 30, 2022

R. Scott Struthers, Ph.D.    (principal executive officer)
 
   

          

/s/ Marc J.S. Wilson    Chief Financial Officer
 
 March 30, 2022

Marc J.S. Wilson    (principal financial and accounting officer)
 
   

          

/s/ Wendell Wierenga, Ph.D.    Chairman of the Board of Directors
 
  March 30, 2022

Wendell Wierenga, Ph.D.     
 
   

          

/s/ Camille Bedrosian, M.D.    Director
 
 March 30, 2022

Camille Bedrosian, M.D.     
 
   

          

/s/ Caren Deardorf    Director
 
 March 30, 2022

Caren Deardorf     
 
   

     

/s/ Matthew K. Fust    Director
 
 March 30, 2022

Matthew K. Fust     
 
   

          

/s/ Weston Nichols, Ph.D.    Director
 
  March 30, 2022

Weston Nichols, Ph.D.     
 
   

          

/s/ Stephanie Okey    Director
 
  March 30, 2022

Stephanie Okey     
 
   

     
/s/ Rogério Vivaldi Coelho, M.D.  Director  March 30, 2022
Rogério Vivaldi Coelho, M.D.     

 
 



Exhibit 10.5

CRINETICS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. 

2018 INCENTIVE AWARD PLAN

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT GRANT NOTICE

Capitalized terms not specifically defined in this Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice (the “Grant Notice”) have the meanings given to them in the 
2018 Incentive Award Plan (as amended from time to time, the “Plan”) of Crinetics Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”).

The Company hereby grants to the participant listed below (“Participant”) the Restricted Stock Units described in this Grant Notice (the 
“RSUs”), subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan and the Restricted Stock Unit Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Agreement”), both of 
which are incorporated into this Grant Notice by reference.  

Participant: [Insert Participant Name]

Grant Date: [Insert Grant Date]

Number of RSUs: [Insert Number of RSUs]

Vesting Commencement Date: [Insert Vesting Commencement Date]

Vesting Schedule: [Insert Vesting Schedule]

 
If the Company uses an electronic capitalization table system (such as E*Trade, Shareworks or Carta) and the fields in this Grant Notice are 

blank or the information is otherwise provided in a different format electronically, the blank fields and other information will be deemed to come from the 
electronic capitalization system and is considered part of this Grant Notice.

By accepting (whether in writing, electronically or otherwise, including an acceptance through an electronic capitalization table system used by 
the Company) the RSUs, Participant agrees to be bound by the terms of this Grant Notice, the Plan and the Agreement.  Participant has reviewed the Plan, 
this Grant Notice and the Agreement in their entirety, has received a copy of the prospectus for the Plan, has had an opportunity to obtain the advice of 
counsel prior to executing this Grant Notice and fully understands all provisions of the Plan, this Grant Notice and the Agreement.  Participant hereby 
agrees to accept as binding, conclusive and final all decisions or interpretations of the Administrator upon any questions arising under the Plan, this Grant 
Notice or the Agreement.

Internet Availability of Plan Materials.  The Company will furnish Plan materials (including the Plan, prospectus, annual report on 
Form 10-K and proxy statement and other information provided to the Company’s stockholders) relating to the Plan to Participant electronically, 
instead of mailing printed copies of these materials to each person eligible to participate in the plans. This process is designed to expedite 
Participant’s receipt of the plan materials, reduce the costs of printing and distributing these materials, and help conserve natural resources. 
These materials are available through the Company’s electronic capitalization table system (such as E*Trade, Shareworks or Carta) and the 
annual report on Form 10-K and proxy statement and other information provided to our stockholders is also available on the Company’s website 
at [insert location]. However, if Participant would prefer to receive printed copies of the Plan materials or information provided to the Company’s 
stockholders without charge, please contact:  Crinetics, Inc., Attn: Secretary, 10222 Barnes Canyon Road, Building 2, San Diego, California 
92121;Telephone: (858) 450-6464, Email: [Email]@crinetics.com.  
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CRINETICS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. PARTICIPANT

By:  By:  

Print Name:  Print Name:  

Title:    
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EXHIBIT A

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT

Capitalized terms not specifically defined in this Agreement have the meanings specified in the Grant Notice or, if not defined in the Grant 
Notice, in the Plan.

ARTICLE I.
GENERAL

I.1 Award of RSUs.  The Company has granted the RSUs to Participant effective as of the grant date set forth in the Grant Notice (the 
“Grant Date”).  Each RSU represents the right to receive one Share, as set forth in this Agreement.  Participant will have no right to the distribution of any 
Shares until the time (if ever) the RSUs have vested.

I.2 Incorporation of Terms of Plan.  The RSUs are subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement and the Plan, which is 
incorporated herein by reference.  In the event of any inconsistency between the Plan and this Agreement, the terms of the Plan will control.

I.3 Unsecured Promise.  The RSUs will at all times prior to settlement represent an unsecured Company obligation payable only from the 
Company’s general assets.

ARTICLE II.
VESTING; FORFEITURE AND SETTLEMENT

II.1 Vesting; Forfeiture.  The RSUs will vest according to the vesting schedule in the Grant Notice (the “Vesting Schedule”), except that 
any fraction of an RSU that would otherwise be vested will be accumulated and will vest only when a whole RSU has accumulated.  Except as provided in 
the Grant Notice, in the event of Participant’s Termination of Service for any reason, all unvested RSUs will immediately and automatically be cancelled 
and forfeited, except as otherwise determined by the Administrator or provided in a binding written agreement between Participant and the Company.  
Unless and until the RSUs have vested in accordance with the Vesting Schedule set forth in the Grant Notice, Participant will have no right to any 
distribution with respect to such RSUs.

II.2 Settlement.

(a) RSUs will be paid in Shares as soon as administratively practicable after the vesting of the applicable RSU, but in 
no event more than sixty (60) days after the applicable vesting date.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company may delay any payment under this 
Agreement that the Company reasonably determines would violate Applicable Law until the earliest date the Company reasonably determines the making 
of the payment will not cause such a violation (in accordance with Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-2(b)(7)(ii)), provided the Company reasonably 
believes the delay will not result in the imposition of excise taxes under Section 409A.

(b) All distributions shall be made by the Company in the form of whole shares of Common Stock.

(c) Neither the time nor form of distribution of Shares with respect to the RSUs may be changed, except as may be 
permitted by the Administrator in accordance with the Plan and Section 409A of the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder.  

ARTICLE III.
TAXATION AND TAX WITHHOLDING

III.1 Tax Withholding.  
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(a) The Company shall not be obligated to deliver any certificate representing Shares issuable with respect to the 
RSUs to Participant or his or her legal representative unless and until Participant or his or her legal representative will have paid or otherwise satisfied in 
full the amount of all federal, state, local and foreign taxes required by Applicable Law to be withheld in connection with the vesting, exercise or settlement 
of the RSUs, the distribution of the Shares issuable with respect thereto, or any other taxable event related to the RSUs (the “Tax Withholding 
Obligation”).  Subject to Section 9.5 of the Plan, the Company will have the authority and the right to deduct or withhold, or require Participant to remit to 
the Company, an amount sufficient to satisfy any Tax Withholding Obligation, including, without limitation, the authority to deduct such amounts from 
other compensation payable to Participant by the Company. 

(b) Unless Participant elects to satisfy the Tax Withholding Obligation by some other means in accordance with 
Section 9.5 of the Plan, the Company will have the right, but not the obligation, with respect to the Tax Withholding Obligation arising as a result of the 
vesting, exercise or settlement of the RSUs, to treat Participant’s failure to provide timely payment in accordance with Section 9.5 of the Plan as 
Participant’s election to satisfy the Tax Withholding Obligation by requesting the Company to withhold a net number of vested Shares otherwise issuable 
pursuant to the RSUs having a then-current fair market value not exceeding the amount necessary to satisfy the Tax Withholding Obligation (provided that 
if Participant is subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act, any such action by the Company will require the approval of the Administrator) in accordance 
with Section 9.5 of the Plan.

III.2 Participant Responsibility; No Company Liability.  Participant acknowledges that Participant is ultimately liable and responsible for 
all taxes owed in connection with the RSUs, regardless of any action the Company or any Subsidiary takes with respect to any Tax Withholding 
Obligations that arise in connection with the RSUs.  Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary makes any representation or undertaking regarding the tax 
treatment to Participant in connection with the awarding, vesting or settlement of the RSUs or the subsequent sale of Shares.  The Company and its 
Subsidiaries do not commit and are under no obligation to structure the RSUs to reduce or eliminate Participant’s tax liability.

III.3 Representation.  Participant represents to the Company that Participant has reviewed with Participant’s own tax advisors the tax 
consequences of this Award and the transactions contemplated by the Grant Notice and this Agreement.  Participant is relying solely on such advisors and 
not on any statements or representations of the Company or any of its agents.

ARTICLE IV.
OTHER PROVISIONS

IV.1 Award Not Transferable; Other Restrictions.  Without limiting the generality of any other provision hereof, the Award will be subject 
to the restrictions on transferability set forth in Section 9.1 of the Plan. Without limiting the generality of any other provision hereof, Participant hereby 
expressly acknowledges that Section 10.8 (“Lock-Up Period”) and Section 10.13 (“Clawback Provisions”) of the Plan are expressly incorporated into this 
Agreement and are applicable to the Shares issued pursuant to this Agreement.

IV.2 Adjustments.  Participant acknowledges that the RSUs and the Shares subject to the RSUs are subject to adjustment, modification and 
termination in certain events as provided in this Agreement and the Plan.

IV.3 Notices.  Any notice to be given under the terms of this Agreement to the Company must be in writing and addressed to the Company 
in care of the Company’s Secretary at the Company’s principal office or the Secretary’s then-current email address or facsimile number.  Any notice to be 
given under the terms of this Agreement to Participant must be in writing and addressed to Participant at Participant’s last known mailing address, email 
address or facsimile number in the Company’s personnel files.  By a notice given pursuant to this Section, either party may designate a different address for 
notices to be given to that party.  Any notice will be deemed duly given when actually received, when sent by email, when sent by certified mail (return 
receipt requested) and deposited with postage prepaid in a post office or branch post office regularly maintained by the United States Postal Service, when 
delivered by a nationally recognized express shipping company or upon receipt of a facsimile transmission confirmation.
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IV.4 Titles.  Titles are provided herein for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for interpretation or construction of this 
Agreement.

IV.5 Conformity to Securities Laws.  Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan or this Agreement, if Participant is subject to Section 
16 of the Exchange Act, the Plan, the Grant Notice, this Agreement and the RSUs will be subject to any additional limitations set forth in any applicable 
exemptive rule under Section 16 of the Exchange Act (including any amendment to Rule 16b‑3) that are requirements for the application of such exemptive 
rule.  Participant acknowledges that the Plan, the Grant Notice and this Agreement are intended to conform to the extent necessary with all Applicable 
Laws and, to the extent Applicable Laws permit, will be deemed amended to the extent necessary to conform to such Applicable Laws or any such 
exemptive rule described in the preceding sentence.

IV.6 Successors and Assigns.  The Company may assign any of its rights under this Agreement to single or multiple assignees, and this 
Agreement will inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Company.  Subject to the restrictions on transfer set forth in the Plan, this 
Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, legatees, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the parties hereto.

IV.7 Entire Agreement.  The Plan, the Grant Notice and this Agreement constitute the entire agreement of the parties and supersede in their 
entirety all prior undertakings and agreements of the Company and Participant with respect to the subject matter hereof.  This Agreement may be amended 
by the Company in accordance with Section 9.6 of the Plan.

IV.8 Agreement Severable.  In the event that any provision of the Grant Notice or this Agreement is held illegal or invalid, the provision 
will be severable from, and the illegality or invalidity of the provision will not be construed to have any effect on, the remaining provisions of the Grant 
Notice or this Agreement.

IV.9 Limitation on Participant’s Rights.  Participation in the Plan confers no rights or interests other than as herein provided.  This 
Agreement creates only a contractual obligation on the part of the Company as to amounts payable and may not be construed as creating a trust.  Neither 
the Plan nor any underlying program, in and of itself, has any assets.  Participant will have only the rights of a general unsecured creditor of the Company 
with respect to amounts credited and benefits payable, if any, with respect to the RSUs, and rights no greater than the right to receive the Shares as a 
general unsecured creditor with respect to the RSUs, as and when settled pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

IV.10 Rights as a Stockholder.  Neither Participant nor any person claiming under or through Participant will have any of the rights or 
privileges of a stockholder of the Company in respect of any Shares deliverable hereunder unless and until certificates representing such Shares (which may 
be in book-entry form) will have been issued and recorded on the records of the Company or its transfer agents or registrars, and delivered to Participant 
(including through electronic delivery to a brokerage account).  Except as otherwise provided herein, after such issuance, recordation and delivery, 
Participant will have all the rights of a stockholder of the Company with respect to such Shares, including, without limitation, the right to receipt of 
dividends and distributions on such Shares.  

IV.11 Not a Contract of Employment.  Nothing in the Plan, the Grant Notice or this Agreement confers upon Participant any right to 
continue in the employ or service of the Company or any Subsidiary or interferes with or restricts in any way the rights of the Company and its 
Subsidiaries, which rights are hereby expressly reserved, to discharge or terminate the services of Participant at any time for any reason whatsoever, with or 
without Cause, except to the extent expressly provided otherwise in a written agreement between the Company or a Subsidiary and Participant.

IV.12 Counterparts.  The Grant Notice may be executed in one or more counterparts, including by way of any electronic signature, subject to 
Applicable Law, each of which will be deemed an original and all of which together will constitute one instrument.

4.12 Governing Law. The provisions of the Plan and all Awards made thereunder, including the RSUs, shall be governed by and interpreted in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, disregarding choice-of-law principles of the law of any state that would require the application of the 
laws of a jurisdiction other than such state.
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4.13 Section 409A.

 (a) Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, this Agreement or the Grant Notice, the Plan, this Agreement and the Grant Notice  
shall be interpreted in accordance with, and incorporate the terms and conditions required by, Section 409A of the Code (together with any Department of 
Treasury regulations and other interpretive guidance issued thereunder, including without limitation any such regulations or other guidance that may be 
issued after the Grant Date, “Section 409A”).  The Administrator may, in its discretion, adopt such amendments to the Plan, this Agreement or the Grant 
Notice or adopt other policies and procedures (including amendments, policies and procedures with retroactive effect), or take any other actions, as the 
Administrator determines are necessary or appropriate to comply with the requirements of Section 409A.

 (b) This Agreement is not intended to provide for any deferral of compensation subject to Section 409A of the Code, and, accordingly, the 
Shares issuable pursuant to the RSUs hereunder shall be distributed to Participant no later than the later of:  (A) the fifteenth (15th) day of the third month 
following Participant’s first taxable year in which such RSUs are no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture, and (B) the fifteenth (15th) day of the 
third month following first taxable year of the Company in which such RSUs are no longer subject to substantial risk of forfeiture, as determined in 
accordance with Section 409A and any Treasury Regulations and other guidance issued thereunder.

* * * * *
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Exhibit 10.17

CRINETICS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. 

2021 EMPLOYMENT INDUCEMENT INCENTIVE AWARD PLAN

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT GRANT NOTICE

Capitalized terms not specifically defined in this Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice (the “Grant Notice”) have the meanings given to them in the 
2021 Employment Inducement Incentive Award Plan (as amended from time to time, the “Plan”) of Crinetics Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”).

The Company hereby grants to the participant listed below (“Participant”) the Restricted Stock Units described in this Grant Notice (the 
“RSUs”), subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan and the Restricted Stock Unit Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Agreement”), both of 
which are incorporated into this Grant Notice by reference.  

Participant: [Insert Participant Name]

Grant Date: [Insert Grant Date]

Number of RSUs: [Insert Number of RSUs]

Vesting Commencement Date: [Insert Vesting Commencement Date]

Vesting Schedule: [Insert Vesting Schedule]

 
If the Company uses an electronic capitalization table system (such as E*Trade, Shareworks or Carta) and the fields in this Grant Notice are 

blank or the information is otherwise provided in a different format electronically, the blank fields and other information will be deemed to come from the 
electronic capitalization system and is considered part of this Grant Notice.

By accepting (whether in writing, electronically or otherwise, including an acceptance through an electronic capitalization table system used by 
the Company) the RSUs, Participant agrees to be bound by the terms of this Grant Notice, the Plan and the Agreement.  Participant has reviewed the Plan, 
this Grant Notice and the Agreement in their entirety, has received a copy of the prospectus for the Plan, has had an opportunity to obtain the advice of 
counsel prior to executing this Grant Notice and fully understands all provisions of the Plan, this Grant Notice and the Agreement.  Participant hereby 
agrees to accept as binding, conclusive and final all decisions or interpretations of the Administrator upon any questions arising under the Plan, this Grant 
Notice or the Agreement.  

CRINETICS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. PARTICIPANT

By:  By:  

Print Name:  Print Name:  

Title:    
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EXHIBIT A

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT

Capitalized terms not specifically defined in this Agreement have the meanings specified in the Grant Notice or, if not defined in the Grant 
Notice, in the Plan.

ARTICLE I.
GENERAL

I.1 Award of RSUs.  The Company has granted the RSUs to Participant effective as of the grant date set forth in the Grant Notice (the 
“Grant Date”).  Each RSU represents the right to receive one Share, as set forth in this Agreement.  Participant will have no right to the distribution of any 
Shares until the time (if ever) the RSUs have vested. The RSUs are intended to constitute an “employment inducement” award under Nasdaq Stock Market 
(“Nasdaq”) Rule 5635(c)(4), and consequently is intended to be exempt from the Nasdaq rules regarding shareholder approval of stock option plans or 
other equity compensation arrangements.  This Agreement and the terms and conditions of the Award shall be interpreted in accordance with and consistent 
with such exception.

I.2 Incorporation of Terms of Plan.  The RSUs are subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement and the Plan, which is 
incorporated herein by reference.  In the event of any inconsistency between the Plan and this Agreement, the terms of the Plan will control.

I.3 Unsecured Promise.  The RSUs will at all times prior to settlement represent an unsecured Company obligation payable only from the 
Company’s general assets.

ARTICLE II.
VESTING; FORFEITURE AND SETTLEMENT

II.1 Vesting; Forfeiture.  The RSUs will vest according to the vesting schedule in the Grant Notice (the “Vesting Schedule”), except that 
any fraction of an RSU that would otherwise be vested will be accumulated and will vest only when a whole RSU has accumulated.  Except as provided in 
the Grant Notice, in the event of Participant’s Termination of Service for any reason, all unvested RSUs will immediately and automatically be cancelled 
and forfeited, except as otherwise determined by the Administrator or provided in a binding written agreement between Participant and the Company.  
Unless and until the RSUs have vested in accordance with the Vesting Schedule set forth in the Grant Notice, Participant will have no right to any 
distribution with respect to such RSUs.

II.2 Settlement.

(a) RSUs will be paid in Shares as soon as administratively practicable after the vesting of the applicable RSU, but in 
no event more than sixty (60) days after the applicable vesting date.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company may delay any payment under this 
Agreement that the Company reasonably determines would violate Applicable Law until the earliest date the Company reasonably determines the making 
of the payment will not cause such a violation (in accordance with Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-2(b)(7)(ii)), provided the Company reasonably 
believes the delay will not result in the imposition of excise taxes under Section 409A.

(b) All distributions shall be made by the Company in the form of whole shares of Common Stock.

(c) Neither the time nor form of distribution of Shares with respect to the RSUs may be changed, except as may be 
permitted by the Administrator in accordance with the Plan and Section 409A of the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder.  
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ARTICLE III.
TAXATION AND TAX WITHHOLDING

III.1 Tax Withholding.  

(a) The Company shall not be obligated to deliver any certificate representing Shares issuable with respect to the 
RSUs to Participant or his or her legal representative unless and until Participant or his or her legal representative will have paid or otherwise satisfied in 
full the amount of all federal, state, local and foreign taxes required by Applicable Law to be withheld in connection with the vesting, exercise or settlement 
of the RSUs, the distribution of the Shares issuable with respect thereto, or any other taxable event related to the RSUs (the “Tax Withholding 
Obligation”).  Subject to Section 9.5 of the Plan, the Company will have the authority and the right to deduct or withhold, or require Participant to remit to 
the Company, an amount sufficient to satisfy any Tax Withholding Obligation, including, without limitation, the authority to deduct such amounts from 
other compensation payable to Participant by the Company. 

(b) Unless Participant elects to satisfy the Tax Withholding Obligation by some other means in accordance with 
Section 9.5 of the Plan, the Company will have the right, but not the obligation, with respect to the Tax Withholding Obligation arising as a result of the 
vesting, exercise or settlement of the RSUs, to treat Participant’s failure to provide timely payment in accordance with Section 9.5 of the Plan as 
Participant’s election to satisfy the Tax Withholding Obligation by requesting the Company to withhold a net number of vested Shares otherwise issuable 
pursuant to the RSUs having a then-current fair market value not exceeding the amount necessary to satisfy the Tax Withholding Obligation (provided that 
if Participant is subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act, any such action by the Company will require the approval of the Administrator) in accordance 
with Section 9.5 of the Plan.

III.2 Participant Responsibility; No Company Liability.  Participant acknowledges that Participant is ultimately liable and responsible for 
all taxes owed in connection with the RSUs, regardless of any action the Company or any Subsidiary takes with respect to any Tax Withholding 
Obligations that arise in connection with the RSUs.  Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary makes any representation or undertaking regarding the tax 
treatment to Participant in connection with the awarding, vesting or settlement of the RSUs or the subsequent sale of Shares.  The Company and its 
Subsidiaries do not commit and are under no obligation to structure the RSUs to reduce or eliminate Participant’s tax liability.

III.3 Representation.  Participant represents to the Company that Participant has reviewed with Participant’s own tax advisors the tax 
consequences of this Award and the transactions contemplated by the Grant Notice and this Agreement.  Participant is relying solely on such advisors and 
not on any statements or representations of the Company or any of its agents.

ARTICLE IV.
OTHER PROVISIONS

IV.1 Award Not Transferable; Other Restrictions.  Without limiting the generality of any other provision hereof, the Award will be subject 
to the restrictions on transferability set forth in Section 9.1 of the Plan. Without limiting the generality of any other provision hereof, Participant hereby 
expressly acknowledges that Section 10.8 (“Lock-Up Period”) and Section 10.13 (“Clawback Provisions”) of the Plan are expressly incorporated into this 
Agreement and are applicable to the Shares issued pursuant to this Agreement.

IV.2 Adjustments.  Participant acknowledges that the RSUs and the Shares subject to the RSUs are subject to adjustment, modification and 
termination in certain events as provided in this Agreement and the Plan.

IV.3 Notices.  Any notice to be given under the terms of this Agreement to the Company must be in writing and addressed to the Company 
in care of the Company’s Secretary at the Company’s principal office or the Secretary’s then-current email address or facsimile number.  Any notice to be 
given under the terms of this Agreement to Participant must be in writing and addressed to Participant at Participant’s last known mailing address, email 
address or facsimile number in the Company’s personnel files.  By a notice given pursuant to this Section, either party may designate a different address for 
notices to be given to that party.  Any notice will be deemed duly given when actually 
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received, when sent by email, when sent by certified mail (return receipt requested) and deposited with postage prepaid in a post office or branch post 
office regularly maintained by the United States Postal Service, when delivered by a nationally recognized express shipping company or upon receipt of a 
facsimile transmission confirmation.

IV.4 Titles.  Titles are provided herein for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for interpretation or construction of this 
Agreement.

IV.5 Conformity to Securities Laws.  Participant acknowledges that the Plan, the Grant Notice and this Agreement are intended to conform 
to the extent necessary with all Applicable Laws and, to the extent Applicable Laws permit, will be deemed amended to the extent necessary to conform to 
such Applicable Laws.

IV.6 Successors and Assigns.  The Company may assign any of its rights under this Agreement to single or multiple assignees, and this 
Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Company.  Subject to the restrictions on transfer set forth in the Plan, this 
Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, legatees, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the parties hereto.

IV.7 Limitations Applicable to Section 16 Persons.  Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan or this Agreement, if Participant is 
subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act, the Plan, the Grant Notice, this Agreement and the Option will be subject to any additional limitations set forth 
in any applicable exemptive rule under Section 16 of the Exchange Act (including any amendment to Rule 16b-3) that are requirements for the application 
of such exemptive rule.  To the extent Applicable Laws permit, this Agreement will be deemed amended as necessary to conform to such applicable 
exemptive rule.

IV.8 Entire Agreement.  The Plan, the Grant Notice and this Agreement constitute the entire agreement of the parties and supersede in their 
entirety all prior undertakings and agreements of the Company and Participant with respect to the subject matter hereof.  

IV.9 Agreement Severable.  In the event that any provision of the Grant Notice or this Agreement is held illegal or invalid, the provision 
will be severable from, and the illegality or invalidity of the provision will not be construed to have any effect on, the remaining provisions of the Grant 
Notice or this Agreement.

IV.10 Limitation on Participant’s Rights.  Participation in the Plan confers no rights or interests other than as herein provided.  This 
Agreement creates only a contractual obligation on the part of the Company as to amounts payable and may not be construed as creating a trust.  Neither 
the Plan nor any underlying program, in and of itself, has any assets.  Participant will have only the rights of a general unsecured creditor of the Company 
with respect to amounts credited and benefits payable, if any, with respect to the RSUs, and rights no greater than the right to receive the Shares as a 
general unsecured creditor with respect to the RSUs, as and when settled pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

IV.11 Rights as a Stockholder.  Neither Participant nor any person claiming under or through Participant will have any of the rights or 
privileges of a stockholder of the Company in respect of any Shares deliverable hereunder unless and until certificates representing such Shares (which may 
be in book-entry form) will have been issued and recorded on the records of the Company or its transfer agents or registrars, and delivered to Participant 
(including through electronic delivery to a brokerage account).  Except as otherwise provided herein, after such issuance, recordation and delivery, 
Participant will have all the rights of a stockholder of the Company with respect to such Shares, including, without limitation, the right to receipt of 
dividends and distributions on such Shares.  

IV.12 Not a Contract of Employment.  Nothing in the Plan, the Grant Notice or this Agreement confers upon Participant any right to 
continue in the employ or service of the Company or any Subsidiary or interferes with or restricts in any way the rights of the Company and its 
Subsidiaries, which rights are hereby expressly reserved, to discharge or terminate the services of Participant at any time for any reason whatsoever, with or 
without Cause, except to the extent expressly provided otherwise in a written agreement between the Company or a Subsidiary and Participant.
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IV.13 Counterparts.  The Grant Notice may be executed in one or more counterparts, including by way of any electronic signature, subject to 
Applicable Law, each of which will be deemed an original and all of which together will constitute one instrument.

4.14 Governing Law. The provisions of the Plan and all Awards made thereunder, including the RSUs, shall be governed by and interpreted in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, disregarding choice-of-law principles of the law of any state that would require the application of the 
laws of a jurisdiction other than such state.

4.15 Section 409A.

 (a) Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, this Agreement or the Grant Notice, the Plan, this Agreement and the Grant Notice  
shall be interpreted in accordance with, and incorporate the terms and conditions required by, Section 409A of the Code (together with any Department of 
Treasury regulations and other interpretive guidance issued thereunder, including without limitation any such regulations or other guidance that may be 
issued after the Grant Date, “Section 409A”).  The Administrator may, in its discretion, adopt such amendments to the Plan, this Agreement or the Grant 
Notice or adopt other policies and procedures (including amendments, policies and procedures with retroactive effect), or take any other actions, as the 
Administrator determines are necessary or appropriate to comply with the requirements of Section 409A.

 (b) This Agreement is not intended to provide for any deferral of compensation subject to Section 409A of the Code, and, accordingly, the 
Shares issuable pursuant to the RSUs hereunder shall be distributed to Participant no later than the later of:  (A) the fifteenth (15th) day of the third month 
following Participant’s first taxable year in which such RSUs are no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture, and (B) the fifteenth (15th) day of the 
third month following first taxable year of the Company in which such RSUs are no longer subject to substantial risk of forfeiture, as determined in 
accordance with Section 409A and any Treasury Regulations and other guidance issued thereunder.

* * * * *

A-4
|US-DOCS\128323792.1||



Exhibit 10.18

AMENDED AND RESTATED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into by and 
between Crinetics Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and Stephen F. Betz (“Executive”), and shall 
be effective as of May 22, 2018 (the “Effective Date”).

WHEREAS, the Company and Executive previously entered into that certain Employment Agreement, dated October 
30, 2015 (the “Prior Agreement”), which sets forth the terms and conditions of the Executive’s employment with the Company; 
and

WHEREAS, the Company desires to amend and restate the Prior Agreement on the terms and conditions set forth in this 
Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises herein contained, the parties agree as follows:

1. Definitions.  As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

 (a) “ Acquisition” means (i) any consolidation or merger of the Company with or into any other corporation or 
other entity or person, or any other corporate reorganization, other than any such consolidation, merger or reorganization in 
which the shares of capital stock of the Company immediately prior to such consolidation, merger or reorganization, continue to 
represent a majority of the voting power of the surviving entity (or, if the surviving entity is a wholly owned subsidiary, its 
parent) immediately after such consolidation, merger or reorganization (provided that, for the purpose of this Section 1(a), all 
shares of the Company’s common stock issuable upon exercise of options outstanding immediately prior to such consolidation or 
merger or upon conversion of Convertible Securities outstanding immediately prior to such merger or consolidation shall be 
deemed to be outstanding immediately prior to such merger or consolidation and, if applicable, converted or exchanged in such 
merger or consolidation on the same terms as the actual outstanding shares of capital stock are converted or exchanged); or (ii) 
any transaction or series of related transactions to which the Company is a party in which in excess of fifty percent (50%) of the 
Company’s voting power is transferred; provided that an Acquisition shall not include any transaction or series of transactions 
principally for bona fide equity financing purposes in which cash is received by the Company or any successor or indebtedness of 
the Company is cancelled or converted or a combination thereof.

 (b) “ Asset Transfer” means a sale, lease, exclusive license or other disposition of all or substantially all of the 
assets of the Company.
 
  (c) “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.
 
  (d) “Cause” means any of the following:

(i)  the commission of an act of fraud, embezzlement or dishonesty by Executive, or the commission  
of some other illegal act by Executive, that causes material harm to the Company or any successor or affiliate thereof; 
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(ii)  Executive’s conviction of, or plea of “guilty” or “no contest” to, a felony or any crime involving  
fraud, dishonesty or moral turpitude under the laws of the United States or any state thereof; 

(iii)  any intentional unauthorized use or disclosure by Executive of confidential information or trade  
secrets of the Company or any successor or affiliate thereof; 

(iv)  Executive’s gross negligence, insubordination or material violation of any duty of loyalty to the  
Company or any successor or affiliate thereof, or any other material misconduct on the part of Executive; 

(v) Executive’s ongoing and repeated failure or refusal to perform or neglect of Executive’s duties as 
required by this Agreement, which failure, refusal or neglect continues for fifteen (15) days following Executive’s receipt of 
written notice from the Board or the Company’s Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”) stating with specificity the nature of such 
failure, refusal or neglect; or 

(vi)  Executive’s intentional, material breach of any Company policy or any contract or agreement  
between Executive and the Company or any successor or affiliate thereof;

provided, however, that prior to the determination that “Cause” under clauses (iv), (v) or (vi) of this Section 1(d) has occurred, 
the Company shall (A) provide to Executive in writing, in reasonable detail, the reasons for the determination that such “Cause” 
exists, (B) other than with respect to clause (v) above which specifies the applicable period of time for Executive to remedy his or 
her breach, afford Executive a reasonable opportunity to remedy any such breach, (C) provide Executive an opportunity to be 
heard prior to the final decision to terminate Executive’s employment hereunder for such “Cause” and (D) make any decision that 
such “Cause” exists in good faith.

The foregoing definition shall not in any way preclude or restrict the right of the Company or any successor or 
affiliate thereof to discharge or dismiss Executive for any other acts or omissions, but such other acts or omissions shall not be 
deemed, for purposes of this Agreement, to constitute grounds for termination for Cause.

(e) “Change in Control” means an Acquisition or Asset Transfer; provided, however, that, from and after the 
date on which the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with respect to the Company’s initial public offering 
becomes effective, “Change in Control” shall have the meaning given to such term in the Company’s 2018 Incentive Award Plan 
as in effect on such date.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Change in Control constitutes a payment event with respect to any payment 
hereunder that provides for the deferral of compensation that is subject to 
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Section409A, to the extent required to avoid the imposition of additional taxes under Section 409A, the transaction or event with 
respect to such payment shall only constitute a Change in Control for purposes of the payment timing of such payment if such 
transaction also constitutes a “change in control event,” as defined in Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(i)(5).

 
  (f) “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, and the Treasury Regulations 
and other interpretive guidance issued thereunder.
 
  (g) “ Convertible Securities” means preferred stock or other stock, options, warrants, purchase rights or other 
securities exercisable for or convertible into, additional shares of the Company’s common stock.

 (h) “Good Reason” means the occurrence of any of the following events or conditions without Executive’s written 
consent:

 
   (i) a material diminution in Executive’s authority, duties or responsibilities;

   (ii) a material diminution in Executive’s base compensation, unless such a reduction is imposed across-the-board 
to senior management of the Company; 

   (iii) a material change in the geographic location at which Executive must perform his or her duties; or

   (iv) any other action or inaction that constitutes a material breach by the Company or any successor or affiliate of 
its obligations to Executive under this Agreement.

 Executive must provide written notice to the Company of the occurrence of any of the foregoing events or  
conditions without Executive’s written consent within sixty (60) days of the occurrence of such event.  The Company or any 
successor or affiliate shall have a period of thirty (30) days to cure such event or condition after receipt of written notice of such 
event from Executive.  Executive’s Separation from Service by reason of resignation from employment with the Company for 
Good Reason must occur within thirty (30) days following the expiration of the foregoing thirty (30) day cure period.  

 (i) “Involuntary Termination” means (i) Executive’s Separation from Service by reason of Executive’s discharge 
by the Company other than for Cause, or (ii) Executive’s Separation from Service by reason of Executive’s resignation of 
employment with the Company for Good Reason.  Executive’s Separation from Service by reason of Executive’s death or 
discharge by the Company following Executive’s Permanent Disability shall not constitute an Involuntary Termination.  

 (j) Executive’s “Permanent Disability” shall be deemed to have occurred if Executive shall become physically or 
mentally incapacitated or disabled or otherwise unable fully to discharge his or her duties hereunder for a period of ninety (90) 
consecutive calendar days or for one hundred twenty (120) calendar days in any one hundred eighty (180) calendar-day period.  
The existence of Executive’s Permanent Disability shall be determined by the Company on the advice of a physician chosen by 
the Company and the Company reserves the right to have Executive examined by a physician chosen by the Company at the 
Company’s expense.
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            (k)  “ Separation from Service,” with respect to Executive, means Executive’s “separation from service,” as 
defined in Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(h). 

  (l) “ Stock Awards” means all stock options, restricted stock and such other awards granted pursuant to the 
Company’s stock option and equity incentive award plans or agreements and any shares of stock issued upon exercise thereof; 
provided that “Stock Awards” shall not include those shares of the Company’s common stock owned by Executive as of the date 
hereof and issued to Executive pursuant to that certain Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of July 31, 2011 (the 
“Founders’ Shares”), which Founders’ Shares are subject to the terms of the Stock Restriction Agreement of even date herewith 
between Executive and the Company (the “Stock Restriction Agreement”). 

2.  Services to Be Rendered.  

 (a) Duties and Responsibilities.  Executive shall serve as Vice President of Biology of the Company.  In the 
performance of such duties, Executive shall report directly to the CEO and shall be subject to the direction of the CEO and to 
such limits upon Executive’s authority as the CEO  may from time to time impose.  In the event of the CEO’s incapacity or 
unavailability, Executive shall be subject to the direction of the Board.  Executive hereby consents to serve as an officer and/or 
director of the Company or any subsidiary or affiliate thereof without any additional salary or compensation, if so requested by 
the CEO.  Executive shall be employed by the Company on a full time basis.  Executive’s primary place of work shall be the 
Company’s offices in San Diego, California, or, with the Company’s consent, at any other place at which the Company maintains 
an office; provided, however, that the Company may from time to time require Executive to travel temporarily to other locations 
in connection with the Company’s business.  Executive shall be subject to and comply with the policies and procedures generally 
applicable to senior executives of the Company to the extent the same are not inconsistent with any term of this Agreement.

 (b) Exclusive Services.  Executive shall at all times faithfully, industriously and to the best of his or her ability, 
experience and talent perform to the satisfaction of the Board and the CEO all of the duties that may be assigned to Executive 
hereunder and shall devote substantially all of his or her productive time and efforts to the performance of such duties.  Subject to 
the terms of the Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement referred to in Section 5(b), this shall not preclude Executive 
from (i) serving on industry trade, civic, or charitable boards or committees; (ii) delivering lectures or fulfilling speaking 
engagements; (iii) serving on the board of directors or other similar governance body of any entity, subject to the consent of the 
Board, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld; or (iv) managing personal, family and other investments, provided such 
activities do not interfere with his or her duties to the Company, as determined in good faith by the CEO.  Executive agrees that 
he or she will not join any boards, other than community and civic boards (which do not interfere with his or her duties to the 
Company), without the prior approval of the Board and the CEO.  

3. Compensation and Benefits.  The Company shall pay or provide, as the case may be, to Executive the 
compensation and other benefits and rights set forth in this Section 3.

(a) Base Salary.  The Company shall pay to Executive a base salary of $290,000 per year, payable 
in accordance with the Company’s usual pay practices (and in any event no less frequently than monthly); provided, however, 
that, effective on the date on which the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with respect to the Company’s 
initial public 
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offering becomes effective, Executive’s base salary shall be increased to $350,000.  Executive’s base salary shall be subject to 
review annually by and at the sole discretion of the Compensation Committee of the Board or its designee.

(b) Bonus.  Executive shall participate in any bonus plan that the Board or its designee may 
approve for the senior executives of the Company. Executive’s target bonus under the Company’s annual bonus plan shall be 
thirty-five percent (35%) of Executive’s base salary.  

(c) Benefits.  Executive shall be entitled to participate in benefits under the Company’s benefit 
plans and arrangements, including, without limitation, any employee benefit plan or arrangement made available in the future by 
the Company to its senior executives, subject to and on a basis consistent with the terms, conditions and overall administration of 
such plans and arrangements. The Company shall have the right to amend or delete any such benefit plan or arrangement made 
available by the Company to its senior executives and not otherwise specifically provided for herein.  

(d) Expenses.  The Company shall reimburse Executive for reasonable out-of-pocket business 
expenses incurred in connection with the performance of his or her duties hereunder, subject to such policies as the Company 
may from time to time establish, and Executive furnishing the Company with evidence in the form of receipts satisfactory to the 
Company substantiating the claimed expenditures.  

(e) Paid Time Off.  Executive shall be entitled to such periods of paid time off (“PTO”) each year 
as provided from time to time under the Company’s PTO policy and as otherwise provided for senior executive officers.

(f) Equity Plans.  Executive shall be entitled to participate in any equity or other employee benefit 
plan that is generally available to executives of the Company.  Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, Executive’s 
participation in and benefits under any such plan shall be on the terms and subject to the conditions specified in the governing 
document of the particular plan.

(g) Stock Award Acceleration.  

   (i) Subject to Section 4(d), in the event of Executive’s Separation from Service by reason of Executive’s death or 
discharge by the Company following Executive’s Permanent Disability, the vesting and/or exercisability of 100% of Executive’s 
outstanding unvested Stock Awards shall be automatically accelerated on the date of Executive’s Separation from Service.

   (ii) Subject to Section 4(d), in the event of a Change in Control, the vesting and/or exercisability of 100% of  
Executive’s outstanding unvested Stock Awards shall be automatically accelerated on the first to occur of (A) Executive’s 
Involuntary Termination following such Change in Control, or (B) the first anniversary of the closing of such Change in Control.

   (iii) Subject to Section 4(d), in the event of Executive’s Involuntary Termination prior to the occurrence of a  
Change in Control, the vesting and/or exercisability of any outstanding unvested portion of each of Executive’s Stock Awards 
shall be automatically accelerated as to the number of Stock Awards that would vest over the twelve (12) month period 
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following the date of Executive’s Separation from Service had Executive remained continuously employed by the Company 
during such period.

   (iv) The vesting pursuant to clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) of this Section 3(g) shall be cumulative.  The foregoing  
provisions are hereby deemed to be a part of each Stock Award and to supersede any less favorable provision in any agreement or 
plan regarding such Stock Award.

4. Severance.  Executive shall be entitled to receive benefits upon a Separation from Service only as set forth in this 
Section 4:

(a) At-Will Employment; Termination.  The Company and Executive acknowledge that Executive’s 
employment is and shall continue to be at-will, as defined under applicable law, and that Executive’s employment with the 
Company may be terminated by either party at any time for any or no reason, with or without notice.  If Executive’s employment 
terminates for any reason, Executive shall not be entitled to any payments, benefits, damages, awards or compensation other than 
as provided in this Agreement.  Executive’s employment under this Agreement shall be terminated immediately on the death of 
Executive.  

(b) Severance Upon Involuntary Termination.   Subject to Sections 4(d) and 9(o) and Executive’s continued 
compliance with Section 5, if Executive’s employment is Involuntarily Terminated, Executive shall be entitled to receive, in lieu 
of any severance benefits to which Executive may otherwise be entitled under any severance plan or program of the Company, 
the benefits provided below:

 (i) the Company shall pay to Executive his or her fully earned but unpaid base salary, when due, through 
the date of Executive’s Involuntary Termination at the rate then in effect, accrued and unused PTO, plus all other benefits, if any, 
under any Company group retirement plan, nonqualified deferred compensation plan, equity award plan or agreement (other than 
any such plan or agreement pertaining to Stock Awards whose treatment is prescribed by Section 3(g) above), health benefits 
plan or other Company group benefit plan to which Executive may be entitled pursuant to the terms of such plans or agreements 
at the time of Executive’s Involuntary Termination (the “Accrued Obligations”);

 (ii) Executive shall be entitled to receive severance pay in an amount equal to twelve (12) multiplied by  
Executive’s monthly base salary as in effect immediately prior to the date of Executive’s Involuntary Termination, which amount 
shall be payable in a lump sum sixty (60) days following Executive’s Involuntary Termination; and

 (iii)  for the period beginning on the date of Executive’s Separation from Service and ending on the date  
which is twelve (12) full months following the date of Executive’s Separation from Service (or, if earlier, (1) the date on which 
the applicable continuation period under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended (“COBRA”) 
expires or (2) the date Executive becomes eligible to receive the equivalent or increased healthcare coverage by means of 
subsequent employment or self-employment) (such period, the “COBRA Coverage Period”), if Executive and/or his or her 
eligible dependents who were covered under the Company’s health insurance plans as of the date of Executive’s Separation from 
Service elect to have COBRA coverage and are eligible for such coverage, the Company shall pay for or reimburse Executive on 
a monthly basis for an amount equal to (A) the monthly premium Executive and/or his or her covered dependents, as applicable, 
are required to pay for continuation coverage pursuant to COBRA for Executive and/or his or her eligible dependents, 
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as applicable, who were covered under the Company’s health plans as of the date of Executive’s Separation from Service 
(calculated by reference to the premium as of the date of Executive’s Separation from Service) less (B) the amount Executive 
would have had to pay to receive group health coverage for Executive and/or his or her covered dependents, as applicable, based 
on the cost sharing levels in effect on the date of Executive’s Separation from Service.  If any of the Company’s health benefits 
are self-funded as of the date of Executive’s Separation from Service, or if the Company cannot provide the foregoing benefits in 
a manner that is exempt from Section 409A (as defined below) or that is otherwise compliant with applicable law (including, 
without limitation, Section 2716 of the Public Health Service Act), instead of providing the payments or reimbursements as set 
forth above, the Company shall instead pay to Executive the foregoing monthly amount as a taxable monthly payment for the 
COBRA Coverage Period (or any remaining portion thereof).  Executive shall be solely responsible for all matters relating to 
continuation of coverage pursuant to COBRA, including, without limitation, the election of such coverage and the timely 
payment of premiums.  Executive shall notify the Company immediately if Executive becomes eligible to receive the equivalent 
or increased healthcare coverage by means of subsequent employment or self-employment.

  (iv) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 4(b), and subject to Sections 4(d) and 9(o) and  
Executive’s continued compliance with Section 5, in the event of Executive’s Involuntary Termination within twelve (12) months 
following a Change in Control, Executive shall be entitled to receive, in addition to the severance benefits described in clauses 
(i), (ii) and (iii) above, an amount equal to Executive’s target bonus for the year in which Executive’s Involuntary Termination 
occurs, which amount shall be payable in a lump sum sixty (60) days following Executive’s Involuntary Termination.

 (c) Termination for Cause, Voluntary Resignation Without Good Reason, Death or Termination for Permanent 
Disability.  In the event of Executive’s termination of employment as a result of Executive’s discharge by the Company for 
Cause, Executive’s resignation without Good Reason, Executive’s death or Executive’s termination of employment following 
Executive’s Permanent Disability, the Company shall not have any other or further obligations to Executive under this Agreement 
(including any financial obligations) except that Executive shall be entitled to receive the Accrued Obligations.  The foregoing 
shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, any and all other rights and remedies which may be available to the Company under the 
circumstances, whether at law or in equity.

(d) Release.  As a condition to Executive’s receipt of any post-termination benefits pursuant to Section 4(b) 
above, Executive (or, in the event of Executive’s incapacity as a result of his or her Permanent Disability, Executive’s legal 
representative) shall execute and not revoke a general release of all claims in favor of the Company (the “Release”) in the form 
attached hereto as Exhibit A.  In the event the Release does not become effective within the fifty-five (55) day period following 
the date of Executive’s Separation from Service, Executive shall not be entitled to the aforesaid payments and benefits.  

  (e) Exclusive Remedy.  Except as otherwise expressly required by law (e.g., COBRA) or as specifically provided 
herein, all of Executive’s rights to salary, severance, benefits, bonuses and other amounts hereunder (if any) accruing after the 
termination of Executive’s employment shall cease upon such termination.  In the event of Executive’s termination of 
employment with the Company, Executive’s sole remedy shall be to receive the payments and benefits described in Section 3(g) 
and this Section 4.  In addition, Executive acknowledges and agrees that he or she is not entitled to any reimbursement by the 
Company for 
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any taxes payable by Executive as a result of the payments and benefits received by Executive pursuant to Section 3(g) and this 
Section 4, including, without limitation, any excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code.  Any payments made to Executive 
under this Section 4 shall be inclusive of any amounts or benefits to which Executive may be entitled pursuant to the Worker 
Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, 29 U.S.C. Sections 2101 et seq., and the Department of Labor regulations 
thereunder, or any similar state statute.

  (f) No Mitigation.  Except as otherwise provided in Section 4(b)(iii) above, Executive shall not be required to 
mitigate the amount of any payment provided for in this Section 4 by seeking other employment or otherwise, nor shall the 
amount of any payment or benefit provided for in this Section 4 be reduced by any compensation earned by Executive as the 
result of employment by another employer or self-employment or by retirement benefits; provided, however, that loans, advances 
or other amounts owed by Executive to the Company may be offset by the Company against amounts payable to Executive under 
this Section 4.  

(g) Return of the Company’s Property.  In the event of Executive’s termination of employment for any reason, 
the Company shall have the right, at its option, to require Executive to vacate his or her offices prior to or on the effective date of 
separation and to cease all activities on the Company’s behalf.  Upon Executive’s termination of employment in any manner, as a 
condition to Executive’s receipt of any severance benefits described in this Agreement, Executive shall immediately surrender to 
the Company all lists, books and records of, or in connection with, the Company’s business, and all other property belonging to 
the Company, it being distinctly understood that all such lists, books and records, and other documents, are the property of the 
Company.  Executive shall deliver to the Company a signed statement certifying compliance with this Section 4(g) prior to the 
receipt of any severance benefits described in this Agreement.

(h) Deemed Resignation.  Upon termination of Executive’s employment for any reason, Executive shall be 
deemed to have resigned from all offices and directorships, if any, then held with the Company or any of its affiliates, and, at the 
Company’s request, Executive shall execute such documents as are necessary or desirable to effectuate such resignations.

5. Certain Covenants.
 

(a) Noncompetition.  Except as may otherwise be approved by the Board, during the term of 
Executive’s employment, Executive shall not have any ownership interest (of record or beneficial) in, or have any interest as an 
employee, salesman, consultant, officer or director in, or otherwise aid or assist in any manner, any firm, corporation, partnership, 
proprietorship or other business that engages in any county, city or part thereof in the United States and/or any foreign country in 
a business which competes directly or indirectly (as determined by the Board) with the Company’s business in such county, city 
or part thereof, so long as the Company, or any successor in interest of the Company to the business and goodwill of the 
Company, remains engaged in such business in such county, city or part thereof or continues to solicit customers or potential 
customers therein; provided, however, that Executive may own, directly or indirectly, solely as an investment, securities of any 
entity which are traded on any national securities exchange if Executive (i) is not a controlling person of, or a member of a group 
which controls, such entity; or (ii) does not, directly or indirectly, own one percent (1%) or more of any class of securities of any 
such entity. 
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(b) Confidential Information.  Executive and the Company have entered into the Company’s 
standard employee proprietary information and inventions agreement (the “Employee Proprietary Information and Inventions 
Agreement”).  Executive agrees to perform each and every obligation of Executive therein contained.

(c) Solicitation of Employees.  Executive shall not during the term of Executive’s employment 
and for a period of twelve (12) months following Executive’s Separation from Service (the “Restricted Period”), directly or 
indirectly, solicit or encourage to leave the employment of the Company or any of its affiliates, any employee of the Company or 
any of its affiliates.

(d) Solicitation of Consultants.  Executive shall not during the term of Executive’s employment 
and for the Restricted Period, directly or indirectly, hire, solicit or encourage to cease work with the Company or any of its 
affiliates any consultant then under contract with the Company or any of its affiliates within one year of the termination of such 
consultant’s engagement by the Company or any of its affiliates.

(e) Rights and Remedies Upon Breach.  If Executive breaches or threatens to commit a breach of 
any of the provisions of this Section 5 (the “Restrictive Covenants”), the Company shall have the following rights and remedies, 
each of which rights and remedies shall be independent of the other and severally enforceable, and all of which rights and 
remedies shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other rights and remedies available to the Company under law or in 
equity:

(i) Specific Performance.  The right and remedy to have the Restrictive 
Covenants specifically enforced by any court having equity jurisdiction, all without the need to post a bond or any other security 
or to prove any amount of actual damage or that money damages would not provide an adequate remedy, it being acknowledged 
and agreed that any such breach or threatened breach will cause irreparable injury to the Company and that money damages will 
not provide adequate remedy to the Company; and

(ii) Accounting and Indemnification.  The right and remedy to require Executive 
(A) to account for and pay over to the Company all compensation, profits, monies, accruals, increments or other benefits derived 
or received by Executive or any associated party deriving such benefits as a result of any such breach of the Restrictive 
Covenants; and (B) to indemnify the Company against any other losses, damages (including special and consequential damages), 
costs and expenses, including actual attorneys’ fees and court costs, which may be incurred by them and which result from or 
arise out of any such breach or threatened breach of the Restrictive Covenants. 

(f) Severability of Covenants/Blue Pencilling.  If any court determines that any of the Restrictive Covenants, 
or any part thereof, is invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of the Restrictive Covenants shall not thereby be affected and shall 
be given full effect, without regard to the invalid portions.  If any court determines that any of the Restrictive Covenants, or any 
part thereof, are unenforceable because of the duration of such provision or the area covered thereby, such court shall have the 
power to reduce the duration or area of such provision and, in its reduced form, such provision shall then be enforceable and shall 
be enforced.  Executive 
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hereby waives any and all right to attack the validity of the Restrictive Covenants on the grounds of the breadth of their 
geographic scope or the length of their term.

(g) Enforceability in Jurisdictions.  The Company and Executive intend to and do hereby confer jurisdiction to 
enforce the Restrictive Covenants upon the courts of any jurisdiction within the geographical scope of such covenants.  If the 
courts of any one or more of such jurisdictions hold the Restrictive Covenants wholly unenforceable by reason of the breadth of 
such scope or otherwise, it is the intention of the Company and Executive that such determination not bar or in any way affect the 
right of the Company to the relief provided above in the courts of any other jurisdiction within the geographical scope of such 
covenants, as to breaches of such covenants in such other respective jurisdictions, such covenants as they relate to each 
jurisdiction being, for this purpose, severable into diverse and independent covenants.

(h) Whistleblower Provision. Nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit Executive from communicating 
directly with, cooperating with, or providing information to, any government regulator, including, but not limited to, the U.S. 
Securities and Exchange Commission, the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission, or the U.S. Department of Justice. 
Executive acknowledges that the Company has provided Executive with the following notice of immunity rights in compliance 
with the requirements of the Defend Trade Secrets Act: (i) Executive shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under any 
Federal or State trade secret law for the disclosure of proprietary information of the Company that is made in confidence to a 
Federal, State, or local government official or to an attorney solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected 
violation of law, (ii) Executive shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under any Federal or State trade secret law for the 
disclosure of proprietary information of the Company that is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other 
proceeding, if such filing is made under seal and (iii) if Executive files a lawsuit for retaliation by the Company for reporting a 
suspected violation of law, Executive may disclose the proprietary information to my attorney and use the proprietary information 
in the court proceeding, if Executive files any document containing the proprietary information under seal, and does not disclose 
the proprietary information, except pursuant to court order.

(i) Definitions.  For purposes of this Section 5, the term “Company” means not only Crinetics 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., but also any company, partnership or entity which, directly or indirectly, controls, is controlled by or is 
under common control with Crinetics Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

6. Insurance; Indemnification.  

 (a) Insurance.  The Company shall have the right to take out life, health, accident, “key-man” or other insurance 
covering Executive, in the name of the Company and at the Company’s expense in any amount deemed appropriate by the 
Company.  Executive shall assist the Company in obtaining such insurance, including, without limitation, submitting to any 
required examinations and providing information and data required by insurance companies.

 (b) Indemnification.  Executive will be provided with indemnification against third party claims related to his or 
her work for the Company as required by Delaware law.  The Company shall provide Executive with directors and officers 
liability insurance coverage at least 
 10 

|US-DOCS\101618756.1||



as favorable as that which the Company may maintain from time to time for members of the Board and other executive officers.

7. Arbitration.  Any dispute, claim or controversy based on, arising out of or relating to Executive’s employment or 
this Agreement shall be settled by final and binding arbitration in San Diego, California, before a single neutral arbitrator in 
accordance with the National Rules for the Resolution of Employment Disputes (the “Rules”) of the American Arbitration 
Association, and judgment on the award rendered by the arbitrator may be entered in any court having jurisdiction.  The Rules 
may be found online at www.adr.org.  Arbitration may be compelled pursuant to the California Arbitration Act (Code of Civil 
Procedure §§ 1280 et seq.).  If the parties are unable to agree upon an arbitrator, one shall be appointed by the AAA in 
accordance with its Rules.  Each party shall pay the fees of its own attorneys, the expenses of its witnesses and all other expenses 
connected with presenting its case; however, Executive and the Company agree that, to the extent permitted by law, the arbitrator 
may, in his or her discretion, award reasonable attorneys’ fees to the prevailing party.  Other costs of the arbitration, including the 
cost of any record or transcripts of the arbitration, AAA’s administrative fees, the fee of the arbitrator, and all other fees and costs, 
shall be borne by the Company.  This Section 7 is intended to be the exclusive method for resolving any and all claims by the 
parties against each other for payment of damages under this Agreement or relating to Executive’s employment; provided, 
however, that Executive shall retain the right to file administrative charges with or seek relief through any government agency of 
competent jurisdiction, and to participate in any government investigation, including but not limited to (i) claims for workers’ 
compensation, state disability insurance or unemployment insurance; (ii) claims for unpaid wages or waiting time penalties 
brought before the California Division of Labor Standards Enforcement; provided, however, that any appeal from an award or 
from denial of an award of wages and/or waiting time penalties shall be arbitrated pursuant to the terms of this Agreement; and 
(iii) claims for administrative relief from the United States Equal Employment Opportunity Commission and/or the California 
Department of Fair Employment and Housing (or any similar agency in any applicable jurisdiction other than California); 
provided, further, that Executive shall not be entitled to obtain any monetary relief through such agencies other than workers’ 
compensation benefits or unemployment insurance benefits.  This Agreement shall not limit either party’s right to obtain any 
provisional remedy, including, without limitation, injunctive or similar relief, from any court of competent jurisdiction as may be 
necessary to protect their rights and interests pending the outcome of arbitration, including without limitation injunctive relief, in 
any court of competent jurisdiction pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure § 1281.8 or any similar statute of an 
applicable jurisdiction.  Seeking any such relief shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such party’s right to compel arbitration.  
Both Executive and the Company expressly waive their right to a jury trial.

8. General Relationship.  Executive shall be considered an employee of the Company within the meaning of all 
federal, state and local laws and regulations including, but not limited to, laws and regulations governing unemployment 
insurance, workers’ compensation, industrial accident, labor and taxes.

9. Miscellaneous.

(a) Modification; Prior Claims.  This Agreement, the Stock Restriction Agreement and the Employee 
Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement (and the other documents referenced therein) set forth the entire 
understanding of the parties with respect to the 
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subject matter hereof, and supersede all existing agreements between them concerning such subject matter, including, without 
limitation, the Prior Agreement.  This Agreement may be amended or modified only with the written consent of Executive and an 
authorized representative of the Company.  No oral waiver, amendment or modification will be effective under any circumstances 
whatsoever.

(b) Assignment; Assumption by Successor.  The rights of the Company under this Agreement may, without the 
consent of Executive, be assigned by the Company, in its sole and unfettered discretion, to any person, firm, corporation or other 
business entity which at any time, whether by purchase, merger or otherwise, directly or indirectly, acquires all or substantially all 
of the assets or business of the Company.  The Company will require any successor (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, 
merger or otherwise) to all or substantially all of the business or assets of the Company expressly to assume and to agree to 
perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent that the Company would be required to perform it if no such 
succession had taken place; provided, however, that no such assumption shall relieve the Company of its obligations hereunder.  
As used in this Agreement, the “Company” shall mean the Company as hereinbefore defined and any successor to its business 
and/or assets as aforesaid which assumes and agrees to perform this Agreement by operation of law or otherwise.

(c) Survival.  The covenants, agreements, representations and warranties contained in or made in Sections 
3(g), 4, 5, 6, 7 and 9 of this Agreement shall survive any Executive’s termination of employment.

(d) Third‑Party Beneficiaries.  This Agreement does not create, and shall not be construed as creating, any 
rights enforceable by any person not a party to this Agreement.

(e) Waiver.  The failure of either party hereto at any time to enforce performance by the other party of any 
provision of this Agreement shall in no way affect such party’s rights thereafter to enforce the same, nor shall the waiver by either 
party of any breach of any provision hereof be deemed to be a waiver by such party of any other breach of the same or any other 
provision hereof.

(f) Section Headings.  The headings of the several sections in this Agreement are inserted solely for the 
convenience of the parties and are not a part of and are not intended to govern, limit or aid in the construction of any term or 
provision hereof.

(g) Notices.  Any notice required or permitted by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be delivered as 
follows with notice deemed given as indicated:  (i) by personal delivery when delivered personally; (ii) by overnight courier upon 
written verification of receipt; (iii) by email, telecopy or facsimile transmission upon acknowledgment of receipt of electronic 
transmission; or (iv) by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, upon verification of receipt.  Notice shall be sent to 
Executive at the address listed on the Company’s personnel records and to the Company at its principal place of business, or such 
other address as either party may specify in writing.
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(h) Severability.  All Sections, clauses and covenants contained in this Agreement are severable, and in the 
event any of them shall be held to be invalid by any court, this Agreement shall be interpreted as if such invalid Sections, clauses 
or covenants were not contained herein.

(i) Governing Law and Venue.  This Agreement is to be governed by and construed in accordance with the 
laws of the State of California applicable to contracts made and to be performed wholly within such State, and without regard to 
the conflicts of laws principles thereof.  Except as provided in Sections 5 and 7, any suit brought hereon shall be brought in the 
state or federal courts sitting in San Diego, California, the parties hereto hereby waiving any claim or defense that such forum is 
not convenient or proper.  Each party hereby agrees that any such court shall have in personam jurisdiction over it and consents to 
service of process in any manner authorized by California law.

(j) Non-transferability of Interest.  None of the rights of Executive to receive any form of compensation 
payable pursuant to this Agreement shall be assignable or transferable except through a testamentary disposition or by the laws of 
descent and distribution upon the death of Executive.  Any attempted assignment, transfer, conveyance, or other disposition 
(other than as aforesaid) of any interest in the rights of Executive to receive any form of compensation to be made by the 
Company pursuant to this Agreement shall be void.

(k) Gender.  Where the context so requires, the use of the masculine gender shall include the feminine and/or 
neuter genders and the singular shall include the plural, and vice versa, and the word “person” shall include any corporation, firm, 
partnership or other form of association.

(l) Counterparts; Facsimile or .pdf Signatures.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered will be deemed an original, and all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same agreement.  This Agreement may be executed and delivered by facsimile or by .pdf file and upon such delivery 
the facsimile or .pdf signature will be deemed to have the same effect as if the original signature had been delivered to the other 
party.

(m) Construction.  The language in all parts of this Agreement shall in all cases be construed simply, according 
to its fair meaning, and not strictly for or against any of the parties hereto.  Without limitation, there shall be no presumption 
against any party on the ground that such party was responsible for drafting this Agreement or any part thereof.

(n) Withholding and other Deductions.  All compensation payable to Executive hereunder shall be subject to 
such deductions as the Company is from time to time required to make pursuant to law, governmental regulation or order.

(o) Code Section 409A.  

  (i) This Agreement is not intended to provide for any deferral of compensation subject to Section 409A of 
the Code, and, accordingly, the severance payments payable under Sections 4(b)(ii) and 4(b)(iv) shall be paid no later than the 
later of:  (A) the fifteenth (15th) day of the third month following Executive’s first taxable year in which such amounts are no 
longer 
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subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture, and (B) the fifteenth (15th) day of the third month following first taxable year of the 
Company in which such amounts are is no longer subject to substantial risk of forfeiture, as determined in accordance with Code 
Section 409A and any Treasury Regulations and other guidance issued thereunder.  To the extent applicable, this Agreement shall 
be interpreted in accordance with Code Section 409A and Department of Treasury regulations and other interpretive guidance 
issued thereunder.  Each series of installment payments made under this Agreement is hereby designated as a series of “separate 
payments” within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code.   For purposes of this Agreement, all references to Executive’s 
“termination of employment” shall mean Executive’s Separation from Service.  

  (ii) If Executive is a “specified employee” (as defined in Section 409A of the Code), as determined by the  
Company in accordance with Section 409A of the Code, on the date of Executive’s Separation from Service, to the extent that the 
payments or benefits under this Agreement are subject to Section 409A of the Code and the delayed payment or distribution of all 
or any portion of such amounts to which Executive is entitled under this Agreement is required in order to avoid a  prohibited 
distribution under Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code, then such portion deferred pursuant to this Section 9(o)(ii) shall be paid 
or distributed to Executive in a lump sum on the earlier of (A) the date that is six (6)-months following Executive’s Separation 
from Service, (B) the date of Executive’s death or (C) the earliest date as is permitted under Section 409A of the Code.  Any 
remaining payments due under the Agreement shall be paid as otherwise provided herein.

(iii) To the extent applicable, this Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance 
with the applicable exemptions from Section 409A of the Code.  If Executive and the Company determine that any payments or 
benefits payable under this Agreement intended to comply with Sections 409A(a)(2), (3) and (4) of the Code do not comply with 
Section 409A of the Code, Executive and the Company agree to amend this Agreement, or take such other actions as Executive 
and the Company deem reasonably necessary or appropriate, to comply with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code and 
the Treasury Regulations thereunder (and any applicable transition relief) while preserving the economic agreement of the 
parties.  To the extent that any provision in this Agreement is ambiguous as to its compliance with Section 409A of the Code, the 
provision shall be read in such a manner that no payments payable under this Agreement shall be subject to an “additional tax” as 
defined in Section 409A(a)(1)(B) of the Code.

(iv) Any reimbursement of expenses or in-kind benefits payable under this 
Agreement shall be made in accordance with Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(i)(1)(iv) and shall be paid on or before the 
last day of Executive’s taxable year following the taxable year in which Executive incurred the expenses.  The amount of 
expenses reimbursed or in-kind benefits payable during any taxable year of Executive’s shall not affect the amount eligible for 
reimbursement or in-kind benefits payable in any other taxable year of Executive’s, and Executive’s right to reimbursement for 
such amounts shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for any other benefit.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first set forth above.

     CRINETICS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

 

     By: /s/ R. Scott Struthers   
      Name:  R. Scott Struthers 
      Title: Chief Executive Officer

     EXECUTIVE

 

     /s/ Stephen F. Betz    
      Stephen F. Betz
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EXHIBIT A
 

GENERAL RELEASE OF CLAIMS
 

[The language in this Release may change based on legal developments and evolving best practices; this form is provided as an 
example of what will be included in the final Release document.]

 
 This General Release of Claims (“Release”) is entered into as of this _____ day of ________, ____, between Stephen F. 
Betz (“Executive”), and Crinetics Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) (collectively referred to herein as the “Parties”).
 
 WHEREAS, Executive and the Company are parties to that certain Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated as 
of May 22, 2018 (the “Agreement”);
 
 WHEREAS, the Parties agree that Executive is entitled to certain severance benefits under the Agreement, subject to  
Executive’s execution of this Release; and
 
 WHEREAS, the Company and Executive now wish to fully and finally to resolve all matters between them.
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of, and subject to, the severance benefits payable to Executive pursuant to the  
Agreement, the adequacy of which is hereby acknowledged by Executive, and which Executive acknowledges that he or she 
would not otherwise be entitled to receive, Executive and the Company hereby agree as follows:
 
 1. General Release of Claims by Executive.  
 
  (a) Executive, on behalf of himself or herself and his or her executors, heirs, administrators, representatives and  
assigns, hereby agrees to release and forever discharge the Company and all predecessors, successors and their respective parent 
corporations, affiliates, related, and/or subsidiary entities, and all of their past and present investors, directors, shareholders, 
officers, general or limited partners, employees, attorneys, agents and representatives, and the employee benefit plans in which 
Executive is or has been a participant by virtue of his or her employment with or service to the Company (collectively, the 
“Company Releasees”), from any and all claims, debts, demands, accounts, judgments, rights, causes of action, equitable relief, 
damages, costs, charges, complaints, obligations, promises, agreements, controversies, suits, expenses, compensation, 
responsibility and liability of every kind and character whatsoever (including attorneys’ fees and costs), whether in law or equity, 
known or unknown, asserted or unasserted, suspected or unsuspected (collectively, “Claims”), which Executive has or may have 
had against such Company Releasees based on any events or circumstances arising or occurring on or prior to the date hereof or 
on or prior to the date hereof, arising directly or indirectly out of, relating to, or in any other way involving in any manner 
whatsoever Executive’s employment by or service to the Company or the termination thereof, including any and all claims 
arising under federal, state, or local laws relating to employment, 
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including without limitation claims of wrongful discharge, breach of express or implied contract, fraud, misrepresentation, 
defamation, or liability in tort, and claims of any kind that may be brought in any court or administrative agency including, 
without limitation, claims under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. Section 2000, et seq.; the 
Americans with Disabilities Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.; the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 
701 et seq.; the Civil Rights Act of 1866, and the Civil Rights Act of 1991; 42 U.S.C. Section 1981, et seq.; the Age 
Discrimination in Employment Act, as amended, 29 U.S.C. Section 621, et seq. (the “ADEA”); the Equal Pay Act, as amended, 
29 U.S.C. Section 206(d); regulations of the Office of Federal Contract Compliance, 41 C.F.R. Section 60, et seq.; the Family and 
Medical Leave Act, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 2601 et seq.; the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 201 et
seq.; the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 1001 et seq.; and the California Fair Employment 
and Housing Act, California Government Code Section 12940, et seq.
 
 Notwithstanding the generality of the foregoing, Executive does not release the following claims:
 

 (i) Claims for unemployment compensation or any state disability insurance benefits pursuant to the terms of  
applicable state law; 
  
 (ii) Claims for workers’ compensation insurance benefits under the terms of any worker’s compensation insurance 
policy or fund of the Company; 
 
 (iii) Claims pursuant to the terms and conditions of the federal law known as COBRA;
  
 (iv) Claims for indemnity under the bylaws of the Company, as provided for by California law or under any  
applicable insurance policy with respect to Executive’s liability as an employee, director or officer of the Company;
 
 (v) Claims based on any right Executive may have to enforce the Company’s executory obligations under the  
Agreement; 
 
 (vi) Executive’s right to bring to the attention of the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or the California 
Department of Fair Employment and Housing or any other federal, state or local government agency claims of 
discrimination, or from participating in an investigation or proceeding conducted by the Equal Employment Opportunity 
Commission or any other federal, state or local government agency; provided, however, that Executive does release his 
right to secure any damages for alleged discriminatory treatment;
 
 (vii) Claims Executive may have to vested or earned compensation and benefits; and
 
 (viii) Executive’s right to communicate or cooperate with any governmental agency. 
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  (b) EXECUTIVE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT HE OR SHE HAS BEEN ADVISED OF AND IS FAMILIAR WITH 
THE PROVISIONS OF CALIFORNIA CIVIL CODE SECTION 1542, WHICH PROVIDES AS FOLLOWS:
 
 “A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS WHICH THE CREDITOR DOES NOT KNOW OR 
SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR HER FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE, WHICH, IF 
KNOWN BY HIM OR HER, MUST HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS OR HER SETTLEMENT WITH THE 
DEBTOR.”
 
BEING AWARE OF SAID CODE SECTION, EXECUTIVE HEREBY EXPRESSLY WAIVES ANY RIGHTS HE OR SHE 
MAY HAVE THEREUNDER, AS WELL AS UNDER ANY OTHER STATUTES OR COMMON LAW PRINCIPLES OF 
SIMILAR EFFECT.
 

[Note:  Clauses (c), (d) and (e) apply only if Executive is age 40 or older at time of termination]
 
  (c)   Executive acknowledges that this Release was presented to him or her on the date indicated above and th 
Executive is entitled to have [twenty-one (21)][forty-five (45)] days’ time in which to consider it.  Executive further 
acknowledges that the Company has advised him or her that he or she is waiving his or her rights under the ADEA, and that 
Executive should consult with an attorney of his or her choice before signing this Release, and Executive has had sufficient time 
to consider the terms of this Release.  Executive represents and acknowledges that if Executive executes this Release before 
[twenty-one (21)][forty-five (45)] days have elapsed, Executive does so knowingly, voluntarily, and upon the advice and with the 
approval of Executive’s legal counsel (if any), and that Executive voluntarily waives any remaining consideration period.
 
  (d)   Executive understands that after executing this Release, Executive has the right to revoke it within seven (7) days  
after his or her execution of it.  Executive understands that this Release will not become effective and enforceable unless the 
seven (7) day revocation period passes and Executive does not revoke the Release in writing.  Executive understands that this 
Release may not be revoked after the seven (7) day revocation period has passed.  Executive also understands that any revocation 
of this Release must be made in writing and delivered to the Company at its principal place of business within the seven (7) day 
period.
 
  (e)   Executive understands that this Release shall become effective, irrevocable, and binding upon Executive on the  
eighth (8th) day after his or her execution of it, so long as Executive has not revoked it within the time period and in the manner 
specified in clause (d) above.  
 
  (f) Executive further understands that Executive will not be given any severance benefits under the Agreement unless 
this Release is effective on or before the date that is fifty-five (55) days following the date of Executive’s termination of 
employment.
 
 2. No Assignment.  Executive represents and warrants to the Company Releasees that there has been no assignment or 
other transfer of any interest in any Claim that Executive may have against the Company Releasees.  Executive agrees to 
indemnify and hold harmless the Company 
3
 
|US-DOCS\101618756.1||



Releasees from any liability, claims, demands, damages, costs, expenses and attorneys’ fees incurred as a result of any such 
assignment or transfer from Executive.

3. Severability.  In the event any provision of this Release is found to be unenforceable by an arbitrator or court of 
competent jurisdiction, such provision shall be deemed modified to the extent necessary to allow enforceability of the provision 
as so limited, it being intended that the parties shall receive the benefit contemplated herein to the fullest extent permitted by law.  
If a deemed modification is not satisfactory in the judgment of such arbitrator or court, the unenforceable provision shall be 
deemed deleted, and the validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not be affected thereby. 

4. Interpretation; Construction.  The headings set forth in this Release are for convenience only and shall not be used 
in interpreting this Agreement.  This Release has been drafted by legal counsel representing the Company, but Executive has 
participated in the negotiation of its terms.  Furthermore, Executive acknowledges that Executive has had an opportunity to 
review and revise the Release and have it reviewed by legal counsel, if desired, and, therefore, the normal rule of construction to 
the effect that any ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party shall not be employed in the interpretation of this 
Release.  Either party’s failure to enforce any provision of this Release shall not in any way be construed as a waiver of any such 
provision, or prevent that party thereafter from enforcing each and every other provision of this Release.

5. Governing Law and Venue.  This Release will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the 
United States of America and the State of California applicable to contracts made and to be performed wholly within such State, 
and without regard to the conflicts of laws principles thereof.  Any suit brought hereon shall be brought in the state or federal 
courts sitting in San Diego County, California, the Parties hereby waiving any claim or defense that such forum is not convenient 
or proper.  Each party hereby agrees that any such court shall have in personam jurisdiction over it and consents to service of 
process in any manner authorized by California law.

6. Entire Agreement.  This Release and the Agreement constitute the entire agreement of the Parties in respect of the 
subject matter contained herein and therein and supersede all prior or simultaneous representations, discussions, negotiations and 
agreements, whether written or oral.  This Release may be amended or modified only with the written consent of Executive and 
an authorized representative of the Company.  No oral waiver, amendment or modification will be effective under any 
circumstances whatsoever.  

7. Counterparts.  This Release may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an 
original but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

(Signature Page Follows) 
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 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, and intending to be legally bound, the Parties have executed the foregoing Release as of the date 
first written above.
 
EXECUTIVE      CRINETICS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

    

       By:        

Print Name:  Stephen F. Betz    Print Name:       

       Title:       
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Exhibit 10.19 

Employment Agreement

This Employment Agreement (the "Agreement") is made and entered into as of September 13, 2021, by and between 
Jeff Knight (the "Executive") and Crinetics Pharmaceuticals, Inc, a Delaware corporation (the "Company").

 
WHEREAS, the Company desires to employ the Executive on the terms and conditions set forth herein; and

 
WHEREAS, the Executive desires to be employed by the Company on such terms and conditions.

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, promises, and obligations set forth herein, the parties 

agree as follows:
 

1.Term. The Executive's employment hereunder shall be effective as of September 13, 2021 (the "Effective Date"). The 
period during which the Executive is employed by the Company hereunder is hereinafter referred to as the 
"Employment Term."

 
2. Position and Duties.

 
2.1 Position. During the Employment Term, the Executive shall serve as the Chief Operating Officer of the 

Company, reporting to Chief Executive Officer. In such position, the Executive shall have such duties, authority, and 
responsibilities as shall be determined from time to time by Chief Executive Officer, which duties, authority, and 
responsibilities are consistent with the Executive's position. The Executive shall, if requested, also serve as a member of 
the board of directors of the Company (the "Board") or as an officer or director of any affiliate of the Company for no 
additional compensation.

 
2.2 Duties. During the Employment Term, the Executive shall devote substantially all of Executive's business 

time and attention to the performance of the Executive's duties hereunder and will not engage in any other business, 
profession, or occupation for compensation or otherwise which would conflict or interfere with the performance of such 
services either directly or indirectly without the prior written consent of the Board. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
Executive will be permitted to (a) with the prior written consent of the Board (which consent can be withheld by the 
Board in its discretion) act or serve as a director, trustee, committee member, or principal of any type of business, civic, 
or charitable organization as long as such activities are disclosed in writing to the Company's CEO in accordance with the 
Company's Code of Conduct and Ethics, and (b) purchase or own less than five percent (5%) of the publicly traded 
securities of any corporation; provided that, such ownership represents a passive investment and that the Executive is not 
a controlling person of, or a member of a group that controls, such corporation; provided further that, the activities 
described in clauses (a) and (b) do not interfere with the performance of the Executive's duties and responsibilities to the 
Company as provided hereunder, including, but not limited to, the obligations set forth in Section 2 hereof.
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3.Place of Performance. The principal place of Executive's employment shall be the Company's principal executive 
office currently located in San Diego, CA; provided that, the Executive may be required to travel on Company business 
during the Employment Term.

 
4. Compensation.

 
4.1 Base Salary. The Company shall pay the Executive an annual base salary of
$400,000 in periodic installments in accordance with the Company's customary payroll practices and applicable 
wage payment laws, but no less frequently than monthly. The Executive's base salary shall be reviewed at least 
annually by the Board and the Board may, but shall not be required to, increase the base salary during the 
Employment Term. However, the Executive's base salary may not be decreased during the Employment Term other 
than as part of an across-the-board salary reduction that applies in the same manner to all senior executives. The 
Executive's annual base salary, as in effect from time to time, is hereinafter referred to as "Base Salary".

 
4.2 Annual Bonus.

 
(a) For each complete calendar year of the Employment Term, the Executive shall be eligible to 

receive an annual bonus (the "Annual Bonus"). As of the Effective Date, the Executive's annual target bonus 
opportunity shall be equal to 40% of Base Salary (the "Target Bonus"), based on the achievement of Company 
performance goals established by the Board; provided that, depending on results, the Executive's actual bonus may 
be higher or lower than the Target Bonus, as determined by the Board. For the period beginning on the Effective 
Date and ending on the last day of the applicable calendar year, the Executive shall be eligible to receive a 
prorated Annual Bonus (calculated as the Annual Bonus that would have been paid for the entire calendar year 
multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is equal to the number of days the Executive worked in the 
applicable calendar year, and the denominator of which is equal to the total number of days in such year).

 
(b) The Annual Bonus, if any, will be paid within two and a half (2 1/2) months after the end of 

the applicable calendar year.
 

(c) Except as otherwise provided in Section 5, (i) the Annual Bonus will be subject to the terms of 
the Company annual bonus plan under which it is granted and
(ii) in order to be eligible to receive an Annual Bonus, the Executive must be employed by the 
Company on the date that Annual Bonuses are paid.

 
4.3Equity Awards. In consideration of the Executive entering into this Agreement and as an inducement to join the 
Company, on the Effective Date, the Company will grant the following equity awards to the Executive pursuant to 
the the Company's 2018 Incentive Award Plan: a new hire stock option ("Stock Option") of 160,000 shares subject 
to approval by the Crinetics Board of Directors or its designee, which shall vest as follows: one-fourth (1/4th) of 
the shares subject to the option shall vest on the first anniversary of the Effective Date, and the remaining shares 
subject to the option shall vest in thirty-six (36) equal monthly installments over the three-year period
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thereafter, subject to Executive’s continued employment or service with the Company on each such date. All other 
terms and conditions of such awards shall be governed by the terms and conditions of the the Company's 2018 
Incentive Award Plan and the applicable award agreements.

 
1.4Fringe Benefits and Perquisites. During the Employment Term, the Executive shall be entitled to fringe 
benefits and perquisites consistent with the practices of the Company and governing benefit plan requirements 
(including plan eligibility provisions), and to the extent the Company provides similar benefits or perquisites (or 
both) to similarly situated executives of the Company.

 
1.5Employee Benefits. During the Employment Term, the Executive shall be entitled to participate in all 
employee benefit plans, practices, and programs maintained by the Company, as in effect from time to time 
(collectively, "Employee Benefit Plans"), on a basis which is no less favorable than is provided to other 
similarly situated executives of the Company, to the extent consistent with applicable law and the terms of the 
applicable Employee Benefit Plans. The Company reserves the right to amend or terminate any Employee 
Benefit Plans at any time in its sole discretion, subject to the terms of such Employee Benefit Plan and 
applicable law.

 
1.6Vacation; Paid Time Off. During the Employment Term, the Executive shall be entitled to 20 of paid vacation 
days per calendar year (prorated for partial years) in accordance with the Company's vacation policies, as in effect 
from time to time. The Executive shall receive other paid time off in accordance with the Company's policies for 
executive officers as such policies may exist from time to time.

 
1.7Business Expenses. The Executive shall be entitled to reimbursement for all reasonable and necessary out-of-
pocket business, entertainment, and travel expenses incurred by the Executive in connection with the performance 
of the Executive's duties hereunder in accordance with the Company's expense reimbursement policies and 
procedures.

 
1.8 Indemnification.

 
(a) In the event that the Executive is made a party or threatened to be made a party to any action, 

suit, or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative (a "Proceeding"), other than any 
Proceeding initiated by the Executive or the Company related to any contest or dispute between the Executive and 
the Company or any of its affiliates with respect to this Agreement or the Executive's employment hereunder, by 
reason of the fact that the Executive is or was a director or officer of the Company, or any affiliate of the Company, 
or is or was serving at the request of the Company as a director, officer, member, employee, or agent of another 
corporation or a partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise, the Executive shall be indemnified and held 
harmless by the Company to the fullest extent applicable to any other officer or director of the Company from and 
against any liabilities, costs, claims, and expenses, including all costs and expenses incurred in defense of any 
Proceeding (including attorneys' fees). Costs and expenses incurred by  
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in defense of such Proceeding (including attorneys' fees) shall be paid by the Company in advance of the final 
disposition of such litigation upon receipt by the Company of: (i) a written request for payment; (ii) appropriate 
documentation evidencing the incurrence, amount, and nature of the costs and expenses for which payment is 
being sought; and (iii) an undertaking adequate under applicable law made by or on behalf of the Executive to 
repay the amounts so paid if it shall ultimately be determined that the Executive is not entitled to be indemnified 
by the Company under this Agreement.

 
(b) During the Employment Term and for a period of six (6) years thereafter, the Company or any 

successor to the Company shall purchase and maintain, at its own expense, directors' and officers' liability 
insurance providing coverage to the Executive on terms that are no less favorable than the coverage provided 
to other directors and similarly situated executives of the Company or any successor.

 
6.Termination of Employment. The Employment Term and the Executive's employment hereunder may be terminated by 
either the Company or the Executive at any time and for any reason; provided that, unless otherwise provided herein, 
either party shall be required to give the other party at least {NUMBER} days advance written notice of any termination 
of the Executive's employment. On termination of the Executive's employment during the Employment Term, the 
Executive shall be entitled to the compensation and benefits described in this Section 5 and shall have no further rights 
to any compensation or any other benefits from the Company or any of its affiliates.

 
6.1 For Cause or Without Good Reason.

 
(a) The Executive's employment hereunder may be terminated by the Company for Cause or by 

the Executive without Good Reason. If the Executive's employment is terminated by the Company for Cause 
or by the Executive without Good Reason, the Executive shall be entitled to receive:

 
(i) any accrued but unpaid Base Salary and accrued but unused vacation which shall be 

paid on the pay date immediately following the Termination Date (as defined below) in accordance 
with the Company's customary payroll procedures;

 
(ii) reimbursement for unreimbursed business expenses properly incurred by the 

Executive, which shall be subject to and paid in accordance with the Company's expense 
reimbursement policy; and

 
(iii) such employee benefits (including equity compensation), if any, to which the Executive 

may be entitled under the Company's employee benefit plans as of the Termination Date; provided that, in 
no event shall the Executive be entitled to any payments in the nature of severance or termination 
payments except as specifically provided herein.
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Items 5.1(a)(i) through 5.1(a)(iii) are referred to herein collectively as the "Accrued 
Amounts".

 
(b) For purposes of this Agreement, "Cause" shall mean:

 
(i) the Executive's failure to perform Executive's duties (other than any such failure 

resulting from incapacity due to physical or mental illness);
 

(ii) the Executive's failure to comply with any valid and legal directive of the Chief 
Executive Officer;

 
(iii) the Executive's willful engagement in dishonesty, illegal conduct, or gross misconduct, 

which is, in each case, injurious to the Company or its affiliates;
 

(iv) the Executive's embezzlement, misappropriation, or fraud, whether or not related 
to the Executive's employment with the Company;

 
(v) the Executive's conviction of or plea of guilty or nolo contendere to a crime that 

constitutes a felony (or state law equivalent) or a crime that constitutes a misdemeanor involving moral 
turpitude, if such felony or other crime is work-related, materially impairs the Executive's ability to 
perform services for the Company, or results in reputational or financial harm to the Company or its 
affiliates;

 
(vi) the Executive's material violation of the Company's written policies or codes of 

conduct, including written policies related to discrimination, harassment, performance of illegal or 
unethical activities, and ethical misconduct;

 
(vii) the Executive's willful unauthorized disclosure of Confidential Information (as defined 

below); or
 

(viii) the Executive's material breach of any material obligation under this Agreement or any 
other written agreement between the Executive and the Company.

 
For purposes of this provision, no act or failure to act on the part of the Executive shall be 

considered "willful" unless it is done, or omitted to be done, by the Executive in bad faith or without reasonable 
belief that the Executive's action or omission was in the best interests of the Company. Any act, or failure to act, 
based on authority given pursuant to a resolution duly adopted by the Board or on the advice of counsel for the 
Company shall be conclusively presumed to be done, or omitted to be done, by the Executive in good faith and in 
the best interests of the Company.

 
The Company may place the Executive on paid leave for up to 60 days while it is determining 

whether there is a basis to terminate the Executive's
  6
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employment for Cause. Any such action by the Company will not constitute Good Reason.
 

(c) For purposes of this Agreement, "Good Reason" shall mean the occurrence of any of the 
following, in each case during the Employment Term without the Executive's written consent:

 
(i) a material reduction in the Executive's Base Salary other than a general reduction in 

Base Salary that affects all similarly situated executives in substantially the same proportions;
 

(ii) a relocation of the Executive's principal place of employment by more than 100 
miles;

 
(iii) any material breach by the Company of any material provision of this Agreement;

 
(iv) the Company's failure to obtain an agreement from any successor to the Company to 

assume and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent that the 
Company would be required to perform if no succession had taken place, except where such 
assumption occurs by operation of law;

 
(v) a material, adverse change in the Executive's authority, duties, or responsibilities (other 

than temporarily while the Executive is physically or mentally incapacitated or as required by applicable 
law) taking into account the Company's size, status as a public company, and capitalization as of the date 
of this Agreement; or

 
(vi) a material adverse change in the reporting structure applicable to the Executive.

 
The Executive cannot terminate employment for Good Reason unless the Executive has 

provided written notice to the Company of the existence of the circumstances providing grounds for termination 
for Good Reason within 30 days of the initial existence of such grounds and the Company has had at least 60 days 
from the date on which such notice is provided to cure such circumstances. If the Executive does not terminate 
employment for Good Reason within 30 days after the first occurrence of the applicable grounds, then the 
Executive will be deemed to have waived the right to terminate for Good Reason with respect to such grounds.

 
1.3 Without Cause or for Good Reason. The Employment Term and the Executive's employment hereunder 

may be terminated by the Executive for Good Reason or by the Company without Cause. In the event of such 
termination, the Executive shall be entitled to receive the Accrued Amounts and subject to the Executive's compliance 
with Section 6, Section 7, Section 8, and Section 9 of this Agreement and the Executive's execution of a release of 
claims in favor of the Company, its affiliates and their respective officers and directors in a form substantially similar to 
the release attached as Exhibit
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Exhibit A (the "Release") and such Release becoming effective within 55 days following the Termination Date (such 55-
day period, the "Release Execution Period"), the Executive shall be entitled to receive the following:

 
(a) a lump sum payment equal to nine (9) months of the Executive's Base Salary for the year in 

which the Termination Date occurs, which shall be paid within 60 days following the Termination Date; 
provided that, if the Release Execution Period begins in one taxable year and ends in another taxable year, 
payment shall not be made until the beginning of the second taxable year;

 
(b) a payment equal to the product of (i) the Target Bonus and (ii) a fraction, the numerator of which 

is the number of days the Executive was employed by the Company during the year of termination and the 
denominator of which is the number of days in such year (the "Pro-Rata Bonus"). This amount shall be paid on 
the date that annual bonuses are paid to similarly situated executives, but in no event later than two-and-a-half (2 
1/2) months following the end of the calendar year in which the Termination Date occurs;

 
(c) If the Executive timely and properly elects health continuation coverage under the Consolidated 

Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 ("COBRA"), the Company shall reimburse the Executive for the 
monthly COBRA premium paid by the Executive for the Executive and the Executive's dependents. Such 
reimbursement shall be paid to the Executive on the first of the month immediately following the month in which 
the Executive timely remits the premium payment. The Executive shall be eligible to receive such reimbursement 
until the earliest of: (i) the nine-month anniversary of the Termination Date; (ii) the date the Executive is no 
longer eligible to receive COBRA continuation coverage; and (iii) the date on which the Executive receives 
substantially similar coverage from another employer or other source. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the 
Company's making payments under this Section 5.2(c) would violate the nondiscrimination rules applicable to 
non-grandfathered plans under the Affordable Care Act (the "ACA"), or result in the imposition of penalties 
under the ACA and the related regulations and guidance promulgated thereunder), the parties agree to reform this 
Section 5.2(c) in a manner as is necessary to comply with the ACA.

 
(d) The treatment of any outstanding equity awards shall be determined in accordance with the 

terms of the the Company's 2018 Incentive Award Plan and the applicable award agreements.
 

1.4 Death or Disability.
 

(a) The Executive's employment hereunder shall terminate automatically on the Executive's death 
during the Employment Term, and the Company may terminate the Executive's employment on account of the 
Executive's Disability.

 
(b) If the Executive's employment is terminated during the Employment Term on account of the 

Executive's death or Disability, the Executive (or the
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Executive's estate and/or beneficiaries, as the case may be) shall be entitled to receive the following:
 

(i) the Accrued Amounts; and
 

(ii) a lump sum payment equal to the Pro-Rata Bonus, if any, that the Executive would have 
earned for the calendar year in which the Termination Date occurs based on the achievement of 
applicable performance goals for such year, which shall be payable on the date that annual bonuses are 
paid to the Company's similarly situated executives, but in no event later than two-and-a-half (2 1/2) 
months following the end of the calendar year in which the Termination Date occurs.

 
Notwithstanding any other provision contained herein, all payments made in connection 

with the Executive's Disability shall be provided in a manner which is consistent with federal and state 
law.

 
(d) For purposes of this Agreement, "Disability" shall mean a condition that entitles the Executive to 

receive long-term disability benefits under the Company's long-term disability plan, or if there is no such plan, the 
Executive's inability, due to physical or mental incapacity, to perform the essential functions of the Executive's job, 
with or without reasonable accommodation, for one hundred eighty
(180) days out of any three hundred sixty-five (365) day period; provided, however, in the event that the Company 
temporarily replaces the Executive, or transfers the Executive's duties or responsibilities to another individual on 
account of the Executive's inability to perform such duties due to a mental or physical incapacity which is, or is 
reasonably expected to become, a Disability, then the Executive's employment shall not be deemed terminated by 
the Company. Any question as to the existence of the Executive's Disability as to which the Executive and the 
Company cannot agree shall be determined in writing by a qualified independent physician mutually acceptable to 
the Executive and the Company. If the Executive and the Company cannot agree as to a qualified independent 
physician, each shall appoint such a physician and those two physicians shall select a third who shall make such 
determination in writing. The determination of Disability made in writing to the Company and the Executive shall 
be final and conclusive for all purposes of this Agreement.

 
1.5 Change in Control Termination.

 
(a) Notwithstanding any other provision contained herein, if the Executive's employment hereunder 

is terminated by the Executive for Good Reason or by the Company without Cause (other than on account of the 
Executive's death or Disability), in each case within twelve (12) months following a Change in Control, the 
Executive shall be entitled to receive the Accrued Amounts and subject to the Executive's compliance with 
Section 6, Section 7, Section 8 and Section 9 of this Agreement and the Executive's execution of a Release which 
becomes effective within
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55 days following the Termination Date, the Executive shall be entitled to receive the following:
 

(i) a lump sum payment equal to 12 months of the sum of the Executive's Base Salary 
and Target Bonus for the year in which the Termination Date occurs (or if greater, the year immediately 
preceding the year in which the Change in Control occurs), which shall be paid within 60 days 
following the Termination Date; provided that, if the Release Execution Period begins in one taxable 
year and ends in another taxable year, payment shall not be made until the beginning of the second 
taxable year; and

 
(ii) a lump sum payment equal to the Executive's Target Bonus for the calendar year in 

which the Termination Date (as determined in accordance with Section 5.6) occurs (or if greater, the year 
in which the Change in Control occurs), which shall be paid within 60 days following the Termination 
Date; provided that, if the Release Execution Period begins in one taxable year and ends in another 
taxable year, payment shall not be made until the beginning of the second taxable year.

 
(b) If the Executive timely and properly elects health plan continuation coverage under COBRA, the 

Company shall reimburse the Executive for the monthly COBRA premium paid by the Executive for the 
Executive and the Executive's dependents. Such reimbursement shall be paid to the Executive on the first of the 
month immediately following the month in which the Executive timely remits the premium payment. The 
Executive shall be eligible to receive such reimbursement until the earliest of: (i) the twelve-month anniversary of 
the Termination Date; (ii) the date the Executive is no longer eligible to receive COBRA continuation coverage; 
and (iii) the date on which the Executive receives substantially similar coverage from another employer or other 
source.[ Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Company's payments under this Section 5.4(b) would violate the 
nondiscrimination rules applicable to non- grandfathered, insured group plans under the ACA, or result in the 
imposition of penalties under the ACA, the parties agree to reform this Section 5.4(b) in a manner as is necessary 
to comply with the ACA.]

 
(c) Notwithstanding the terms of any equity incentive plan or award agreements, as 

applicable:
 

(i) all outstanding unvested stock options granted to the Executive during the Employment 
Term shall become fully vested and exercisable for the remainder of their full term;

 
(ii) all outstanding equity-based compensation awards, that do not vest based on the 

attainment of performance goals shall become fully vested and the restrictions thereon shall lapse; 
provided that, any delays in the settlement or payment of such awards that are set forth in the applicable 
award agreement and that are required under Section 409A shall remain in effect; and
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(iii) all outstanding equity-based compensation awards, that vest based on the attainment of 
performance goals shall remain outstanding and shall vest or be forfeited in accordance with the terms 
of the applicable award agreements, if the applicable performance goals are satisfied.

 
(e) For purposes of this Agreement, "Change in Control" shall mean the occurrence of any of the 

following after the Effective Date:
 

(i) one person (or more than one person acting as a group) acquires ownership of stock of 
the Company that, together with the stock held by such person or group, constitutes more than 50% of the 
total fair market value or total voting power of the stock of such corporation; provided that, a Change in 
Control shall not occur if any person (or more than one person acting as a group) owns more than 50% of 
the total fair market value or total voting power of the Company's stock and acquires additional stock;

 
(ii) one person (or more than one person acting as a group) acquires (or has acquired during 

the twelve-month period ending on the date of the most recent acquisition) ownership of the Company's 
stock possessing 50% or more of the total voting power of the Company's stock;

 
(iii) a majority of the members of the Board are replaced during any twelve-month period by 

directors whose appointment or election is not endorsed by a majority of the Board before the date of 
appointment or election; or

 

(iv) the sale of all or substantially all of the Company's assets.
 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Change in Control shall not occur unless such transaction 
constitutes a change in the ownership of the Company, a change in effective control of the Company, or a 
change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the Company's assets under Section 409A.

 
1.6 Notice of Termination. Any termination of the Executive's employment hereunder by the Company or by 

the Executive during the Employment Term (other than termination pursuant to Section 5.3(a) on account of the 
Executive's death) shall be communicated by written notice of termination ("Notice of Termination") to the other party 
hereto in accordance with Section 26. The Notice of Termination shall specify:

 
(a) The termination provision of this Agreement relied upon;

 
(b) To the extent applicable, the facts and circumstances claimed to provide a basis for termination 

of the Executive's employment under the provision so indicated; and
 

(c) The applicable Termination Date.
 

1.7 Termination Date. The Executive's "Termination Date" shall be:
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(a) If the Executive's employment hereunder terminates on account of the Executive's death, the 
date of the Executive's death;

 
(b) If the Executive's employment hereunder is terminated on account of the Executive's 

Disability, the date that it is determined that the Executive has a Disability;
 

(c) If the Company terminates the Executive's employment hereunder for Cause, the date the 
Notice of Termination is delivered to the Executive;

 
(d) If the Company terminates the Executive's employment hereunder without Cause, the date 

specified in the Notice of Termination, which shall be no less than 5 days following the date on which the Notice 
of Termination is delivered; provided that, the Company shall have the option to provide the Executive with a 
lump sum payment equal to 5 days' Base Salary in lieu of such notice, which shall be paid in a lump sum on the 
Executive's Termination Date and for all purposes of this Agreement, the Executive's Termination Date shall be the 
date on which such Notice of Termination is delivered;

 
(e) If the Executive terminates his employment hereunder with or without Good Reason, the date 

specified in the Executive's Notice of Termination, which shall be no less than 5 days following the date on which 
the Notice of Termination is delivered; provided that, the Company may waive all or any part of the 5 day notice 
period for no consideration by giving written notice to the Executive and for all purposes of this Agreement, the 
Executive's Termination Date shall be the date determined by the Company; and

 
(f) If the Executive's employment hereunder terminates because either party provides notice of 

non-renewal pursuant to Section 1, the Renewal Date immediately following the date on which the applicable 
party delivers notice of non- renewal.

 
Notwithstanding anything contained herein, the Termination Date shall not occur until the date on 

which the Executive incurs a "separation from service" within the meaning of Section 409A.
 

6.8 Resignation of All Other Positions. On termination of the Executive's employment hereunder for any 
reason, the Executive shall be deemed to have resigned from all positions that the Executive holds as an officer or 
member of the Board (or a committee thereof) of the Company or any of its affiliates.

 
7. Cooperation. The parties agree that certain matters in which the Executive will be involved during the Employment 

Term may necessitate the Executive's cooperation in the future. Accordingly, following the termination of the Executive's 
employment for any reason, to the extent reasonably requested by the Board, the Executive shall cooperate with the Company 
in connection with matters arising out of the Executive's service to the Company; provided that, the Company shall make 
reasonable efforts to minimize disruption of the Executive's other activities.
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The Company shall reimburse the Executive for reasonable expenses incurred in connection with such cooperation.
 

7. Confidential Information. The Executive understands and acknowledges that during the Employment Term, the 
Executive will have access to and learn about Confidential Information, as defined below.

 
7.1 Confidential Information Defined.

 
(a) Definition.

 
For purposes of this Agreement, "Confidential Information" includes, but is not limited to, all 

information not generally known to the public, in spoken, printed, electronic, or any other form or medium, of the 
Company or its businesses, or of any other person or entity that has entrusted information to the Company in 
confidence.

 

The Executive understands that the above list is not exhaustive, and that Confidential 
Information also includes other information that is marked or otherwise identified as confidential or proprietary, 
or that would otherwise appear to a reasonable person to be confidential or proprietary in the context and 
circumstances in which the information is known or used.

 
The Executive understands and agrees that Confidential Information includes information 

developed by Executive in the course of employment by the Company as if the Company furnished the same 
Confidential Information to the Executive in the first instance. Confidential Information shall not include 
information that is generally available to and known by the public at the time of disclosure to the Executive; 
provided that, such disclosure is through no direct or indirect fault of the Executive or person(s) acting on the 
Executive's behalf.

 
(b) Company Creation and Use of Confidential Information.

 
The Executive understands and acknowledges that the Company has invested, and continues to 

invest, substantial time, money, and specialized knowledge into developing its resources, creating a customer base, 
generating customer and potential customer lists, training its employees, and improving its offerings in the field of 
Pharmaceutical. The Executive understands and acknowledges that as a result of these efforts, the Company has 
created, and continues to use and create Confidential Information. This Confidential Information provides the 
Company with a competitive advantage over others in the marketplace.

 
(c) Disclosure and Use Restrictions.

 
The Executive agrees and covenants: (i) to treat all Confidential Information as strictly 

confidential; (ii) not to directly or indirectly disclose, publish, communicate, or make available Confidential 
Information, or allow it to be disclosed, published, communicated, or made available, in whole or part, to any 
entity or person
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whatsoever (including other employees of the Company) not having a need to know and authority to know and use 
the Confidential Information in connection with the business of the Company and, in any event, not to anyone 
outside of the direct employ of the Company except as required in the performance of the Executive's authorized 
employment duties to the Company or with the prior consent of CEO acting on behalf of the Company in each 
instance (and then, such disclosure shall be made only within the limits and to the extent of such duties or consent); 
and (iii) not to access or use any Confidential Information, and not to copy any documents, records, files, media, or 
other resources containing any Confidential Information, or remove any such documents, records, files, media, or 
other resources from the premises or control of the Company, except as required in the performance of the 
Executive's authorized employment duties to the Company or with the prior consent of CEO acting on behalf of 
the Company in each instance (and then, such disclosure shall be made only within the limits and to the extent of 
such duties or consent).

 
(d) Permitted disclosures. Nothing herein shall be construed to prevent disclosure of Confidential 

Information as may be required by applicable law or regulation, or pursuant to the valid order of a court of 
competent jurisdiction or an authorized government agency, provided that the disclosure does not exceed the 
extent of disclosure required by such law, regulation, or order. The Executive shall promptly provide written 
notice of any such order to CEO.

 
(e) Permitted Communications. Nothing herein prohibits or restricts the Executive (or the 

Executive's attorney) from initiating communications directly with, responding to an inquiry from, or providing 
testimony before the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority 
(FINRA), any other self-regulatory organization, or any other federal or state regulatory authority [regarding a 
possible securities law violation].

 
(f) Notice of Immunity Under the Economic Espionage Act of 1996, as amended by the Defend 

Trade Secrets Act of 2016 ("DTSA"). Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement:
 

(i) The Executive will not be held criminally or civilly liable under any federal or state 
trade secret law for any disclosure of a trade secret that:

 
(A) is made (1) in confidence to a federal, state, or local government official, 

either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney; and
(2) solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or

 
(B) is made in a complaint or other document filed under seal in a lawsuit or 

other proceeding.
 

(ii) If the Executive files a lawsuit for retaliation by the Company for reporting a 
suspected violation of law, the Executive may disclose the
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Company's trade secrets to the Executive's attorney and use the trade secret information in the court 
proceeding if the Executive:

 
(A) files any document containing trade secrets under seal;

  
15



 DocuSign Envelope ID: A7459A88-60C9-49A2-BDA6-A31093DE5357
and

 

order. 
16



 DocuSign Envelope ID: A7459A88-60C9-49A2-BDA6-A31093DE5357

(B) does not disclose trade secrets, except pursuant to court
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The Executive understands and acknowledges that his obligations under this Agreement with 
regard to any particular Confidential Information shall commence immediately upon the Executive first having 
access to such Confidential Information (whether before or after he begins employment by the Company) and 
shall continue during and after his employment by the Company until such time as such Confidential Information 
has become public knowledge other than as a result of the Executive's breach of this Agreement or breach by 
those acting in concert with the Executive or on the Executive's behalf.

 
8. Restrictive Covenants.

 
8.1 Acknowledgement. The Executive understands that the nature of the Executive's position gives the 

Executive access to and knowledge of Confidential Information and places the Executive in a position of trust and 
confidence with the Company. The Executive understands and acknowledges that the intellectual or artistic 
services the Executive provides to the Company are unique, special, or extraordinary.

 
The Executive further understands and acknowledges that the Company 's ability to reserve these for 

the exclusive knowledge and use of the Company is of great competitive importance and commercial value to the 
Company, and that improper use or disclosure by the Executive is likely to result in unfair or unlawful competitive 
activity.

 
8.2 Non-Competition. Because of the Company 's legitimate business interest as described herein and the 

good and valuable consideration offered to the Executive, during the Employment Term and for the following two 
years, to run consecutively, beginning on the last day of the Executive's employment with the Company, the Executive 
agrees and covenants not to engage in Prohibited Activity within the in any county, city or part thereof in the United 
States and/or any foreign country in a business which competes directly or
indirectly (as determined by the CEO) with the Company’s business in such county, city or part thereof.

 

For purposes of this Section 8, "Prohibited Activity" is activity in which the Executive contributes the 
Executive's knowledge, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, as an employee, employer, owner, operator, manager, 
advisor, consultant, agent, employee, partner, director, stockholder, officer, volunteer, intern, or any other similar capacity 
to an entity engaged in the same or similar business as the Company, including those engaged in the business of 
Pharmaceutical. Prohibited Activity also includes activity that may require or inevitably requires disclosure of trade 
secrets, proprietary information or Confidential Information.
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Nothing herein shall prohibit the Executive from purchasing or owning less than five percent (5%) of 
the publicly traded securities of any corporation, provided that such ownership represents a passive investment and 
that the Executive is not a controlling person of, or a member of a group that controls, such corporation.

 
This Section 8 does not, in any way, restrict or impede the Executive from exercising protected rights to 

the extent that such rights cannot be waived by agreement or from complying with any applicable law or regulation or a 
valid order of a court of competent jurisdiction or an authorized government agency, provided that such compliance does 
not exceed that required by the law, regulation, or order. The Executive shall promptly provide written notice of any 
such order to CEO.

 
9.3 Non-Solicitation of Employees. The Executive agrees and covenants not to directly or indirectly solicit, 

hire, recruit, attempt to hire or recruit, or induce the termination of employment of any employee of the Company, or 
attempt to do so, during 12 months, to run consecutively, beginning on the last day of the Executive's employment with 
the Company.

 
10. Non-Disparagement. The Executive agrees and covenants that the Executive will not at any time make, publish or 

communicate to any person or entity or in any public forum any defamatory or disparaging remarks, comments, or 
statements concerning the Company or its businesses, or any of its employees, officers.

 
This Section 9 does not, in any way, restrict or impede the Executive from exercising protected rights to the 

extent that such rights cannot be waived by agreement or from complying with any applicable law or regulation or a valid 
order of a court of competent jurisdiction or an authorized government agency, provided that such compliance does not 
exceed that required by the law, regulation, or order. The Executive shall promptly provide written notice of any such order to 
CEO.

 
The Company agrees and covenants that it shall direct its officers and directors to refrain from making any 

defamatory or disparaging remarks, comments, or statements concerning the Executive to any third parties.
 

11. Acknowledgement. The Executive acknowledges and agrees that the services to be rendered by the Executive to 
the Company are of a special and unique character; that the Executive will obtain knowledge and skill relevant to the 
Company's industry, methods of doing business and marketing strategies by virtue of the Executive's employment; and that 
the restrictive covenants and other terms and conditions of this Agreement are reasonable and reasonably necessary to protect 
the legitimate business interest of the Company.

 
The Executive further acknowledges that the benefits provided to the Executive under this Agreement, including 

the amount of the Executive's compensation reflects, in part, the Executive's obligations and the Company's rights under 
Section 7, Section 8, and Section 9 of this Agreement; that the Executive has no expectation of any additional compensation, 
royalties or other payment of any kind not otherwise referenced herein in connection herewith; and that the Executive will not 
suffer undue hardship by reason of full compliance with the terms and
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8,conditions of Section 7, Section enforcement thereof.
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and Section 9 of this Agreement or the Company's
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11. Remedies. In the event of a breach or threatened breach by the Executive of Section 7, Section 8, or Section 9 of 
this Agreement, the Executive hereby consents and agrees that the Company shall be entitled to seek, in addition to other 
available remedies, a temporary or permanent injunction or other equitable relief against such breach or threatened breach 
from any court of competent jurisdiction, and that money damages would not afford an adequate remedy, without the 
necessity of showing any actual damages. The aforementioned equitable relief shall be in addition to, not in lieu of, legal 
remedies, monetary damages, or other available forms of relief.

 
12. Arbitration. Any dispute, controversy, or claim arising out of or related to this Agreement or any breach of this 

Agreement or the Executive's employment, whether the claim arises in contract, tort, or statute, shall be submitted to and 
decided by binding arbitration. Arbitration shall be administered exclusively by American Arbitration Association and shall 
be conducted consistent with the rules, regulations, and requirements thereof as well as any requirements imposed by state 
law. Any arbitral award determination shall be final and binding upon the parties.

 
13. Proprietary Rights.

 
13.1 Work Product. The Executive acknowledges and agrees that all right, title, and interest in and to all 

writings, works of authorship, technology, inventions, discoveries, processes, techniques, methods, ideas, concepts, 
research, proposals, materials, and all other work product of any nature whatsoever, that are created, prepared, produced, 
authored, edited, amended, conceived, or reduced to practice by the Executive individually or jointly with others during 
the Employment Term and relate in any way to the business or contemplated business, products, activities, research, or 
development of the Company or result from any work performed by the Executive for the Company (in each case, 
regardless of when or where prepared or whose equipment or other resources is used in preparing the same), all rights 
and claims related to the foregoing, and all printed, physical and electronic copies, and other tangible embodiments 
thereof (collectively, "Work Product"), as well as any and all rights in and to US and foreign (a) patents, patent 
disclosures and inventions (whether patentable or not), (b) trademarks, service marks, trade dress, trade names, logos, 
corporate names, and domain names, and other similar designations of source or origin, together with the goodwill 
symbolized by any of the foregoing, (c) copyrights and copyrightable works (including computer programs), and rights 
in data and databases, (d) trade secrets, know-how, and other confidential information, and (e) all other intellectual 
property rights, in each case whether registered or unregistered and including all registrations and applications for, and 
renewals and extensions of, such rights, all improvements thereto and all similar or equivalent rights or forms of 
protection in any part of the world (collectively, "Intellectual Property Rights"), shall be the sole and exclusive 
property of the Company.

 
For purposes of this Agreement, Work Product includes, but is not limited to, Company information.
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14.2 Work Made for Hire; Assignment. The Executive acknowledges that, by reason of being employed by the 
Company at the relevant times, to the extent permitted by law, all of the Work Product consisting of copyrightable 
subject matter is "work made for hire" as defined in 17 U.S.C. § 101 and such copyrights are therefore owned by the 
Company. To the extent that the foregoing does not apply, the Executive hereby irrevocably assigns to the Company, for 
no additional consideration, the Executive's entire right, title, and interest in and to all Work Product and Intellectual 
Property Rights therein, including the right to sue, counterclaim, and recover for all past, present, and future 
infringement, misappropriation, or dilution thereof, and all rights corresponding thereto throughout the world. Nothing 
contained in this Agreement shall be construed to reduce or limit the Company's rights, title, or interest in any Work 
Product or Intellectual Property Rights so as to be less in any respect than that the Company would have had in the 
absence of this Agreement.

 
14.3 Further Assurances; Power of Attorney. During and after the Employment Term, the Executive agrees to 

reasonably cooperate with the Company to (a) apply for, obtain, perfect, and transfer to the Company the Work Product 
as well as any and all Intellectual Property Rights in the Work Product in any jurisdiction in the world; and (b) maintain, 
protect and enforce the same, including, without limitation, giving testimony and executing and delivering to the 
Company any and all applications, oaths, declarations, affidavits, waivers, assignments, and other documents and 
instruments as shall be requested by the Company. The Executive hereby irrevocably grants the Company power of 
attorney to execute and deliver any such documents on the Executive's behalf in his name and to do all other lawfully 
permitted acts to transfer the Work Product to the Company and further the transfer, prosecution, issuance, and 
maintenance of all Intellectual Property Rights therein, to the full extent permitted by law, if the Executive does not 
promptly cooperate with the Company's request (without limiting the rights the Company shall have in such 
circumstances by operation of law). The power of attorney is coupled with an interest and shall not be affected by the 
Executive's subsequent incapacity.

 
14.4 No License. The Executive understands that this Agreement does not, and shall not be construed to, grant 

the Executive any license or right of any nature with respect to any Work Product or Intellectual Property Rights or any 
Confidential Information, materials, software, or other tools made available to the Executive by the Company.

 
15. Security.

 
15.1 Security and Access. The Executive agrees and covenants (a) to comply with all Company security policies 

and procedures as in force from time to time ("Facilities and Information Technology Resources"); (b) not to access or 
use any Facilities and Information Technology Resources except as authorized by the Company; and (iii) not to access or 
use any Facilities and Information Technology Resources in any manner after the termination of the Executive's 
employment by the Company, whether termination is voluntary or involuntary. The Executive agrees to notify the 
Company promptly in the event the Executive learns of any violation of the foregoing by others, or of any other 
misappropriation or unauthorized access, use, reproduction, or reverse engineering of, or
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tampering with any Facilities and Information Technology Resources or other Company property or materials by 
others.

 
15.2 Exit Obligations. Upon (a) voluntary or involuntary termination of the Executive's employment or (b) the 

Company's request at any time during the Executive's employment, the Executive shall (i) provide or return to the 
Company any and all Company property, including keys, key cards, access cards, identification cards, security devices, 
employer credit cards, network access devices, computers, cell phones, smartphones, PDAs, pagers, fax machines, 
equipment, speakers, webcams, manuals, reports, files, books, compilations, work product, email messages, recordings, 
tapes, disks, thumb drives or other removable information storage devices, hard drives, negatives, and data and all 
Company documents and materials belonging to the Company and stored in any fashion, including but not limited to 
those that constitute or contain any Confidential Information or Work Product, that are in the possession or control of the 
Executive, whether they were provided to the Executive by the Company or any of its business associates or created by 
the Executive in connection with the Executive's employment by the Company; and (ii) delete or destroy all copies of any 
such documents and materials not returned to the Company that remain in the Executive's possession or control, 
including those stored on any non- Company devices, networks, storage locations, and media in the Executive's 
possession or control.

 
16. Publicity. The Executive hereby irrevocably consents to any and all uses and displays, by the Company and its 

agents, representatives and licensees, of the Executive's name, voice, likeness, image, appearance, and biographical 
information in, on or in connection with any pictures, photographs, audio and video recordings, digital images, websites, 
television programs and advertising, other advertising and publicity, sales and marketing brochures, books, magazines, other 
publications, CDs, DVDs, tapes, and all other printed and electronic forms and media throughout the world, at any time 
during or after the Employment Term, for all legitimate commercial and business purposes of the Company ("Permitted 
Uses") without further consent from or royalty, payment, or other compensation to the Executive. The Executive hereby 
forever waives and releases the Company and its directors, officers, employees, and agents from any and all claims, actions, 
damages, losses, costs, expenses, and liability of any kind, arising under any legal or equitable theory whatsoever at any time 
during or after the Employment Term, arising directly or indirectly from the Company's and its agents', representatives', and 
licensees' exercise of their rights in connection with any Permitted Uses.

 
17. Governing Law: Jurisdiction and Venue. This Agreement, for all purposes, shall be construed in accordance with 

the laws of California without regard to conflicts of law principles. Any action or proceeding by either of the parties to enforce 
this Agreement shall be brought only in a state or federal court located in the state of California, county of San Diego. The 
parties hereby irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts and waive the defense of inconvenient forum to 
the maintenance of any such action or proceeding in such venue.

 
18. Entire Agreement. Unless specifically provided herein, this Agreement contains all of the understandings and 

representations between the Executive and the Company pertaining to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior and 
contemporaneous understandings, agreements, representations, and warranties, both written and oral, with respect to such 
subject  
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parties mutually agree that the Agreement can be specifically enforced in court and can be cited as evidence in legal 
proceedings alleging breach of the Agreement.

 
18. Modification and Waiver. No provision of this Agreement may be amended or modified unless such amendment 

or modification is agreed to in writing and signed by the Executive and by CEO of the Company. No waiver by either of the 
parties of any breach by the other party hereto of any condition or provision of this Agreement to be performed by the other 
party hereto shall be deemed a waiver of any similar or dissimilar provision or condition at the same or any prior or 
subsequent time, nor shall the failure of or delay by either of the parties in exercising any right, power, or privilege 
hereunder operate as a waiver thereof to preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other such right, 
power, or privilege.

 
19. Severability. Should any provision of this Agreement be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be enforceable 

only if modified, or if any portion of this Agreement shall be held as unenforceable and thus stricken, such holding shall not 
affect the validity of the remainder of this Agreement, the balance of which shall continue to be binding upon the parties with 
any such modification to become a part hereof and treated as though originally set forth in this Agreement.

 
The parties further agree that any such court is expressly authorized to modify any such unenforceable provision 

of this Agreement in lieu of severing such unenforceable provision from this Agreement in its entirety, whether by rewriting 
the offending provision, deleting any or all of the offending provision, adding additional language to this Agreement, or by 
making such other modifications as it deems warranted to carry out the intent and agreement of the parties as embodied herein 
to the maximum extent permitted by law.

 
The parties expressly agree that this Agreement as so modified by the court shall be binding upon and enforceable 

against each of them. In any event, should one or more of the provisions of this Agreement be held to be invalid, illegal, or 
unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect any other provisions hereof, and if 
such provision or provisions are not modified as provided above, this Agreement shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal, 
or unenforceable provisions had not been set forth herein.

 
20. Captions. Captions and headings of the sections and paragraphs of this Agreement are intended solely for 

convenience and no provision of this Agreement is to be construed by reference to the caption or heading of any section or 
paragraph.

 
21. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in separate counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an 

original, but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
 

22. Tolling. Should the Executive violate any of the terms of the restrictive covenant obligations articulated herein, 
the obligation at issue will run from the first date on which the Executive ceases to be in violation of such obligation.

 
23. Section 409A.

 
23.1 General Compliance. This Agreement is intended to comply with Section  
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with Section 409A. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, payments provided under this Agreement 
may only be made upon an event and in a manner that complies with Section 409A or an applicable exemption. Any 
payments under this Agreement that may be excluded from Section 409A either as separation pay due to an involuntary 
separation from service or as a short-term deferral shall be excluded from Section 409A to the maximum extent 
possible. For purposes of Section 409A, each installment payment provided under this Agreement shall be treated as a 
separate payment. Any payments to be made under this Agreement upon a termination of employment shall only be 
made upon a "separation from service" under Section 409A. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company makes no 
representations that the payments and benefits provided under this Agreement comply with Section 409A, and in no 
event shall the Company be liable for all or any portion of any taxes, penalties, interest, or other expenses that may be 
incurred by the Executive on account of non-compliance with Section 409A.

 
1.2 Specified Employees. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, if any payment or benefit 

provided to the Executive in connection with the Executive's termination of employment is determined to constitute 
"nonqualified deferred compensation" within the meaning of Section 409A and the Executive is determined to be a 
"specified employee" as defined in Section 409A(a)(2)(b)(i), then such payment or benefit shall not be paid until the first 
payroll date following the six-month anniversary of the Termination Date or, if earlier, on the Executive's death (the 
"Specified Employee Payment Date"). The aggregate of any payments that would otherwise have been paid before the 
Specified Employee Payment Date and interest on such amounts calculated based on the applicable federal rate published 
by the Internal Revenue Service for the month in which the Executive's separation from service occurs shall be paid to 
the Executive in a lump sum on the Specified Employee Payment Date and thereafter, any remaining payments shall be 
paid without delay in accordance with their original schedule.

 
1.3 Reimbursements. To the extent required by Section 409A, each reimbursement or in-kind benefit provided 

under this Agreement shall be provided in accordance with the following:
 

(a) the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits provided, during each 
calendar year cannot affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits to be provided, in any 
other calendar year;

 
(b) any reimbursement of an eligible expense shall be paid to the Executive on or before the last day 

of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the expense was incurred; and
 

(c) any right to reimbursements or in-kind benefits under this Agreement shall not be subject to 
liquidation or exchange for another benefit.

 
1.4 Tax Gross-ups. Any tax gross-up payments provided under this Agreement shall be paid to the 

Executive on or before December 31 of the calendar year immediately following the calendar year in which the 
Executive remits the related taxes.
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24. Notification to Subsequent Employer. When the Executive's employment with the Company terminates, the 
Executive agrees to notify any subsequent employer of the restrictive covenants sections contained in this Agreement. The 
Executive will also deliver a copy of such notice to the Company before the Executive commences employment with any 
subsequent employer. In addition, the Executive authorizes the Company to provide a copy of the restrictive covenants 
sections of this Agreement to third parties, including but not limited to, the Executive's subsequent, anticipated, or possible 
future employer.

 
25. Successors and Assigns. This Agreement is personal to the Executive and shall not be assigned by the Executive. 

Any purported assignment by the Executive shall be null and void from the initial date of the purported assignment. The 
Company may assign this Agreement to any successor or assign (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, 
consolidation, or otherwise) to all or substantially all of the business or assets of the Company. This Agreement shall inure to 
the benefit of the Company and permitted successors and assigns.

 
26. Notice. Notices and all other communications provided for in this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be 

delivered personally or sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, or by overnight carrier to the parties at 
the addresses set forth below (or such other addresses as specified by the parties by like notice):

 
If to the Company:

 
Crinetics Pharmaceuticals, Inc Crinetics 
Pharmaceuticals
10222 Barnes Canyon Rd. Ste 200 San Diego, CA 92121
General Counsel

 
If to the Executive:

 
Jeff E. Knight
10222 Barnes Canyon Rd. Ste 200 San Diego, CA 92121

 
27. Representations of the Executive. The Executive represents and warrants to the Company that:

 

(a) The Executive's acceptance of employment with the Company and the performance of duties 
hereunder will not conflict with or result in a violation of, a breach of, or a default under any contract, 
agreement, or understanding to which the Executive is a party or is otherwise bound.

 
(b) The Executive's acceptance of employment with the Company and the performance of duties 

hereunder will not violate any non-solicitation, non- competition, or other similar covenant or agreement of a 
prior employer.
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28. Withholding. The Company shall have the right to withhold from any amount payable hereunder any Federal, state, 
and local taxes in order for the Company to satisfy any withholding tax obligation it may have under any applicable law or 
regulation.

 
29. Survival. Upon the expiration or other termination of this Agreement, the respective rights and obligations of the 

parties hereto shall survive such expiration or other termination to the extent necessary to carry out the intentions of the 
parties under this Agreement.

 
30. Acknowledgement of Full Understanding. THE EXECUTIVE ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THE 

EXECUTIVE HAS FULLY READ, UNDERSTANDS AND VOLUNTARILY ENTERS INTO THIS AGREEMENT. THE 
EXECUTIVE ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THE EXECUTIVE HAS HAD AN OPPORTUNITY TO ASK 
QUESTIONS AND CONSULT WITH AN ATTORNEY OF THE EXECUTIVE'S CHOICE BEFORE SIGNING THIS 
AGREEMENT.

 
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.
 

 CRINETICS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC
  

By /s/ R. Scott Struthers
Name: R. Scott Struthers
Title: Chief Executive Officer

 EXECUTIVE
 Signature: _/s/ Jeff E. Knight_______

Print Name: Jeff E. Knight
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Exhibit 10.20 

Employment Agreement

This Employment Agreement (the "Agreement") is made and entered into as of February 16, 2022, by and between James 
Hassard (the "Executive") and Crinetics Pharmaceuticals, Inc, a Delaware corporation (the "Company").

WHEREAS, the Company desires to employ the Executive on the terms and conditions set forth herein; and

WHEREAS, the Executive desires to be employed by the Company on such terms and conditions.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, promises, and obligations set forth herein, the parties agree 
as follows:

1.Term. The Executive's employment hereunder shall be effective as of February 28, 2022 (the "Effective Date"). The period 
during which the Executive is employed by the Company hereunder is hereinafter referred to as the "Employment Term."

2. Position and Duties.

a. Position. During the Employment Term, the Executive shall serve as the Chief Commercial Officer of the 
Company, reporting to Chief Executive Officer. In such position, the Executive shall have such duties, authority, and 
responsibilities as shall be determined from time to time by Chief Executive Officer, which duties, authority, and 
responsibilities are consistent with the Executive's position. The Executive shall, if requested, also serve as a member of the 
board of directors of the Company (the "Board") or as an officer or director of any affiliate of the Company for no 
additional compensation.

b. Duties. During the Employment Term, the Executive shall devote substantially all of Executive's business time 
and attention to the performance of the Executive's duties hereunder and will not engage in any other business, profession, 
or occupation for compensation or otherwise which would conflict or interfere with the performance of such services either 
directly or indirectly without the prior written consent of the Board. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Executive will be 
permitted to (a) with the prior written consent of the Board (which consent can be withheld by the Board in its discretion) 
act or serve as a director, trustee, committee member, or principal of any type of business, civic, or charitable organization 
as long as such activities are disclosed in writing to the Company's CEO in accordance with the Company's Code of 
Conduct and Ethics, and (b) purchase or own less than five percent (5%) of the publicly traded securities of any corporation; 
provided that, such ownership represents a passive investment and that the Executive is not a controlling person of, or a 
member of a group that controls, such corporation; provided further that, the activities described in clauses (a) and (b) do 
not interfere with the performance of the Executive's duties and responsibilities to the Company as provided hereunder, 
including, but not limited to, the obligations set forth in Section 2 hereof.
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3.Place of Performance. The principal place of Executive's employment shall be the Company's principal executive office 
currently located in San Diego, CA; provided that, the Executive may be required to travel on Company business during the 
Employment Term.

4. Compensation.

a.Base Salary. The Company shall pay the Executive an annual base salary of $425,000 in periodic installments in 
accordance with the Company's customary payroll practices and applicable wage payment laws, but no less 
frequently than monthly. The Executive's base salary shall be reviewed at least annually by the Board and the Board 
may, but shall not be required to, increase the base salary during the Employment Term. However, the Executive's 
base salary may not be decreased during the Employment Term other than as part of an across-the-board salary 
reduction that applies in the same manner to all senior executives. The Executive's annual base salary, as in effect 
from time to time, is hereinafter referred to as "Base Salary".

b. Annual Bonus. 

i. For each complete calendar year of the Employment Term, the Executive shall be eligible to receive 
an annual bonus (the "Annual Bonus"). As of the Effective Date, the Executive's annual target bonus opportunity 
shall be equal to 40% of Base Salary (the "Target Bonus"), based on the achievement of Company performance 
goals established by the Board; provided that, depending on results, the Executive's actual bonus may be higher or 
lower than the Target Bonus, as determined by the Board. 

ii. The Annual Bonus, if any, will be paid within two and a half (2 1/2) months after the end of the 
applicable calendar year.

iii. Except as otherwise provided in Section 5, (i) the Annual Bonus will be subject to the terms of the 
Company annual bonus plan under which it is granted and (ii) in order to be eligible to receive an Annual Bonus, the 
Executive must be employed by the Company on the date that Annual Bonuses are paid.

c.Equity Awards. In consideration of the Executive entering into this Agreement and as an inducement to join the 
Company, on the Effective Date, the Company will grant the following equity awards to the Executive pursuant to the 
Company's 2018 Incentive Award Plan: a new hire stock option ("Stock Option") of 160,000 shares subject to 
approval by the Crinetics Board of Directors or its designee, which shall vest as follows: one-fourth (1/4th) of the 
shares subject to the option shall vest on the first anniversary of the Effective Date, and the remaining shares subject 
to the option shall vest in thirty-six (36) equal monthly installments over the three-year period thereafter, subject to 
Executive’s continued employment or service with the Company on each such date. All other terms and conditions of 
such awards shall be governed by the terms and conditions of the Company's 2018 Incentive Award Plan and the 
applicable award agreements.

 2 



d.Fringe Benefits and Perquisites. During the Employment Term, the Executive shall be entitled to fringe benefits 
and perquisites consistent with the practices of the Company and governing benefit plan requirements (including plan 
eligibility provisions), and to the extent the Company provides similar benefits or perquisites (or both) to similarly 
situated executives of the Company.

e.Employee Benefits. During the Employment Term, the Executive shall be entitled to participate in all employee 
benefit plans, practices, and programs maintained by the Company, as in effect from time to time (collectively, 
"Employee Benefit Plans"), on a basis which is no less favorable than is provided to other similarly situated 
executives of the Company, to the extent consistent with applicable law and the terms of the applicable Employee 
Benefit Plans. The Company reserves the right to amend or terminate any Employee Benefit Plans at any time in its 
sole discretion, subject to the terms of such Employee Benefit Plan and applicable law.

f.Vacation; Paid Time Off. During the Employment Term, the Executive shall be entitled to 20 of paid vacation days 
per calendar year (prorated for partial years) in accordance with the Company's vacation policies, as in effect from 
time to time. The Executive shall receive other paid time off in accordance with the Company's policies for executive 
officers as such policies may exist from time to time.

g.Business Expenses. The Executive shall be entitled to reimbursement for all reasonable and necessary out-of-
pocket business, entertainment, and travel expenses incurred by the Executive in connection with the performance of 
the Executive's duties hereunder in accordance with the Company's expense reimbursement policies and procedures.

h. Indemnification.  

i. In the event that the Executive is made a party or threatened to be made a party to any action, suit, 
or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative (a "Proceeding"), other than any Proceeding 
initiated by the Executive or the Company related to any contest or dispute between the Executive and the Company 
or any of its affiliates with respect to this Agreement or the Executive's employment hereunder, by reason of the fact 
that the Executive is or was a director or officer of the Company, or any affiliate of the Company, or is or was serving 
at the request of the Company as a director, officer, member, employee, or agent of another corporation or a 
partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise, the Executive shall be indemnified and held harmless by the 
Company to the fullest extent applicable to any other officer or director of the Company from and against any 
liabilities, costs, claims, and expenses, including all costs and expenses incurred in defense of any Proceeding 
(including attorneys' fees). Costs and expenses incurred by the Executive in defense of such Proceeding (including 
attorneys' fees) shall be paid by the Company in advance of the final disposition of such litigation upon receipt by the 
Company of: (i) a written request for payment; (ii) appropriate documentation evidencing the incurrence, amount, 
and nature of the costs and expenses for which payment is being sought; and (iii) an undertaking adequate under 
applicable law made 
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by or on behalf of the Executive to repay the amounts so paid if it shall ultimately be determined that the Executive is 
not entitled to be indemnified by the Company under this Agreement.

ii. During the Employment Term and for a period of six (6) years thereafter, the Company or any 
successor to the Company shall purchase and maintain, at its own expense, directors' and officers' liability insurance 
providing coverage to the Executive on terms that are no less favorable than the coverage provided to other directors 
and similarly situated executives of the Company or any successor.

5.Termination of Employment. The Employment Term and the Executive's employment hereunder may be terminated by 
either the Company or the Executive at any time and for any reason; provided that, unless otherwise provided herein, either 
party shall be required to give the other party at least thirty days advance written notice of any termination of the 
Executive's employment. On termination of the Executive's employment during the Employment Term, the Executive shall 
be entitled to the compensation and benefits described in this Section 5 and shall have no further rights to any compensation 
or any other benefits from the Company or any of its affiliates.

a. For Cause or Without Good Reason.

i. The Executive's employment hereunder may be terminated by the Company for Cause or by the 
Executive without Good Reason. If the Executive's employment is terminated by the Company for Cause or by the 
Executive without Good Reason, the Executive shall be entitled to receive:

1. any accrued but unpaid Base Salary and accrued but unused vacation which shall be paid 
on the pay date immediately following the Termination Date (as defined below) in accordance with the 
Company's customary payroll procedures; 

2. reimbursement for unreimbursed business expenses properly incurred by the Executive, 
which shall be subject to and paid in accordance with the Company's expense reimbursement policy; and

3. such employee benefits (including equity compensation), if any, to which the Executive 
may be entitled under the Company's employee benefit plans as of the Termination Date; provided that, in no 
event shall the Executive be entitled to any payments in the nature of severance or termination payments 
except as specifically provided herein.

Items 5.1(a)(i) through 5.1(a)(iii) are referred to herein collectively as the "Accrued Amounts".

ii. For purposes of this Agreement, "Cause" shall mean:

1. the Executive's failure to perform Executive's duties (other than any such failure resulting 
from incapacity due to physical or mental illness);

 4 



2. the Executive's failure to comply with any valid and legal directive of the Chief Executive 
Officer;

3. the Executive's willful engagement in dishonesty, illegal conduct, or gross misconduct, 
which is, in each case, injurious to the Company or its affiliates;

4. the Executive's embezzlement, misappropriation, or fraud, whether or not related to the 
Executive's employment with the Company;

5. the Executive's conviction of or plea of guilty or nolo contendere to a crime that constitutes 
a felony (or state law equivalent) or a crime that constitutes a misdemeanor involving moral turpitude, if 
such felony or other crime is work-related, materially impairs the Executive's ability to perform services for 
the Company, or results in reputational or financial harm to the Company or its affiliates;

6. the Executive's material violation of the Company's written policies or codes of conduct, 
including written policies related to discrimination, harassment, performance of illegal or unethical 
activities, and ethical misconduct;

7. the Executive's willful unauthorized disclosure of Confidential Information (as defined 
below); or

8. the Executive's material breach of any material obligation under this Agreement or any 
other written agreement between the Executive and the Company.

For purposes of this provision, no act or failure to act on the part of the Executive shall be 
considered "willful" unless it is done, or omitted to be done, by the Executive in bad faith or without reasonable 
belief that the Executive's action or omission was in the best interests of the Company. Any act, or failure to act, 
based on authority given pursuant to a resolution duly adopted by the Board or on the advice of counsel for the 
Company shall be conclusively presumed to be done, or omitted to be done, by the Executive in good faith and in the 
best interests of the Company.

The Company may place the Executive on paid leave for up to 60 days while it is determining 
whether there is a basis to terminate the Executive's employment for Cause. Any such action by the Company will 
not constitute Good Reason.

iii. For purposes of this Agreement, "Good Reason" shall mean the occurrence of any of the following, 
in each case during the Employment Term without the Executive's written consent:
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1. a material reduction in the Executive's Base Salary other than a general reduction in Base 
Salary that affects all similarly situated executives in substantially the same proportions;

2. a relocation of the Executive's principal place of employment by more than 100 miles;

3. any material breach by the Company of any material provision of this Agreement;

4. the Company's failure to obtain an agreement from any successor to the Company to 
assume and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent that the Company 
would be required to perform if no succession had taken place, except where such assumption occurs by 
operation of law;

5. a material, adverse change in the Executive's authority, duties, or responsibilities (other 
than temporarily while the Executive is physically or mentally incapacitated or as required by applicable 
law) taking into account the Company's size, status as a public company, and capitalization as of the date of 
this Agreement; or

6. a material adverse change in the reporting structure applicable to the Executive.

The Executive cannot terminate employment for Good Reason unless the Executive has provided 
written notice to the Company of the existence of the circumstances providing grounds for termination for Good 
Reason within 30 days of the initial existence of such grounds and the Company has had at least 60 days from the 
date on which such notice is provided to cure such circumstances. If the Executive does not terminate employment 
for Good Reason within 30 days after the first occurrence of the applicable grounds, then the Executive will be 
deemed to have waived the right to terminate for Good Reason with respect to such grounds.

b. Without Cause or for Good Reason. The Employment Term and the Executive's employment hereunder may 
be terminated by the Executive for Good Reason or by the Company without Cause. In the event of such termination, the 
Executive shall be entitled to receive the Accrued Amounts and subject to the Executive's compliance with Section 6, 
Section 7, Section 8, and Section 9 of this Agreement and the Executive's execution of a release of claims in favor of the 
Company, its affiliates and their respective officers and directors in a form substantially similar to the release attached as 
Exhibit A (the "Release") and such Release becoming effective within 55 days following the Termination Date (such 55-day 
period, the "Release Execution Period"), the Executive shall be entitled to receive the following:

i. a lump sum payment equal to nine (9) months of the Executive's Base Salary for the year in which 
the Termination Date occurs, which shall be paid within 60 days following the Termination Date; provided that, if the 
Release Execution Period begins 
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in one taxable year and ends in another taxable year, payment shall not be made until the beginning of the second 
taxable year;

ii. a payment equal to the product of (i) the Target Bonus and (ii) a fraction, the numerator of which is 
the number of days the Executive was employed by the Company during the year of termination and the denominator 
of which is the number of days in such year (the "Pro-Rata Bonus"). This amount shall be paid on the date that 
annual bonuses are paid to similarly situated executives, but in no event later than two-and-a-half (2 1/2) months 
following the end of the calendar year in which the Termination Date occurs;

iii. If the Executive timely and properly elects health continuation coverage under the Consolidated 
Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 ("COBRA"), the Company shall reimburse the Executive for the 
monthly COBRA premium paid by the Executive for the Executive and the Executive's dependents. Such 
reimbursement shall be paid to the Executive on the first of the month immediately following the month in which the 
Executive timely remits the premium payment. The Executive shall be eligible to receive such reimbursement until 
the earliest of: (i) the nine-month anniversary of the Termination Date; (ii) the date the Executive is no longer eligible 
to receive COBRA continuation coverage; and (iii) the date on which the Executive receives substantially similar 
coverage from another employer or other source. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Company's making payments 
under this Section 5.2(c) would violate the nondiscrimination rules applicable to non-grandfathered plans under the 
Affordable Care Act (the "ACA"), or result in the imposition of penalties under the ACA and the related regulations 
and guidance promulgated thereunder), the parties agree to reform this Section 5.2(c) in a manner as is necessary to 
comply with the ACA.

iv. The treatment of any outstanding equity awards shall be determined in accordance with the terms of 
the Company's 2018 Incentive Award Plan and the applicable award agreements.

c. Death or Disability.  

i. The Executive's employment hereunder shall terminate automatically on the Executive's death 
during the Employment Term, and the Company may terminate the Executive's employment on account of the 
Executive's Disability. 

ii. If the Executive's employment is terminated during the Employment Term on account of the 
Executive's death or Disability, the Executive (or the Executive's estate and/or beneficiaries, as the case may be) shall 
be entitled to receive the following:

1. the Accrued Amounts; and

2. a lump sum payment equal to the Pro-Rata Bonus, if any, that the Executive would have 
earned for the calendar year in which the Termination Date occurs based on the achievement of applicable 
performance goals for 

 7 



such year, which shall be payable on the date that annual bonuses are paid to the Company's similarly 
situated executives, but in no event later than two-and-a-half (2 1/2) months following the end of the 
calendar year in which the Termination Date occurs. 

3. Notwithstanding any other provision contained herein, all payments made in connection 
with the Executive's Disability shall be provided in a manner which is consistent with federal and state law.

iii. For purposes of this Agreement, "Disability" shall mean a condition that entitles the Executive to 
receive long-term disability benefits under the Company's long-term disability plan, or if there is no such plan, the 
Executive's inability, due to physical or mental incapacity, to perform the essential functions of the Executive's job, 
with or without reasonable accommodation, for one hundred eighty (180) days out of any three hundred sixty-five 
(365) day period; provided, however, in the event that the Company temporarily replaces the Executive, or transfers 
the Executive's duties or responsibilities to another individual on account of the Executive's inability to perform such 
duties due to a mental or physical incapacity which is, or is reasonably expected to become, a Disability, then the 
Executive's employment shall not be deemed terminated by the Company. Any question as to the existence of the 
Executive's Disability as to which the Executive and the Company cannot agree shall be determined in writing by a 
qualified independent physician mutually acceptable to the Executive and the Company. If the Executive and the 
Company cannot agree as to a qualified independent physician, each shall appoint such a physician and those two 
physicians shall select a third who shall make such determination in writing. The determination of Disability made in 
writing to the Company and the Executive shall be final and conclusive for all purposes of this Agreement.

d. Change in Control Termination.  

i. Notwithstanding any other provision contained herein, if the Executive's employment hereunder is 
terminated by the Executive for Good Reason or by the Company without Cause (other than on account of the 
Executive's death or Disability), in each case within twelve (12) months following a Change in Control, the 
Executive shall be entitled to receive the Accrued Amounts and subject to the Executive's compliance with Section 6, 
Section 7, Section 8 and Section 9 of this Agreement and the Executive's execution of a Release which becomes 
effective within 55 days following the Termination Date, the Executive shall be entitled to receive the following: 

1. a lump sum payment equal to 12 months of the sum of the Executive's Base Salary and 
Target Bonus for the year in which the Termination Date occurs (or if greater, the year immediately 
preceding the year in which the Change in Control occurs), which shall be paid within 60 days following the 
Termination Date; provided that, if the Release Execution Period begins in one taxable year and ends in 
another taxable year, payment shall not be made until the beginning of the second taxable year; and
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2. a lump sum payment equal to the Executive's Target Bonus for the calendar year in which 
the Termination Date (as determined in accordance with Section 5.6) occurs (or if greater, the year in which 
the Change in Control occurs), which shall be paid within 60 days following the Termination Date; provided 
that, if the Release Execution Period begins in one taxable year and ends in another taxable year, payment 
shall not be made until the beginning of the second taxable year.

ii. If the Executive timely and properly elects health plan continuation coverage under COBRA, the 
Company shall reimburse the Executive for the monthly COBRA premium paid by the Executive for the Executive 
and the Executive's dependents. Such reimbursement shall be paid to the Executive on the first of the month 
immediately following the month in which the Executive timely remits the premium payment. The Executive shall be 
eligible to receive such reimbursement until the earliest of: (i) the twelve-month anniversary of the Termination Date; 
(ii) the date the Executive is no longer eligible to receive COBRA continuation coverage; and (iii) the date on which 
the Executive receives substantially similar coverage from another employer or other source. [ Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, if the Company's payments under this Section 5.4(b) would violate the nondiscrimination rules applicable 
to non-grandfathered, insured group plans under the ACA, or result in the imposition of penalties under the ACA, the 
parties agree to reform this Section 5.4(b) in a manner as is necessary to comply with the ACA.]

iii. Notwithstanding the terms of any equity incentive plan or award agreements, as applicable:

1. all outstanding unvested stock options granted to the Executive during the Employment 
Term shall become fully vested and exercisable for the remainder of their full term;

2. all outstanding equity-based compensation awards, that do not vest based on the attainment 
of performance goals shall become fully vested and the restrictions thereon shall lapse; provided that, any 
delays in the settlement or payment of such awards that are set forth in the applicable award agreement and 
that are required under Section 409A shall remain in effect; and

3. all outstanding equity-based compensation awards, that vest based on the attainment of 
performance goals shall remain outstanding and shall vest or be forfeited in accordance with the terms of the 
applicable award agreements, if the applicable performance goals are satisfied.

iv. For purposes of this Agreement, "Change in Control" shall mean the occurrence of any of the 
following after the Effective Date:

1. one person (or more than one person acting as a group) acquires ownership of stock of the 
Company that, together with the stock held by such person or group, constitutes more than 50% of the total 
fair market value or 
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total voting power of the stock of such corporation; provided that, a Change in Control shall not occur if any 
person (or more than one person acting as a group) owns more than 50% of the total fair market value or 
total voting power of the Company's stock and acquires additional stock;

2. one person (or more than one person acting as a group) acquires (or has acquired during the 
twelve-month period ending on the date of the most recent acquisition) ownership of the Company's stock 
possessing 50% or more of the total voting power of the Company's stock;

3. a majority of the members of the Board are replaced during any twelve-month period by 
directors whose appointment or election is not endorsed by a majority of the Board before the date of 
appointment or election; or

4. the sale of all or substantially all of the Company's assets.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Change in Control shall not occur unless such transaction 
constitutes a change in the ownership of the Company, a change in effective control of the Company, or a change in 
the ownership of a substantial portion of the Company's assets under Section 409A.

e. Notice of Termination. Any termination of the Executive's employment hereunder by the Company or by the 
Executive during the Employment Term (other than termination pursuant to Section 5.3(a) on account of the Executive's 
death) shall be communicated by written notice of termination ("Notice of Termination") to the other party hereto in 
accordance with Section 26. The Notice of Termination shall specify: 

i. The termination provision of this Agreement relied upon; 

ii. To the extent applicable, the facts and circumstances claimed to provide a basis for termination of 
the Executive's employment under the provision so indicated; and

iii. The applicable Termination Date.

f. Termination Date. The Executive's "Termination Date" shall be: 

i. If the Executive's employment hereunder terminates on account of the Executive's death, the date of 
the Executive's death; 

ii. If the Executive's employment hereunder is terminated on account of the Executive's Disability, the 
date that it is determined that the Executive has a Disability;

iii. If the Company terminates the Executive's employment hereunder for Cause, the date the Notice of 
Termination is delivered to the Executive;
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iv. If the Company terminates the Executive's employment hereunder without Cause, the date specified 
in the Notice of Termination, which shall be no less than 5 days following the date on which the Notice of 
Termination is delivered; provided that, the Company shall have the option to provide the Executive with a lump sum 
payment equal to 5 days' Base Salary in lieu of such notice, which shall be paid in a lump sum on the Executive's 
Termination Date and for all purposes of this Agreement, the Executive's Termination Date shall be the date on which 
such Notice of Termination is delivered;

v. If the Executive terminates his employment hereunder with or without Good Reason, the date 
specified in the Executive's Notice of Termination, which shall be no less than 5 days following the date on which the 
Notice of Termination is delivered; provided that, the Company may waive all or any part of the 5 day notice period 
for no consideration by giving written notice to the Executive and for all purposes of this Agreement, the Executive's 
Termination Date shall be the date determined by the Company; and

vi. If the Executive's employment hereunder terminates because either party provides notice of non-
renewal pursuant to Section 1, the Renewal Date immediately following the date on which the applicable party 
delivers notice of non-renewal. 

Notwithstanding anything contained herein, the Termination Date shall not occur until the date on which the 
Executive incurs a "separation from service" within the meaning of Section 409A.

g. Resignation of All Other Positions. On termination of the Executive's employment hereunder for any reason, 
the Executive shall be deemed to have resigned from all positions that the Executive holds as an officer or member of the 
Board (or a committee thereof) of the Company or any of its affiliates.

6. Cooperation. The parties agree that certain matters in which the Executive will be involved during the Employment 
Term may necessitate the Executive's cooperation in the future. Accordingly, following the termination of the Executive's 
employment for any reason, to the extent reasonably requested by the Board, the Executive shall cooperate with the Company in 
connection with matters arising out of the Executive's service to the Company; provided that, the Company shall make reasonable 
efforts to minimize disruption of the Executive's other activities. The Company shall reimburse the Executive for reasonable 
expenses incurred in connection with such cooperation. 

7. Confidential Information. The Executive understands and acknowledges that during the Employment Term, the 
Executive will have access to and learn about Confidential Information, as defined below.

a. Confidential Information Defined.  

i. Definition.
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For purposes of this Agreement, "Confidential Information" includes, but is not limited to, all 
information not generally known to the public, in spoken, printed, electronic, or any other form or medium, of the 
Company or its businesses, or of any other person or entity that has entrusted information to the Company in 
confidence. 

The Executive understands that the above list is not exhaustive, and that Confidential Information 
also includes other information that is marked or otherwise identified as confidential or proprietary, or that would 
otherwise appear to a reasonable person to be confidential or proprietary in the context and circumstances in which 
the information is known or used. 

The Executive understands and agrees that Confidential Information includes information 
developed by Executive in the course of employment by the Company as if the Company furnished the same 
Confidential Information to the Executive in the first instance. Confidential Information shall not include information 
that is generally available to and known by the public at the time of disclosure to the Executive; provided that, such 
disclosure is through no direct or indirect fault of the Executive or person(s) acting on the Executive's behalf.

ii. Company Creation and Use of Confidential Information.

The Executive understands and acknowledges that the Company has invested, and continues to 
invest, substantial time, money, and specialized knowledge into developing its resources, creating a customer base, 
generating customer and potential customer lists, training its employees, and improving its offerings in the field of 
Pharmaceutical. The Executive understands and acknowledges that as a result of these efforts, the Company has 
created, and continues to use and create Confidential Information. This Confidential Information provides the 
Company with a competitive advantage over others in the marketplace. 

iii. Disclosure and Use Restrictions.

The Executive agrees and covenants: (i) to treat all Confidential Information as strictly confidential; 
(ii) not to directly or indirectly disclose, publish, communicate, or make available Confidential Information, or allow 
it to be disclosed, published, communicated, or made available, in whole or part, to any entity or person whatsoever 
(including other employees of the Company) not having a need to know and authority to know and use the 
Confidential Information in connection with the business of the Company and, in any event, not to anyone outside of 
the direct employ of the Company except as required in the performance of the Executive's authorized employment 
duties to the Company or with the prior consent of CEO acting on behalf of the Company in each instance (and then, 
such disclosure shall be made only within the limits and to the extent of such duties or consent); and (iii) not to 
access or use any Confidential Information, and not to copy any documents, records, files, media, or other resources 
containing any Confidential Information, or remove any such documents, records, files, media, or other resources 
from the premises or control of the 
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Company, except as required in the performance of the Executive's authorized employment duties to the Company or 
with the prior consent of CEO acting on behalf of the Company in each instance (and then, such disclosure shall be 
made only within the limits and to the extent of such duties or consent).

iv. Permitted disclosures. Nothing herein shall be construed to prevent disclosure of Confidential 
Information as may be required by applicable law or regulation, or pursuant to the valid order of a court of competent 
jurisdiction or an authorized government agency, provided that the disclosure does not exceed the extent of disclosure 
required by such law, regulation, or order. The Executive shall promptly provide written notice of any such order to 
CEO.

v. Permitted Communications. Nothing herein prohibits or restricts the Executive (or the Executive's 
attorney) from initiating communications directly with, responding to an inquiry from, or providing testimony before 
the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA), any other 
self-regulatory organization, or any other federal or state regulatory authority [regarding a possible securities law 
violation].

vi. Notice of Immunity Under the Economic Espionage Act of 1996, as amended by the Defend Trade 
Secrets Act of 2016 ("DTSA"). Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement:

1. The Executive will not be held criminally or civilly liable under any federal or state trade 
secret law for any disclosure of a trade secret that:

a.  is made (1) in confidence to a federal, state, or local government official, either 
directly or indirectly, or to an attorney; and (2) solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a 
suspected violation of law; or 

b. is made in a complaint or other document filed under seal in a lawsuit or other 
proceeding.

2. If the Executive files a lawsuit for retaliation by the Company for reporting a suspected 
violation of law, the Executive may disclose the Company's trade secrets to the Executive's attorney and use 
the trade secret information in the court proceeding if the Executive:

a.  files any document containing trade secrets under seal; and

b. does not disclose trade secrets, except pursuant to court order.

The Executive understands and acknowledges that his obligations under this Agreement with regard 
to any particular Confidential Information shall commence immediately upon the Executive first having access to 
such Confidential Information (whether before or after he begins employment by the Company) and 
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shall continue during and after his employment by the Company until such time as such Confidential Information has 
become public knowledge other than as a result of the Executive's breach of this Agreement or breach by those acting 
in concert with the Executive or on the Executive's behalf.

8. Restrictive Covenants.

a. Acknowledgement. The Executive understands that the nature of the Executive's position gives the Executive 
access to and knowledge of Confidential Information and places the Executive in a position of trust and confidence with the 
Company. The Executive understands and acknowledges that the intellectual or artistic services the Executive provides to 
the Company are unique, special, or extraordinary.

The Executive further understands and acknowledges that the Company 's ability to reserve these for the 
exclusive knowledge and use of the Company is of great competitive importance and commercial value to the Company, 
and that improper use or disclosure by the Executive is likely to result in unfair or unlawful competitive activity.

b. Non-Competition. Because of the Company 's legitimate business interest as described herein and the good 
and valuable consideration offered to the Executive, during the Employment Term and for the following two years, to run 
consecutively, beginning on the last day of the Executive's employment with the Company, the Executive agrees and 
covenants not to engage in Prohibited Activity within the in any county, city or part thereof in the United States and/or any 
foreign country in a business which competes directly or indirectly (as determined by the CEO) with the Company’s 
business in such county, city or part thereof.

For purposes of this Section 8, "Prohibited Activity" is activity in which the Executive contributes the 
Executive's knowledge, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, as an employee, employer, owner, operator, manager, 
advisor, consultant, agent, employee, partner, director, stockholder, officer, volunteer, intern, or any other similar capacity to 
an entity engaged in the same or similar business as the Company, including those engaged in the business of 
Pharmaceutical. Prohibited Activity also includes activity that may require or inevitably requires disclosure of trade secrets, 
proprietary information or Confidential Information.

Nothing herein shall prohibit the Executive from purchasing or owning less than five percent (5%) of the 
publicly traded securities of any corporation, provided that such ownership represents a passive investment and that the 
Executive is not a controlling person of, or a member of a group that controls, such corporation.

This Section 8 does not, in any way, restrict or impede the Executive from exercising protected rights to the 
extent that such rights cannot be waived by agreement or from complying with any applicable law or regulation or a valid 
order of a court of competent jurisdiction or an authorized government agency, provided that such compliance does not 
exceed that required by the law, regulation, or order. The Executive shall promptly provide written notice of any such order 
to CEO.
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c. Non-Solicitation of Employees. The Executive agrees and covenants not to directly or indirectly solicit, hire, 
recruit, attempt to hire or recruit, or induce the termination of employment of any employee of the Company, or attempt to 
do so, for 12 months, to run consecutively, beginning on the last day of the Executive's employment with the Company.

9. Non-Disparagement. The Executive agrees and covenants that the Executive will not at any time make, publish or 
communicate to any person or entity or in any public forum any defamatory or disparaging remarks, comments, or statements 
concerning the Company or its businesses, or any of its employees, officers. 

This Section 9 does not, in any way, restrict or impede the Executive from exercising protected rights to the extent 
that such rights cannot be waived by agreement or from complying with any applicable law or regulation or a valid order of a 
court of competent jurisdiction or an authorized government agency, provided that such compliance does not exceed that required 
by the law, regulation, or order. The Executive shall promptly provide written notice of any such order to CEO.

The Company agrees and covenants that it shall direct its officers and directors to refrain from making any 
defamatory or disparaging remarks, comments, or statements concerning the Executive to any third parties.

10. Acknowledgement. The Executive acknowledges and agrees that the services to be rendered by the Executive to the 
Company are of a special and unique character; that the Executive will obtain knowledge and skill relevant to the Company's 
industry, methods of doing business and marketing strategies by virtue of the Executive's employment; and that the restrictive 
covenants and other terms and conditions of this Agreement are reasonable and reasonably necessary to protect the legitimate 
business interest of the Company. 

The Executive further acknowledges that the benefits provided to the Executive under this Agreement, including the 
amount of the Executive's compensation reflects, in part, the Executive's obligations and the Company's rights under Section 7, 
Section 8, and Section 9 of this Agreement; that the Executive has no expectation of any additional compensation, royalties or 
other payment of any kind not otherwise referenced herein in connection herewith; and that the Executive will not suffer undue 
hardship by reason of full compliance with the terms and conditions of Section 7, Section 8, and Section 9 of this Agreement or 
the Company's enforcement thereof.

11. Remedies. In the event of a breach or threatened breach by the Executive of Section 7, Section 8, or Section 9 of this 
Agreement, the Executive hereby consents and agrees that the Company shall be entitled to seek, in addition to other available 
remedies, a temporary or permanent injunction or other equitable relief against such breach or threatened breach from any court 
of competent jurisdiction, and that money damages would not afford an adequate remedy, without the necessity of showing any 
actual damages. The aforementioned equitable relief shall be in addition to, not in lieu of, legal remedies, monetary damages, or 
other available forms of relief.
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12. Arbitration. Any dispute, controversy, or claim arising out of or related to this Agreement or any breach of this 
Agreement or the Executive's employment, whether the claim arises in contract, tort, or statute, shall be submitted to and decided 
by binding arbitration. Arbitration shall be administered exclusively by American Arbitration Association and shall be conducted 
consistent with the rules, regulations, and requirements thereof as well as any requirements imposed by state law. Any arbitral 
award determination shall be final and binding upon the parties.

13. Proprietary Rights.

a. Work Product. The Executive acknowledges and agrees that all right, title, and interest in and to all writings, 
works of authorship, technology, inventions, discoveries, processes, techniques, methods, ideas, concepts, research, 
proposals, materials, and all other work product of any nature whatsoever, that are created, prepared, produced, authored, 
edited, amended, conceived, or reduced to practice by the Executive individually or jointly with others during the 
Employment Term and relate in any way to the business or contemplated business, products, activities, research, or 
development of the Company or result from any work performed by the Executive for the Company (in each case, 
regardless of when or where prepared or whose equipment or other resources is used in preparing the same), all rights and 
claims related to the foregoing, and all printed, physical and electronic copies, and other tangible embodiments thereof 
(collectively, "Work Product"), as well as any and all rights in and to US and foreign (a) patents, patent disclosures and 
inventions (whether patentable or not), (b) trademarks, service marks, trade dress, trade names, logos, corporate names, and 
domain names, and other similar designations of source or origin, together with the goodwill symbolized by any of the 
foregoing, (c) copyrights and copyrightable works (including computer programs), and rights in data and databases, (d) 
trade secrets, know-how, and other confidential information, and (e) all other intellectual property rights, in each case 
whether registered or unregistered and including all registrations and applications for, and renewals and extensions of, such 
rights, all improvements thereto and all similar or equivalent rights or forms of protection in any part of the world 
(collectively, "Intellectual Property Rights"), shall be the sole and exclusive property of the Company.

For purposes of this Agreement, Work Product includes, but is not limited to, Company information.

b. Work Made for Hire; Assignment. The Executive acknowledges that, by reason of being employed by the 
Company at the relevant times, to the extent permitted by law, all of the Work Product consisting of copyrightable subject 
matter is "work made for hire" as defined in 17 U.S.C. § 101 and such copyrights are therefore owned by the Company. To 
the extent that the foregoing does not apply, the Executive hereby irrevocably assigns to the Company, for no additional 
consideration, the Executive's entire right, title, and interest in and to all Work Product and Intellectual Property Rights 
therein, including the right to sue, counterclaim, and recover for all past, present, and future infringement, misappropriation, 
or dilution thereof, and all rights corresponding thereto throughout the world. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be 
construed to reduce or limit the Company's rights, title, 
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or interest in any Work Product or Intellectual Property Rights so as to be less in any respect than that the Company would 
have had in the absence of this Agreement. 

c. Further Assurances; Power of Attorney. During and after the Employment Term, the Executive agrees to 
reasonably cooperate with the Company to (a) apply for, obtain, perfect, and transfer to the Company the Work Product as 
well as any and all Intellectual Property Rights in the Work Product in any jurisdiction in the world; and (b) maintain, 
protect and enforce the same, including, without limitation, giving testimony and executing and delivering to the Company 
any and all applications, oaths, declarations, affidavits, waivers, assignments, and other documents and instruments as shall 
be requested by the Company. The Executive hereby irrevocably grants the Company power of attorney to execute and 
deliver any such documents on the Executive's behalf in his name and to do all other lawfully permitted acts to transfer the 
Work Product to the Company and further the transfer, prosecution, issuance, and maintenance of all Intellectual Property 
Rights therein, to the full extent permitted by law, if the Executive does not promptly cooperate with the Company's request 
(without limiting the rights the Company shall have in such circumstances by operation of law). The power of attorney is 
coupled with an interest and shall not be affected by the Executive's subsequent incapacity.

d. No License. The Executive understands that this Agreement does not, and shall not be construed to, grant the 
Executive any license or right of any nature with respect to any Work Product or Intellectual Property Rights or any 
Confidential Information, materials, software, or other tools made available to the Executive by the Company.

14. Security.

a. Security and Access. The Executive agrees and covenants (a) to comply with all Company security policies 
and procedures as in force from time to time ("Facilities and Information Technology Resources"); (b) not to access or 
use any Facilities and Information Technology Resources except as authorized by the Company; and (iii) not to access or 
use any Facilities and Information Technology Resources in any manner after the termination of the Executive's 
employment by the Company, whether termination is voluntary or involuntary. The Executive agrees to notify the Company 
promptly in the event the Executive learns of any violation of the foregoing by others, or of any other misappropriation or 
unauthorized access, use, reproduction, or reverse engineering of, or tampering with any Facilities and Information 
Technology Resources or other Company property or materials by others. 

b. Exit Obligations. Upon (a) voluntary or involuntary termination of the Executive's employment or (b) the 
Company's request at any time during the Executive's employment, the Executive shall (i) provide or return to the Company 
any and all Company property, including keys, key cards, access cards, identification cards, security devices, employer 
credit cards, network access devices, computers, cell phones, smartphones, PDAs, pagers, fax machines, equipment, 
speakers, webcams, manuals, reports, files, books, compilations, work product, email messages, recordings, tapes, disks, 
thumb drives or other removable information storage devices, hard drives, negatives, and data and all Company documents 
and materials belonging to the Company and stored in any fashion, including but 
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not limited to those that constitute or contain any Confidential Information or Work Product, that are in the possession or 
control of the Executive, whether they were provided to the Executive by the Company or any of its business associates or 
created by the Executive in connection with the Executive's employment by the Company; and (ii) delete or destroy all 
copies of any such documents and materials not returned to the Company that remain in the Executive's possession or 
control, including those stored on any non- Company devices, networks, storage locations, and media in the Executive's 
possession or control.

15. Publicity. The Executive hereby irrevocably consents to any and all uses and displays, by the Company and its agents, 
representatives and licensees, of the Executive's name, voice, likeness, image, appearance, and biographical information in, on or 
in connection with any pictures, photographs, audio and video recordings, digital images, websites, television programs and 
advertising, other advertising and publicity, sales and marketing brochures, books, magazines, other publications, CDs, DVDs, 
tapes, and all other printed and electronic forms and media throughout the world, at any time during or after the Employment 
Term, for all legitimate commercial and business purposes of the Company ("Permitted Uses") without further consent from or 
royalty, payment, or other compensation to the Executive. The Executive hereby forever waives and releases the Company and its 
directors, officers, employees, and agents from any and all claims, actions, damages, losses, costs, expenses, and liability of any 
kind, arising under any legal or equitable theory whatsoever at any time during or after the Employment Term, arising directly or 
indirectly from the Company's and its agents', representatives', and licensees' exercise of their rights in connection with any 
Permitted Uses.

16. Governing Law: Jurisdiction and Venue. This Agreement, for all purposes, shall be construed in accordance with the 
laws of California without regard to conflicts of law principles. Any action or proceeding by either of the parties to enforce this 
Agreement shall be brought only in a state or federal court located in the state of California, county of San Diego. The parties 
hereby irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts and waive the defense of inconvenient forum to the 
maintenance of any such action or proceeding in such venue.

17. Entire Agreement. Unless specifically provided herein, this Agreement contains all of the understandings and 
representations between the Executive and the Company pertaining to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior and 
contemporaneous understandings, agreements, representations, and warranties, both written and oral, with respect to such subject 
matter. The parties mutually agree that the Agreement can be specifically enforced in court and can be cited as evidence in legal 
proceedings alleging breach of the Agreement. 

18. Modification and Waiver. No provision of this Agreement may be amended or modified unless such amendment or 
modification is agreed to in writing and signed by the Executive and by CEO of the Company. No waiver by either of the parties 
of any breach by the other party hereto of any condition or provision of this Agreement to be performed by the other party hereto 
shall be deemed a waiver of any similar or dissimilar provision or condition at the same or any prior or subsequent time, nor shall 
the failure of or delay by either of the parties in exercising any right, power, or privilege hereunder operate as a waiver thereof to 
preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other such right, power, or privilege.
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19. Severability. Should any provision of this Agreement be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be enforceable 
only if modified, or if any portion of this Agreement shall be held as unenforceable and thus stricken, such holding shall not 
affect the validity of the remainder of this Agreement, the balance of which shall continue to be binding upon the parties with any 
such modification to become a part hereof and treated as though originally set forth in this Agreement. 

The parties further agree that any such court is expressly authorized to modify any such unenforceable provision of 
this Agreement in lieu of severing such unenforceable provision from this Agreement in its entirety, whether by rewriting the 
offending provision, deleting any or all of the offending provision, adding additional language to this Agreement, or by making 
such other modifications as it deems warranted to carry out the intent and agreement of the parties as embodied herein to the 
maximum extent permitted by law. 

The parties expressly agree that this Agreement as so modified by the court shall be binding upon and enforceable 
against each of them. In any event, should one or more of the provisions of this Agreement be held to be invalid, illegal, or 
unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect any other provisions hereof, and if 
such provision or provisions are not modified as provided above, this Agreement shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal, or 
unenforceable provisions had not been set forth herein.

20. Captions. Captions and headings of the sections and paragraphs of this Agreement are intended solely for convenience 
and no provision of this Agreement is to be construed by reference to the caption or heading of any section or paragraph.

21. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in separate counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, 
but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

22. Tolling. Should the Executive violate any of the terms of the restrictive covenant obligations articulated herein, the 
obligation at issue will run from the first date on which the Executive ceases to be in violation of such obligation.

23. Section 409A.

a. General Compliance. This Agreement is intended to comply with Section 409A or an exemption thereunder 
and shall be construed and administered in accordance with Section 409A. Notwithstanding any other provision of this 
Agreement, payments provided under this Agreement may only be made upon an event and in a manner that complies with 
Section 409A or an applicable exemption. Any payments under this Agreement that may be excluded from Section 409A 
either as separation pay due to an involuntary separation from service or as a short-term deferral shall be excluded from 
Section 409A to the maximum extent possible. For purposes of Section 409A, each installment payment provided under this 
Agreement shall be treated as a separate payment. Any payments to be made under this Agreement upon a termination of 
employment shall only be made upon a "separation from service" under Section 409A. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
Company makes no representations that the payments and benefits provided under this Agreement comply with Section 
409A, and in no event shall the Company be liable for all or any portion of any 
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taxes, penalties, interest, or other expenses that may be incurred by the Executive on account of non-compliance with 
Section 409A.

b. Specified Employees. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, if any payment or benefit 
provided to the Executive in connection with the Executive's termination of employment is determined to constitute 
"nonqualified deferred compensation" within the meaning of Section 409A and the Executive is determined to be a 
"specified employee" as defined in Section 409A(a)(2)(b)(i), then such payment or benefit shall not be paid until the first 
payroll date following the six-month anniversary of the Termination Date or, if earlier, on the Executive's death (the 
"Specified Employee Payment Date"). The aggregate of any payments that would otherwise have been paid before the 
Specified Employee Payment Date and interest on such amounts calculated based on the applicable federal rate published by 
the Internal Revenue Service for the month in which the Executive's separation from service occurs shall be paid to the 
Executive in a lump sum on the Specified Employee Payment Date and thereafter, any remaining payments shall be paid 
without delay in accordance with their original schedule.

c. Reimbursements. To the extent required by Section 409A, each reimbursement or in-kind benefit provided 
under this Agreement shall be provided in accordance with the following:

i. the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits provided, during each 
calendar year cannot affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits to be provided, in any other 
calendar year;

ii. any reimbursement of an eligible expense shall be paid to the Executive on or before the last day of 
the calendar year following the calendar year in which the expense was incurred; and

iii. any right to reimbursements or in-kind benefits under this Agreement shall not be subject to 
liquidation or exchange for another benefit.

d. Tax Gross-ups. Any tax gross-up payments provided under this Agreement shall be paid to the Executive on or 
before December 31 of the calendar year immediately following the calendar year in which the Executive remits the related 
taxes.

24. Notification to Subsequent Employer. When the Executive's employment with the Company terminates, the Executive 
agrees to notify any subsequent employer of the restrictive covenants’ sections contained in this Agreement. The Executive will 
also deliver a copy of such notice to the Company before the Executive commences employment with any subsequent employer. 
In addition, the Executive authorizes the Company to provide a copy of the restrictive covenants’ sections of this Agreement to 
third parties, including but not limited to, the Executive's subsequent, anticipated, or possible future employer.

25. Successors and Assigns. This Agreement is personal to the Executive and shall not be assigned by the Executive. Any 
purported assignment by the Executive shall be null and void from the initial date of the purported assignment. The Company 
may assign this Agreement to any successor or assign (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation, or 
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otherwise) to all or substantially all of the business or assets of the Company. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the 
Company and permitted successors and assigns.

26. Notice. Notices and all other communications provided for in this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be delivered 
personally or sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, or by overnight carrier to the parties at the addresses 
set forth below (or such other addresses as specified by the parties by like notice):

If to the Company:

Crinetics Pharmaceuticals, Inc
10222 Barnes Canyon Rd.  Ste 200
San Diego, CA 92121
Attn: Garlan Adams, General Counsel

If to the Executive:

James Hassard
10222 Barnes Canyon Rd.  Ste 200
San Diego, CA 92121
 

27. Representations of the Executive. The Executive represents and warrants to the Company that:

i. The Executive's acceptance of employment with the Company and the performance of duties 
hereunder will not conflict with or result in a violation of, a breach of, or a default under any contract, agreement, or 
understanding to which the Executive is a party or is otherwise bound.

ii. The Executive's acceptance of employment with the Company and the performance of duties 
hereunder will not violate any non-solicitation, non-competition, or other similar covenant or agreement of a prior 
employer.

28. Withholding. The Company shall have the right to withhold from any amount payable hereunder any Federal, state, 
and local taxes in order for the Company to satisfy any withholding tax obligation it may have under any applicable law or 
regulation.

29. Survival. Upon the expiration or other termination of this Agreement, the respective rights and obligations of the 
parties hereto shall survive such expiration or other termination to the extent necessary to carry out the intentions of the parties 
under this Agreement.

30. Acknowledgement of Full Understanding. THE EXECUTIVE ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THE 
EXECUTIVE HAS FULLY READ, UNDERSTANDS AND VOLUNTARILY ENTERS INTO THIS AGREEMENT. THE 
EXECUTIVE ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THE EXECUTIVE HAS HAD AN OPPORTUNITY TO ASK 
QUESTIONS AND CONSULT WITH AN ATTORNEY OF THE EXECUTIVE'S CHOICE BEFORE SIGNING THIS 
AGREEMENT. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.
 CRINETICS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC
  

By /s/ R. Scott Struthers
Name: R. Scott Struthers
Title: Chief Executive Officer

 EXECUTIVE
 Signature: _/s/ James Hassard_______

Print Name: James Hassard
 

 23 



Exhibit 23.1 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Crinetics Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
San Diego, California 

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (Nos. 333-233246 and 333-258694) and Form S-8 (Nos. 
333-226234 and 333-254883) of Crinetics Pharmaceuticals, Inc. of our report dated March 30, 2022, relating to the consolidated financial statements, 
which appears in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP

San Diego, California
March 30, 2022
 



 
Exhibit 31.1 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, R. Scott Struthers, Ph.D., certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Crinetics Pharmaceuticals, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make 
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered 
by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; 
and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting. 

 
     
Date: March 30, 2022  

 
  

 
/s/ R. Scott Struthers, Ph.D.

  
 

  
 

R. Scott Struthers, Ph.D.

  
 

  
 

President and Chief Executive Officer

 
 



 
Exhibit 31.2 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, Marc J.S. Wilson, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Crinetics Pharmaceuticals, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make 
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered 
by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; 
and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting. 

 
     
Date: March 30, 2022  

 
  

 
/s/ Marc J.S. Wilson

  
 

  
 

Marc J.S. Wilson

  
 

  
 

Chief Financial Officer

 
 



Exhibit 32.1 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Crinetics 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) hereby certifies, to his knowledge, that: 

(i) the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 (the “Report”) fully complies with 
the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and 

(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. 
 

 
/s/ R. Scott Struthers, Ph.D.
R. Scott Struthers, Ph.D.
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 30, 2022
 
The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate 
disclosure document.
 



 

Exhibit 32.2 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Crinetics 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) hereby certifies, to his knowledge, that: 

(i) the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 (the “Report”) fully complies with 
the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and 

(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. 
 

 
/s/ Marc J.S. Wilson
Marc J.S. Wilson
Chief Financial Officer

Date: March 30, 2022
 
The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate 
disclosure document.
 

 




